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INTRODUCTION

This annual report on Form 20-F includes our audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, and for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003.
Forward-Looking Information

This annual report on Form 20-F contains statements of a forward-looking nature. These statements are made under the “safe harbor” provisions of the U.S.
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these forward-looking statements by terminology such as “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“future,” “i plans,” “believes,” “estimates” and similar statements. The accuracy of these statements may be impacted by a number of business risks and

2« » <«

intends,
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected or anticipated, including risks related to:

» the risk that we will not be able to continue to successfully monetize the user base of the NetEase Web sites and that revenues from our online games,
as well as our wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services, will not continue to grow;

+  the risk that the online game market will not continue to grow or that we will not be able to maintain our position in that market;

»  the risk that the current popularity of short messaging services (SMS) in China will not continue for whatever reason, including SMS being superseded
by other technologies for which we are unable to offer attractive products and services;

»  our dependence on the mobile operators in China to provide our wireless value-added services to their customers, maintain accurate records and collect
and remit to us our share of the revenues from these services;

+  the risk that we may not be able to continuously develop new and creative online games and wireless value-added services;
+  the risk that the online advertising market in China will not continue to grow and will remain subject to intense competition;
»  the risk that we will not be able to control our expenses in future periods;

+  possible charges which may be brought against our company by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for potential violations of U.S.
securities laws, including monetary penalties and legal fees;

+  our ability to develop and implement additional operational and financial systems to manage our operations;
+  the risk that current or future appointees to management are not effective in their respective positions;
+ the difficulty in locating and recruiting suitable candidates for middle and senior management positions;

+  governmental uncertainties, general competition and price pressures in the marketplace;
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*  uncertainty as to future profitability and the risk that security, reliability and confidentiality concerns may impede broad use of the Internet and e-
commerce and other services; and

»  other risks outlined in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our registration statement on Form F-1, as amended.
We do not undertake any obligation to update this forward-looking information, except as required under applicable law.
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Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not Applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not Applicable.

Item 3. Key Information

A. Selected Financial Data

PART I

The following table presents the selected consolidated financial information for our business. You should read the following information in conjunction
with Item 5 “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” below. The following data for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and as of
December 31, 2002 and 2003 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for those years, which were prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP, and should be read in conjunction with those statements, which are included in this annual
report beginning on page F-1. The following data for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000 and as of December 31, 1999 and 2000 have also been
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for those years, which were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and are not included in this

annual report.

Statement of Operations
Data:
Revenues:
Online game services
Wireless value-added
and other fee-based
premium services
Advertising services

Total revenues
Business tax

Net revenues

Cost of revenues:
Online game services
Wireless value-added
and other fee-based
premium services
Advertising services

Total cost of
revenues

Gross profit (loss on
revenues)
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and
administrative
expenses
Asset impairment loss
Research and
development
expenses
Class action settlement

Total operating
expenses

Operating profit (loss)

For the Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2003
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB US$ (Note 1)
(except per ordinary share and per ADS data)
— — 37,053,414 203,246,114 24,556,419
5,974,932 2,906,184 14,136,369 161,305,678 279,659,170 33,788,729
10,796,074 30,067,477 14,163,952 34,209,376 86,183,733 10,412,813
16,771,006 32,973,661 28,300,321 232,568,468 569,089,017 68,757,961
(1,150,169) (2,476,444) (2,274,784) (11,627,216) (26,954,502) (3,256,673)
15,620,837 30,497,217 26,025,537 220,941,252 542,134,515 65,501,288
(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (15,530,501) (20,873,502) (2,521,959)
(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (29,524,647) (36,965,777) (4,466,246)
(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) (26,622,426) (27,623,438) (3,337,494)
(12,096,235) (39,909,419) (60,058,488) (71,677,574) (85,462,717) (10,325,699)
3,524,602 (9,412,202) (34,032,951) 149,263,678 456,671,798 55,175,589
(51,055,489) (170,359,791) (181,765,047) (94,307,613) (110,770,403) (13,383,402)
— — (2,766,543) (746,857) — —
(5,735,170) (14,756,682) (13,322,789) (14,184,724) (19,120,827) (2,310,199)
— — — (36,005,385) — —
(56,790,659) (185,116,473) (197,854,379) (145,244,579) (129,891,230) (15,693,601)
(53,266,057) (194,528,675) (231,887,330) 4,019,099 326,780,568 39,481,988
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Other income (expenses):

Sale of 163.net

usage right
Investments

impairment loss
Investment income
Interest income
Interest expenses
Other, net

Profit (loss) before tax
Income tax benefit
(expense)

Net profit (loss)
Net earnings (loss) per
ordinary share, basic

Net earnings (loss) per
ordinary share, diluted

Net earnings (loss) per
ADS, basic

Net earnings (loss) per
ADS, diluted

Weighted average
number of shares
Outstanding, basic

Weighted average
number of ADSs
Outstanding, basic

Weighted average
number of shares
Outstanding, diluted

Weighted average
number of ADSs
Outstanding, diluted

Share compensation cost
included in:

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and
administrative
expenses

Research and
development expenses

Other Financial Data:
Capital expenditures
Net cash provided by
(used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

For the Year Ended December 31,

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2003

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB US$ (Note 1)
(except per ordinary share and per ADS data)
1,500,000 — — — — —
— — (8,924,381) — — —
— — — — 538,278 65,035
357,160 27,858,710 17,571,187 7,562,322 11,273,685 1,362,099
— (2,589,735) (9,882,874) (1,401,041) — —
(494,018) (9,099) (40,516) 3,725,370 5,410,171 653,663
(51,902,915) (169,268,799) (233,163,914) 13,905,750 344,002,702 41,562,785
(71,338) — — 2,395,888 (21,129,978) (2,552,947)
(51,974,253) (169,268,799) (233,163,914) 16,301,638 322,872,724 39,009,838
(0.03) (0.07) (0.08) 0.01 0.10 0.01
(0.03) (0.07) (0.08) 0.01 0.10 0.01
(2.73) (6.78) (7.74) 0.53 10.34 1.25
(2.73) (6.78) (7.74) 0.52 9.78 1.18
1,900,430,600 2,497,467,200 3,013,419,400 3,051,395,100 3,122,257,952 3,122,257,952
19,004,306 24,974,672 30,134,194 30,513,951 31,222,580 31,222,580
1,900,430,600 2,497,467,200 3,013,419,400 3,127,837,900 3,301,311,499 3,301,311,499
19,004,306 24,974,672 30,134,194 31,278,379 33,013,115 33,013,115
(6,296,816) (1,171,084) — (1,908,125) — —
(34,346,268) (7,437,230) (204,423) (1,522,369) (151,166) (18,264)
(4,770,315) (5,231,246) (2,153,335) (376,364) (88,236) (10,661)
(45,413,399) (13,839,560) (2,357,758) (3,806,858) (239,402) (28,925)
(9,312,383) (33,970,794) (21,095,334) (12,567,218) (27,824,900) (3,361,835)
(15,687,474) (124,653,301) (185,689,512) (26,798,362) 373,722,606 45,153,575
(9,312,383) (53,037,513) (67,263,076) 42,676,950 (360,283,078) (43,529,798)
142,600,415 904,853,021 (22,310,060) (78,125,861) 781,370,072 94,405,992
As of December 31,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2003
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB Us$



Balance Sheet Data:

Cash 117,800,096 708,561,012 479,608,534 560,069,711 1,356,069,544 163,841,814
Property, equipment and

software, net 9,508,437 35,362,091 36,356,088 26,379,182 40,410,264 4,882,413
Total assets 143,728,182 921,095,550 674,793,068 619,678,196 1,786,692,092 215,870,104
Total current liabilities 7,662,942 148,555,114 119,763,534 38,654,444 77,766,228 9,395,801
Total long-term liabilities — — — — 827,901,449 100,027,964
Working capital (Note 3) 126,556,803 717,438,219 507,101,314 551,182,770 1,654,998,363 199,958,722

Total shareholders’ equity 136,065,240 772,540,436 555,029,534 581,023,752 881,024,415 106,446,339

Note 1: Translations of amounts from RMB into U.S. dollars for the convenience of the reader were calculated at the noon buying rate of US$1.00: RMB8.2767
on December 31, 2003 in The City of New York for cable transfers of RMB as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
No representation is made that the RMB amounts could have been, or could be, converted into United States dollars at that rate on December 31, 2003, or
at any other rate.
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Note 2: As a result of the manner in which we recorded our cost of revenues in 1999, 2000 and 2001, we are not able to reasonably allocate those costs among
online games, wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services and advertising services.
Note 3: Working capital represents total current assets less total current liabilities.

Exchange Rate Information

We have published our financial statements in Renminbi, or RMB. Our business is currently conducted in and from China in Renminbi. In this annual
report, all references to Renminbi and RMB are to the legal currency of China and all references to U.S. dollars, dollars, $ and US$ are to the legal currency of
the United States. The conversion of Renminbi into U.S. dollars in this annual report is based on the noon buying rate in The City of New York for cable transfers
of Renminbi as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. For your convenience, this annual report contains translations of some
Renminbi or U.S. dollar amounts for 2003 at US$1.00: RMB8.2767, which was the prevailing rate on December 31, 2003. The prevailing rate at June 10, 2004
was US$1.00: RMB8.2768. We make no representation that any Renminbi or U.S. dollar amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars or
Renminbi, as the case may be, at any particular rate, the rates stated below, or at all. The Chinese government imposes control over its foreign currency reserves
in part through direct regulation of the conversion of Renminbi into foreign exchange and through restrictions on foreign trade.

The following table sets forth the average buying rate for Renminbi expressed as per one U.S. dollar for the years 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003.

Year Renminbi Average(l)
1999 8.2785
2000 8.2784
2001 8.2772
2002 8.2772
2003 8.2771

(1) Determined by averaging the rates on the last business day of each month during the relevant period.

The following table sets forth the high and low exchange rates for Renminbi expressed as per one U.S. dollar during the past six months.

Renminbi Average

Month Ended High Low

December 31, 2003 8.2772 8.2765
January 31, 2004 8.2772  8.2767
February 28, 2004 8.2773 8.2769
March 31, 2004 8.2774  8.2767
April 30, 2004 8.2772 8.2768
May 31, 2004 8.2773 8.2768

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not Applicable.
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C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not Applicable.

D. Risk Factors
RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMPANY
Our business model continues to change and our prospects may be difficult to evaluate based on historical performance.

Commencing with the launch of the NetEase Web sites in 1999 until 2001, the majority of our revenues came from online advertising. In 2001, we began
focusing on wireless value-added services and, to a lesser extent other fee-based premium services, which grew to account for 50.0%, 69.4% and 49.1% of total
revenues in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. More recently, we have devoted significant resources to our online games business, which, in turn, grew to
account for nil, 15.9% and 35.7% of our total net revenues in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The evolution of our business focus over the past few years from
solely operating the NetEase Web sites and selling online advertisements to providing wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services to developing
and distributing online games could make it difficult for you to evaluate our future performance based on historical results. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to increase or maintain our revenues from online advertising and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services, or online games services.

We have only achieved net profits since 2002 and may incur additional losses in the future.

Although we had a net profit of RMB322.9 million (US$39.0 million) in 2003 and RMB16.3 million in 2002, we incurred significant net losses in 2001,
2000 and 1999 and had only minimal profit in 1998. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2003, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately RMB148.7 million
(US$18.0 million). The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and given the relatively short period of time during which we have achieved
profitability, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain or increase our profits. Moreover, as our business expands, we may incur additional expenses
which would also adversely affect our profitability.

The market for the delivery of wireless value-added services is rapidly evolving, and our ability to generate revenues from our wireless value-added
services could suffer if this market does not continue to develop or we fail to address this market effectively.

We must continue to adapt our strategy for wireless value-added services, which contributed a substantial percentage of total revenue in each of 2001, 2002
and 2003, to compete in the rapidly evolving wireless value-added services market. The bulk of our revenue for wireless value-added services is derived from
providing services for users of SMS, through which users can communicate with each other and receive information on their phone screens through simple text
messages and images, and to a lesser extent, from providing services over wireless application protocol, or WAP, beginning commercially in 2002, multimedia
messaging services, or MMS, beginning in 2003, and interactive voice response services, or IVRS, beginning in 2004.

Competitors have introduced or developed, or are in the process of introducing or developing, competing wireless value-added services accessible through
a variety of handheld devices. We cannot assure you that there will be demand for the wireless value-added services provided by us. In addition,
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there are numerous other technologies in varying stages of development, such as third generation cellular phone technology, which could radically alter or
eliminate the SMS, MMS, WAP and IVRS markets. Accordingly, it is extremely difficult to predict which services will be successful in this market or the future
size and growth of this market. In addition, given the limited history and rapidly evolving nature of this market, we cannot predict the price that wireless
subscribers will be willing to pay for these services. If acceptance of our wireless value-added services is less than anticipated, our results from operations could
be impacted.

Currently, we depend on the contractual relationships of Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd., or Guangzhou NetEase, and, to a much lesser
extent, Guangzhou Ling Yi Electronics Technology Limited, or Ling Yi, with the two principal mobile phone companies in China at the national,
provincial and local level for our wireless value-added services revenues and the alteration or termination of these relationships could adversely impact
our business.

Our wireless value-added services are conducted in conjunction with the two principal mobile phone companies in China, China Mobile and China
Unicom, which together service nearly all of China’s mobile phone subscribers. We rely exclusively on the national, provincial and local affiliates of these two
companies to deliver our wireless value-added services. If our various contracts with either company are terminated or scaled-back, it may be difficult, if not
impossible, to find appropriate replacement partners with the requisite licenses and permits, infrastructure and customer base to offer these services, which could
adversely affect our business. Further, we derived approximately 85.9% of our total wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services revenue in 2003
through our relationship with China Mobile, and are therefore particularly dependent on that mobile operator.

Our wireless value-added services are provided through a number of contracts with the provincial and local affiliates of China Mobile and with China
Unicom, and each of these contracts is non-exclusive and of a limited term (generally six months to two years). These contracts may also be terminated in
advance under certain circumstances. We cannot be certain that we will be able to renew these contracts as necessary or enter into new arrangements with these or
other affiliates of China Mobile and China Unicom. We may also be compelled to amend or renew our arrangements with these mobile phone operators in ways
which adversely affect our business. China Mobile and China Unicom have changed their policies as applied to third party service providers in the past, and may
do so again in the future. For example, China Mobile banned all cooperative arrangements known as “SMS Web site unions” in July 2003, effectively precluding
large service providers from aggregating unregistered Web sites and utilizing China Mobile’s billing platform to gather fees for these services. In August 2003,
China Mobile further banned service providers from using its network to charge customers for services which were deemed by it to be not purely wireless
services. China Mobile’s adoption of these policies described above was one of the main factors which contributed to the 20.7% decline in our revenues from
wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services between the second quarter ended June 30, 2003 and the third quarter ended September 30, 2003. In
addition, in recent quarters, China Mobile has been phasing-in a new billing system across various provinces that makes it somewhat more complicated for users
to order and receive wireless value-added services from service providers such as our company, which we believe will also adversely affect the growth of our
wireless value-added services business.

In the event Guangzhou NetEase’s (or to a much lesser extent, Ling Yi’s) relationships with either China Mobile or China Unicom are adversely altered or
terminated, either through a change in the contractual terms of these relationships or a change in the policies of either company, our revenue would likely be
adversely affected and we may be unable to find alternatives that would replace such networks and revenue.

7
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We experienced a decline in the rate of growth of our online games which appears to be a result of the outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome, or
SARS, in 2003 and any recurrence of SARS or another widespread public health problem could further adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

During April and May 2003, we experienced a decline in the rate of growth of our online game services which we believe resulted from the closure of
Internet cafes in Beijing and elsewhere to prevent the spread of SARS. Many users of our online game services can only access those services at Internet cafes. A
renewed outbreak of SARS or another widespread public health problem in China where virtually all of our revenue is derived and in Beijing, Shanghai and
Guangzhou where most of our employees are located could have a negative effect on our operations. Our operations may be impacted by a number of health-
related factors, including, among other things:

»  quarantines or closures of some of our offices which would severely disrupt our operations,
»  the sickness or death of our key officers and employees,
*  closure of Internet cafes and other public areas where people access the Internet, and

+  ageneral slowdown in the Chinese economy.
Any of the foregoing events or other unforeseen consequences of public health problems could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services have become the major part of our revenue, constituting approximately
85% of our total revenue for 2003, but continued growth in the popularity of these services and customers’ willingness and ability to pay for them is
uncertain.

Our revenue growth depends on the increasing acceptance and use of our online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services. We
have, however, only limited experience in offering these services and cannot be certain that they will generate sustainable revenue. Further, these services may
never become widely accepted for various reasons, many of which are beyond our control, including:

+  inexperience with these technologies, some of which are largely new to China, and customers’ willingness to pay for online services;
»  rapid changes in technology and customer tastes which could adversely impact the popularity of our services; and

»  concerns about security, reliability, cost, ease of deployment, administration and quality of service associated with conducting business over the
Internet.

Further, online payment systems in China are not as widely available or acceptable to consumers in China as in the United States and elsewhere. Although
major Chinese banks have instituted online payment systems, these systems are still at an early stage. In addition, a limited number of consumers in China have
credit cards or debit cards. Concerns about secure online payment systems may limit the number of fee-based online transactions that we can service and may
limit our growth in these areas. If online payment services do not develop, our ability to grow our online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based
services businesses would be limited.
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In response to these factors and connection with the introduction of our first online game, “Westward Journey Online”, at the end of 2001, we introduced a
prepaid point card which we believe has facilitated the usability and growth of all of our online game services, although its development and distribution has
caused us to incur additional costs. To address the difficulty of making online payments in China, users can buy this card at local stores and other locations in
China. The points contained in the card can then be used to pay for online services, such as playing time for online games. We cannot be certain, however, that
Internet users in China will be willing to continue to adopt this payment method on a wide-spread and consistent basis or that it will be immune to the security
and other concerns which have thus far contributed to the relatively low level of e-commerce activity in China. If the Internet does not become more widely
accepted as a medium for our fee-based services, our ability to generate increased revenue will be negatively affected.

If we fail to develop and introduce new online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services timely and successfully, we will not
be able to compete effectively and our ability to generate revenues will suffer.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly changing environment, and our future success depends not only on the popularity of our existing online games
and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services but also on our ability to develop and introduce new games and services that our customers and
users choose to buy. If we are unsuccessful at developing and introducing new online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services that
are appealing to users with acceptable prices and terms, our business and operating results will be negatively impacted because we would not be able to compete
effectively and our ability to generate revenues would suffer. The development of new games and services can be very difficult and requires high levels of
innovation. The development process can also be lengthy and costly, in particular for developing new online games. If we fail to anticipate our users’ needs and
technological trends accurately or are otherwise unable to complete the development of games and services in a timely fashion, we will be unable to introduce
new games and services into the market to successfully compete.

The demand for new games and services is difficult to forecast, in part due to the relative immaturity of the market for our fee-based services in China and
relatively short life cycles of Internet-based technologies. As we introduce and support additional services and as competition in the market for our games and
services intensifies, we expect that it will become more difficult to forecast demand. In particular, competition in the online game market is growing as more and
more online games are introduced by existing and new market participants.

Rapid technological change may limit our ability to recover game development costs and adversely affect our future revenues and profitability.

The online game industry is subject to rapid technological change, and we, like many of our competitors, offer a limited range (currently 2) of massively
multi-player online role-playing games, or MMORPGs, from which we derive all of our online games revenue. We need to anticipate the emergence of new
technologies and games, assess their market acceptance, and make substantial game development and related investments. New technologies in online game
programming or operations could render our current online titles or other online games that we develop in the future obsolete or unattractive to our subscribers,
thereby limiting our ability to recover development costs and potentially adversely affecting our future revenues and profitability.
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Our wireless value-added services revenue could be adversely affected if China Mobile or China Unicom or both expand their portfolio of wireless
value-added services that compete with our services.

Our business may be adversely affected if China Mobile or China Unicom or both decide to expand their portfolio of wireless value-added services that
compete with our services. In that case, we would not only face enhanced competition, but could be partially or fully denied access to their networks.

China Mobile and China Unicom may impose higher service or network fees on us which could reduce the gross margins for our wireless value-added
services.

We have entered into contractual arrangements with China Mobile and China Unicom to provide wireless value-added services to mobile phone users in
China. Fees for these services are charged to mobile phone users on a monthly subscription or per use basis. China Mobile and China Unicom bill and collect the
service fees from the mobile phone users and then share the revenue with us according to the terms of the contracts.

China Mobile usually receives 15% of the revenues charged to the mobile phone users as service fees. To the extent that the number of messages sent by us
over China Mobile’s network exceeds the number of messages our customers send to us, we must also pay per message network fees, which decrease as the
volume of customer usage of our services increases. China Unicom also recently adopted a similar methodology for charging per message network fees. The
number of messages sent by us will exceed those sent by our users, for example, if a user sends us a single message to order a service but we in turn must send
that user several messages to confirm his or her order and deliver the service itself.

In addition, according to our contractual arrangements with China Unicom, China Unicom’s revenue sharing percentage varies month-to-month between
10% and 40%. Prior to March 2004, the percentage depended on whether we met certain revenue targets which were calculated on a monthly basis for all of our
services offered on its network. From March 2004, the percentage has depended on the relative ranking of the revenue generated by our wireless value-added
services over China Unicom’s network on a national basis as compared to all other service providers in the particular month.

We cannot be certain that we will be able to satisfy these criteria in the future or that the mobile operators will keep the criteria at their current levels. Any
increase in China Mobile’s or China Unicom’s network fees and service charges could reduce the gross margins for our wireless value-added services.

China Mobile and China Unicom may not authorize our wireless value-added services to be offered on their networks if we fail to achieve minimum
customer usage, revenue and other criteria.

Our business could be adversely affected if we fail to achieve minimum customer usage, revenue and other criteria imposed or revised by China Mobile
and China Unicom at their discretion from time to time. China Mobile and China Unicom, through their provincial and local offices, have historically preferred to
work only with a small group of the best performing wireless value-added service providers, based upon the uniqueness of the service offered by each provider,
total number of users, usage and revenue generated in the applicable province or municipality, the rate of customer complaints, and marketing expenditures in the
applicable province or municipality. In the future, we may fail to meet the then current performance criteria that the mobile operators set from time to time. In
such case, our services could be excluded from their entire networks at a provincial, municipal or national level, or we could be precluded from introducing new
services, which would adversely affect our revenues and growth prospects for our wireless value-added services.
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The revenue that we derive from Guangzhou NetEase’s and Ling Yi’s contractual relationships with each of China Mobile and China Unicom depends
on records maintained by these companies regarding the fees paid by customers for wireless value-added services.

Each of China Mobile and China Unicom pays us a portion of the fees it receives from its respective customers for the wireless value-added services we
provide, based on their internal records. Thus, a significant portion of our revenue is dependent on each company’s ability to maintain accurate records. We do not
collect fees for our services which are deemed to be “billing and transmission failures,” which means that the services were undeliverable to the user because the
user’s phone was turned off for an extended period of time, the user ceased to subscribe to the mobile network or his or her prepaid phone card ran out of value,
or the mobile phone operator’s networks or our system experienced technical problems. The rate of these billing and transmission failures varies among each
mobile phone operator and changes from month to month. Future billing and transmission failures may result in a significant reduction in our wireless value-
added services revenue. In recent months, billing and transmission failure rates have ranged from 20% to 80%, although occasionally in provinces that do not
generate significant revenue, billing and transmission failures have been as high as 90%. Billing and transmission failures include messages which could not be
delivered after one or more attempts due to the reasons specified above, but for which our services were ultimately successfully delivered.

While we maintain our own records regarding the services we provide through their networks, we have no ability to independently monitor the accuracy of
billing statements of either mobile phone operator. If there are significant discrepancies between our records and the records of one of the mobile phone operators,
after taking into account historic levels of billing and transmission failures, we will typically ask to work with that mobile phone operator to reconcile the
difference. Nonetheless, we have no ability to independently test or verify the mobile phone operators’ data.

Because we cannot independently verify the billing records maintained by China Mobile and China Unicom, we have no basis to determine if particular
users of our wireless value-added services have paid for them or if the mobile operators are in turn sharing revenue with us with respect to users that
have not paid.

As noted in the prior risk factor, we rely on the records maintained by China Mobile and China Unicom regarding the fees paid by users. Because we
cannot independently verify the billing records maintained by the mobile operators, we have no basis to determine if particular users of our wireless value-added
services have paid for them or if the mobile operators are in turn sharing revenue with us with respect to such users that have not paid. Thus, our revenue from
wireless value-added services may be adversely affected if users refuse or are unable to pay for our services, but as a result of our reliance on China Mobile’s and
China Unicom’s records, we cannot quantify the effect of non-payments on our revenue.

The revenue for our wireless value-added services is normally recognized based on monthly statements from China Mobile and China Unicom, but we
occasionally recognize this revenue on an estimated basis if these statements are late.

We normally recognize revenue based on statements that we receive subsequent to a period end from the mobile phone operators, but in very limited
circumstances when the mobile phone operators’ monthly billing statements are later than the date of our quarterly earnings release, we may recognize revenue on
an estimated basis, using our own statistical records and after consultation with the mobile phone operators. For full year accounts, we wait until all statements are
received before releasing our earnings figures. Consequently, no estimates are involved in determining annual revenue for our wireless value-added services, but
from and including the first quarter of 2002 to and including the fourth quarter
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of 2003, we have estimated a portion of our wireless value-added services revenue in computing our revenue for particular quarters. In 2002 and 2003, the
difference between the estimated revenue and the actual revenue as confirmed by the mobile phone operators, as a percentage of total wireless value-added
services revenue recognized over the relevant quarter, ranged from nil to 5.2%. Recognizing revenue based on such estimates could potentially require us to later
make adjustments in our financial records when the mobile phone operators’ statements and cash payments are received.

We expect that a portion of our future revenues will continue to come from our advertising services, which represented approximately 15% of our total
revenue for 2003, but we may not be able to compete effectively in this market because it is relatively new and intensely competitive, in which case our
ability to generate and maintain advertising revenue in the future could be adversely affected.

Although we anticipate that the revenues generated by our online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services will continue to
constitute the major portion of our future revenues, we believe that we will continue to rely on advertising revenues as one of our primary revenue sources for the
foreseeable future. Online advertising in China is still relatively new and many of our current and potential advertisers have limited experience with the Internet
as an advertising medium, have not traditionally devoted a significant portion of their advertising expenditures or other available funds to Web-based advertising,
and may not find the Internet to be effective for promoting their products and services relative to traditional print and broadcast media. Our ability to generate and
maintain significant advertising revenue will depend on a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

+  the development of a large base of users possessing demographic characteristics attractive to advertisers;

+  the development of software that blocks Internet advertisements before they appear on a user’s screen;

+  downward pressure on online advertising prices; and

+ the effectiveness of our advertising delivery and tracking system.

In addition, China’s entry into the WTO, and the resulting gradual opening of its telecommunications sector, may facilitate more foreign participation in the
Chinese Internet market by such companies, for example, as Yahoo! and American Online. Many of these Internet companies have longer operating histories in
the Internet market, greater name and brand recognition, larger customer bases and databases and significantly greater financial, technical and marketing

resources than we have. The entry of additional, highly competitive Internet companies into the Chinese market would further heighten competition for
advertising spending in China.

If the Internet does not become more widely accepted as a medium for advertising, our ability to generate increased revenue will be negatively affected.

Our business and our reputation were materially harmed because we had to restate our financial statements.

Our rapid growth has placed and continues to place a significant strain on our resources. In one particular instance in our history, we have not been able to
manage our growth effectively. Specifically, in the second quarter of 2001, based on information provided by an employee, our board of directors
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through its audit committee initiated an investigation into whether the terms of a number of contracts between our Company and third party advertisers had been
appropriately reflected in our financial statements. The audit committee subsequently determined by the end of the investigation that a portion of our revenue
could not be recognized in fiscal year 2000 because:

*  we could not identify reliable evidence to support the fair value of services provided under advertising contracts or, alternatively for which there had
been no services provided in fiscal year 2000, and accordingly, US$1.1 million in revenue was improperly recorded for fiscal year 2000,

«  revenue from barter transactions that did not meet the criteria for recognition under the applicable accounting standards, and accordingly, US$2.0
million in revenue was improperly recorded for fiscal year 2000, and

«  contracts that were found to lack economic substance and accordingly, US$1.2 million in revenue was improperly recorded for fiscal year 2000.

Our restated total revenues for 2000 were RMB33.0 million, resulting in a net loss of RMB169.3 million or RMB6.78 per American Depositary Share. We
had originally reported total revenues for 2000 of RMB68.9 million, with a net loss of RMB142.8 million or RMB5.72 per American Depositary Share. Our total
operating expenses for 2000 were reduced by RMB7.2 million as a result of the restatement. The adjustments also decreased our previously reported total assets
by RMB72.8 million.

We believe that our improved controls and procedures and structural changes have been effective to minimize the recurrence of this problem, but it is
possible that the same or new problems will arise as our business continues to expand. Further, as noted below, we cannot be certain that we will be able to
employ and retain suitable senior managers to oversee the implementation of our controls and procedures in the future. If we make any mistakes in operating our
business, our operating results may fluctuate and cause the price of our Shares and ADSs to decline.

We could incur substantial penalties or fees in connection with the announcement by the staff of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
that it intends to recommend that the SEC take legal action against our company.

The staff of the SEC has been conducting an investigation related to our restatement of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000. On
March 13, 2004, the Company received a “Wells notice” from the staff of the SEC, stating its intention to recommend that the SEC institute a civil injunctive
action against our company seeking as-yet unidentified penalties for alleged violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Sections 10(b), 13(a),
13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B) and 13(b)(5) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-16 and 13b2-1 under that act. Pursuant to SEC
procedures, we have responded to the Wells notice before the staff makes a formal recommendation regarding any action to be taken against us by the SEC. We
could incur substantial penalties if the SEC decides to proceed with an action, and we will also likely incur substantial legal fees whether or not an action is
ultimately brought.

The success of our business is dependent on our ability to retain our existing key employees and to add and retain new senior officers to our
management.

We depend on the services of our existing key employees. Our success will largely depend on our ability to retain these key employees and to attract and
retain qualified senior and middle level managers to our management team. We also depend on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled
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technical, editorial, marketing and customer service personnel in the future. We cannot assure you that we will be able to attract or retain such personnel or that
any personnel we hire in the future will successfully integrate into our organization or ultimately contribute positively to our business. The loss of any of our key
employees would significantly harm our business. We do not maintain key person life insurance on any of our employees.

In the past, we have not been able to accurately or comprehensively track the delivery of advertisements through the NetEase Web sites, which problem,
if it recurs, may make us less attractive to our present and potential advertisers.

We depend on third party proprietary and licensed advertisement serving technology, as well as software which we developed ourselves, to deliver and
track all types of advertisements we offer to our advertising customers, such as banner ads, text links, logo displays and pop-up advertisements. Advertisement
serving technology allows us to measure the demographics of our user base and the delivery of advertisements on the NetEase Web sites. This technology is still
developing. It is important to advertisers that we accurately measure the demographics of the user base of the NetEase Web sites and the delivery of
advertisements through the NetEase Web sites. To date, we believe that we have implemented this system successfully, but we cannot be certain that it will be
effective as new forms of online advertising arise from time to time. Companies may choose not to advertise on the NetEase Web sites or may pay less for
advertising if our advertisement serving system is not perceived to be reliable.

Our revenues fluctuate significantly and may adversely impact the trading price of our American Depositary Shares or any other securities which
become publicly traded.

Our revenues and results of operations have varied significantly in the past and may continue to fluctuate in the future. Many of the factors that cause such
fluctuation are outside our control. Steady revenues and results of operations will depend largely on our ability to:

+  attract and retain users to the NetEase Web sites in the increasingly competitive Internet market in China;
+  successfully implement our business strategies as planned; and

» update and develop our Internet applications, services, technologies and infrastructure.

Historically, advertising and e-commerce revenues have followed the same general seasonal trend throughout each year with the first quarter of the year
being the weakest quarter due to the Chinese New Year holiday and the traditional close of advertisers’ annual budgets and the fourth quarter as the strongest.
Usage of our wireless value-added services and online games has generally increased around the Chinese New Year holiday and other Chinese holidays, in
particular winter and summer school holidays during which school-aged users have more time to use such services and games. Accordingly, you should not rely
on quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our results of operations as an indication of our future performance. It is possible that future fluctuations may cause our
results of operations to be below the expectations of market analysts and investors. This could cause the trading price of our American Depositary Shares or any
other securities of ours which may become publicly traded to decline.
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We do not own Guangzhou NetEase, Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd., or Guangyitong Advertising, or Ling Yi and, if they or their ultimate
shareholders violate our contractual arrangements with them, our business could be disrupted, our reputation may be harmed and we may have to
resort to litigation to enforce our rights which may be time consuming and expensive.

Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi are owned by shareholders whose interests may differ from ours and those of our shareholders
because they own a larger percentage of Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi than of our company. Specifically, the business and
operations of Guangzhou NetEase, as the operator of the NetEase Web sites and a provider of online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based
premium services, Guangyitong Advertising, as an advertising firm, and Ling Yi, as a provider of wireless value-added services and operator of a portion of the
NetEase Web sites, are subject to Chinese laws and regulations that differ from the laws and regulations that govern the business and operations of NetEase. For
example, Chinese laws and regulations require us to verify the content of third party advertising content we place on the NetEase Web sites, and we are partly
dependent upon the conduct of Guangyitong Advertising, which is not directly subject to those laws and regulations, in order to ensure that we remain compliant
with those laws and regulations. Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi or their ultimate shareholders could violate our arrangements with them
by, among other things, failing to operate and maintain the NetEase Web sites or their various businesses in an acceptable manner, failing to remit revenue to us
on a timely basis or at all or diverting customers or business opportunities from our company. A violation of these agreements could disrupt our business and
adversely affect our reputation in the market. If Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi or their ultimate shareholders violate our agreements
with them, we may have to resort to litigation to enforce our rights. This litigation could result in the disruption of our business, diversion of our resource and the
incurrence of substantial costs.

Because our contractual arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi and their ultimate shareholders do not detail the
parties’ rights and obligations, our remedies for a breach of these arrangements are limited.

Our current relationship with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi and their ultimate shareholders is based on a number of contracts.
The terms of these agreements are often statements of general intent and do not detail the rights and obligations of the parties. Some of these contracts provide
that the parties will enter into further agreements on the details of the services to be provided. Others contain price and payment terms that are subject to monthly
adjustment. These provisions may be subject to differing interpretations, particularly on the details of the services to be provided and on price and payment terms.
It may be difficult for us to obtain remedies or damages from Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi or their ultimate shareholders for breaching
our agreements. Because we rely significantly on Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising for our business (and may in the future rely significantly on
Ling Yi), the realization of any of these risks may disrupt our operations or cause degradation in the quality and service provided on, or a temporary or permanent
shutdown of, the NetEase Web sites.

A majority of the share capital of Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi is held by our controlling shareholder, who may cause
these agreements to be amended in a manner that is adverse to us.

Our controlling shareholder, William Lei Ding, holds the majority interest in Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi. As a result, Mr.
Ding may be able to cause these agreements to be amended in a manner that will be adverse to our company, or may be able to cause these agreements not to be
renewed, even if their renewal would be beneficial for us. Prior to our initial public offering of American Depositary Shares in 2000, a number of these
agreements were amended. Although we have entered into an agreement that prevents the amendment of these agreements without the approval of the members
of our Board other than Mr. Ding, we can provide no assurances that these agreements will not be amended in the future to contain terms that might differ from
the terms that are currently in place. These differences may be adverse to our interests.
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‘We may not be able to conduct our operations without the services provided by Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi.

Our operations are currently dependent upon our commercial relationships with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi, and we derive
most of our revenues from these companies. A portion of our revenues under our contracts with these companies is based upon preliminary and tentative amounts
that have been agreed upon in advance and is subject to being trued-up at our company’s discretion by the end of each quarter. If these companies are unwilling or
unable to perform the agreements which we have entered into with them, we may not be able to conduct our operations in the manner in which we currently plan.
In addition, Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi may seek to renew these agreements on terms that are disadvantageous to us. Although
we have entered into a series of agreements that provide us with substantial ability to control these companies, we may not succeed in enforcing our rights under
them. If we are unable to renew these agreements on favorable terms, or to enter into similar agreements with other parties, our business may not expand, and our
operating expenses may increase.

Our arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi and their respective shareholders may cause a transfer pricing
adjustment and may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities.

We could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that our contracts with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong
Advertising, Ling Yi and their respective shareholders were not entered into based on arm’s length negotiations. Although our contractual arrangements are
similar to other companies conducting similar operations in China, if the PRC tax authorities determine that these contracts were not entered into on an arm’s
length basis, they may adjust our income and expenses for PRC tax purposes in the form of a transfer pricing adjustment.

Unexpected network interruption caused by system failures may reduce visitor traffic and harm our reputation.

Both the continual accessibility of the NetEase Web sites and the performance and reliability of our technical infrastructure are critical to our reputation and
the ability of the NetEase Web sites to attract and retain users and advertisers. Any system failure or performance inadequacy that causes interruptions in the
availability of our services or increases the response time of our services could reduce user satisfaction and traffic, which would reduce the NetEase Web sites’
appeal to users and advertisers. As the number of NetEase Web pages and traffic increase, we cannot assure you that we will be able to scale our systems
proportionately. In addition, any system failures and electrical outages could materially and adversely impact our business.

Computer viruses may cause delays or interruptions on our systems and may reduce visitor traffic and harm our reputation.

Computer viruses may cause delays or other service interruptions on our systems. In addition, the inadvertent transmission of computer viruses could
expose us to a material risk of loss or litigation and possible liability. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect the NetEase
Web sites against the threat of such computer viruses and to alleviate any problems. Moreover, if a computer virus affecting our system is highly publicized, our
reputation could be materially damaged and our visitor traffic may decrease.
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Computer hacking could damage our systems and reputation.

Any compromise of security, such as computer hacking, could cause Internet usage to decline. “Hacking” involves efforts to gain unauthorized access to
information or systems or to cause intentional malfunctions or loss or corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer equipment. Hackers, if successful,
could misappropriate proprietary information or cause disruptions in our service. We may have to spend significant capital and human resources to rectify any
damage to our system. In addition, we cannot assure you that any measures we take against computer hacking will be effective. A well publicized computer
security breach could significantly damage our reputation and materially adversely affect our business. Although we have not experienced any hacking activity
that allowed unauthorized access to any information stored on our network, caused any loss or corruption of data, software or other computer equipment, we have
been subject to denial of service attacks that have caused portions our network to be inaccessible for limited periods of time. In addition, we have had denial of
service attacks and viruses or worms introduced into our network. Although we take a number of measures to ensure that our systems are secure and unaffected
by security breaches, including ensuring that our servers are hosted at physically secure sites, limiting access to server ports, and using isolated intranets,
passwords, and encryption technology, we cannot assure you that any measures we take against computer hacking will be effective.

In addition, there have been a number of incidents where users, through a variety of methods, were able to modify the rules of our online games,
particularly the online game we license from a third party. Although these users did not gain unauthorized access to our systems, they were able to modify the
rules of our online games during game play in a manner that allowed them to cheat and disadvantage our other online game users which often has the effect of
causing players to stop using the game and shortening the game’s lifecycle. At one point, cheating by some of our online game users led to a decrease in the
number of users of our licensed online game “PristonTale.” Although we have also taken a number of steps to deter our users from engaging in cheating when
playing our online games, we cannot assure you that we or the third parties from whom we license some of our online games will be successful or timely in taking
corrective steps necessary to prevent users from modifying the terms of our online games.

If our exclusive providers of bandwidth and server custody service fail to provide these services, our business could be materially curtailed.

We rely on affiliates of China Netcom and China Telecom to provide us with bandwidth and server custody service for Internet users to access the NetEase
Web sites. If China Netcom, China Telecom or their affiliates fail to provide such services or raise prices for their services, we may not be able to find a reliable
and cost-effective substitute provider on a timely basis or at all. If this happens, our business could be materially curtailed.

‘We may be held liable for information displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the NetEase Web sites.

We may face liability for defamation, negligence, copyright, patent or trademark infringement and other claims based on the nature and content of the
materials that are published on the NetEase Web sites. We are involved in several intellectual property infringement claims or actions and are occasionally subject
to defamation claims. We believe that the amounts claimed in these actions, in the aggregate, are not material to our business. However, these amounts may be
increased for a variety of reasons as the claims progress, and we and our affiliates could be subject to additional defamation or infringement claims which, singly
or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, if successful. We also could be subject to claims based upon
content that is accessible on the NetEase Web sites such as content and materials posted by users on message boards, online communities, voting systems, e-mail
or chat rooms that are offered on the NetEase Web sites. By
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providing technology for hypertext links to third-party Web sites, we may be held liable for copyright or trademark violations by those third party sites. Third
parties could assert claims against us for losses incurred in reliance on any erroneous information distributed by us. Moreover, users of the NetEase Web-based e-
mail services could seek damages from us for:

*  unsolicited e-mails;
*  lost or misplaced messages;
+ illegal or fraudulent use of e-mail; or

+  interruptions or delays in e-mail service.
We may incur significant costs in investigating and defending these claims, even if they do not result in liability.

Information displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the NetEase Web sites may subject us to claims of violating Chinese laws.

Violations or perceived violations of Chinese laws arising from information displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the NetEase Web sites could result in
significant penalties, including a temporary or complete cessation of our business. Chinese government agencies have announced restrictions on the transmission
of “state secrets” through the Internet. The term “state secrets” has been broadly interpreted by Chinese governmental authorities in the past. We may be liable
under these pronouncements for content and materials posted or transmitted by users on message boards, virtual communities, chat rooms or e-mails. The
Ministry of National Security and the Ministry of Public Security have authority to cause any local Internet service provider to block any Web site. These
ministries have, in the past, stopped the online distribution of information that they believed to be socially destabilizing or politically improper. If the Chinese
government takes any action to limit or eliminate the distribution of information through the NetEase Web sites, or to limit or regulate any current or future
community functions available to users or otherwise block the NetEase Web sites, our business would be significantly harmed.

Privacy concerns may prevent us from selling demographically targeted advertising in the future which could make the NetEase Web sites less attractive
to advertisers.

We collect demographic data, such as geographic location, income level and occupation, from our registered users in order to better understand users and
their needs. We provide this data to online advertisers, on an anonymous aggregate basis, without disclosing personal details such as name and home address, to
enable them to target specific demographic groups. If privacy concerns or regulatory restrictions prevent us from collecting this information or from selling
demographically targeted advertising, the NetEase Web sites may be less attractive to advertisers.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, and we may be exposed to infringement claims by third parties.

We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secrecy laws and contractual restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property
rights. Our efforts to protect our proprietary rights may not be effective to prevent unauthorized parties from copying or otherwise obtaining and using our
technology. Monitoring unauthorized use of our services is difficult and costly, and we cannot be certain that the steps we take will effectively prevent
misappropriation of our technology.
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From time to time, we may have to resort to litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of our
resources. In addition, third parties have initiated litigation against us for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights, and additional claims may arise in the
future. In the event of a successful claim of infringement and our failure or inability to develop non-infringing technology or content or license the infringed or
similar technology or content on a timely basis, our business could suffer. Moreover, even if we are able to license the infringed or similar technology or content,
license fees that we pay to licensors could be substantial or uneconomical. See “Business—Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights.”

We believe we were a passive foreign investment company for the 2000, 2001 and 2002 taxable years, which will result in adverse U.S. tax consequences
to U.S. investors who held our shares or American Depositary Shares during any of those taxable years, and we cannot be certain whether we will be
treated as a passive foreign investment company for the 2004 taxable year.

Based upon the nature of our income and assets, we believe we were a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes for the
2000, 2001 and 2002 taxable years (but not for the 2003 taxable year), and we cannot be certain whether we will be treated as a passive foreign investment
company for the 2004 taxable year. The determination of whether or not we are a passive foreign investment company is made on an annual basis and depends on
the composition of our income and assets, including goodwill, from time to time. The calculation of goodwill is based, in part, on the then market value of our
American Depositary Shares, which is subject to change. In addition, we have made a number of assumptions regarding the calculation of goodwill and the
allocation of goodwill among active and passive assets. While we believe our approach is reasonable, the relevant authorities in this area are unclear, so we cannot
assure you that our belief that we were a passive foreign investment company for the 2000, 2001 and 2002 taxable years, but not for the 2003 taxable year, is
accurate, and we cannot predict with certainty whether we will be treated as a passive foreign investment company for the 2004 taxable year. U.S. investors who
owned our shares during any taxable year in which we were a passive foreign investment company generally will be subject to increased U.S. tax liabilities and
reporting requirements for those taxable years and all succeeding years, regardless of whether we continue to be a passive foreign investment company for the
2003 and 2004 taxable years and any succeeding years, although a shareholder election to terminate such deemed passive foreign investment company status may
be made in certain circumstances. The same adverse U.S. tax consequences will apply to our U.S. investors who acquire our shares during the 2004 taxable year
or any subsequent taxable year if we are treated as a passive foreign investment company for that taxable year. Even if we were not a passive foreign investment
company for the 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 taxable years and/or are not treated as a passive foreign investment company for the 2004 taxable year, we cannot
assure you that we will not become a passive foreign investment company for any future taxable year.

If our subsidiaries are restricted from paying dividends to us, our primary internal source of funds would decrease.

NetEase.com is a holding company with no significant assets other than its equity interests in NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., or
NetEase Beijing, NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd., or NetEase Interactive, and NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or NetEase
Shanghai, which are the wholly owned subsidiaries of NetEase.com, and Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited, or Guangzhou Interactive, a
wholly owned subsidiary of NetEase Interactive. As a result, our primary internal source of funds is dividend payments from our subsidiaries. If these subsidiaries
incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may
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restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us, which in turn would limit our ability to pay dividends on our American Depositary Shares
or to make any required payments to holders of our convertible notes. Under current Chinese tax regulations, dividends paid to us are not subject to Chinese
income tax, but PRC tax authorities may require us to amend our contractual arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi and their
respective shareholders in a manner that would materially and adversely affect the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends and other distributions to us. In
addition, Chinese legal restrictions permit payment of dividends only out of net income as determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards and
regulations. Under Chinese law, NetEase Beijing, Guangzhou Interactive and NetEase Shanghai are also required to set aside a portion of their net income each
year to fund certain reserve funds. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends.

RISKS RELATED TO DOING BUSINESS IN CHINA
A slow-down in the Chinese economy may slow down our growth and profitability.

The growth of the Chinese economy has been uneven across geographic regions and economic sectors. There can be no assurance that growth of the
Chinese economy will be steady or that any slow down will not have a negative effect on our business. Several years ago, the Chinese economy experienced
deflation, which may reoccur in the foreseeable future. More recently, the Chinese government announced its intention to use macroeconomic tools and
regulations to slow the rate of growth of the Chinese economy, the results of which are difficult to predict. The Chinese economy overall affects our profitability
as expenditures for advertisements and e-commerce and other services may decrease due to slowing domestic demand.

The uncertain legal environment in China could limit the legal protections available to you.

The Chinese legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike common law systems, it is a system in which decided legal cases have little
precedential value. In the late 1970s, the Chinese government began to promulgate a comprehensive system of laws and regulations governing economic matters.
The overall effect of legislation enacted over the past 20 years has significantly enhanced the protections afforded to foreign invested enterprises in China.
However, these laws, regulations and legal requirements are relatively recent and are evolving rapidly, and their interpretation and enforcement involve
uncertainties. These uncertainties could limit the legal protections available to foreign investors.

Changes in China’s political and economic policies could harm our business.

The economy of China has historically been a planned economy subject to governmental plans and quotas and has, in certain aspects, been transitioning to
a more market-oriented economy. Although we believe that the economic reform and the macroeconomic measures adopted by the Chinese government have had
a positive effect on the economic development of China, we cannot predict the future direction of these economic reforms or the effects these measures may have
on our business, financial position or results of operations. In addition, the Chinese economy differs from the economies of most countries belonging to the
OECD. These differences include:

*  economic structure;
*  level of government involvement in the economy;

*  level of development;
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*  level of capital reinvestment;

»  control of foreign exchange;

+ inflation rates;

* methods of allocating resources; and

»  balance of payments position.

As a result of these differences, our business may not develop in the same way or at the same rate as might be expected if the Chinese economy were
similar to those of the OECD member countries.
Fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rates could adversely affect the value of our American Depositary Shares and any cash dividend declared on them.

The value of the Renminbi may fluctuate according to a number of factors. Since 1994, the conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies, including US
dollars, has been based on exchange rates set by the PBOC, which are set daily based on the previous day’s interbank foreign exchange market rates in China and
current exchange rates on the world financial markets. Since 1994, the official exchange rate for the conversion of Renminbi to US dollars has generally been
stable. However, we cannot assure you that such exchange rate will remain stable in the future. Our revenues are primarily denominated in Renminbi, and any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of Renminbi may affect the value of, and dividends, if any, payable on, our American Depositary Shares in foreign currency
terms.

Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues effectively.

Because almost all of our future revenues may be in the form of Renminbi, any future restrictions on currency exchanges may limit our ability to use
revenue generated in Renminbi to fund our business activities outside China or to make dividend payments in US dollars. Although the Chinese government
introduced regulations in 1996 to allow greater convertibility of the Renminbi for current account transactions, significant restrictions still remain. We cannot be
certain that the Chinese regulatory authorities will not impose more stringent restrictions on the convertibility of the Renminbi, especially with respect to foreign
exchange transactions.

RISKS RELATED TO THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND INTERNET INDUSTRIES IN CHINA
Government regulation of the telecommunications and Internet industries may become more burdensome.

Government regulation of the telecommunications and Internet industries is burdensome and may become more burdensome. New regulations could
increase our costs of doing business and prevent us from efficiently delivering our services. These regulations may stop or slow down the expansion of our
customer and user base and limit the access to the NetEase Web sites.
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Increased government regulation of the telecommunications and Internet industries in China may result in the Chinese government requiring us to
obtain additional licenses or other governmental approvals to conduct our business which, if unattainable, may restrict our operations.

The telecommunications industry, including Internet content provider, or ICP, services and online games, is highly regulated by the Chinese government,
the main relevant government authority being the Ministry of Information Industry or MII. Prior to China’s entry into the WTO, the Chinese government
generally prohibited foreign investors from taking any equity ownership in or operating any telecommunications business. ICP services are classified as
telecommunications value-added services and therefore fell within the scope of this prohibition. This prohibition was partially lifted following China’s entry into
the WTO. Pursuant to the Administrative Rules for Foreign Investments in Telecommunications Enterprises promulgated by the State Council dated December 5,
2001, foreign investors are allowed to hold in the aggregate up to 50% of the total equity in any value-added telecommunications business in China. In addition,
foreign and foreign invested enterprises are currently not able to apply for the required licenses for operating online games in China.

To operate the NetEase Web sites in compliance with all the relevant ICP-related Chinese regulations, Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi have successfully
obtained ICP licenses issued by the Guangdong Provincial Telecommunications Bureau in 2000 and 2003, respectively. In February 2001, Guangzhou NetEase
also completed commercial Web site registration with the Beijing Municipal Administrative Bureau of Industry and Commerce, and was approved to display
news services by the News Office of the Beijing Municipal People’s Government. In addition, Guangzhou NetEase has received approvals for online
dissemination of health- and drug-related information from the Guangdong Pharmaceutical Administration Bureau and Guangdong Department of Health, an
Internet publishing license from the State News and Publication Bureau as well as an Internet culture operation license for online game activities from the
Ministry of Culture. Finally, Guangzhou NetEase is in the process of applying for an cross-provincial value-added telecommunications license with MII.
However, we cannot be certain that we will be granted that license or any other license, permit or clearance we may need in the future. Moreover, we cannot be
certain that any local or national ICP or telecommunications license requirements will not conflict with one another or that any given license will be deemed
sufficient by the relevant governmental authorities for the provision of our services.

NetEase.com relies exclusively on contractual arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, and to a much lesser extent, Ling Yi and their approvals to operate
as Internet content providers. We believe that our present operations are structured to comply with Chinese law. However, many Chinese regulations are subject to
extensive interpretive powers of governmental agencies and commissions. We cannot be certain that the Chinese government will not take action to prohibit or
restrict our business activities. We are uncertain as to whether the Chinese government will reclassify our business as a media or retail company, due to our
acceptance of fees for Internet advertising, online games and wireless value-added and other services as sources of revenues, or as a result of our current corporate
structure. Such reclassification could subject us to penalties or fines or significant restrictions on our business. In addition, NetEase.com may have difficulties
enforcing its rights under the agreements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi if any of these parties breaches any of the agreements
with them because NetEase.com does not have approval from appropriate Chinese authorities to provide Internet content services, Internet advertising services or
wireless value-added services. Future changes in Chinese government policies affecting the provision of information services, including the provision of online
services, Internet access, e-commerce services and online advertising, may impose additional regulatory requirements on us or our service providers or otherwise
harm our business.
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The PRC government has announced its intention, and has begun, to intensify its regulation of Internet cafes, which are currently one of the primary
venues for our users to access the NetEase Web sites and our services, especially online games. Intensified government regulation of Internet cafes could
restrict our ability to maintain or increase our revenues and expand our customer base.

In April 2001, the PRC government began tightening its regulation and supervision of Internet cafes, at which many of our users access the NetEase Web
sites and our services, especially online games. In particular, a large number of unlicensed Internet cafes have been closed. In addition, the PRC government has
imposed higher capital and facility requirements for the establishment of Internet cafes. Furthermore, the PRC government’s policy, which encourages the
development of a limited number of national and regional Internet cafe chains and discourages the establishment of independent Internet cafes, may slow down
the growth of Internet cafes. Recently, the State Administration of Industry and Commerce, one of the government agencies in charge of Internet cafe licensing,
issued a notice suspending the issuance of new Internet cafe licenses. It is unclear when this suspension will be lifted, if at all. So long as Internet cafes are one of
the primary venues for our users to access the NetEase Web sites and our services, any reduction in the number, or any slowdown in the growth, of Internet cafes
in China could limit our ability to maintain or increase our revenues and expand our customer base, thereby reducing our profitability and growth prospects.

Our business would be materially harmed if the Chinese government were to take any action against us for the content on the NetEase Web sites.

The Chinese government has enacted regulations governing Internet access and distribution of news and other information over the Internet. In the past, the
Chinese government has stopped the distribution of information over the Internet that it believed to be inappropriate. We cannot predict the effect of further
developments in the Chinese legal system, particularly with regard to the Internet, including the promulgation of new laws, changes to existing laws or the
interpretation or enforcement of laws.

Although none of the content that we currently produce contains material that we believe would be considered inappropriate, some of our users may be
involved in producing and/or transmitting material that may be considered inappropriate. Although we constantly monitor the content of material transmitted on
the NetEase Web sites, we cannot assure you that we will in every instance uncover and block transmission of all material that may be considered inappropriate.

If we are found to be in violation of any existing or future Chinese laws or regulations, the relevant Chinese authorities would have broad discretion in
dealing with such a violation, including, without limitation, the following:

*  levying fines;

»  revoking our business license;

*  requiring us to restructure our corporate structure, operations or relationship with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising or Ling Yi; and

*  requiring us to discontinue any portion or all of our Internet business or our relationship with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising or Ling

Yi.

Any such action would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and on the holders of our American
Depositary Shares.
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Underdeveloped telecommunications infrastructure may limit the growth of the Internet market in China.

The telecommunications infrastructure in China is not well developed. Although private sector Internet service providers exist in China, almost all access to
the Internet is maintained through ChinaNet, which is owned in part by each of China Telecom and China Netcom, under the administrative control and
regulatory supervision of China’s Ministry of Information Industry. In addition, the government’s interconnecting national networks connect to the Internet
through a government-owned international gateway. This international gateway is the only channel through which a domestic Chinese user can connect to the
international Internet network. We rely on this infrastructure and China Netcom to provide data communications capacity primarily through local
telecommunications lines. Although the government has announced plans to develop aggressively the national information infrastructure, we cannot assure you
that this infrastructure will be developed. In addition, we will have no access to alternative networks and services, on a timely basis if at all, in the event of any
infrastructure disruption or failure. The Internet infrastructure in China may not support the demands associated with continued growth in Internet usage.

The limited use of personal computers in China limits our pool of potential customers and restricts the growth of our business.

The Internet penetration rate in China is, and is expected to continue to be, lower than that in the United States and other developed countries. Alternate
methods of obtaining access to the Internet, such as through mobile phones, cable television modems or set-top boxes for televisions, are not widely available in
China at present. There can be no assurance that the number or penetration rate of personal computers in China will increase rapidly or at all or that alternate
means of accessing the Internet will develop and become widely available in China. If significant numbers of Chinese consumers are unable to access the
Internet, our ability to grow our business would be impeded.

There has been a steady decrease in the rate of the growth of Internet users in China which could limit the overall size of our market and adversely
affect our revenues.

While the number of Internet users in China has been growing since its introduction and continues to grow currently, we believe that the rate of this growth
has slowed in recent years. We cannot predict whether this trend will continue at its current pace or at all, and the factors which will affect future growth in the
Internet industry in China, as described elsewhere in these Risk Factors, are largely beyond our control. If this trend does continue, our potential market may not
be as large as we had expected, and there will be even greater competition for Internet users in China. In that case, our ability to generate revenues from
advertising, e-commerce and other services could be adversely affected.

The relatively high cost of accessing the Internet in China limits our potential customer base and restricts the growth of our business.

Our growth is limited by the relatively high cost to Chinese consumers of obtaining the hardware, software and communications links necessary to connect
to the Internet in China. If the costs required to access the Internet do not significantly decrease, most of China’s population will not be able to afford to use our
services. The failure of a significant number of additional Chinese consumers to obtain affordable access to the Internet would make it difficult to grow our
business.

‘We may be unable to compete successfully against new entrants and established industry competitors.

The Chinese market for Internet content and services is intensely competitive and rapidly changing. Barriers to entry are minimal, and current and new
competitors can launch new Web sites at a relatively low cost. Many companies offer competitive products or services including Chinese language-based
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Web search, retrieval and navigation services, wireless value-added services, online games and extensive Chinese language content, informational and community
features and e-mail. In addition, as a consequence of China joining the World Trade Organization, the Chinese government has partially lifted restrictions on
foreign-invested enterprises so that foreign investors may hold in the aggregate up to 50% (raised from 49% as of December 11, 2003) of the total equity
ownership in any value-added telecommunications business, including an Internet business, in China.

Currently, our competition comes from Chinese language-based Internet portal companies as well as US-based portal companies. Some of our current and
potential competitors are much larger and better capitalized than we are, and currently offer, and could further develop or acquire, content and services that
compete with the NetEase Web sites. We also face competition from online game developers and operators, Internet service providers, wireless value-added
service providers, Web site operators and providers of Web browser software that incorporate search and retrieval features. Any of our present or future
competitors may offer products and services that provide significant performance, price, creativity or other advantages over those offered by us and, therefore,
achieve greater market acceptance than ours.

Because many of our existing competitors as well as a number of potential competitors have longer operating histories in the Internet market, greater name
and brand recognition, better connections with the Chinese government, larger customer bases and databases and significantly greater financial, technical and
marketing resources than we have, we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors. Any increased
competition could reduce page views, make it difficult for us to attract and retain users, reduce or eliminate our market share, lower our profit margins and reduce
our revenues.
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Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company

Our business was founded in June 1997, and we began offering search services and free Web-based e-mail starting mid-1997 and early-1998, respectively.
In mid-1998, we changed our business model from a software developer to an Internet technology company and commenced developing the NetEase Web sites.
In July 1999, we began to offer e-commerce platforms and to provide online shopping mall and other e-commerce services in China through Guangzhou NetEase,
a related party. In 2001, we also began focusing on fee-based premium services and online entertainment services, including wireless value-added services, online
games, premium e-mail services and other subscription-type services. Our focus on these services continued throughout 2002 and 2003.

In connection with the restructuring of our operations which is discussed below in Item 7.B. “Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—Related
Party Transactions,” NetEase.com, Inc. was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 6, 1999 and it operates under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2003
Revision). Our principal place of business was 15th Floor, North Tower, Beijing Kerry Centre, No. 1 Guang Hua Road, Chao Yang District, Beijing, People’s
Republic of China until January 13, 2003 when we moved to Suite 1901, Tower E3, The Towers, Oriental Plaza, Dong Cheng District, Beijing, People’s Republic
of China. Subsequently, in December 2003, we changed our principal executive offices to our office located at 2/F, Tower B, Keeven International Research &
Development Centre, No. 43 West Road North Third Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, People’s Republic of China 100086. Our telephone number is (86-10)
8211-0163. Our agent for service of process in the United States is CT Corporation System, 111 Eighth Avenue, New York, New York 10011.

In July 2000, we completed the initial public offering of our American Depositary Shares, representing our ordinary shares, and listed those securities on
the Nasdaq National Market. In addition, we issued and sold US$75,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes due
July 15, 2023 on July 14, 2003 and US$25,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the notes on July 31, 2003, in private offerings to Credit Suisse First Boston
LLC. We were advised by Credit Suisse First Boston LLC that the notes were resold in transactions which were exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (referred to as the Securities Act in this annual report) to persons reasonably believed by Credit Suisse First Boston LLC to be
“qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act).

Our principal capital expenditures for 2003 consisted of computer equipment as well as software for a total of approximately RMB27.8 million (US$3.4
million). Our principal capital expenditures for 2001 and 2002 also consisted of computer equipment as well as software for a total of RMB21.1 million (US$2.5
million) and RMB12.6 million (US$1.5 million), respectively.

We have spent approximately RMB12.1 million (US$1.5 million) from January 1, 2004 until March 31, 2004, principally for purchases of additional
computer equipment in order to accommodate the expected increase in usage of our online games and, to a lesser extent, for increased traffic on the NetEase Web
sites. Our capital expenditure plans for the period from April 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004 have not yet been fixed, but we expect to spend an additional
approximately RMB45.6 million (US$5.5 million), primarily for the same purposes. Capital expenditures in 2004 have been, and are expected to continue to be,
funded through operating cash flows and through our existing capital resources.

Recent Development

On April 14, 2004, we announced the temporary medical leave of absence by Ted Sun, acting Chief Executive Officer and a director. Michael Tong, our
Executive Director, and Denny Lee, our Chief Financial Officer, have assumed the day-to-day responsibilities of Mr. Sun during his absence.
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B. Business Overview
OVERVIEW

Through our subsidiaries and contracts with our affiliates Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, Ling Yi and their respective shareholders, we
operate a leading interactive online and wireless community in China and are a major provider of Chinese language content and services through our online
games, wireless value-added services and Internet portal businesses.

We generate revenues from fees we charge users of our online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services, as well as from
selling advertisements on the NetEase Web sites. Our basic service offerings on the NetEase Web sites are available without charge to our users.

Our principal areas of focus are described below:
Online Games

Our online games business focuses on offering massively multi-player online role-playing games to the Chinese market. MMORPGs are played over the
Internet in “virtual worlds” that exist on game servers to which thousands of players simultaneously connect and interact. We both develop and license online
games that are targeted at the Chinese market, and we strive to provide the highest quality game playing experience to our users.

To pay for game playing time, players use our prepaid point card system by purchasing physical point cards or virtual point cards online. Point card
distribution channels include wholesalers, Internet cafes, software stores, supermarkets, and bookstores, as well as convenience stores mainly in Guangzhou
Province and Shanghai.

Wireless Value-Added Services

Through arrangements with the two principal mobile phone operators in China, China Mobile and China Unicom, we offer a wide-range of services which
allow users, for example, to receive news and other information such as stock quotes and e-mails, download ringtones and logos for their mobile phones and
participate in matchmaking communities and interactive games. Combining content from our Internet portal (both user-generated and from our content partners)
with the applications we have developed in-house, our wireless business department strives to offer services that are responsive to our users’ changing tastes and
needs, as well as leverage the core services offered on the NetEase Web sites.

Currently, most of our wireless value-added services are provided to users in the form of short messaging services. We currently offer a wide variety of
different SMS services and subscription packages, such as news and information, community and Internet-related services and media downloading. In addition to
our SMS offerings, a small but increasing portion of our wireless value-added services revenue is from wireless technology standards, including MMS and WAP,
which users access with mobile phones that utilize the new GPRS or CDMA 1x technology standards, as well as IVRS. We intend to continue to develop and
introduce higher-end and more sophisticated wireless value-added services as the market evolves and as new technologies develop.
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Internet Portal

The NetEase Web sites provide Internet users with Chinese language online services centered around three core service categories—content, community
and communication, and commerce.

Content

The NetEase content channels provide news, information and online entertainment to the Chinese public. The Web sites consolidate and distribute content
from more than one hundred international and domestic content providers. Content is distributed through 21 channels, including channels focusing on news,
entertainment, sports, finance, information technology, automobiles, astrology and cartoons, as well as regional sites aimed at users in Guangdong and Shanghai.

Community and Communication

The NetEase Web sites also provide a broad array of free and fee-based community and communication services, including e-mail, instant messaging,
personal advertisements, matchmaking, alumni directories, personal homepages, clubs, e-cards, chat rooms, classified advertisements, job posting services and
community forums.

Commerce

We also offer an online shopping mall, providing Internet users in China a single online location at which they can shop from the convenience of their
homes and offices or in Internet cafes and thereby access products and information which might otherwise not be conveniently available. In turn, our technology
platform allows e-commerce and traditional businesses to establish or expand their retail networks via the NetEase Web sites.

Other

In addition to the three core service categories described above, the NetEase Web sites provide useful resources to our users, including a Web directory,
Web search service and classified advertisements. Our Web directory is based on an open architecture system with over 470 volunteer editors working to build a
categorized directory of Chinese Web sites.

The NetEase Web sites also provide an established marketing platform for advertisers, whereby they can reach NetEase’s large registered user base to
conduct integrated marketing campaigns by means of a full range of advertising formats and techniques. These include banner advertising, direct e-mail,
interactive media-rich sites, sponsored special events, games and contests and other activities.

OUR ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

We conduct our business in China solely through our wholly owned subsidiaries, NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai and NetEase Interactive (and NetEase
Interactive’s wholly owned subsidiary Guangzhou Interactive).

Under current Chinese regulations, there are limitations on the percentage interest foreign companies may have in value-added telecommunications
businesses in China, which include the operation of Internet content provision businesses and wireless value-added services such as SMS, MMS, WAP and IVRS.
In addition, the operation by foreign or foreign-invested companies of advertising businesses in China is subject to government approval. Because of these
restrictions, NetEase.com is not
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permitted directly to wholly own an Internet content provider, wireless value-added services provider or advertising business. NetEase.com has therefore entered
into a series of agreements, directly and through its subsidiaries, with three PRC companies, Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi. Under
the contracts, we provide our Internet and wireless value-added applications, services and technologies and advertising services to Guangzhou NetEase,
Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi, and they operate the NetEase Web sites and the online advertising business. For more information on these agreements,
see Item 7 “Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—Related Party Transactions.”

Under our agreements with Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi, we have agreed to pay the operating costs of both these companies. Under our agreements
with Guangyitong Advertising, we have agreed to provide performance guarantees and guarantee loans for working capital purposes to the extent required by
Guangyitong Advertising for its operations. Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi are each prohibited from incurring any debt without our
prior approval. We entered into our agreements with Ling Yi in May 2004 with retroactive effect to the date Ling Yi received its business license in 2003.

Guangzhou NetEase is 90% beneficially owned by our founder, Chief Architect and controlling shareholder, William Lei Ding, and 10% owned by his
brother, Bo Ding. Guangyitong Advertising is 80% owned by Guangzhou NetEase and 20% owned by Bo Ding. Ling Yi is 90% owned by William Lei Ding and
10% owned by one of our former employees, Jun (Singo) Liang. We do not have any direct ownership interest in Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising
or Ling Yi.

As aresult of our contractual arrangements with these three companies, we bear the risks of, and enjoy the rewards associated with, and therefore are the
primary beneficiary of our investments in Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi, and we have begun to consolidate their results of
operations in our historical consolidated financial statements commencing in the fiscal year 2004. See also “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.”

Any violations by Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, or Ling Yi of our agreements with them could disrupt our operations, degrade our
services or shut down our services. See Item 3.D “Risk Factors” in this annual report for a detailed discussion of the risks to NetEase.com regarding its
dependency on Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising, or Ling Yi.
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The following diagram shows the current group structure of our subsidiaries and affiliated companies:
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NetEase.com and its subsidiaries have no equity interest in Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising or Ling Yi.
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OUR SERVICES
Online Games
Massively Multi-player Online Role-Playing Games

In 2001, we began developing MMORPGs. As part of this initiative, we acquired technology assets from Guangzhou Tianxia Technology Co. Ltd., a
China-based game software developer. We launched our first MMORPG, “Westward Journey Online,” in December 2001 and began charging users for playing
time beginning in January 2002. Subsequently, we launched “Westward Journey Online Version 2.0” and a MMORPG licensed from a Korean company,
“PristonTale,” in August 2002. In December 2003 we began open-beta testing our second in-house developed MMORPG, “Fantasy Westward Journey.” Peak
concurrent users reached almost 100,000 within one month of beta testing. The game was commercially launched in January 2004 and has been well received by
online game players in China. For the month of March 2004, average concurrent users for this new game had already reached 54,000. We believe that the
popularity of the game will continue to increase in 2004.

For the month of December 31, 2003, our online games in the aggregate had an average of 171,000 concurrent users and a total of 1.7 million unique
paying users. The following chart sets forth the average number of concurrent users for each of our three MMORPG game titles as of the dates indicated:

For the month ended

December 31,
2002 2003
Westward Journey Online Version 2.0 41,375 126,962
PristonTale 9,605 2,510
Fantasy Westward Journey (1) — 41,956

(1) Fantasy Westward Journey began beta testing in December 2003 and was commercially launched in January 2004.

Our MMORPG titles can be accessed from any location with an Internet connection by registered users of the NetEase Web sites. Users may enter our
network with a password and a user-ID, after downloading our installation software or purchasing such software on a CD-ROM. Players of these games select a
specific character to begin play. Over the course of play, these characters build up experience and enhanced game capabilities, wealth, weapons and other
possessions, all of which may be carried over into subsequent gaming sessions. Players develop their characters according to choices they make within the
construct of the game. For example, our licensed title “PristonTale” contains a career system that allows players to tailor their characters’ development by
choosing different careers. Players interact with computer operated characters as well as with other players that are playing on the same network server. Players
are able to communicate with each other during the game through instant messaging or chat features, allowing them to coordinate their activities with other
players to form groups and achieve collective objectives.

Customer Service

We believe providing strong, dependable customer support is a key component to succeeding in the online games business. Our customer service center
provides 24 hour-a-day customer service and technical support and can be contacted via telephone or e-mail. In addition, our customer service specialists, known
as game masters, also appear as game characters within the game world and provide
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assistance and guidance to players, as well as policing behavior of players in the game world to maintain an atmosphere of fun and fair play. As of December 31,
2003, our company employed approximately 200 personnel (including 156 part-time personnel) dedicated to online game customer service and technical support.

User Fees

Users of our online games pay fees according to the amount of time they play the games. Currently, we charge RMBO0.40 (US$0.05) per hour for players of
our internally developed game titles, “Westward Journey Online Version 2.0” and “Fantasy Westward Journey,” and RMB0.50 (US$0.06) for our licensed title
“PristonTale.”

In connection with the introduction of our online games, we developed a prepaid point card to facilitate payment of fees for our online game services and,
to a lesser extent, our other fee-based value-added services. These cards address the real and perceived difficulties associated with making online payments in
China. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Company— Online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services have become the
major part of our revenue, but continued growth in the popularity of these services and customers’ willingness and ability to pay for them is uncertain.” Users can
buy prepaid point cards at a variety of locations in China, including Internet cafes, convenience stores, software stores and bookstores. Electronic point cards can
also be purchased through credit cards or online e-sales systems through which players can directly credit their account through Internet cafes or computer stores.
Each prepaid card contains an account number and a password. The points represented by these cards can then be transferred into users individual accounts on the
NetEase Web sites and used to pay for our online services, primarily playing time for online games. We estimate there were over 1.7 million unique users of our
point cards in December 2003.

Revenues from our online games are an increasingly important component of our overall revenues. Revenues from our online games accounted for nil,
15.9% and 35.7% of total revenues for 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Wireless Value-added Services
SMS

In conjunction with China Mobile, in January 2001, we began offering value-added services through SMS which allows users to, among other things, send
and receive text messages from the Internet. Subsequently, we entered into a similar arrangement with China Unicom. These services experienced strong growth
from their launch through the second quarter of 2003, after which time our revenue from wireless value-added services began to decline as a result of increased
competition and certain changes in the policies of China Mobile. See “Risk Factors—Currently, we depend on the contractual relationships of Guangzhou
NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd., or Guangzhou NetEase, and, to a much lesser extent, Guangzhou Ling Yi Electronics Technology Limited, or Ling Yi, with
the two principal mobile phone companies in China at the national, provincial and local level for our wireless value-added services revenues and the alteration or
termination of these relationships could adversely impact our business.” At December 31, 2003, we had more than 33 million registered SMS accounts. We
expect that SMS will continue to contribute the majority of our wireless value-added services revenue for 2004 but that over the next few years, there will be a
transition to next generation technologies such as MMS and WAP services as they become more widely available. We also intend to continue promoting wireless
services which have a strong tie-in with the NetEase Web sites, such as matchmaking community and e-mail.
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Currently, most of our wireless value-added services are provided to users in the form of SMS. NetEase offers a wide variety of services in the form of
individual messages and subscription packages which allow users, for example, to receive news and information such as stock quotes and e-mails, download
ringtones and logos for their mobile phones and participate in matchmaking communities and interactive games. We utilize content from our Internet portal (both
user-generated and from our content partners) with our applications developed in-house to offer this wide variety of services. Our SMS services can be generally
classified into four main categories, namely, news and information subscription, community services, Internet-related services and media downloading. The
following are our more popular SMS services in our four major service categories:

News and Information

Subscription Community Internet-related Media Downloading
Current news Matchmaking community E-mail-related services Ringtones
Financial news SMS girlfriend E-card notification Logos

Sports news SMS pet Instant messaging Screensavers
TV guide

Weather forecast

In December 2003, Internet-related services was our most popular category of SMS services in terms of revenue, in particular e-mail-related services
through which we notify subscribers via an SM'S message that they have received an e-mail message in our premium VIP e-mail service. For an additional
payment, we will also send subscribers the text of the e-mail message to their mobile phone via SMS.

MMS, WAP and Other Emerging Mobile Phone Technologies

We are also focusing on developing services that can be utilized in emerging mobile phone technologies. For example, beginning in late 2002, Guangzhou
NetEase derived wireless value-added services revenue under a separate cooperative arrangement with China Mobile by providing commercial WAP services,
which provides a browser-based platform to access and use wireless value-added services, to mobile users with phones using the GPRS technology standard. In
July 2003, we initiated commercial WAP services with China Unicom to mobile phone users over its CDMA 1x mobile phone platform. In April 2003, we also
started to derive revenue from activities related to MMS services under a cooperative agreement with China Mobile. We expect that our revenue derived from
services we develop utilizing these and other new mobile phone technologies will represent a larger portion of our wireless value-added services revenue in the
future as these new technologies becomes more widely available and accepted by mobile phone users in China.

More recently, we launched interactive voice response services, or IVRS services, for the wireless platform. IVRS are a new category of value-added
services that allow users to access prerecorded information from their mobile phones and to interact with other users through voice chat simply by dialing
specially designated IVRS phone numbers and responding to menu options. For instance, users can listen to voice recordings and also choose to recommend such
voice recordings to other users, as well as use voice-dating services. The voice-dating service allows users to talk to each other through voice chat after signing up
for the service and receiving a user ID.
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Fees

Fees for our wireless value-added services range between RMBO0.10 (US$0.01) to RMB2.00 (US$0.24) per SMS message or between RMB3.00 (US$0.36)
to RMB30.00 (US$3.62) per subscription per month. Pursuant to our agreements with China Mobile and China Unicom, fees for our wireless value-added
services are added onto the user’s China Mobile or China Unicom bill and subsequently collected from the user. Through Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi, we
share the revenue collected with these mobile operators.

Under our revenue sharing arrangements, China Mobile usually receives a service fee equal to 15% of the gross revenues from our services, and we receive
the remainder. In addition, according to our contractual arrangements with China Unicom, China Unicom’s revenue sharing percentage varies month-to-month
between 10% and 40%. Prior to March 2004, the percentage depended on whether we met certain revenue targets which were calculated on a monthly basis for
all of our services offered on its network. From March 2004, the percentage has depended on the relative ranking of the revenue generated by our wireless value-
added services over China Unicom’s network on a national basis as compared to all other service providers in the particular month. For 2003, China Unicom
received an average of 22% of the revenue it collected for our services as a service fee.

To the extent that the number of messages sent by us over China Mobile’s network exceeds the number of messages our customers send to us, we must also
pay per message network fees, which decrease in several provinces as the volume of customer usage of our services increases. In 2004, China Unicom also
adopted a similar methodology for charging per message network fees. The number of messages sent by us will exceed those sent by our users, for example, if a
user sends us a single message to order a service but we in turn must send that user several messages to confirm his or her order and deliver the service itself. In
2003, the average charge to us was between RMBO0.05 and RMB0.08 (US$0.006 to US$0.01) per message for China Mobile.

During 2003, we received between 73% and 78% of the amounts collected each month by China Mobile and China Unicom from mobile phone users for
our wireless value-added services after deducting network and service fees.

Internet Portal

Our Internet portal business, which is conducted through the NetEase Web sites, offers Chinese Internet users a network of Chinese language-based online
content channels, community and communication services, including e-mail, personal homepages, Web hosting and instant messaging, and commerce services
and other Web-based applications and services, including a full text Chinese language search engine and a Web directory, to enhance their Internet experience.
Our content, community and communication, and commerce services are all designed with user friendly interfaces and easy to understand instructions.

Members

The NetEase Web sites have registered and unregistered users. Any user may visit the NetEase Web sites without registering. Only registered users can use
our personalized services such as our free e-mail system and instant messaging, and our fee-based premium services such as our premium e-mail and dating
services. As of December 31, 2003, we had over 169 million accumulated registered accounts, including 73 million new accounts that registered in 2003. When
registering an account, NetEase users are asked to provide us with demographic and preference information that better allow us to identify and target audiences
with relevant online advertising.
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Content

The main homepage of the NetEase Web sites, www.163.com, provides a destination for Chinese Internet users to identify and access resources, services,
content and information on the Internet. The NetEase Web sites aggregate, organize and deliver information to meet the needs of Internet users in China. Our
media channels provide users with an efficient and easy way to explore and utilize a wealth of information and content organized around a variety of topics.

The NetEase Web sites currently include 21 media channels in the following categories:

* News » Jobs and careers + Information technology
» Sports » Culture * Education

* Games » Female + Study Abroad

» Finance » Entertainment » Travel

* Real estate + Automobiles + Mobile phone

* Health » Lifestyle * Guangdong Local

» Business * Product reviews + Shanghai Local

The NetEase Web sites also include several specialty content channels such as astrology, jokes, flash cartoons and mini-sites for movies and concerts which
provide even more variety of content to our users.

Our content distribution platform enables the NetEase Web sites to offer in-depth local content as well as a variety of locally relevant regional and
international content. We do not produce our own content for the NetEase Web sites, but rather obtain content from our content partners. Our content partners
display their content on one or more of the NetEase Web sites and media channels free of charge or in exchange for a share of revenue, a licensing fee, online
advertising, access to original content produced by the NetEase community or a combination of these arrangements. We distribute this content through our
content distribution system to Guangzhou NetEase, which determines the appropriate content to publish on the NetEase Web sites and to distribute to users of our
wireless value-added services. Our content alliances are generally non-exclusive.

We believe that the breadth and relevance of our content offering increases the number of visits our users make to the NetEase Web sites and the amount of
time they spend on these sites. We adopt a significant amount of user-generated content from the community forums on the NetEase Web sites. We believe that
this user-generated content is highly effective in maintaining user interest and ensuring repeat visits to the NetEase Web sites.

Community and Communication

The NetEase Web sites have established a large online community member base as a result of our leading online community technology. We launched what
we believe to be one of the first online communities in China in December 1998. Users can register with us online to interact with other registered community
members. We believe that as users become more involved with our online community, they will return to the NetEase Web sites frequently.
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NetEase users can interact through a variety of community services. They include:

E-mail. We provide registered users with free and fee-based premium Web-based e-mail services which support both the Chinese and English
languages. Registered users can access and send e-mail through their Web browsers or through the POP3 and SMTP standards, which allow users to
handle e-mails on their own e-mail applications without opening their browsers. The free Web-based e-mail service also includes the convenience of
an address book to maintain user contact lists online. In November 2001, we began offering value-added e-mail services for individuals, known as VIP,
which provide fee-paying subscribers with the latest anti-virus and anti-spam filtering capabilities. The VIP e-mail service also includes enhanced
security features as well as several convenient online and offline payment methods and 24-hour customer support. As of December 31, 2003, we had
more than 475,000 paid VIP e-mail subscribers.

Online Community Forums. We offer NetEase registered community members a variety of community forums where they can post messages and
articles for viewing by other registered community members and other users. Due to regulatory issues, we no longer allow users to create their own
forums in addition to the ones we offer. The NetEase online communities are hosted by volunteers, who are chosen by us based on their contributions
to the communities. The NetEase community volunteers monitor our community forums and select appropriate articles for posting. In addition, these
forums are also monitored by NetEase customer service personnel.

Instant Messaging. We offer NetEase registered users a communications platform to notify their online friends and other users with similar interests
when they are online and to send and receive text messages seen by both parties nearly instantaneously, allowing NetEase registered users to
participate in real-time dialogues. Users can access this service by downloading free software from the NetEase Web sites.

Personal Homepage Hosting. In March 2001, we introduced a fee-based premium personal homepage hosting service which allows subscribers to
create and maintain personal homepages on the Web. This service was re-launched in March 2002 with enhanced features and, thereafter, renamed
“Personal Space.” The NetEase personal homepages create a Web-based community for Internet users to express themselves, to share ideas, interests
and expertise, and to publish personal content accessible by other users with common interests. While we believe most of the NetEase personal
homepages are of interest to a small circle of friends and families, there is a core group of users who create homepages with content having broader
appeal. Traffic comes from both inside our network of Web sites and from non-registered users visiting from outside. Non-registered users typically
find registered users’ personal homepages through search engines. With this fee-based premium service, individual users are able to choose from
service packages available at different rates to improve the overall quality of their personal homepages.

We also offer a free personal homepage. We actively encourage users of our free service to transition their homepages to our premium service by
promoting the fact that users of this premium service benefit from greater storage space, a more secure and faster server, and 24-hour customer
support. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 270,000 personal homepages which were established under our non-fee based service and
more than 56,000 personal homepages which were established under our premium service.
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*  Matchmaking and Others. We offer a large number of other community services include online matchmaking services, a dedicated dating center,
online greeting cards, chat rooms, alumni directories and online polls. Several of these services have significant subscriber bases. For example, our
online matchmaking service has more than nine million accumulated registered accounts and more than 123,000 paid subscribers as of December 31,
2003.
Our Commerce Services

We believe that e-commerce will become a rapidly growing sub-sector of China’s Internet market, despite the fact that there are a number of obstacles that
need to be overcome. These obstacles include a low credit card penetration rate, perceived lack of secure online payment systems and the lack of reliable and
efficient product distribution networks. However, we believe that these obstacles will be overcome in time and that e-commerce will generate significant revenues
in China in the future.

Our e-commerce services focus on partnering with quality merchants to provide the convenience of online shopping to users. Currently, those merchants
support their own e-commerce platforms which appear on the NetEase online shopping mall Web site that we maintain. Previously, we also helped those
merchants with their e-commerce platforms. As of December 31, 2003, the mall hosted nine merchants.

Our co-branded auction and trading Web site with EachNet terminated in July 2002. Subsequently, we offered free auction services on the NetEase Web
sites but discontinued those services in June 2003.

Web Directory, Web Search and Classified Ads

The NetEase Web sites also provide a Web directory, a Web search and classified advertising services. Our Web directory is based on an open architecture
system with over 470 volunteer editors working to build a categorized directory of Chinese Web sites. Our Web search is now powered by Zhongsou.com
(formerly known as “Huicong”), a local Chinese search technology provider. We currently sell classified advertisements and key words exclusively through
various local agents throughout China.

Fees and Revenues

Revenue generated by our Internet portal business consists mainly of fees we receive from our fee-based premium services and revenue earned from the
sale of advertising space on the NetEase Web sites.

Generally, we price the services associated with our Internet portal as follows:

Service Pricing

Basic Services, including: Free of charge
* content services (such as news, local information, finance and weather);

e chat rooms;

*  basic e-mail services;

*  basic personal ads;
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*  basic matchmaking;

*  basic clubs;

*  basic photo album;

*  basic personal homepages;
* electronic greeting cards;

» instant messaging PC to PC;
*  jobsearch;

»  browsing classified ads;

*  Web directories;

*  Web searching; and

» online shopping mall.

Fee-Based Premium Services, including: Monthly subscription basis (ranges from RMB5.00 (US$0.60) to RMB45.00
(US$5.44) per month)

*  premium e-mail services;

*  premium personals;

+  premium matchmaking;

+  premium alumni clubs; and

+  premium personal homepages.

Advertising Services, including: Varies depending on service (see below).
*  banner advertising;

» the advertisement appears on the Web page;

e direct e-mail; and

*  special events.

Pricing for our advertising services has varied based on a number of factors including the duration for which advertisements appear on the NetEase Web
sites, how often such Web pages are viewed by users and the number of users that perform a specific action, such as clicking on the advertisement.
SALES AND MARKETING
Sales
Online Games

We sell game playing time to users of our MMORPGs largely in the form of prepaid point cards. We sell prepaid point cards to end users through over 300
distributors as of December 31, 2003. These distributors arrange for our cards to be offered at various retail points in China including, notably, Internet cafes
where many of the users of our online games access our system, and to a much lesser extent, directly over the Internet. We typically sell prepaid point cards to
distributors at a 15% discount off of their face value.
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Advertising

We believe the growing number of Internet users in China represents an attractive demographic target for advertisers because it represents an affluent,
educated and technically sophisticated market. To capitalize on this advertising opportunity, we established an advertising sales force in May 1999.

Guangyitong Advertising sells banner advertisements on the NetEase Web sites, including animated and interactive banner advertisements, button
advertisements and text links, as well as advertising through targeted e-mail campaigns. In addition, we have been appointed by Guangzhou NetEase to solicit
advertising customers outside of China for the NetEase Web sites. Together with Guangyitong Advertising, we had 49 advertising sales professionals located in
Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou as of December 31, 2003. In addition, online advertising on the NetEase Web sites is also sold through online advertising sales
networks and advertising agencies. We believe that our focus on widely-used services that are designed to appeal to a broad base of Internet users attracts a
variety of blue chip advertisers, ranging from technology products to consumer brands (including increasingly Chinese companies). We intend to continue to
attract online advertisers by promoting the NetEase brand name to potential advertisers. We also engage in providing cooperative promotional advertising
solutions in which we act as the official sponsor or co-sponsor of special events or online content, such as Web sites that feature movies or television series,
athletic events, music awards, charity concerts and industry exhibitions.

Furthermore, we perform analyses of our registered users’ habits and preferences on a frequent basis and have used that information to tailor our
advertising services. For example, we can deliver advertisements via electronic greeting cards to users who fit within certain criteria based on their user profile.
By developing user profiles and user behavior analyses, we intend to increase our ability to target specific user groups and thereby identify users who are
attractive to online advertisers.

For a discussion of the seasonality of our revenue, see Item 5. “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Revenue—Seasonality of Revenue.”

Marketing

We employ a variety of traditional and online marketing programs and promotional activities to build our brand as part of our overall marketing strategy.
We focus on building brand awareness through proactive public relations and traditional and online advertising, and during 2002 and 2003, we conducted an
increasing number of traditional marketing events promoting specific services, such as online games, wireless value-added services and other fee-based premium
services.

In connection with the marketing of our online games, we engaged Hong Kong actors Stephen Chow and Miriam Yeung as celebrity spokespersons for
Westward Journey Online Version 2.0 and Fantasy Westward Journey, respectively. We have also entered into a number of revenue sharing agreements with third
party promoters of our online game titles. Pursuant to these agreements, promoters spend time marketing our game titles to potential customers in specific
locations, principally Internet cafes, in return for a share of revenues we receive from new users they recruit.

We plan to continue investing in various forms of marketing to further build awareness of our brand. Specifically, we intend to launch a new marketing
campaign later in 2004 which will focus on increasing brand awareness of our company and specific product driven advertisements, through television
advertisements and off-line media, such as newspapers, outdoor billboards and advertisements on buses and bus stops.

39



Table of Contents

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We believe that the ability to develop and enhance our services is an integral part of our future success. Our product development efforts and strategies
consist of incorporating new technologies from third parties as well as continuing to develop our own proprietary technology in order to produce user-friendly
Internet and wireless applications, services and technologies for the Chinese market.

We have utilized and will continue to utilize the products and services of third parties to enhance our platform of technologies and services to provide
competitive and diverse Internet and wireless services to our users. We also have utilized and will continue to utilize third-party advertisement serving
technologies in conjunction with our own proprietary software. In addition, we plan to continue to expand our technologies, services and registered user base
through diverse online services developed internally. We will seek to continually improve and enhance our existing services to respond to rapidly evolving
competitive and technological conditions.

Two areas of particular focus are the development of our proprietary online games and our wireless value-added services. Though we have obtained
MMORPG titles in the past both through licensing arrangements and internal development, we believe internal development offers a number of advantages,
including flexibility to release new versions and upgrades according to our own timetable, the ability to tailor new games to the Chinese audience and the ability
to proactively monitor and counter hacking activities so as to ensure the integrity of the gaming environment. We are currently developing a new MMORPG title,
and will continue to focus on developing additional new games in the future. As of December 31, 2003, we had 70 programmers, network engineers and graphic
designers dedicated to online game research and development.

In connection with our game development activities, we will occasionally purchase technology developed by third parties. For example, in 2003, we
entered into a licensing agreement with a third party developer for the right to use their 3-D game engine in MMORPG titles we develop.

As of December 31, 2003, we had 20 employees dedicated to the development of new wireless value-added services. Though the majority of our wireless
value-added services in 2003 was still attributable to SMS, we believe that this will change in the future, and our research and development activities for this
business have focused recently on new services using more advanced technologies such as MMS and WAP, as well as IVRS.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

Our infrastructure and technology have been designed for reliability, scalability and flexibility and are administered by our technical staff. The NetEase
Web sites are made available primarily through network servers co-located in the facilities of China Netcom’s Beijing affiliate (this was an affiliate of China
Telecom until its reorganization) and China Telecom’s Changzhou affiliate. As of December 31, 2003, there were 1,550 of such co-located servers, operating with
Web server software from Apache and Netscape. We lease dedicated lines with a total of 4.3 gigabits per second capacity from China Netcom’s Beijing affiliate
and China Telecom’s Changzhou affiliate.

We license NetGravity’s advertisement serving technology to provide internal advertising inventory management, and we have developed our own
advertisement tracking system.

Our Web directory is based on an open architecture system with over 470 volunteer editors. We use Oracle’s database systems to manage our registered
user database. NetEase has established a comprehensive user profile system, and we analyze user information on a weekly basis. We also deploy a single sign-on
system that allows users to easily access our services within the NetEase Web sites. We intend to continue to use a combination of internally developed software
products as well as third party products to enhance our Internet media services in the future.
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COMPETITION

A number of companies offer competitive products or services in China, our main operating market. These include Sina, Sohu, Tom.com, 263.net, Linktone
Ltd., Shanda Interactive Entertainment Limited, Tencent, Chinadotcom and 21cn.com.

Specifically, we face competition from other Web sites that offer online community services and from other e-commerce service providers servicing our
market, including Sina, Sohu, Tom.com and Tencent.com. Moreover, operators of Internet portals, such as Sina and Sohu, and dedicated service providers, such
as Linktone, MTone Wireless and Newpalm (a subsidiary of Chinadotcom), are major providers of wireless value-added services in the China market, and like
our company, they also have partnership arrangements with both China Mobile and China Unicom, the two principal mobile phone operators in China. Overall,
we have seen increasing competition in the wireless value-added services market in 2003, and expect competition to remain intense in 2004.

We are also encountering competition from companies offering MMORPGs that target the China market, such as Shanda Interactive Entertainment
Limited, Softworld, Joypark, Actoz, Ncsoft, The9.com and Waei International (with whom we had a strategic partnership until March 2002). Additionally, the
producers of traditional video game consoles, such as Sony’s Play Station 2 and Microsoft’s Xbox, also offer MMORPGs to their users. Some of our existing and
potential competitors in these areas have significantly greater financial and marketing resources than we do.

We also face competition from US-based portals such as Yahoo! and Yahoo! Chinese which have translated some of their content from the English
language to the Chinese language. We expect that China’s entry into the World Trade Organization, and the resulting gradual opening of its telecommunications
sector, may facilitate more foreign participation in the Chinese Internet market. Many of these Internet companies have longer operating histories in the Internet
market, greater name and brand recognition, larger customer bases and databases and significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we
have. The entry of additional, highly competitive Internet companies into the Chinese market would further heighten competition. Finally, we face competition
from Web sites that operate outside our market and offer content in the English language, which may be attractive to a portion of Chinese Internet users.

In the future, we expect to face increased competition from online game and wireless value-added service providers, as well as new Internet media
companies that choose to target general, special interest and/or demographic markets (such as vertical portals). We may encounter indirect competition from
providers of Web-based software and other Internet related products. We also compete with traditional forms of media for advertising-related revenue. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors or that competition will not have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We believe the principal competitive factors in the Internet and wireless value-added services market in China are:

*  brand recognition;

»  user-friendliness;
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»  focus on Internet and wireless value-added services users in China;

»  development of technology tailored for the Chinese market;

«  comprehensiveness, quality and responsiveness of products and services;
+  availability of targeted content; and

»  personalized experience and online community applications, services and technologies.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

The telecommunications industry, including computer information and Internet access services, is highly regulated by the Chinese government. Regulations
issued or implemented by the State Council, the Ministry of Information Industry, or the MII, and other relevant government authorities cover virtually every
aspect of telecommunications network operation, including entry into the telecommunications industry, the scope of permissible business activities,
interconnection and transmission line arrangements, tariff policy and foreign investment.

The MII, under the leadership of the State Council, is responsible for, among other things:

+  formulating and enforcing telecommunications industry policy, standards and regulations;

+  granting licenses to provide telecommunications and Internet access services;

+  formulating tariff and service charge policies for telecommunications and Internet access services;

*  supervising operations of telecommunications and Internet access service providers;

*  maintaining fair and orderly market competition among operators; and

*  managing the day-to-day administration of the national telecommunications sector.

In September 2000, China’s State Council promulgated the Telecommunications Regulations, or the Telecom Regulations. The Telecom Regulations
categorize all telecommunications businesses in China as either infrastructure telecommunications businesses or value-added telecommunications businesses,
with Internet content provider (ICP) services and e-mail services classified as value-added telecommunications businesses. According to the Telecom

Regulations, the commercial operator of such services must obtain an operating license. The Telecom Regulations also set forth extensive guidelines with respect
to different aspects of telecommunications operations in China.

In December 2001, in order to comply with China’s commitments with respect to its entry into the WTO, the State Council promulgated the Administrative
Rules for Foreign Investments in Telecommunications Enterprises, or the Telecom FIE Rules. The Telecom FIE Rules set forth detailed requirements with respect
to capitalization, investor qualifications and application procedures in connection with the establishment of a foreign invested telecom enterprise. Pursuant to the
Telecom FIE Rules, foreign investors may now hold an aggregate of no more than 50% of the total equity in any value-added telecommunications business in
China, subject to certain geographic limitations.
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In addition to the regulations promulgated by the central Chinese government, some local governments have also promulgated local rules applicable to
Internet companies operating within their respective jurisdictions. In Beijing, where our head office is located, the Beijing Municipal Administrative Bureau of
Industry and Commerce, or the Beijing AIC, has promulgated a number of Internet-related rules. For example, in March 2001, the Beijing AIC promulgated the
Online Advertising Tentative Administrative Measures requiring all ICPs within Beijing which provide online advertising services to obtain an advertising
operating license. In December 2001, the Beijing Telecom Bureau promulgated the Beijing Moveable Network Value-added Telecom Business Administrative
Measures requiring moveable network operators in Beijing to obtain an operating license. In addition, the Beijing AIC issued a circular requiring bulletin board
services (BBS) providers to obtain approval from the Beijing AIC. Since these local rules or circulars do not explicitly require a non-Beijing registered Internet
company or a non-ICP company to comply with these rules or circulars and it is not clear under the rules that the NetEase Web sites are “located within Beijing,”
we believe that these local rules do not apply to Guangzhou NetEase, NetEase Beijing and Ling Yi.

The Beijing AIC has also adopted rules requiring owners of the domain names of commercial Web sites located within Beijing to conduct both a Web site
name registration and a commercial Web site registration with the Beijing AIC. Although the applicability of these rules to our business is also unclear, we have
registered four of our domain names with the Beijing AIC and are in the process of registering three additional names at this time.

We are aware of a number of other rules adopted by various provinces and municipalities in China which purport to regulate Internet and wireless value-
added services. We are in the process of evaluating the applicability of these rules to our business and will seek such additional licenses, permits or clearances as
we deem necessary or appropriate. However, as noted previously in “Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Telecommunications and Internet Industries in China—
Increased government regulation of the telecommunications and Internet industries in China may result in the Chinese government requiring us to obtain
additional licenses or other governmental approvals to conduct our business which, if unattainable, may restrict our operations,” many Chinese laws are subject to
extensive interpretive powers of governmental agencies and commissions, and we could be subject to unforeseen penalties or restrictions on our operating
activities if any governmental body disagrees with our interpretation of such laws.

Regulation of Internet Content Services; Publications

Subsequent to the State Council’s promulgation of the Telecom Regulations in September 2000, MII formulated and implemented a number of Internet-
related regulations, including but not limited to the Internet Information Service Administrative Measures, or the ICP Measures, the Internet Electronic Bulletin
Board Service Administrative Measures, or the BBS Measures, and the Tentative Administrative Measures Concerning Internet Portals Carrying on the News
Displaying Business, or the Internet News Measures. The ICP Measures require that commercial ICP operators must obtain an ICP license from the appropriate
telecommunications authorities in order to carry on any commercial ICP operations within China. In addition, the ICP Measures also provide that ICP operators
which operate in sensitive and strategic sectors, including news, publishing, education, health care, medicine and medical devices, must obtain additional
approvals from the relevant authorities in charge of those sectors as well. The BBS Measures provide that any ICP operator engaged in providing online bulletin
board services is subject to a special approval and filing process with the relevant government telecommunications authorities. The Internet News Measures
require that any ICP operator engaging in any news displaying services must obtain approval for those services from the appropriate government news
department.
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The Ministry of Health and the State Drug Administration have also adopted regulations regarding the online dissemination of online health- or drug-
related information. These regulations require that, among other things, medical, health and drug information must be scientific and accurate and the sources of
the information must be identified. Web sites which have received approval to disseminate such information must also publish or reprint health policies,
information on epidemics and major health-related incidents and other information in this area in accordance with law. Medical and drug-related advertisements
published by such Web sites are also prohibited from exaggerating the efficacy or promoting the medical uses of the advertised products.

In addition, the State News and Publication Bureau, or SNPB, is the government agency responsible for regulating publishing activities in China. On June
27,2002, MII and SNPB jointly promulgated the Internet Publishing Tentative Administrative Measures, or the Internet Publishing Measures, which took effect
on August 1, 2002. The Internet Publishing Measures require Internet publishers to secure approval from SNPB. The term “Internet publishing” is defined as an
act of online dissemination whereby Internet information service providers select, edit and process works created by themselves or others (including content from
books, newspapers, periodicals, audio and video products, electronic publications, etc. that have already been formally published or works that have been made
public in other media) and subsequently post the same on the Internet or transmit the same to users via the Internet for browsing, use or downloading by the
public.

Currently, the NetEase Web sites are operated by our affiliated company, Guangzhou NetEase. Our affiliated company, Ling Yi, also provides a limited
number of wireless value-added services which are considered ICP-related. To provide these services in compliance with all the relevant ICP-related Chinese
regulations, Guangzhou NetEase has successfully obtained an ICP license issued by the Guangdong Provincial Telecommunications Bureau dated as of December
2000, which was most recently re-issued in March 2004, and Ling Yi received such a license in December 2003. Guangzhou NetEase’s current ICP license
specifically authorizes it to provide bulletin board services. In February 2001, the News Office of the Beijing Municipal People’s Government approved
Guangzhou NetEase’s application in respect of its news displaying services on the NetEase Web sites. Guangzhou NetEase has also received approvals for online
dissemination of health- and drug-related information from the Guangdong Pharmaceutical Administration Bureau and Guangdong Department of Health, an
Internet publishing license from the SNPB, as well as an Internet culture operation license for online game activities from the Ministry of Culture. Finally,
Guangzhou NetEase is in the process of applying for a cross-provincial value-added telecommunications license with MII. Guangzhou NetEase also completed
commercial Web site registration with the Beijing AIC in February 2001.

Under the relevant regulations, ICP operators and Internet publishers are prohibited from posting or displaying any content that:
*  opposes the fundamental principles determined in China’s Constitution;

+  compromises state security, divulges state secrets, subverts state power or damages national unity;

»  harms the dignity or interests of the state;

»  incites ethnic hatred or racial discrimination or damages inter-ethnic unity;

+  sabotages China’s religious policy or propagates heretical teachings or feudal superstitions;

+  disseminates rumors, disturbs social order or disrupts social stability;
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+  propagates obscenity, pornography, gambling, violence, murder or fear or incites the commission of crimes;
»  insults or slanders a third party or infringes upon the lawful rights and interests of a third party; or

* includes other content prohibited by laws or administrative regulations.

Failure to comply with this content censorship requirement may result in the revocation of ICP licenses and the closing down of the concerned Web sites.
To ensure compliance with this regulatory requirement, Guangzhou NetEase has taken all reasonable steps to avoid displaying any of the prohibited content on
the NetEase Web sites.

Regulation of Advertisements

The State Administration of Industry and Commerce, or the SAIC, is the government agency responsible for regulating advertising activities in China.
While there are no nation-wide uniform laws or regulations in China specifically governing online advertising businesses, certain local government authorities,
such as the Beijing AIC, have issued a number of regulations governing online advertising businesses. The SAIC has not expressly asserted or issued any
regulatory documents stating that the Internet is considered an advertising medium under its rules, nor has the SAIC extended its jurisdiction to online
advertisements. However, we cannot predict what stance the SAIC or any other Chinese governmental agencies may adopt in the future.

Guangyitong Advertising holds an advertising operating license and operates our online advertising business on an exclusive basis. If the SAIC were to
treat our current technological service to Guangyitong Advertising as being an online “Advertisement Publisher”, we would need to apply to the local SAIC to
amend our business license to authorize us to conduct an online advertising business in accordance with the Administrative Regulations on Advertising and the
Detailed Implementing Rules thereof. We cannot assure you that such application would be approved by the SAIC. Failure to obtain such approval may result in
penalties including:

*  being banned from engaging in online advertising activities,
+  confiscation of illegal earnings and
+ fines.
On the other hand, if an application were approved by the SAIC and we were deemed to be an online “Advertisement Publisher,” we would be held
responsible for examining relevant documents and verifying the content of advertisements we post online.
Regulation of E-Commerce

At present, there are no specific Chinese laws at the national level governing e-commerce or defining e-commerce activities, and no Chinese government
authority has been designated to regulate e-commerce. There are existing regulations governing retail and auction businesses which require companies to obtain
licenses in order to engage in these businesses. However, it is unclear whether these existing regulations will be applied to e-commerce. There is no assurance that
the Chinese government will not, in the future, promulgate specific regulations governing e-commerce, designate a government agency to regulate e-commerce
activities or apply existing retail and auction regulations to e-commerce activities, any of which events could restrict our business activities.
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In addition, at least one provincial government has adopted regulations in this area, and other provincial or local governmental agencies may do so in the
future. Specifically, in December 2002, Guangdong Province promulgated the Electronic Transactions Regulations which require electronic transaction service
providers to obtain governmental approval and regulate electronic signatures, records and contracts. It is not entirely clear whether these regulations apply to
Guangzhou NetEase, and, accordingly, we have not sought any approvals under these regulations. We have, however, obtained an audio-visual product operating
license from the Department of Culture of Guangdong Province which enables us to sell audio-visual products through the Internet.

Our ability to operate our business may be adversely affected if the Guangdong provincial authorities determine that their e-commerce regulations are
applicable to Guangzhou NetEase. Further, the adoption of multiple e-commerce regulations by different provincial or local agencies could have a material
adverse effect on our business, particularly if such regulations are inconsistent with each other.

Regulation of Wireless Value-Added Services

On April 15, 2004, MII issued a notice regarding regulating SMS (the “SMS Notice), which requires all SMS providers to obtain a relevant operating
license within 30 days after the issuance of the notice, otherwise, the mobile operators in China will immediately cease to provide connection services to such
provider. Subsequently, the Telecom Administration Bureau (“TAB”) of MII issued a notice requiring cross-provincial SMS providers to provide a report as to
their compliance with the SMS Notice by June 2004. The scope of authorized services set forth in the ICP licenses of both Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi
already include SMS. In addition, Guangzhou NetEase is in the process of applying for a cross-provincial value-added telecommunications license with MII, and
if it receives that license, it will also be required to register with the local MII offices of those provinces where we provide SMS services.

The SMS Notice also provides specific guidelines regarding the provision of SMS services, such as fee collection, suspension of service by users, handling
of customer complaints and related matters.

Regulation of Online Games

The operation, publication and distribution of online games in China is regulated by various regulatory authorities in China, such as MII, the Ministry of
Culture (“MOC”) and the SNPB.

Pursuant to the Software Product Administrative Measures promulgated by MII on October 27, 2000, online games are regarded as software products, and
a software registration certificate issued by MII is required for the operation and sale of each online game. All of the online games we developed in-house have
been registered with MII, and we are in the process of registering our licensed game, PristonTale, with MII.

Pursuant to the Internet Culture Administrative Tentative Measures promulgated by the MOC on May 10, 2003, online game operators are required to
obtain an Internet culture operating license from the MOC, which our affiliate, Guangzhou NetEase, has received. The MOC also issued a notice in August 2003
requiring the importation of online games to be approved by it. Subsequently, the MOC issued another notice regarding online games on May 20, 2004 (the “2004
Notice”) which also requires the importation of online games to be approved by the MOC. For online games imported before the issuance of the 2004 Notice
which are still operating, they must be submitted to the MOC for review by September 1, 2004. In addition, based on information provided orally by the MOC,
importers of online games must
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have their own Internet culture operating licenses or at least one of the co-licensees must have such an operating license under the 2004 Notice. Accordingly, we
are in the process of evaluating what changes need to be made with respect to our license of PristonTale which is currently granted to Beijing NetEase, as
licensee. We are also in the process of filing the online games we developed in-house with the MOC for recordation. Finally, the State Council recently
announced that the approval power of the MOC in relation to the operation of online games is not valid. As the interpretation of the State Council’s
announcement is still uncertain and the implementation of the 2004 Notice is untested, we are still monitoring the development of this area of PRC law and
evaluating its implications to our company.

In addition, for imported online games, the relevant license agreements for such games are regarded as technology import contracts and need to be
registered with the MOC. We are in the process of registering the license agreement for PristonTale with the local agency of the MOC. The license agreements
also need to be registered with the State Copyright Bureau, otherwise we can not remit licensing fees out of China to the foreign game licensor. We have already
registered the license contract for PristonTale with the State Copyright Bureau.

The publication of online games also requires approval from the SNPB in accordance with the Internet Publication Administration Tentative Procedure
promulgated by the SNPB on August 1, 2002. We received such approval in 2003, and it is valid for ten years. Moreover, the companies we engage to produce
and publish the CD-ROMs which some users purchase to download software which enables them to play our games are required to apply for registration (for
domestic games) or approval (for imported games) from the SNPB. We understand that the companies currently engaged by us for this purpose have obtained
such registration and approvals.

It has been reported that SNPB will be adopting new regulations affecting the publication of online games. We cannot be certain when these regulations
will become effective, what form they will take or how they will affect our business.

Foreign Exchange Controls

Our Chinese subsidiaries are subject to various foreign exchange controls which are discussed in Item 10 in this Form 20-F.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. We require our
employees to enter into agreements requiring them to keep confidential all information relating to our customers, methods, business and trade secrets during and
after their employment with us. Our employees are required to acknowledge and recognize that all inventions, trade secrets, works of authorship, developments
and other processes, whether or not patentable or copyrightable, made by them during their employment are our property. They also sign all necessary documents
to substantiate our sole and exclusive right to those works and to transfer any ownership that they may claim in those works to us.

While we actively take steps to protect our proprietary rights, such steps may not be adequate to prevent the infringement or misappropriation of our
intellectual property. Infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property could materially harm our business. We own the intellectual property (other
than the content) relating to the NetEase Web sites and the technology that enables on-line community, personalization and e-commerce services on those sites.
We license content from various freelance providers and other content providers.
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We have full legal rights over and have registered a number of domain names with Network Solutions, Inc., including:
*  www.netease.com;

*  www.163.com;

*  www.yeah.net;

*  www.126.com; and

* www.nease.net.

China’s trademark law adopts a “first-to-file” system for obtaining trademark rights. As a result, the first applicant to file an application for registration of a
mark will preempt all other applicants. Prior use of an unregistered mark is generally irrelevant except for “well known” marks. Guangzhou NetEase and NetEase
Beijing have successfully registered numerous trademarks with China’s Trademark Office, including marks incorporating the words “NetEase” and “Yeah” in
English and for marks for “NetEase” as written in Chinese in traditional and simplified Chinese characters. In addition, they have registered trademarks involving
Chinese characters and phrases that have meanings relating to our Web pages, products and services, including our travel Web page, dating and friends matching
services, chat services, online gaming and our search engine. All of the marks which Guangzhou NetEase has registered have been transferred to us. Guangzhou
NetEase, NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou Interactive also have applications pending for numerous other trademarks, and we will cause Guangzhou NetEase to
transfer to us any of its newly registered trademarks. We may not be able to successfully defend or claim any legal rights in those trademarks that Guangzhou
NetEase has registered but not yet transferred to us, and those trademarks for which applications have been made but for which the Trademark Office has not
issued a registration certificate.

We have also registered a number of trademarks in Hong Kong incorporating the words “NetEase” in English and the marks for “NetEase” as written in
Chinese in traditional and simplified Chinese characters. In addition, we have also filed similar trademark applications in the United States.

In addition, we have registered our Westward Journey Online Version 2.0 and Fantasy Westward Journey games with the State Copyright Bureau of China.

Many parties are actively developing and seeking patent protection for community, online game, e-commerce and related Web technologies. We expect
these parties to continue to take steps to protect these technologies, including seeking patent protection. There may be patents issued or pending that are held by
others and that cover significant parts of our technology, business methods or services. For example, we are aware that a number of patents have been issued in
areas of e-commerce, Web-based information indexing and retrieval and online direct marketing. Disputes over rights to these technologies are likely to arise in
the future. We cannot be certain that our products do not or will not infringe valid patents, copyrights or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. We
may be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time relating to the intellectual property of others.

In January 2003, Guangzhou NetEase was named in a copyright infringement lawsuit in China, and the plaintiffs have claimed damages of US$1.0 million.
We intend to vigorously defend our position and believe the ultimate resolution of the matter will not have a material financial impact on our company.
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C. Organizational Structure

The following table sets out the details of our subsidiaries:

Country of Ownership
Name Incorporation Interest
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. People’s 100%
Republic of
China
NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. People’s 100%
Republic of
China
NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd. British Virgin 100%
Islands
NetEase (U.S.) Inc. U.S. 100%
Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology Limited People’s 100%
Republic of
China

NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited also has a wholly owned subsidiary, Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited.

NetEase (U.S.) Inc. and Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology Limited were dormant in 2003, and we expect that they will remain so in the
near-term.

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

Our principal executive offices are currently located at 2/F, Tower B, Keeven International Research & Development Centre, No. 43 West Road North
Third Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, People’s Republic of China 100086. We lease our principal executive offices at an effective annual rent of
approximately US$0.05 million (RMBO0.5 million), including management fees, for 556 square meters under a lease that expires in May 2006. We also occupy
1,592 square meters under a lease in Beijing that expires in May 2006. In addition, we occupy 766 square meters under a lease in Shanghai that expires in
December 2004. Guangzhou NetEase occupies a total of 4,831 square meters under leases that expire in May 2005, February 2006, December 2006 and June
2008, respectively. We believe that we will be able to obtain adequate facilities, principally through the leasing of appropriate properties, to accommodate our
future expansion plans.

We lease dedicated lines with a total capacity of approximately 1,300 megabits per second from China Netcom’s Beijing affiliate under a contract expiring
in September 2004. In addition, we lease dedicated lines from China Telecom’s Changzhou affiliate under contracts expiring in June 2004, August 2004 and
January 2005. Our bandwidth fees were approximately US$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and their related notes included in this annual report on Form 20-F. This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including, without limitation, statements regarding our
expectations, beliefs, intentions or future strategies that are signified by the words “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “believe”, or similar language. All forward-
looking statements included in this annual report are based on information available to us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such
forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. In evaluating our business, you should
carefully consider the information provided under the caption “Risk Factors” in this annual report on Form 20-F. We caution you that our businesses and

financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties.

A. Operating Results
Overview

NetEase is a leading Internet technology company in China. Our innovative online communities and personalized premium services, which allow registered
users to interact with other community members, have established a large and stable user base for the NetEase Web sites which are operated by our affiliate. As of
December 31, 2003, we had registered an accumulated total of approximately 167 million accounts, and our average daily page views exceeded 390 million for
the month ended December 31, 2003.

During 2003, we continued to develop our online games, wireless value-added services and other fee-based premium services. We also believe that
advertising will continue to be one of our significant revenue sources for the foreseeable future, but we anticipate that the revenue generated by these fee-based
premium services and online entertainment services will continue to constitute the major portion of our future revenue.

We achieved a net profit of RMB322.9 million (US$39.0 million) for 2003 and generated positive operating cash flows of RMB373.7 million (US$45.2
million) during the year. Our accumulated deficit was reduced from RMB454.1 million as of December 31, 2001 to RMB437.8 million as of December 31, 2002
and to RMB148.7 million (US$18.0 million) as of December 31, 2003. These accumulated losses have been funded principally with proceeds from the issuance
of our American Depositary Shares at our initial public offering, the proceeds of our issuance of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes due July 15, 2023
and cash flow from our operations.

Our Corporate Structure

NetEase.com, Inc. was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 6, 1999 as an Internet technology company in China. As of December 31, 2003, we had
four major directly wholly owned subsidiaries, NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., or NetEase Beijing, NetEase Information Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or NetEase Shanghai, and NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited, or NetEase Interactive, which has a direct wholly owned subsidiary,
Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited, or Guangzhou Interactive. As of December 31, 2003, we also had two wholly owned subsidiaries,
NetEase (U.S.) Inc., or NetEase US, and Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology Limited, or Boguan, which were inactive during 2003.
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NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai and Boguan were established in China on August 30, 1999, May 14, 2000 and December 8, 2003, respectively.
NetEase US was established in the U.S. on September 10, 1999. NetEase Interactive was established in the British Virgin Islands on April 12, 2002, and
Guangzhou Interactive was established in China on October 15, 2002.

Under current Chinese regulations, there are limitations on the percentage interest foreign companies may have in value-added telecommunications
businesses in China, which include the operation of Internet content provision businesses and the provision of online games and wireless value-added services
such as SMS. In addition, the operation by foreign or foreign-invested companies of advertising businesses in China is subject to government approval. Because
of these restrictions, NetEase.com is not permitted directly to wholly own an Internet content provider, wireless value-added services provider or advertising
business. We conduct our business in China solely through our wholly owned subsidiaries, NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai, NetEase Interactive and
Guangzhou Interactive.

NetEase Beijing provides technical consulting and related services to Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi; NetEase Shanghai
provides technical consulting for advertising services offered by our affiliates; and Guangzhou Interactive mainly provides services for online games offered by
Guangzhou NetEase.

Guangzhou NetEase is a limited liability company organized under the laws of China and is owned by our principal shareholder. Guangzhou NetEase has
been approved by the Chinese authorities to operate as an Internet content provider and operates the NetEase Web sites. Guangzhou NetEase’s 80% owned
subsidiary, Guangyitong Advertising, is licensed by the Chinese authorities to operate an advertising business and engages in Internet-related advertising design,
production and dissemination. Ling Yi, which was formed in October 2003, is also a limited liability company organized under the laws of China and owned by
our principal shareholder. Ling Yi has also been approved to operate as an Internet content provider, and during 2003, this company earned revenue relating to
WAP services, which represented an insignificant portion of our wireless value-added services revenue.

We have entered into a series of contractual arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi with respect to the operation of
the NetEase Web sites and the provision of advertising services. Our services to Guangyitong Advertising constitute the majority of our advertising-related
operations.

See Item 4.B “Business Overview” of this annual report for a chart illustrating our corporate structure and relationships with Guangzhou NetEase,
Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi.

The revenue earned by Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi largely flows through to us pursuant to our contracts with them. We
currently derive all our online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services revenues from fees earned pursuant to our agreements with
Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi, on the one hand, and NetEase.com and NetEase Beijing, on the other hand. We provide Internet portal and e-commerce
technologies and technical services to each of Guangzhou NetEase and Ling Yi and pay certain operating costs they incur in operating their businesses in
exchange for service fees. The service fee that we charge Guangzhou NetEase includes substantially all of the online games, wireless value-added and other fee-
based premium services revenue recognized by Guangzhou NetEase, net of a 3.3% or 5.5% business tax and certain surcharges that apply to these revenues. The
service fee that we charge Ling Yi includes substantially all of the wireless value-added services revenue recognized by Ling Yi, net of a 3.3% business tax and
certain surcharges that apply to these revenue.

We currently derive all our advertising services revenue from fees we earn from Guangyitong Advertising. We have entered into an agreement with
Guangyitong Advertising under which we are the
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exclusive provider of advertising-related technical consulting services to it and under which we receive a service fee. The service fee that we charge includes
substantially all of the advertising revenue of Guangyitong Advertising less all of the accrued expenses incurred by Guangyitong Advertising, and net of a 5.5%
business tax, a 3% cultural development fee and certain surcharges that apply to these revenues.

Basis of Presentation

On January 17, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 46: Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
interpretation of ARB 51 (“FIN 46), which was subsequently amended by a revised interpretation (“FIN 46-R”). These interpretations address financial reporting
for entities over which control is achieved through a means other than voting rights. See “—Recent Accounting Pronouncements.” According to the requirements
of FIN 46 and FIN 46-R, we have evaluated our relationships with our previously unconsolidated related companies, Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong
Advertising and Ling Yi. Although we do not have any direct ownership interest in those related companies, due to the degree of control we exercise over them
pursuant to our contractual relationships with them, and to the underlying commercial realities, our management has determined that consolidating these
companies’ results into our accounts better reflects our company’s actual economic condition. Accordingly, effective January 1, 2004, we adopted the provisions
of FIN 46 and began consolidating Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi on a prospective basis in our consolidated financial statements
starting with the first quarter of 2004. Our financial statements for all prior periods do not consolidate those entities.

Revenue

Our revenues were RMB28.3 million, RMB232.6 million and RMB569.1 million (US$68.8 million) in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. We generate our
revenue from provision of online games, wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services, and advertising services. Through our predecessor
company, in mid-1998, we changed our business model from a software developer to an Internet technology company. In July 1999, we began to offer e-
commerce platforms and to provide online auction services in China through Guangzhou NetEase, a related party. Thereafter, we operated a co-branded auction
Web site with EachNet which was ultimately terminated in July 2002, at which time we restarted our own online auction platform providing free auction services
to our registered users until June 2003. In 2001, we also began focusing on fee-based premium services and online entertainment services, including online
games, wireless value-added services, premium e-mail services and other subscription-type services. Other than revenue from our related parties, Guangzhou
NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising, no customer individually accounted for greater than 10% of our total revenue for 2001, 2002 and 2003.

Online Games

Guangzhou NetEase receives all of its online games revenue from customers through the sale of prepaid point cards. Customers can purchase physical
prepaid point cards in different locations in China, including Internet cafes, software stores, convenience stores and bookstores, or can purchase prepaid points
from vendors who register the points in our system. A small portion of our customers also purchase “virtual” prepaid cards online via credit cards or bank
transfers, and receive the prepaid point information over the Internet. Customers can use the points to play our online games and use our other fee-based services.
We recognize revenue from the sale of prepaid points as the points are used by customers.

We develop our own proprietary online games, as well as license games from third party developers. We expect that we will face increasing competition as
online game providers in China and abroad (mainly from South Korea and, to a lesser extent, from the United States) expand their presence in the Chinese market
or enter it for the first time.
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Wireless Value-Added and Other Fee-based Premium Services

Guangzhou NetEase and, to a much lesser extent, Ling Yi receive wireless value-added services revenue which is currently predominantly derived from
providing to our customers value-added services through SMS. These SMS services include delivery of news and other requested information such as stock
quotes and e-mails, the ability to download ringtones and logos to customers’ mobile phones, participation in matchmaking and friend-finding communities and
various other related services that the mobile phone customers of China Mobile and China Unicom can access. We experienced increasing competition in the
SMS market in 2003 and the first half of 2004, which contributed in part to the overall decline in our wireless value-added services revenues starting in the third
quarter of 2003. To combat this intensifying competition and grow our position in the wireless value-added services market, we intend to continue improving our
existing services and developing new ones, but these efforts may not be successful.

We are also focusing on developing services which utilize emerging wireless technologies. For example, in April 2003, we started to offer MMS services
under a cooperative agreement with China Mobile. We also provide WAP services to China Mobile’s and China Unicom’s users over their respective 2.5G
networks. Furthermore, we have recently developed wireless IVRS services, which are a new category of wireless value-added services that allow users to access
prerecorded information from their mobile phones and to interact with other users through voice chat simply by dialing specially designated IVRS phone numbers
and responding to menu options. We expect that our revenue derived from new services we develop that are compatible with these and new wireless technologies
will represent a larger portion of our wireless value-added services revenue in the future as these technologies becomes more widely available and adopted.
However, we cannot be certain that these technologies or the services we develop for them will be successful, and we expect to see increasing competition in this
area.

Other premium services include online fee-based premium services and post-contract customer support and corporate solution services Our online fee-
based premium services, supplied to registered users of the NetEase Web sites, includes premium e-mail, premium matchmaking and dating services and
premium personal homepage hosting. We also receive a small amount of revenue from provision of post-contract customer support, provision of corporate
solutions to customers in connection with their purchase of servers and computer equipment, development of software and custody and maintenance of servers.
This type of corporate solutions revenue constituted only 0.1%, 0.4% and 0.03% of our net revenues in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and we expect this
category of revenue to remain immaterial to our business in the future.

Advertising Services

We derive virtually all our advertising services revenue from fees we earn from advertisements placed on the NetEase Web sites by Guangyitong
Advertising. Revenues from advertising services constituted 50.0%, 14.7% and 15.1% of net revenues in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

We expect that the online advertising market in China will continue to grow as Internet usage in China increases and as more companies, in particular
China-based companies in a variety of industries, accept the Internet as an effective advertising medium.
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Seasonality of revenues

Historically, advertising revenues have followed the same general seasonal trend throughout each year with the first quarter of the year being the weakest
quarter due to the Chinese New Year holiday and the traditional close of advertisers’ annual budgets and the fourth quarter as the strongest. Usage of our wireless
value-added services and online games has generally increased around the Chinese New Year holiday and other Chinese holidays, in particular winter and
summer school holidays.

Cost of Revenues
Online Games

Cost of revenues for our online games consist primarily of staff costs (in particular remuneration to employees known as the “Game Masters” who are
responsible for the daily co-ordination and regulation of the activities inside our games’ virtual worlds), monthly franchise fees paid to a Korean licensor for one
of our online games (calculated based on the net amount of revenue we earned from operating the game according to a licensing agreement), advertising fees paid
to celebrity spokespersons and revenue sharing expenses paid to third party promoters of our online game titles.

In addition, cost of revenues for our online games also includes that portion of bandwidth and server custody fees and depreciation and amortization of
computers and software, attributable to our online games business. Our subsidiaries and affiliated companies have network servers co-located in facilities owned
by China Telecom’s and China Netcom’s affiliates, for which we pay custody fees to China Telecom and China Netcom.

Wireless Value-Added and Other Fee-based Premium Services

Cost of revenues related to our wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services consists primarily of staff costs (principally compensation
expenses for our e-commerce and editorial professionals) and content fees, as well as that portion of bandwidth and server custody fees, depreciation and
amortization of computers and software attributable to the provision of wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services. We pay content fees to third
party partners for the right to use proprietary content developed by them, such as ringtones and logos. We also pay content fees to newspaper and magazine
publishers for the right to use their proprietary content, such as headline news and articles.

In 2003, cost of revenues for these services also included referral fees paid to third party Web sites. This referral program, under which we shared a portion
of the revenue generated from new customers of our wireless value-added services with the third party Web sites that referred them to us, commenced to operate
at the beginning of 2003 and ended at the end of the second quarter of 2003 pursuant to a new policy instituted by China Mobile. The amount paid to the third
party Web sites in 2003 totaled approximately RMB7.4 million (US$0.9 million).

Advertising Services

Cost of revenues related to our advertising services consists primarily of staff costs and content fees paid to content providers for the NetEase Web sites as
well as that portion of bandwidth and server custody fees, depreciation and amortization of computers and software attributable to the provision of advertising
services.
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses primarily include selling, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of marketing and advertising; salary and welfare expenses and compensation costs; office
rental; legal, professional and consultancy fees; bad debt expenses; recruiting expenses; travel expenses and depreciation charges.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist principally of compensation for our research and development professionals. In 2003, such expenses also
included licensing fees paid to a third party developer of a 3-D game engine to be used in our future online games.

Share Compensation Cost

In December 1999, we adopted a stock incentive plan, called the 1999 Stock Option Plan, for our employees, senior management and advisory board. In
2000, we replaced the 1999 Stock Option Plan with a new stock option plan, called the 2000 Stock Option Plan. The 2000 Stock Option Plan was subsequently
amended and restated in May 2001. During 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, we granted options to our employees, directors, consultants, a member of our advisory
board and certain members of our senior management under the 2000 Stock Option Plan. The vesting periods for these options generally range from two years to
four years. In addition, certain of the options granted were cancelled as a result of the resignation of these personnel.

For 2003, we recorded share compensation cost of approximately RMBO0.2 million (US$0.03 million). This cost has been allocated to (i) selling, general
and administrative expenses and (ii) research and development expenses, depending on the functions for which these personnel and employees are responsible.
The significant reduction in the share compensation costs recorded for 2003 as compared to 2002 was due to the fact that substantially all of the deferred
compensation costs arising from the share grants to certain members of senior management of our company and the share transfers from the principal shareholder
to certain members of senior management and employees of our company during the years 1999 and 2000 were already amortized in accordance with the related
vesting periods of the share grants and share transfers by the end of 2002.

As of December 31, 2003, deferred compensation cost relating to share option grants in 2003 or prior years amounted to RMB69,175 (US$8,358), which is
to be amortized and charged to expense in subsequent periods. We may also incur additional share compensation cost in 2004 as a result of the possible
recruitment of additional management personnel and the granting of new share options to these personnel and other members of our staff.

Income Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, we are not subject to tax on income or capital gain. However, our revenues are primarily derived from our
Chinese subsidiaries. Chinese companies are generally subject to a 30% national enterprise income tax, or EIT, and a 3% local income tax. Our subsidiary,
NetEase Beijing, received the relevant approval to be recognized as a “New and High Technology Enterprise.” According to the approval granted by the Haidian
State Tax Bureau in November 2000, NetEase Beijing is entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% commencing from the year 2000. In addition, the approval also
granted NetEase Beijing with a full exemption from EIT from 2000 to
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2002, a 50% reduction in EIT (i.e. an EIT rate of 7.5%) from 2003 to 2005, and a full exemption from the local tax from 2000 onwards. However, such
preferential tax treatment may be subject to review by higher authorities. If such preferential tax treatment was not available to NetEase Beijing, it would be
subject to the normal tax rate of 30% EIT and a 3% local tax.

NetEase Shanghai is subject to EIT at the rate of 30% plus a local tax of 3%.

Guangzhou Interactive received the relevant approval to be recognized as a “New and High Technology Enterprise.” According to the approval granted by
the Guangzhou State Tax Bureau in December 2003, Guangzhou Interactive is fully exempted from EIT in 2003 and 2004. We intend to apply for continued
preferential tax treatment which would allow Guangzhou Interactive to pay a reduced EIT rate of 15% for future periods, but we cannot be certain whether we
will obtain such approval. If we do not receive any additional preferential tax treatment, Guangzhou Interactive would be subject to the normal tax rate of 30%
EIT and a 3% local tax beginning in 2005.

Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising are Chinese domestic enterprises and are generally subject to EIT at the rate of 30% plus a local tax of
3%.

Ling Yi is a Chinese domestic enterprise and is generally subject to a 33% EIT. However, Ling Yi was categorized as a tax payer under the
telecommunication business sector by the local tax bureau of Guangzhou. According to the relevant tax circulars issued by the local tax bureau of Guangzhou,
Ling Yi is subject to a business tax on revenues derived from services, which is generally 3%. In addition, Ling Yi is subject to educational surcharges of 3% on
the business tax so paid. In addition, Ling Yi is subject to a cultural development fee of 7% on the business tax so paid.

If the activities of NetEase.com, Inc. constitute a permanent establishment in China, the income it earns in China would also be subject to a 30% EIT and
3% local income tax. Income of our company that is not connected to a permanent establishment in China would be subject to a 10% withholding tax on gross
receipt from profit, interest, rentals, royalties and other income earned in China. Dividends from NetEase Beijing to our company are exempt from Chinese
withholding tax.

We are subject to a business tax on our revenues derived from services which is generally 5%. In addition, until June 30, 2003, we were subject to a value-
added tax ranging from 6% to 17% for revenues we earned from the sale of computer hardware purchased on behalf of our customers. Guangzhou NetEase and
Guangyitong Advertising are also subject to a business tax at 3.3% and 5.5% on their revenues, respectively. In addition, Guangyitong Advertising is subject to a
cultural development fee at 3% on its Internet advertising fees. These taxes effectively reduce the revenues we derive from Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong
Advertising.

Subject to the approval of the relevant tax authorities, NetEase Shanghai had total tax loss carryforwards of approximately RMB29.3 million (US$3.5
million) as of December 31, 2003 for EIT purposes. Approximately RMB17.2 million (US$2.1 million) and RMB12.1 million (US$1.5 million) of such losses
will expire in 2006 and 2007, respectively.

The above tax loss carryforwards give rise to potential deferred tax assets totaling RMB9.7 million (US$1.2 million) as of December 31, 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements often requires the selection of specific accounting methods and policies from several acceptable alternatives.
Further, significant estimates and judgments may be
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required in selecting and applying those methods and policies in the recognition of the assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet, the revenues and
expenses in our consolidated statement of operations and the information that is contained in our significant accounting policies and notes to the consolidated
financial statements. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates and judgments under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following are some of the more critical judgment areas in the application of our accounting policies that affect our financial condition
and results of operation.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Regarding Revenue Recognition
Online Games

We recognize revenue at the time when the points on our prepaid point cards are consumed and services are provided.

Wireless Value-Added Services

Wireless value-added services revenue, which represents Guangzhou NetEase’s and Ling Yi’s share of the revenues under their cooperative arrangements
with China’s two mobile phone operators, is recognized by us primarily based on monthly statements received from those operators. The revenue is recognized
net of the mobile phone operators’ share of revenue and uncollectible amounts because we consider those operators to be the primary obligors in the information
transmission and delivery process which is a critical and integral part of our wireless value-added services. In addition, this revenue recognition approach is
supported by the fact that the mobile phone operators must approve all services pricing and they have significant influence over other terms under our cooperative
arrangements with them. Uncollectible amounts mainly represent the mobile phone operators’ billing and transmission failures which means that the services
were undeliverable to the user because the user’s phone was turned off for an extended period of time, the user ceased to subscribe to the mobile network or his or
her prepaid phone card ran out of value, or the mobile phone operators’ networks or our system experienced technical problems. We are unable to estimate or
separately confirm the amount of uncollectibles which is reflected in any particular monthly statement and are totally reliant on the information provided by the
mobile phone operators in their monthly statements for purposes of our record keeping.

Other Fee-Based Premium Services

We recognize revenue for these services ratably over the period when the services are provided, except in the case of our prior online auction services. Prior
to October 2000, Guangzhou NetEase earned revenues from services to online auction sellers, whether businesses or consumers, which Guangzhou NetEase
recognized ratably over the relevant period. In October 2000, we established a co-branded online trading and auction channel in partnership with EachNet. In
June 2002, we entered into an agreement with EachNet to terminate our strategic cooperation agreement and the co-branded Web site. We earned both fixed
upfront fees and referral fees from EachNet during the period of cooperation. In July 2002, we re-started our own online auction platform providing free services
to our registered users after the termination of the co-branded Web site with EachNet, but we discontinued such services in June 2003.

Advertising Services Revenue

Since December 1999, we have recognized advertising services revenue that we earn through our arrangement with Guangyitong Advertising as services
are rendered and the service revenues are earned under the advertising agreements, which is the same time Guangyitong Advertising recognizes such revenue.
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Guangyitong Advertising derives its advertising fees principally from short-term advertising contracts, though in 2002 and 2003 we have seen an
increasing number of advertisers which are willing to enter into long-term contracts. Revenues from advertising contracts are generally recognized ratably over
the period in which the advertisement is displayed and collection of the resulting receivables is probable. Guangyitong Advertising’s obligations to the advertisers
have traditionally also included guarantees of a minimum number of impressions or times that an advertisement appears in pages viewed by users. These types of
advertising contracts are known as CPM contracts. As a result, to the extent that minimum guaranteed impressions were not met within the contractual time
period, Guangyitong Advertising deferred recognition of the corresponding revenues until the remaining guaranteed impression levels were achieved. In 2002, we
began focusing on entering into advertising contracts which fees are based on the actual time period that the advertisements appear on the NetEase Web sites
rather than based on guaranteed minimum impressions. Guangyitong Advertising currently has only a few CPM contracts in effect, but it is possible that
Guangyitong Advertising may have to enter into more CPM contracts in the future due to changes in advertisers’ demands. Guangyitong Advertising has also
entered into several “cost per action” advertising contracts (known as CPA contracts) whereby revenue is received by Guangyitong Advertising when an online
user performs a specific action such as purchasing a product from or registering with the advertiser. Revenue for CPA contracts is recognized when the specific
action is completed. In 2003, CPA contracts represented only a small portion of our advertising revenue, and we expect that this will continue in the near-term.

Online Mall Revenue

Guangzhou NetEase originally launched our online shopping mall platform in July 2000. As of December 31, 2003, this online shopping mall had 9
“online storefronts” with stores being operated by the merchant tenants themselves. From the fourth quarter of 2001, most merchants pay Guangzhou NetEase
fixed service fees, which Guangzhou NetEase recognizes ratably over the period of the contracts. Additionally, a small portion of the merchants pay Guangzhou
NetEase commissions based on that merchant’s revenues which are recognized on a monthly basis. Prior to 2002, we also received referral fees from online
shopping mall partners of the NetEase Web sites which Guangzhou NetEase recognized when services were rendered. As of December 31, 2003, there were no
active referral arrangements for which we were recognizing revenue, but we are currently seeking to enter into new referral arrangements.

Barter Transactions

Revenue from barter transactions primarily relate to advertising and decreased in 2001, 2002 and 2003 as a result of the development of our business. As
our business grew and our cash resources improved, we were able to enter into more cash transactions and became less reliant on barter transactions in providing
or receiving services. Prior to January 20, 2000, barter transactions were recorded at the estimated fair market value of the services received or estimated fair
market value of the services provided, whichever was more readily determinable. Effective from January 20, 2000, we adopted the consensus reached in
Emerging Issue Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 99-17, to account for barter transactions. According to EITF Issue No. 99-17, revenue and expense should be
recognized at fair value from an advertising barter transaction only if the fair value of the advertising surrendered in the transaction is determinable based on the
entity’s own historical practice of receiving cash, marketable securities, or other consideration that is readily convertible to a known amount of cash for similar
advertising from buyers unrelated to the counterparty in the barter transaction. In 2001, the recognized revenues and expenses derived from barter transactions
were RMBO0.7 million (US$0.1 million). There was no revenue and expense derived from barter transactions in 2002 and 2003. We also engaged in some
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advertising barter transactions in 2001, 2002 and 2003 for which the fair value is not determinable within the limits of EITF Issue No. 99-17, and therefore no
revenues or expenses derived from these barter transactions were recognized. These transactions primarily involved exchanges of advertising services rendered by
us for advertising, promotional benefits and information content provided by the counterparties.

Other Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

Management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the extent to which deferred tax
assets can be recognized. We consider all relevant factors that are material to our business, including positive indicators (such as an improved profitability
outlook, an indication of market acceptance of our services, and industry statistics signaling continued growth in the market for our services) and certain negative
indicators (such as an increase in competition and industry risk such as our dependency on relationships with the mobile operators in China). A valuation
allowance is provided to reduce the amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that some portion of, or all of, the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. There can be no assurance that NetEase Shanghai will be able to utilize all the net operating loss carryforwards before their expiration.

Depreciation

We depreciate our computer equipment, software and other assets (other than leasehold improvement) on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, which range from one to five years. We depreciate leasehold improvements, which are included in our operating expenses, on a straight-line basis over the
lesser of the relevant lease term or their estimated useful lives.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts receivable based on various information, including aging analysis of accounts receivable balances, historical
bad debt rates, repayment patterns and credit worthiness of customers and industry trend analysis. We also make specific provisions for bad debts if there is strong
evidence showing that the debts are likely to be irrecoverable. We have adopted a general provisioning policy for doubtful debts for our trade receivable balances.
We provide for 80%, in the case of direct customers, and 50% in the case of advertising agents, of the outstanding trade receivable balances overdue for more
than 6 months. We provide for 100% in the case of all parties for outstanding trade receivable balances overdue for more than a year. In addition to the general
provisions for trade receivables, we also make specific bad debt provisions for problem account receivable balances.

Litigation Reserve

No material litigation reserve existed as of December 31, 2003 because management believed, and continues to believe, that the ultimate resolution of the
claims described in Item 8.A.7 “Legal Proceedings” will not result in any material financial impact on our company.
Repurchase of Shares
On July 4, 2003, we entered into an agreement with affiliates of The News Corporation Limited (“Newscorp”) to repurchase 27,142,000 of our ordinary shares

held by one of Newscorp’s affiliates. The transaction was completed in July 2003. Under the agreement, we paid Newscorp a net aggregated
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amount of approximately US$4.6 million, and the right of Newscorp and its affiliates to a certain amount of advertising on NetEase’s Web sites which had been
granted under a strategic cooperation agreement between the parties was waived. In accordance with the agreement, we are entitled to use US$2 million worth of
advertising on Asian television properties of Newscorp at no additional cost until March 28, 2004 or such other date as the parties shall agree. On July 28, 2003,
the parties agreed to extend the date from March 28, 2004 to June 30, 2004. We did not recognize this amount of unused advertising as an asset.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our audited consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated both in Renminbi and as a

percentage of total revenue:

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:
Online game services
Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium
services
Advertising services

Total revenues
Business tax

Net revenues

Cost of revenues:
Online game services
Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium
services
Advertising services

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit (loss on revenues)
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Asset impairment loss
Research and development expenses
Class action settlement

Total operating expenses

Operating profit (loss)

Other income (expenses):
Sale of 163.net usage right
Investments impairment loss
Investment income
Interest income
Interest expenses
Other, net

Income (loss) before tax
Income tax benefit (expenses)

Net income (loss)

Share compensation cost included in:

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

For the Year Ended December 31,

2001

2002

2003

RMB % RMB % RMB %

— 37,053,414 15.9 203,246,114 35.7
14,136,369 50.0 161,305,678 69.4 279,659,170 49.1
14,163,952 50.0 34,209,376 14.7 86,183,733 15.2
28,300,321 100.0 232,568,468 100.0 569,089,017 100.0
(2,274,784) (8.0) (11,627,216) (5.0) (26,954,502) A.7)
26,025,537 92.0 220,941,252 95.0 542,134,515 95.3

(15,530,501) (6.7) (20,873,502) (3.7)

(29,524,647) (12.7) (36,965,777) (6.5)

(26,622,426) (11.4) (27,623,438) (4.9)

(60,058,488)  (212.2) (71,677,574) (30.8) (85,462,717) (15.1)
(34,032,951)  (120.2) 149,263,678 64.2 456,671,798 80.2
(181,765,047)  (642.3) (94,307,613) (40.6) (110,770,403) (19.5)

(2,766,543) (9.8) (746,857) (0.3) —

(13,322,789) (47.1) (14,184,724) (6.1) (19,120,827) (3.4)

— (36,005,385) (15.4) —

(197,854,379)  (699.2) (145,244,579) (62.4) (129,891,230) (22.9)
(231,887,330)  (819.4) 4,019,099 1.8 326,780,568 57.3
(8,924,381) (31.5) — —

— — 538,278 0.1
17,571,187 62.1 7,562,322 33 11,273,685 2.0
(9,882,874) (35.0) (1,401,041) (0.6) —

(40,516) (0.1) 3,725,370 1.6 5,410,171 1.0
(233,163,914)  (823.9) 13,905,750 6.1 344,002,702 60.4
— 2,395,888 1.0 (21,129,978) (3.7)
(233,163,914)  (823.9) 16,301,638 7.1 322,872,724 56.7

— (1,908,125) (0.8) —

(204,423) (0.7) (1,522,369) (0.6) (151,166) (0.0)
(2,153,335) (7.6) (376,364) (0.2) (88,236) (0.0)
(2,357,758) (8.3) (3,806,858) (1.6) (239,402) (0.0)
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Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
Revenues

Total revenues increased by 144.7% to RMB569.1 million (US$68.8 million) in 2003 from RMB232.6 million in 2002. Revenue from online games,
wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services, and advertising services constituted 35.7%, 49.1% and 15.2%, respectively, of our total revenue in
2003. This compares with 15.9%, 69.4% and 14.7%, respectively, of our total revenue in 2002.

Online Games

Revenue from online games increased by 448.5% to RMB203.2 million (US$24.6 million) in 2003 from RMB37.1 million in 2002. This increase was
mainly due to the increase in popularity of “Westward Journey Online Version 2.0”, our in-house developed MMORPG. The number of average concurrent
players for this game increased to approximately 127,000 in December 2003 from approximately 41,000 in December 2002. This increase was partially offset by
a decrease in popularity of PristonTale, the MMORPG we license from a Korean developer and that we commercially launched in August 2002. Revenue
generated from PristonTale accounted for only approximately 5.7% of our total revenue from online games in 2003.

Wireless Value-Added and Other Fee-based Premium Services

Revenue from wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services increased by 73.4% to RMB279.7 million (US$33.8 million) from RMB161.3
million in 2002. This increase was primarily due to the increase in paying customers for our SMS services in 2003. The number of monthly active users for SMS
services increased to approximately 3.9 million in December 2003 from approximately 2.6 million in December 2002. This increase was consistent with the
increase in overall popularity of SMS among the expanding population of mobile phone users in China This market is, however, increasingly shifting towards
next generation technologies, with mobile operators upgrading their networks to general packet-switched radio service, or GPRS, and code division multiple
access 1x RTT, or CDMA 1x RTT, systems and users upgrading to next generation handsets that can operate with technologies such as MMS and WAP.

Advertising services

Our advertising services revenues increased by 151.9% to RMB86.2 million (US$10.4 million) in 2003 from RMB34.2 million in 2002, primarily due to
the increase in average spending by traditional advertisers (i.e., customers which do not advertise through our search and classified ad services). Average net
revenue per traditional advertiser increased to approximately RMB239,000 (US$29,000) in 2003 from RMB122,000 in 2002. The number of traditional
advertisers using the NetEase Web sites increased to 337 in 2003 from 280 in 2002, with revenues from our top ten advertisers comprising 27.4% of our total
advertising services revenues in 2003 as compared to 23.2% in 2002.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues increased by 19.2% to RMB85.5 million (US$10.3 million) in 2003 from RMB71.7 million in 2002 due primarily to increased cost of
revenues for online games and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services. In 2003, costs relating to online games, wireless value-added and
other fee-based premium services and advertising services represented 24.4%, 43.3% and 32.3% of total cost of revenue, respectively. This compares with 21.7%,
41.2% and 37.1%, respectively, in 2002.
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Online Games

Cost of revenues from our online games increased 34.4% to RMB20.9 million (US$2.5 million) in 2003 from RMB15.5 million in 2002. This increase in
cost of revenues in 2003 was primarily due to a combination of the following factors:

+  Payments to the celebrity acting as our spokesperson for our online game “Westward Journey Online” (Versions 1.0 and 2.0) increased RMB4.4
million. These payments are calculated on the basis of a percentage of revenues we earn from the game, and the increase in payments in 2003 was
directly related to the increase in revenue from the game due to its increased popularity in 2003; and

*  Production costs for printing prepaid point cards, which are sold to end-customers who use the point cards to pay for our online games and other fee-
based premium services, increased RMB3.5 million to RMB4.8 million (US$0.6 million) in 2003 from RMB1.3 million in 2002 due to increased
production of cards in 2003.

These increases were partially offset by a decrease in bandwidth and server custody fees of RMB2.1 million to RMB2.7 million (US$0.3 million) in 2003
from RMB4.8 million in 2002.

Wireless Value-added and Other Fee-based Premium Services

Cost of revenues from our wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services increased 25.2% to RMB37.0 million (US$4.5 million) in 2003 from
RMB29.5 million in 2002. This increase in cost of revenues in 2003 consisted primarily of RMB?7.4 million (US$0.9 million) in referral fees paid to third-party
Web sites for introducing new wireless value-added services customers to us. The referral program pursuant to which these payments were made commenced at
the beginning of 2003, and no such referral payments were made in 2002. The program ended in July 2003. This increase was also due, in part, to increased SMS
network transmission fees of RMB3.4 million due to the temporary provision of free SMS messaging through our instant messaging service, POPO, in late 2003.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in depreciation and amortization of computers and software attributable to our wireless value-added and other
fee-based premium services of RMB2.4 million (US$0.3 million) to RMB6.3 million (US$0.8 million) in 2003 from RMB8.7 million in 2002.

Adbvertising Services

Cost of revenues from our advertising services increased 3.8% to RMB27.6 million (US$3.3 million) in 2003 from RMB26.6 million in 2002 due primarily
to an increase in staff and staff-related costs. Staff and staff-related costs increased RMB2.9 million to RMB9.9 million (US$1.2 million) in 2003 as compared to
RMB7.0 million in 2002 as a result of the expansion of our sales staff from 41 as of December 31, 2002 to 89 as of December 31, 2003. This increase was
partially offset by a decrease of RMB1.3 million in depreciation and amortization of computers and software attributable to our advertising services to RMB5.7
million (US$0.7 million) in 2003 from RMB7.0 million in 2002 as a result of the full depreciation of certain computer equipment in 2003.
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Gross Profit

As a result of the strong revenue growth in 2003, our gross profit increased by 205.9% to RMB456.7 million (US$55.2 million) in 2003 from RMB149.3
million in 2002. Our gross margins increased to 80.2% in 2003 from 64.2% in the 2002.

The significant improvement in gross margins was primarily driven by economies of scale as revenues continued to increase while cost of revenues
increased at a slower rate.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by 10.6% to RMB129.9 million (US$15.7 million) in 2003 from RMB145.2 million in 2002. The decrease in 2003 was
mainly due to a one-time provision for the class action settlement of RMB36.0 million in 2002. Excluding such one-time provision, total operating expenses were
18.9% higher in 2003 than in 2002. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 62.4% in 2002 to 22.9% in 2003.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increase by 17.5% to RMB110.8 million (US$13.4 million) in 2003 from RMB94.3 million in 2002 primarily
due to the following reasons:

« Increase in staff costs of approximately RMB8.9 million (US$1.1 million) as a result of increase in salaries and commissions paid to our advertising
sales team. Such increase was consistent with the increase in advertising revenue in 2003 when compared to 2002; and

*  Additional marketing and promotional events in 2003 when compared to 2002. This resulted in an increase in marketing spending of approximately
RMBS5.5 million (US$0.7 million). We anticipate that our marketing expenses will continue to increase in 2004 as a result of our new marketing
campaign we intend to launch later in 2004 which will focus on increasing brand awareness of our company and specific product driven
advertisements, through television advertisements and off-line media, such as newspapers, outdoor billboards and advertisements on buses and bus
stops.

Research and development expenses increased 34.8% to RMB19.1 million (US$2.3 million) in 2003 from RMB14.2 million in 2002. This increase was due
to the following reasons:

«  Increase in research and development staff-related costs of RMB2.4 million (US$0.3 million) stemming largely from the recruitment of programmers
and technicians to assist our online games business; and

«  Approximately RMB2.2 million (US$0.3 million) in license fees in 2003 paid to a third-party vendor to license a 3-D game engine for the
development of further online games. We did not incur such license fees in 2002.
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

As of December 31, 2003, our receivable balances were due from Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising because they have historically not
been consolidated into NetEase.com. NetEase.com makes corresponding bad debt provisions when those affiliated companies do so in their books of accounts.
Since NetEase.com relies on Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising to collect monies from their customers to realize its revenue earned from
providing consulting services, NetEase.com also assists these two affiliates, which were unconsolidated prior to 2004, to manage their receivable balances.
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As of December 31, 2003, the gross accounts receivable balance before any allowance for bad and doubtful accounts was RMB82.0 million. After
providing for doubtful accounts in the amount of RMB10.2 million, the net balance of accounts receivable was RMB71.8 million as of December 31, 2003.
Among the RMB10.2 million allowance for doubtful accounts, RMB4.7 million and RMBS5.5 million represented general and specific provisions, respectively.

We periodically review our general provisioning policy for doubtful accounts. In assessing the adequacy and reasonableness of the policy, we consider the
aging analysis of accounts receivable balances, historical bad debt rates, repayment patterns and credit worthiness of customers and industry trend analysis.

The amount of additional provision made for bad and doubtful debts amounted to RMB3.6 million for fiscal year 2003. The additional provision mainly
comprised specific provisions on specific debtors and, to a lesser extent, the increase in the balance of general provisions.

As of December 31, 2003, Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising had two customers with receivable balances exceeding 10% of the total
accounts receivable balance, namely China Mobile and China Unicom which owed Guangzhou NetEase approximately RMB28.5 million and RMB11.7 million,
respectively, representing 34.7% and 14.3% of the total outstanding accounts receivable balance then outstanding. No provision for such accounts receivables
balances was made because of the current nature of such balances.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income and expenses in 2003 mainly consisted of interest income. Interest income increased to RMB11.3 million (US$1.4 million) in 2003 from
RMB?7.6 million in 2002, mainly due to the increase in short-term bank deposits in China and abroad. The cash for such deposits was generated largely from our
operations as well as from the proceeds of our US$100 million convertible notes issue in July 2003. Interest expense decreased to zero in 2003 from RMB1.4
million in 2002, as all our bank loans were repaid during 2002.

We recognized other net income of RMB5.4 million (US$0.7 million) in 2003. This income primarily consisted of the write back of provisions for certain
subscription receivable balances. The subscription receivable balances were related to certain loans to related parties under the family and friends program during
our initial public offering in 1999. Full provision was made for such loans in 2001, but a portion of the loans were subsequently repaid in 2003. As a result, a
portion of the provisions made in 2001 were reversed and recognized as other income in 2003.

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we considered all relevant factors that are material to our business, including positive indicators (such as improved
profitability outlook, an indication of market acceptance of our services, and industry statistics signaling continued strong growth in the market for a portion of
our services) and certain negative indicators (such as an increase in competition and industry risk such as our dependency on relationships with the mobile
operators in China), and determined that it was more likely than not that we would be able to take advantage of all of our tax loss carryforwards from the prior
fiscal years before their expiration. Accordingly, we decreased our deferred tax valuation allowance from RMB16.7 million to RMBnil as of December 31, 2003.
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Income Tax

Income tax increased to RMB21.1 million (US$2.6 million) in 2003 from a credit of RMB2.4 million in 2002. The increase in 2003 was mainly due to an
increase in revenues and taxable income in 2003, partially offset by an increase in deferred tax assets recognized in 2003 as compared to 2002. Our effective tax
rate in 2003 was 6.1%

Net Profit
As aresult of the foregoing, net profit increased by 1,880.6% to RMB322.9 million (US$39.0 million) in 2003 from RMB16.3 million in 2002.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001
Revenues

Total revenues increased by 721.8% to RMB232.6 million in 2002 from RMB28.3 million in 2001. In 2002, revenue from online games, wireless value-
added and other fee-based premium services and advertising services constituted 15.9%, 69.4% and 14.7%, respectively, of our total revenue. This compares with
nil, 50.0% and 50.0%, respectively, of our total revenue in 2001. Our revenue from online games rose in 2002 as that business was commercially launched in the
beginning of that year. Our revenue from wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services increased significantly during 2002 mainly as a result of the
substantial increase in revenue generated from our wireless value-added services. Our advertising services revenue also increased during 2002 due to the
expansion of our sales team and a general increase in demand for online advertising in China during 2002.

Online Games

Revenue from online games increased to RMB37.1 million in 2002 from nil in 2001 as we commercially launched our first online game in the beginning of
2002. At the beginning of 2001, we acquired all the assets of a China-based online game software development company and started the development of an
MMORPG. We launched our first MMORPG, “Westward Journey Online”, for beta testing in December 2001, and started charging our users for their playing
time in January 2002. Subsequently, we launched “Westward Journey Online Version 2.0” and “PristonTale”, an MMORPG licensed from a Korean company, in
August 2002.

Wireless Value-Added and Other Fee-based Premium Services

Revenues from wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services increased by 1,041.1% to RMB161.3 million in 2002 from RMB14.1 million in
2001, mainly as a result of the substantial increase in revenue generated from our wireless value-added services and to a lesser extent from increased revenues
from our other fee-based services, including dating and friends matching, e-mail services and other premium services.

The substantial increase in revenue generated from our wireless value-added services was primarily due to the increase in the overall popularity of SMS in
China and in the range and popularity of our proprietary services among the expanding population of mobile phone users in China.
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The increase in revenue in 2002 from our other fee-based premium services, including premium e-mail, dating and friends matching and personal
homepage hosting, was primarily due to the commercialization of our dating and friends matching services at the beginning of the year (these services were
provided to our users free of charge in 2001 and prior periods), and to a lesser extent, due to the increase in the number of paying subscribers of our other fee-
based services in 2002.

Advertising Services

Advertising services revenues increased by 141.5% to RMB34.2 million in 2002 from RMB14.2 million in 2001, primarily as a result of the expansion of
our sales team from 27 employees to 41 employees and a general increase in demand for online advertising in China during 2002. In particular, we gained several
new China-based advertising clients, including leading mobile phone and car manufacturers, and were able to increase the number of advertising contracts which
are long-term (one year or more) in 2002. Average revenue per advertiser increased from approximately RMB36,000 in the first quarter to RMB69,000 in the
fourth quarter of 2002. The number of traditional advertisers using the NetEase Web sites increased to 280 in 2002 from 174 in 2001, with revenues from our top
ten advertisers comprising 23.2% of our total advertising services revenues in 2002 as compared to 40.3% in 2001.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues increased by 19.3% to RMB71.7 million in 2002 from RMB60.1 million in 2001, primarily due to the expansion of our online games
business in 2002. A substantial portion of this increase was due to franchise and revenue share fees related to the “PristonTale” and “Westward Journey Online”
games and, to a lesser extent, increased staff costs of our online games team. Please note that as a result of the manner in which we recorded our cost of revenues
in 2001, we are not able to reasonably allocate those costs among online games, wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services and advertising
services and thus cannot compare cost of revenues for the years 2001 and 2002 according to those categories.

As a result of the strong revenue growth in 2002, we achieved a gross profit of RMB149.3 million in 2002 as compared to a loss on revenues of RMB34.0
million in 2001. Our gross margins increased from 30.8% in the first quarter of 2002 to 72.7% in the fourth quarter of 2002. The gross margin for the year ended
December 31, 2002 was 64.2%.

The significant improvement in gross margins was driven by economies of scales as revenue continued to increase with a relatively stable cost of revenues.
In 2001, bandwidth costs increased due to an increase in our purchases of bandwidth in order to support higher Internet traffic during that year. Several factors
contributed to the decrease in bandwidth costs in 2002 despite the fact that the volume of our communication traffic increased during the same period. The
decrease was due to cheaper location facilities for our servers and a general decline in average annual bandwidth costs per unit from RMB19,500 per megabit per
second in 2000 to RMB18,400 per megabit per second in 2001 to RMB7,500 per megabit per second in 2002, accompanied by an increase in the total average
bandwidth capacity from 800 megabits per second in 2000 to 1000 megabits per second in 2001 to 1700 megabits per second in 2002.

Staff costs consisted primarily of compensation expenses for our online game and other e-commerce and editorial professionals and comprised 27.8% of
our total cost of revenues in 2002, compared with 15.2% in 2001. The increase was mainly due to the increase in the number of employees during 2002, in
particular for the online games business department, which increased from 62 employees to 95 employees.
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Depreciation and amortization of computers and software comprised 24.9% of our total cost of revenues in 2002, compared with 22.6% in 2001. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in the number of servers from 486 servers to 663 servers and to a lesser extent the increase in personal computer
equipment during 2002.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by 26.6% to RMB145.2 million in 2002 from RMB197.9 million in 2001. Operating expenses as a percentage of total
revenues decreased from 699.1% in 2001 to 62.5% in 2002. The decrease in 2002 was mainly due to the fact that the substantial fees charged by third parties in
2001 as discussed in the next paragraph did not recur in 2002.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 48.1% to RMB94.3 million in 2002 from RMB181.8 million in 2001, primarily due to expenses
of more than RMB50.0 million for legal and professional fees and consultancy fees in 2001 which substantially decreased in 2002, and to a lesser extent due to
our cost control measures in 2002.

In 2002, we incurred a significantly lower amount of legal and professional fees of about RMB17.8 million because the matters listed in the following
sentence were either resolved or required significantly less attention, resulting in a lower consumption of legal and professional services. In 2001, we incurred
approximately RMB42.5 million in legal and professional fees in relation to an inquiry by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the class action
litigation we were involved in, the appeal of a delisting action initiated by Nasdaq and the investigation in the second and third quarters of 2001 into the
circumstances that led us to restate our 2000 financial statements.

In 2001, we also incurred approximately RMB21.7 million of consultation fees on matters relating to potential acquisitions of our business by interested
parties, public relations, tax issues and business strategy and management matters. The total amount of consultation fees incurred decreased to RMBO0.8 million in
2002 as we ceased to engage in those discussions in June 2001.

The decrease in other selling, general and administrative expenses in 2002 was a result of a combination of factors, including (a) a one-time bad debt
charge in 2001 for two non-recurring items amounting to RMB8.4 million, (b) a one-time charge of compensation expenses in the form of severance paid to
certain executive officers and a senior employee who were separated from us prior to the expiration of their employment contracts, amounting to RMB7.4 million
and (c) the implementation of the following cost control measures:

* In 2001, we recorded bad debt expenses for a RMB6.4 million bad debt provision for subscription receivables and RMB2.0 million provision for
amount due from a related party, Ding Bo.

* In 2001, we incurred a one-time charge of RMB?7.4 million in compensation expenses in the form of severance paid to three executive officers and one
senior manager who separated from us prior to the expiration of their employment contracts; and

+  Implementation of certain cost control measures also contributed to lower selling, general and administrative expenses in 2002, including: (i) strict
monitoring of expenditures generally, as a result of which marketing spending decreased from RMB26.0 million in 2001 to RMB6.8 million in 2002,
and certain business expenses, such as expenses for overseas traveling and local transportation, recruitment and training, business conferences and
entertainment, decreased by RMB4.4 million from RMB9.3 million in 2001 to RMB4.9 million in 2002; and (ii) commencing periodic review of loan
aging analysis with respect to loans made to third parties and following up with targeted efforts to seek payment by our customers and debtors which
resulted in the required provision for bad debt decreasing from RMB5.1 million in 2001 to RMB3.3 million in 2002.
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In 2002, we also paid RMB36.0 million into an escrow account for the settlement of all claims brought in connection with the class action lawsuit in the
United States initiated against our company and certain other parties. This amount was released from escrow and paid to the plaintiffs at the time the court
declared the settlement final.

The asset impairment loss in 2002 represented the unamortized portion of the costs incurred in the acquisition of an electronic payment gateway system
which we ceased using.

Research and development expenses increased by 6.5% to RMB14.2 million in 2002 from RMB13.3 million in 2001, primarily due to an increase in the
number of programmers and technicians recruited in 2002 to assist our online games business.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income and expenses in 2002 mainly consisted of interest income and expenses. We repaid RMB84 million in short-term bank borrowings during
2002, and as a result, both our interest income and interest expenses dropped significantly in 2002 as compared to 2001. The decrease in the net interest income in
2002 as compared with 2001 was also due to the reduction of interest rates during 2002. Other net income of RMB3.7 million in 2002 represented the write-back
of certain provisions for expenses and claims payable for certain arbitration.

Income Tax

Income tax decreased to a credit of RMB2.4 million in 2002 from zero. The decrease in 2002 was mainly due to the ability to recognize deferred tax assets
relating to losses incurred in prior periods. Such deferred tax assets were not recognizable in 2001 due to the uncertainty of our making a profit at that time.
Recognition of deferred tax assets was partially offset by an increase in revenues and taxable income in 2002 as compared with 2001.

Net Profit (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, net profit increased by 107.0% to RMB16.3 million in 2002 from a net loss of RMB233.2 million in 2001.

Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the four fiscal quarters for the year ended
December 31, 2003 in Renminbi. Our management believes this data has been prepared substantially on the same basis as the consolidated audited financial
statements, including all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of such data. Operating results
for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarter. You should read the quarterly data for the four quarters set forth below for the year
ended December 31, 2003 in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this annual report.
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Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
RMB RMB RMB RMB
Revenues:
Online game services 36,081,633 36,233,479 56,484,513 74,446,489
Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services 69,851,133 79,109,673 62,712,103 67,986,261
Advertising services 11,997,296 20,823,784 27,065,846 26,296,807
117,930,062 136,166,936 146,262,462 168,729,557
Business tax (5,896,988) (6,807,862) (7,313,123) (6,936,529)
Net revenues 112,033,074 129,359,074 138,949,339 161,793,028
Cost of revenues:
Online game services (4,470,702) (4,012,240) (4,693,865) (7,696,695)
Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services (10,329,604) (11,837,810) (5,797,489) (9,000,874)
Advertising services (5,416,645) (6,037,053) (7,286,807) (8,882,933)
Total cost of revenues (20,216,951) (21,887,103) (17,778,161) (25,580,502)
Gross profit 91,816,123 107,471,971 121,171,178 136,212,526
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses (24,006,515) (25,460,237) (30,012,933) (31,290,718)
Research and development expenses (4,248,003) (4,126,390) (4,095,277) (6,651,157)
Total operating expenses (28,254,518) (29,586,627) (34,108,210) (37,941,875)
Operating profit 63,561,605 77,885,344 87,062,968 98,270,651
Other income (expenses):
Investment income — — — 538,278
Interest income 1,738,018 1,908,473 3,640,487 3,986,707
Interest expenses — — — —
Other, net 5,518,548 154,828 (121,222) (141,983)
Profit before tax 70,818,171 79,948,645 90,582,233 102,653,653
Income tax expenses (1,902,670) (4,161,744) (6,492,105) (8,573,459)
Net profit 68,915,501 75,786,901 84,090,128 94,080,194

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our capital requirements relate primarily to financing:

»  our working capital requirements, such as bandwidth and server custody fees, staff costs, sales and marketing expenses and research and development,
and

+  costs associated with the expansion of our business, such as the purchase of servers.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was RMB373.7 million (US$45.2 million) and RMB26.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Cash used in operating activities was RMB185.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2003, cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of our operating profit of RMB322.9 million (US$39.0 million) adjusted for depreciation and amortization
charges of RMB20.9 million (US$2.5 million), and an increase in provisions for doubtful debts of RMB3.6 million (US$0.4 million), a decrease in the net amount
due from related parties of RMB25.7 million (US$3.1 million), and an increase in
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accounts payable and other liabilities totaling RMB13.5 million (US$1.6 million), offset in part by an increase in prepayments and other current assets of RMB5.8
million (US$0.7 million) and an increase in deferred tax assets of RMB7.3 million (US$0.9 million). For the year ended December 31, 2002, cash used in
operating activities consisted primarily of operating profit of RMB16.3 million adjusted for depreciation charges of RMB21.8 million, share compensation cost of
RMB3.8 million and write down of software costs of RMBO0.7 million, and an increase in provision for doubtful debts, taxes payable and other payables totaling
RMB16.0 million, and a decrease in prepayments and other assets of RMB3.8 million, offset in part by a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
totaling RMB9.8 million, and an increase in net amounts due from related parties and deferred tax assets totaling RMB25.8 million. For the year ended December
31, 2001, cashed used in operating activities consisted primarily of our operating loss of RMB233.2 million, adjusted for a decrease in accrued liabilities of
RMB?7.8 million and amount due to related parties of RMB1.3 million and an increase in due from related parties of RMB3.5 million, offset in part by an increase
in accounts payable of RMB5.6 million, salary and welfare payable of RMB3.2 million and a decrease in prepayments and other current assets of RMB5.7
million.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was RMB360.3 million (US$43.5 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003, and cash provided by investing
activities was RMB42.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Cash used in investing activities was RMB67.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. For the year ended December 31, 2003, cash used in investing activities mainly consisted of the purchase of held-to-maturity investments of RMB332.1
million (US$40.1 million) and fixed assets of RMB27.8 million (US$3.4 million). For the year ended December 31, 2002, cash provided by investing activities
mainly consisted of the decrease in temporary cash investments of RMB45.5 million and the disposal of convertible preference shares of RMB9.7 million, which
was offset in part by the cash used in the purchase of fixed assets of RMB12.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 2001, cash used in investing activities
mainly consisted of the placing of term deposits of RMB45.5 million and the purchase of fixed assets of RMB21.1 million.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was RMB781.4 million (US$94.4 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003, and cash used in financing
activities for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was RMB78.1 million and RMB22.3 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the
cash provided by financing activities mainly consisted of the proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes of RMB827.7 million (US$100.0 million) and the
proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares upon the exercise of share options of RMB15.1 million (US$1.8 million), which was offset in part by the use of
cash for the repurchase of Series B preference shares issued in 2000 of RMB38.2 million (US$4.6 million). For the year ended December 31, 2002, the cash used
in financing activities mainly consisted of the repayment of bank loans of RMB84.0 million, which was offset in part by the partial collection of a subscription
receivable for the Series B preference shares issued in 2000 of RMB2.0 million and the proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares upon the exercise of share
options of RMB3.9 million. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the cash used in financing activities mainly consisted of the repayment of bank loans of
RMB152.4 million which was offset in part by proceeds from other bank loans totaling RMB123.8 million and the receipt in 2001 of additional net proceeds from
our issuance of Series B preference shares in 2000 of RMB6.3 million.

Our net losses have been funded by our cash resources and positive operating cash flows. Although we have been profitable in the last two fiscal years, we
cannot be certain that we can sustain or grow this level of profitability in future periods. In particular, our selling, general and administrative expenses have
remained relatively high due primarily to staff costs, while our revenue from advertising services has been
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uneven in the last several years. Further, although our revenue from online games and wireless value-added services has grown significantly in the last two fiscal
years, we have only a limited track record offering these services and cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain or grow such revenue. Nonetheless, given
our positive cash flows in recent quarters and our issuance of US$100 million aggregate principal amount of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes in
July 2003, we believe that such cash and revenue will be sufficient for us to meet our obligations for the foreseeable future.

Indebtedness

As of December 31, 2003, we had $100 million aggregate principal amount of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes due July 15, 2023
outstanding. Because we have not registered the notes and the ordinary shares issuable upon conversion of the notes with the SEC in accordance with the
Registration Rights Agreement dated July 8, 2003 between our company and the initial purchaser of the notes, for the benefit of the holders of the notes and the
ordinary shares issuable upon conversion of the notes, interest became payable on the notes from January 10, 2004 at a rate of 0.50% per annum. Interest will
continue to accrue on the notes until such registration becomes effective with the SEC, which we expect will occur shortly after this annual report is filed with the
SEC.

C. Research and Development

We believe that an integral part of our future success will depend on our ability to develop and enhance our products and services. Our product
development efforts and strategies consist of incorporating new technologies from third parties as well as continuing to develop our own proprietary technology.

We have utilized and will continue to utilize the products and services of third parties to enhance our platform of technologies and services to provide
competitive and diverse Internet services to our users. We also have utilized and will continue to utilize third-party advertisement serving technologies. In
addition, we plan to continue to expand our technologies, products and services and registered user base through diverse online community products and services
developed internally. We will seek to continually improve and enhance our existing products and services to respond to rapidly evolving competitive and
technological conditions. For the years 2001, 2002 and 2003, we spent RMB13.3 million, RMB14.2 million and RMB19.1 million (US$2.3 million), respectively,
on research and development activities.

D. Trend Information

Based on our observations, we believe that the following trends are likely to have a material effect on our business in the near term:

*  We believe that there has been increasing demand by online game users for new and unique online games and increasing competition in this area. We
believe that these trends will force us to devote additional resources to developing and launching additional games, updating existing games at a faster
rate than we have in the past and licensing games from third parties.

»  The rapid expansion of the wireless value-added services market in China in recent years is expected by MII and industry commentators to continue
for the next several years. We expect that this expansion, if it occurs, will have two fundamental effects on our business. First, it will present an
ongoing opportunity to increase our revenue from wireless value-added services.
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Second, we believe, on the other hand, that it will encourage additional competitors to enter the market which may adversely affect revenue growth in
this area and could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

*  We expect that the wireless value-added services industry and customers tastes for these services will continue to evolve rapidly, particularly as a result
of the transition from SMS-based services to new services which are compatible with, and take full advantage of the capabilities of, next generation
mobile technologies such as 2.5G, which has recently begun in China. We believe that the rapid evolution of this industry will require us to continue to
devote significant resources to developing and deploying new wireless valued-added services.

»  If wireless value-added services which are compatible with next generation mobile technologies become popular in China, we believe that users will
demand increasingly engaging and content-rich services. We anticipate that this transition, if it occurs, may increase competition among wireless
value-added service providers in China for content and strategic partnerships, and may increase the prices we may have to pay for content.

+  The pace of development of widely accepted online payment systems in China has remained slow thus far. In response, we have developed and
deployed a prepaid point card as an alternative online payment system for our services.

*  The decrease in the rate of growth of Internet users in China in recent years may continue. In that case, we may have to increase our service offerings
or increase our marketing and advertising efforts in order for us to continue to grow our business.

* A general increase in competition for online services has elevated the importance of brand building and brand awareness. We believe that this trend
may require us to increase our marketing and advertising efforts and budgets in order to keep our brand names and the NetEase Web sites visible and
prominent. Specifically, we intend to launch a new marketing campaign later in 2004 which will focus on increasing brand awareness of our company
and specific product driven advertisements, through television advertisements and off-line media, such as newspapers, outdoor billboards and
advertisements on buses and bus stops.

E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any outstanding derivative financial instruments, off-balance sheet guarantees, interest rate swap transactions or foreign currency forward
contracts. We do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts.

F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

We have entered into leasing arrangements relating to our office premises. We also have commitments in respect of long-term payables related to
installment payments for the purchase of servers, server custody fees and capital expenditures related to the purchase of servers. The following sets forth our
commitments for long-term payables, operating leases, server custody fees and capital expenditures as of December 31, 2003 (in U.S. dollars):

Long-term Operating lease Server custody Capital
payable commitments fee commitments commitments Total
Less than one year — 863,183 1,432,286 288,258 2,583,727
1 - 3 years 27,964 969,620 11,176 — 1,008,760
3 - 5 years — — — — —
More than 5 years — — — — —
Total 27,964 1,832,803 1,443,462 288,258 3,592,487

Other than the obligations set forth above, we do not have any long-term commitments.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the interest income generated by excess cash invested in short term money
market accounts and certificates of deposit. We have not used derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Interest earning instruments carry a
degree of interest rate risk. We have not been exposed nor do we anticipate being exposed to material risks due to changes in interest rates. However, our future
interest income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Substantially all our revenues and expenses are denominated in Renminbi, but as noted above, a substantial portion of our cash is kept in U.S. dollars.
Although we believe that, in general, our exposure to foreign exchange risks should be limited, the value of our American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, will be
affected by the foreign exchange rate between U.S. dollars and Renminbi. For example, to the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into Renminbi for our
operational needs and the Renminbi appreciates against the U.S. dollar at that time, our financial position and the price of our ADSs may be adversely affected.
Conversely, if we decide to convert our Renminbi (which amount has grown as a result of our improved cash flows in 2002 and 2003) into U.S. dollars for the
purpose of declaring dividends on our ADSs or otherwise and the U.S. dollar appreciates against the Renminbi, the U.S. dollar equivalent of our earnings from
our subsidiaries and controlled entities in China would be reduced.

We have not had any material foreign exchange gains or losses to date. However, we have not engaged in any hedging activities, and we may experience
economic loss as a result of any foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides
guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of
EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. We believe that the adoption of this
standard will have no material impact on our financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting (SFAS) No.149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities. This statement amends and clarifies
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financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments and hedging activities under FASB Statement No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, by requiring contracts with similar characteristics to be accounted for comparably. This statement is effective for contracts entered into or
modified after June 30, 2003. We believe that the adoption of SFAS No.149 will not have a material impact on our financial statements.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

The names of our current directors and executive officers, their ages as of May 31, 2003 and the principal positions with NetEase held by them are as
follows:

Name Age Position

William Ding 32 Director and Chief Architect

Ted Sun (1) 36 Director and Acting Chief Executive Officer
Denny Lee 36 Director and Chief Financial Officer
Michael Tong 33 Executive Director

Donghua Ding (2) 66 Director

Ronald Lee 40 Director

Michael Leung (2) 50 Director

Joseph Tong (2) 41 Director

(1) On April 14, 2004, we announced the temporary medical leave of absence by Mr. Sun. Michael Tong and Denny Lee have assumed the day-to-day
responsibilities of Mr. Sun during his absence.

(2) Member of the audit committee. Michael Tong was a member of our audit committee until June 25, 2003 at which time he became an executive director of
our company and stepped down from the audit committee. On that same day, Donghua Ding was appointed to our board and the audit committee.

The foregoing directors will hold office until the next annual general meeting of shareholders and until such director’s successor is elected and duly
qualified, or until such director’s earlier death, bankruptcy, insanity, resignation or removal. There are no family relationships among any of the directors or
executive officers of our company.

The News Corporation Limited had the right to nominate one director to our board, and, upon nomination, certain of our shareholders holding a majority of
our outstanding shares were obligated to vote their shares in favor of such nominated director. Two of our prior directors, Lawrence J. Smith and John Lau, were
nominated and elected to our board in this manner. However, this right terminated in March 2003 when The News Corporation Limited sold a portion of its shares
in our company. See Item 7.B. “Related Party Transactions” in this annual report.

Biographical Information

William Ding, our founder, has served as a director since July 1999 and as our Chief Architect since March 2001. From June 2001 until September 2001,
Mr. Ding served as our acting Chief Executive Officer and acting Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Ding also stepped down as Chairman of the Board of Directors in
September 2001 (the company currently has no permanently appointed Chairman). From July 1999 until March 2001, Mr. Ding served as Co-Chief Technology
Officer, and from July 1999 until April 2000, he also served as our interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ding established Guangzhou NetEase, our affiliate, in
May 1997. Prior to establishing Guangzhou NetEase, Mr. Ding spent one year at Guangzhou Feijie Co. as a systems analyst, from June 1996 to April 1997, one
year at Sybase (China) as a project manager, from May 1995 to May 1996, and two years at China Telecom Ningbo Branch as a technical engineer, from June
1993 to May 1995. Mr. Ding holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Communication Technology from the University of Electronic Science and Technology of
China.
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Ted Sun has served as a director since December 1999 and as our acting Chief Executive Officer from September 2001 following William Ding’s
resignation from that position. Mr. Sun also worked as our consultant from July 2001 until September 2001. From July 2000 until September 2001, he served as
Chief Financial Officer of Infoserve Technology. Prior to that, Mr. Sun held various positions with Bear Stearns Asia Limited from November 1996 to May 2000,
culminating in the position of Managing Director. Prior to November 1996, Mr. Sun was an assistant director with Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Sun received a
Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from the Wharton School of Business, University of Pennsylvania in 1988.

Denny Lee has served as a director and as our Chief Financial Officer since April 2002. Previously, he was our Financial Controller from November 2001
until that time. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Lee worked in the Hong Kong office of KPMG for more than ten years, culminating in the position of Senior
Manager in one of the audit departments where he specialized in auditing international clients. During his employment with KPMG, he also worked with a
number of Chinese companies with respect to accounting and other aspects of their initial public offerings on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, due diligence work
in relation to potential investments in Chinese companies and financial and operational reviews of Chinese companies in connection with proposed investments in
such companies by foreign investors. Mr. Lee graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University majoring in accounting and is a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Accountants and The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants.

Michael Tong became an executive director of our company on June 25, 2003 where he is involved with the overall management of our company with a
particular focus on our online games business. He has also served as one of our directors since December 1999. Previously, he was an Executive Director with
techpacific.com Venture Capital Limited. In that capacity, he was primarily responsible for portfolio management of the funds managed by techpacific.com and
its subsidiaries. Prior to joining techpacific.com in December 2000, Mr. Tong worked at Softbank China Venture Investments Limited in Hong Kong, where he
was responsible for the evaluation, financial modeling, due diligence review and structuring of Softbank’s investments. He also worked at Nomura China Venture
Investments Limited, Jardine Fleming Securities Limited and Ernst & Young, all in Hong Kong. Mr. Tong graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration
from the University of Wisconsin, Madison with a major in Accounting and an extra concentration in Computer Science in 1993. He is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and is a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Donghua Ding joined our board on June 25, 2003. In 2002 and 2003, he served as an advisor to China Mobile (Shenzhen) Limited, a subsidiary of China
Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited, the leading mobile operator in China and a listed company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the New York Stock
Exchange. From 1997 until 2002, he served as a director and chief financial officer of China Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited where he was in charge of that
company'’s financial management. Mr. Ding was also a director of China Mobile Hong Kong (BVI) Limited. Prior to joining China Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited,
Mr. Ding was the Chief Economist, Chief Accountant, Deputy Chief Economist and Department Director of the Guangdong Posts and Telecommunications
Administration. He graduated from the Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in 1961 and has 40 years of management experience in the
telecommunications industry, as well as in economics and finance.

Ronald Lee was appointed to our board on June 5, 2002. He is the managing director and co-founder of BEENET, an Internet consulting and solutions
services provider established in November 1999. Prior to that, he was a corporate finance senior manager at Cable & Wireless HKT, where he worked from 1995
to 1999. Mr. Lee also worked for Royal Trust in Toronto and Hong Kong and Peregrine Capital Limited and Peregrine Direct Investment Limited in Hong Kong.
Mr. Lee is also a director of Kailey Enterprises Limited and Fong Fun Co., Ltd. Mr. Lee received his Master of Business
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Administration degree with specialization in accounting and finance from the University of Western Ontario in 1992 and his Bachelor of Science degree in
Accounting and Finance from Georgetown University in 1987.

Michael Leung has been one of our directors since July 11, 2002. Since October 2003, he has been a director of Matrix Asset Ltd., an investment firm co-
founded by Mr. Leung. Since April 2002, he has also provided periodic consultancy services to Koffman Securities, a brokerage firm in Hong Kong. From
February 1999 to September 2001, he was a director at Emerging Markets Partnership (Hong Kong) Limited, which is the principal adviser to the AIG Asian
Infrastructure Fund L.P. Prior to that, from November 1997 to October 1998, he was a Director of Warburg Dillon Read where he was involved in corporate
finance activities in China. From January 1994 to August 1997, he was a Director of Crosby Securities heading the Corporate Finance Division covering the
Hong Kong and China markets. He was also a Director of Peregrine Capital Limited from January 1992 to December 1993 where he was responsible for
marketing Peregrine’s corporate finance services in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences from the University of
Hong Kong with a major in accounting, management and statistics.

Joseph Tong is a director and co-founder of TLM Apparel Co., Ltd., a garment trading company operating in Hong Kong and China which was established
in December 2002. At TLM Apparel, Mr. Tong is engaged in establishing offices and operations in Hong Kong and China, setting up accounting and internal
control policies and overseeing the company’s overall operations. Prior to that, from September 2000 to September 2002, he was the e-Commerce Director of the
Asia Region for Universal Music Limited where he was responsible for forming e-business development strategies and overseeing new promotional
opportunities. He was also an Associate Director of Softbank China Venture Investments Limited from August 1999 to September 2000 and of Nomura China
Investments Limited from October 1996 to July 1999. In those positions, he was primarily involved in identifying and evaluating potential venture capital
investments, negotiating investment terms and structure and overseeing the businesses of portfolio companies. Mr. Tong has also worked at Prosberg Limited, a
management consulting company, Wharf Cable Limited and Ernst & Young. Mr. Tong has a Bachelor of Science degree and Second Honour Degree in
Accounting and Statistics from the University of Southampton, England. He is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has served
as a director since March 25, 2003.

B. Compensation
Compensation to our Directors

In 2003, we paid each of Michael Leung, Ronald Lee and, until his appointment as an executive director, Michael Tong the amount of US$1,000 per month
for their services as non-executive directors for a total of US$12,000, US$12,000 and US$4,318, respectively. Joseph Tong was appointed as an independent
director in March 2003, and since then, we have paid him US$1,000 per month for his services as a director for a total of US$9,000 in 2003. In addition, in 2003
we paid Mr. Donghua Ding US$3,000 per month for his services as a non-executive director and also paid US$3,824 for Chinese individual income taxes on his
behalf. Other than the foregoing payments, we did not pay any other compensation in any form to our non-executive directors in 2003. In 2003, we also granted
stock options under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan to our three executive directors, Ted Sun, Denny Lee and Michael Tong, as set forth in the table entitled
“Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year” below.

All of our current directors have entered into indemnification agreements in which we agree to indemnify, to the fullest extent allowed by Cayman law, our
charter documents or other applicable law, those directors from any liability or expenses, unless the liability or expense arises from the director’s own willful
negligence or willful default. The indemnification agreements also specify the procedures to be followed with respect to indemnification.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

We maintained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance on behalf of our directors and officers until June 15, 2003 when that policy expired. We do not

plan to purchase a new policy at this time.

Executive Officer Compensation

The following table sets forth certain information concerning compensation paid during 2001, 2002 and 2003 to our executive officers:

Annual Long-Term
Compensation Compensation
Restricted
Stock Securities All Other
Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Underlying Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year (US$) (US$)(1) (US$) Options (#) (US$)
Ted Sun (2) 2003 216,000 220,000 267,000(3) 10,000,000 84,093(4)
Acting Chief Executive Officer and a Director 2002 226,000 200,000 346,625(3) 15,000,000 333,072(5)
2001 73,000 165,000(6) 73,035(3) — 12,400(7)
Denny Lee (8) 2003 158,000 160,000 — 8,000,000 63,418(9)
Chief Financial Officer and a Director 2002 158,000 80,000 — 10,000,000 137,507(10)
2001 12,273 3,800 — — 3,138(11)
Michael Tong (12) 2003 104,364 75,000 — 10,000,000 6,159(13)
Executive Director 2002 — — — — —
2001 — — — — —

(1) Includes bonus amounts in the year earned, rather than in the year in which such bonus amount was paid or is to be paid.

(2) Mr. Sun became our acting Chief Executive Officer in September 2001.

(3) Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Sun received cash payments sufficient for him to purchase an aggregate of 25,000,000 of our
ordinary shares from us at a price of US$0.006492 per share (equivalent to US$0.6492 per American Depositary Share) over an 18-month period. Our
board of directors set the per share purchase price at the fair market value of the shares, which was deemed to be the last closing price on Nasdaq prior to
the grant of these subscription rights. In 2001, 2002 and 2003, we paid Mr. Sun US$73,035, US$73,035 and US$16,230 to purchase 11,250,000,
11,250,000 and 2,500,000, respectively, of such shares in accordance with his subscription schedule. The dollar amounts listed in this column were
calculated by multiplying the amount of shares purchased in each year by the closing price of our American Depositary Shares (divided by 100 to
determine the per ordinary share price) on the date of each such purchase or the last closing price in the case of shares purchased while trading in our
American Depositary Shares was suspended on Nasdaq in 2001.

(4) Represents a housing allowance of US$18,767 paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Sun and US$65,326 for Chinese individual income taxes, which are
borne by our company on behalf of Mr. Sun.

(5) Represents a housing allowance of US$35,100 paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Sun and US$297,972 for Chinese individual income taxes which

accrued in the year 2002 with respect to Mr. Sun’s compensation in that year and which our company paid in 2003 on his behalf.
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(6) This amount constituted a sign-on bonus which was paid in two installments: one of US$75,000 upon Mr. Sun’s commencement of employment and the
second of US$60,000 on January 2, 2002. It also included a year-end performance bonus of US$30,000.

(7) Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Sun.

(8) M. Lee joined our company as Financial Controller in November 2001 and became our Chief Financial Officer in April 2002.

(9) Represents a housing allowance of US$28,950 paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Lee and a cash living allowance of US$19,800 paid to Mr. Lee. This
amount also includes US$14,668 for Chinese individual income taxes, which were born by our company on behalf of Mr. Lee.

(10) Represents a housing allowance of US$23,349 paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Lee and a cash living allowance of US$19,800 paid to Mr. Lee. This
amount also includes US$94,358 for Chinese individual income taxes which accrued in the year 2002 with respect to Mr. Lee’s compensation in that year
and which our company paid in 2003 on his behalf.

(11) Represents a housing allowance of US$1,166 paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Lee and a cash living allowance of US$1,972 paid to Mr. Lee.

(12) Mr. Tong joined our company as an executive officer in June 2003.

(13) Represents a housing allowance paid by our company on behalf of Mr. Tong.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment and related agreements with Ted Sun, Denny Lee and Michael Tong, as described below.

Ted Sun. In September 2001, we entered into an employment agreement with Ted Sun which originally provided for an annual salary of US$240,000. His
annual salary was subsequently lowered to US$216,000 in June 2002. In addition, Mr. Sun received a sign-on bonus of US$135,000 which was paid in two
installments in September 2001 and January 2002 and year-end performance bonuses of US$30,000, US$200,000 and US$220,000 in 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. Further, pursuant to his employment agreement, he received cash payments sufficient for him to purchase from us an aggregate of 25,000,000 of our
ordinary shares at a price of US$0.006492 per share over an 18-month period ending in March 2003. Mr. Sun is also entitled to receive a housing allowance.

In addition, we also entered into a non-competition agreement with Mr. Sun which obligates Mr. Sun to keep all proprietary information regarding our
company confidential, except in limited circumstances. This agreement also prohibits Mr. Sun from obtaining an ownership interest in (unless the total investment
represents less than 5% of the total equity of the competitor and the competitor is a listed company), or employment with, any of our competitors during his
employment with us and for one year thereafter. During that same period, he may not solicit or encourage any of our officers or employees to terminate their
employment with us, except when done in the course of his job with NetEase.

Denny Lee. In April 2002, we entered into a new employment agreement with Denny Lee in connection with his promotion to the position of Chief
Financial Officer. This agreement provides for an annual salary of US$158,000, plus a discretionary bonus to be determined by our company. Mr. Lee’s
discretionary bonuses in 2002 and 2003 were US$80,000 and US$160,000 respectively. He is also entitled to receive a housing allowance and tax equalization
benefits. If Mr. Lee’s employment is terminated for any reason other than his death, disability or pursuant to one of the statutory bases for terminating employees
without notice under Hong Kong law, he shall be entitled to severance pay in the amount of six months of his then current base salary.

This agreement also prohibits Mr. Lee, for the six month period following his termination of employment with us, from obtaining an ownership interest in
(unless the total investment represents less than 5% of any single class of shares of the competitor and the competitor is a listed company), or
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employment with, any company which carries on a business in Hong Kong or China which competes with our company and in which Mr. Lee was involved at
any time during the last two years of his employment or in relation to which he acquired any confidential information during the course of his employment.
During that same period, he may not solicit, entice or hire any of our employees or customers. Mr. Lee has also entered into a proprietary information agreement
which obligates him to keep all proprietary information regarding our company confidential, except in limited circumstances.

Michael Tong. Mr. Tong’s employment agreement provides for an annual salary of US$168,000, plus a discretionary bonus to be determined by our
company. Mr. Tong’s discretionary bonus in 2003 was US$75,000. He is also entitled to receive a housing allowance and tax equalization benefits. If Mr. Tong’s
employment is terminated for any reason other than his death, disability or pursuant to one of the statutory bases for terminating employees without notice under
Hong Kong law, he shall be entitled to severance pay in the amount of three months of his then current base salary.

This agreement also prohibits Mr. Tong, for the six month period following his termination of employment with us, from obtaining an ownership interest in
(unless the total investment represents less than 5% of any single class of shares of the competitor and the competitor is a listed company), or employment with,
any company which carries on a business in Hong Kong or China which competes with our company and in which Mr. Tong was involved at any time during the
last two years of his employment or in relation to which he acquired any confidential information during the course of his employment. During that same period,
he may not solicit, entice or hire any of our employees or customers. Mr. Tong has also entered into a proprietary information agreement which obligates him to
keep all proprietary information regarding our company confidential, except in limited circumstances.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth information regarding stock options granted to our Acting Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Executive

Director during 2003:

Name

Ted Sun
Denny Lee
Michael Tong

Individual Grants

% of Total

Number of Options
Securities Granted to
Underlying Employees
Options in Fiscal
Granted Year (1)
10,000,000 9.11%
8,000,000 7.29%
10,000,000 9.11%

Exercise

Price per Expiration

Share (2) Date
Us$ 0.11 March 4, 2008
Us$ 0.11 March 4, 2008
US$0.254 May 12, 2008

Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed Annual Rate
of Stock Price Appreciation for

Option Term (3)

5% 10%
US$303,910 US$671,561
US$243,128 US$537,249
US$303,910 US$671,561

(1) Based on a total of 109,745,000 options granted to employees of NetEase in 2003, including options granted to the foregoing executive officers but
excluding all options which were granted and terminated in that same year.
(2) The exercise price per share of options granted represented the fair market value of the underlying shares of ordinary shares on the date the options were

granted.

(3) The potential realizable value is calculated based upon the term of the option at its time of grant. It is calculated assuming that the stock price on the date of
grant appreciates at the indicated annual rate, compounded annually for the entire term of the option, and that the option is exercised and sold on the last
day of its term for the appreciated stock price. The appreciated stock prices used in these calculations do not represent our projections or estimates of the
price of our ordinary shares or ADSs. Tax consequences relating to stock option transactions have not been taken into account.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to stock options exercised by our Acting Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Director during 2003. In addition, the table sets forth the number of shares covered by stock options as of December 31, 2003, and the value of “in-
the-money” stock options, which represents the difference between the exercise price of a stock option and the market price of the shares subject to such option

on December 31, 2003.

Name

Ted Sun
Denny Lee
Michael Tong

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised

Value of Unexercised

Options at In-the-Money Options at
Shares Value December 31, 2003 (#) December 31, 2003 (US$)
Acquired on Realized
Exercise (Us$)(1) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
9,600,000 1,691,800 6,600,000 10,000,000 2,334,720 2,592,000
3,000,000 504,000 — 15,000,000 — 4,609,000
— — — 10,000,000 — 1,152,000

(1) The value realized upon the exercise of stock options represents the positive spread between the exercise price of stock options and the fair market of the

shares subject to such options on the exercise date.
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Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
General

Our shareholders approved the NetEase.com, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, or the Amended Plan, at our annual general meeting
held on May 25, 2001. The Amended Plan replaced the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, or the Prior Plan, in its entirety. Under the Prior Plan, a total of 223,715,000 of
our ordinary shares were reserved for issuance. The Amended Plan increased the number of ordinary shares reserved for issuance to 323,715,000, which amount
was automatically further increased to 504,756,924 ordinary shares in accordance with the provisions of that plan. On March 25, 2002, our board suspended any
further automatic increases in the number of authorized shares reserved for issuance under the Amended Plan.

The purpose of the Amended Plan is to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees, directors and
consultants and to promote the success of our business. Our board of directors believes that our company’s long term success is dependent upon our ability to
attract and retain superior individuals who, by virtue of their ability and qualifications, make important contributions to our business. The Amended Plan provides
for the granting of incentive awards of our ordinary shares, options to purchase our ordinary shares and any other securities the value of which is derived from the
value of our ordinary shares.

Grantees under the Amended Plan will not receive any account status reports. The Amended Plan is not subject to the U.S. Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended, nor is the Amended Plan a “qualified plan” within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code.

The Amended Plan continues to be administered by our board, and it has delegated the power to award options under those plans for non-executive officers
to NetEase’s acting chief executive officer.

The Amended Plan provides that in the event of certain corporate transactions, including specified types of reorganizations and acquisition transactions,
each outstanding award granted under the Amended Plan shall automatically become fully vested and exercisable and be released from any restrictions in transfer
(other than transfer restrictions applicable to the award) and repurchase or forfeiture rights, immediately prior to the specified effective date of such corporate
transaction, unless the award is assumed by the successor company or its parent company in connection with the corporate transaction. Upon consummation of
such corporate transactions, each outstanding award shall be terminated unless the award is assumed by the successor company or its parent company in
connection with the applicable corporate transaction. Our board of directors will determine whether an award was assumed in the manner contemplated by the
Amended Plan.

Under the Amended Plan, awards can be issued to employees, directors or consultants of the company or our subsidiaries, although incentive stock options,
referred to as ISOs, may only be issued to our employees or the employees of our subsidiaries.

Awards under the Amended Plan are evidenced by an award agreement which contains, among other things, provisions concerning exercisability and
forfeiture upon termination of employment or consulting arrangement (by reason of death, disability, retirement or otherwise) as have been determined
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by our board. In addition, the award agreement also specifies whether the option constitutes an ISO or a non-incentive stock option, referred to as NQSOs, and
may, but need not, include a provision whereby a grantee may at any time during his or her employment with us exercise any part or all of the award prior to full
vesting of the award.

An option may be exercised by delivering written notice of such exercise to us. The option price to exercise the option for our ordinary shares must be paid
at the time of exercise in full in cash or in check, by promissory note with such terms as the board deems appropriate or in whole ordinary shares with a fair
market value at least equal to the option price (or in another appropriate manner approved by us, such as in a combination of cash and whole ordinary shares or by
cashless exercise of options through a broker-dealer).

Under the Amended Plan, the exercise price for the options is specified in the award agreement for those options. In any event, the exercise price of ISOs
cannot be less than the fair market value of our ordinary shares on the date of grant. However, in the case of an ISO granted to a grantee, who, at the time the ISO
was granted, owned stock possessing more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of our share capital, the option price may not be less than 110%
of the fair market value of our ordinary shares on the date of grant of such ISO. To the extent that the aggregate fair market value of shares subject to options
granted as ISOs under the Amended Plan which become exercisable for the first time by a recipient during any calendar year exceeds US$100,000, then options
represented by ordinary shares in excess of the US$100,000 limitation shall be treated as NQSOs.

NQSOs granted pursuant to the Amended Plan can have an exercise price of no less than 85% of the fair market value of our ordinary shares on the date of
grant.

In the event of any extraordinary dividend, share dividend, recapitalization, share split, rights issuance, or combination or exchange of such shares, or other
similar transactions, our board may equitably adjust the option price of our outstanding options so as to reflect such event.

The term of all ISOs and NQSOs will be stated in the applicable award agreement. The term of an ISO granted to a person, who, at the time the ISO was
granted, owned stock possessing more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of our share capital, may not be more than five (5) years from the
date of the grant of the award.

Under the Amended Plan, if the employment, director or consultant relationship of a grantee with us terminates for cause, the grantee’s right to exercise the
option will expire upon the termination of such relationship. If the employment, director or consultant relationship of a grantee with us terminates without cause,
all options then exercisable may be exercised within six months of the date of such termination or such shorter period as may be specified in the award agreement.
Any ISO granted under the Amended Plan, if not exercised within the time period provided by law for the exercise of ISOs following the termination of a
grantee’s employment with us, shall automatically convert to a NQSO thereafter. If the termination of a grantee’s employment, director or consultant relationship
with us is (i) by reason of death or (ii) by reason of disability, all options then exercisable may be exercised by such grantee, such grantee’s estate or by a person
who acquired the right of exercise of such options by bequest or inheritance or otherwise by reason of death or disability of such grantee, at any time within a
period not less than 12 months (but in no event later than the expiration date of the options) after the date of such termination.

Under the Amended Plan, our board may at any time terminate, suspend, or amend the Amended Plan in any respect, except that no termination,
suspension or amendment will be effective without shareholder approval if such approval is required to comply with any law, regulation or stock exchange rule
and no such change may adversely affect any award previously granted without the written consent of the recipient. The Amended Plan will expire in February
2010.
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C. Board Practices

For information regarding the terms of our current directors and the period during which our officers and directors have served in their respective positions,
please refer to Item 6A. “Directors and Senior Management” above.

During the year 2003, our board met in person or passed resolutions by unanimous written consent 15 times. No director attended fewer than 75% of all the
meetings of our board and its committees on which he or she served after becoming a member of our board. We have no specific policy with respect to director
attendance at our annual general meetings of shareholders, and three of our directors attended the annual general meeting of shareholders held on June 6, 2002.

Our board has one active committee, the audit committee. Messrs. Donghua Ding, Michael Leung and Joseph Tong are currently the members of the audit
committee. Our board has also maintained a compensation committee, but as discussed below, that committee currently does not have the requisite number of
members as required by its charter and has, therefore, been inactive. Our board does not have a nominating committee or a committee performing the functions of
a nominating committee.

In 2003, our audit committee met in person or passed resolutions by unanimous written consent ten times. Each member of our audit committee satisfies
the “independence” and financial literacy requirements of the National Association of Securities Dealers’ listing standards. Our board has also concluded that Mr.
Joseph Tong meets the criteria for an “audit committee financial expert” as established by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Our board of directors
has adopted a written audit committee charter pursuant to which the audit committee is responsible for overseeing the accounting and financial reporting
processes of our company, including the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of our independent auditors, monitoring compliance with our
accounting and financial policies and evaluating management’s procedures and policies relative to the adequacy of our internal accounting controls.

We have not entered into any service contracts or other arrangements providing for benefits upon termination with our non-executive directors.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Our compensation committee has been inactive and held no meetings in 2003. Prior to it becoming inactive, the compensation committee’s functions were
to review and make recommendations to our board regarding our compensation policies and all forms of compensation to be provided to our executive officers
and directors. In addition, the compensation committee reviewed bonus and stock compensation arrangements for all of our other employees. These duties have
been performed by our full board of directors since the compensation committee became inactive (with executive directors abstaining from any decision that
would affect them personally).

No interlocking relationships have existed between our board of directors or compensation committee and the board of directors or compensation
committee of any other company.

D. Employees
At December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, we had 327, 398 and 620 full-time employees, respectively.

85



Table of Contents

The following table sets forth information regarding our staff as of December 31, 2003:

Content 130
Technology 41
Advertising sales department 61
Marketing 8
Business development 2
E-commerce 3
Customer service 36
Accounting department 21
Investor relations 2
Administration 12
Human resources 3
Product development 43
Wireless department 144
Online game department 107
Other 7
Total 620

In addition, at December 31, 2003, we had 224 part-time employees.
None of our employees are represented by a labor union.

All employees of our company and of our affiliated companies are employed under employment contracts which specify, among other things, the
employee’s responsibilities, remuneration and grounds for termination of employment. Each employee signs a confidentiality agreement in respect of our
intellectual property rights.

E. Share Ownership

The following table sets forth certain information known to us with respect to the beneficial ownership as of May 31, 2004 by:

+  all persons who are beneficial owners of five percent or more of our ordinary shares,

* each of our directors,

»  our current Acting Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director (referred to below as the Named Executive Officers), and

+ all current directors and executive officers as a group.

As of May 31, 2004, 3,154,856,289 shares of our ordinary shares were outstanding. The amounts and percentages of ordinary shares beneficially owned are

reported on the basis of regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under
the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if that
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person has or shares “voting power,” which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or “investment power,” which includes the power
to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of which that person has a right to
acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Under these rules, more than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of securities as to which such person has
no economic interest. The shareholders listed below do not have different voting rights.

Number of Shares

Beneficially Owned

Name Number Percentage
5% Shareholder
Shining Globe International Limited/William Ding (1)

c/o NetEase.com, Inc., 2/F, Tower B, Keeven International Research & Development Centre, No. 43 West

Road North Third Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, People’s Republic of China 100086 1,583,050,000 50.2%
Named Executive Officers and Directors (2)
Ted Sun (3) 28,700,000 *
Denny Lee 1,056,800 e
Michael Tong (4) 2,500,000 *
Donghua Ding — _
Ronald Lee — —
Michael Leung — _
Joseph Tong — —

All current directors and executive officers as a group (8 persons) (5) 1,615,306,800 51.2%

*

(€3]
@

3

()
)

Less than 1%

Shining Globe International Limited is 100% owned by William Ding, our founder, Chief Architect and a director.

The address of our current Named Executive Officers and directors is c/o NetEase.com, Inc., 2/F, Tower B, Keeven International Research & Development
Centre, No. 43 West Road North Third Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, People’s Republic of China 100086.

Includes 8,500,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2004. These options have the following features: (i) 6,000,000 of
the options have an exercise price of US$0.007 per ordinary share and an expiration date of July 6, 2005 and (ii) 2,500,000 of the options have an exercise
price of US$0.11 per ordinary share and an expiration date of March 4, 2008.

Represents shares subject to stock options exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2004, which have an exercise price of US$0.254 per ordinary share and an
expiration date of May 12, 2008.

Shares owned by all of our current directors and executive officers as a group includes shares beneficially owned by William Ding. This amount also
includes 11,000,000 shares subject to stock options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2004.

As of May 31, 2004, based on public filings with the SEC, there are no major shareholders holding 5% or more of our ordinary shares or ADSs

representing ordinary shares, except as described above.
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As of May 31, 2004, none of our ordinary shares were held by U.S. holders of record. On that date, a total of 16,286,562 ADSs were outstanding, of which
approximately 11,300 ADSs were held by 11 U.S. holders of record.

To our knowledge, except as disclosed above, we are not owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another corporation, by any foreign government or
by any other natural or legal person or persons, severally or jointly.

To our knowledge, there are no arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in us undergoing a change in control.
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Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions
A. Major Shareholders

Please refer to Item 6. “Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Share Ownership.”

B. Related Party Transactions

Our business was founded in June 1997. In July 1999, we established a new holding company, NetEase.com, Inc., in the Cayman Islands. In September
1999, we restructured our operations in order to comply with increasing regulation of the Internet industry in China. As part of this restructuring, substantially all
of Guangzhou NetEase’s fixed and intangible assets and existing Internet applications, services and technologies were acquired by NetEase Beijing, a wholly
owned subsidiary of NetEase formed in August 1999. Guangzhou NetEase, which is 90% owned by our founder, Chief Architect, majority shareholder and a
director, William Ding, has received approval from the Guangzhou telecommunications administrative authorities to provide Internet content services, and its
80% owned subsidiary, Guangyitong Advertising, holds a license to operate an advertising business.

NetEase and NetEase Beijing entered into a series of agreements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and the shareholders of Guangzhou
NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising under which we provide our Internet and e-commerce applications, services and technologies and advertising services to
Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising, and Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising operate the NetEase Web sites and our online
advertising business. We believe that the terms of each agreement are no less favorable than the terms that we could obtain from disinterested third parties.
Through our agreements, we have the exclusive right to benefit from this approval. In addition, we have secured significant rights over Guangyitong Advertising
and the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising and have obtained the commitment of the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising to allow it
to direct the policies and management of the ongoing activities of Guangyitong Advertising. We believe that the shareholders of Guangzhou NetEase and
Guangyitong Advertising will not receive material benefits from these agreements except as shareholders of NetEase. Because of the uncertain and changing legal
and regulatory environment in China, most of these agreements have terms of one year, which are renewable for additional successive one-year terms, except for
the Domain Names License Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou NetEase which has a term of five years, the Operating Agreement among NetEase
Beijing, Guangyitong Advertising and the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising which has a term of twenty years, and the Exclusive Consulting and
Services Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangyitong Advertising and the Online Advertising Agreement between Guangzhou NetEase and
Guangyitong Advertising, each of which has a term of ten years. In addition, the Voting Rights Trust Agreement among NetEase Beijing and William Ding and
Bo Ding (William Ding’s brother), as ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising has a term of ten years. These agreements are described below.

*  Domain Name License Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase granted Guangzhou NetEase the right to use the domain names
“netease.com,” “163.com,” “126.com,” “yeah.net” and “nease.net” on the NetEase Web sites in China for license fees of RMB10,000 per year.
NetEase may waive this fee in the future. By a Supplemental Agreement entered into between the parties in May 2000, the term of this agreement has
been extended from one year to five years.

*  Copyright License Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing granted Guangzhou NetEase the right to use
NetEase Beijing’s Web page layout in China for a royalty of RMB10,000 per year. NetEase Beijing may waive this fee in the future.
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*  Trademark License Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing granted Guangzhou NetEase a license to use
NetEase Beijing’s registered trademarks on the NetEase Web sites in China for license fees of RMB10,000 per year. NetEase Beijing may waive this
fee in the future.

*  Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing provides Guangzhou NetEase
with technical services for the operation of the NetEase Web sites, including:

. server maintenance;

. server application software development;

. Internet application software development;
. training; and

. e-commerce related services.

Guangzhou NetEase pays monthly service fees to NetEase Beijing based on the actual operating circumstances of the parties. NetEase Beijing may
unilaterally adjust such fees. NetEase Beijing is Guangzhou NetEase’s exclusive provider of these services.

NetEase Beijing has the right to transfer and sell its interests in this Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement or any other agreements between
it and Guangzhou NetEase.

*  Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangyitong Advertising. NetEase Beijing provides Guangyitong
Advertising with technical consulting and related services for all advertisements published on the NetEase Web sites. Guangyitong Advertising
submits designs of advertisements to be published on the NetEase Web sites, and NetEase Beijing completes the related technical work and delivers
the completed advertisements to Guangyitong Advertising. Guangyitong Advertising pays fees to NetEase Beijing based on the actual operating
circumstances of the parties, which consist of substantially all of Guangyitong Advertising’s advertising revenue, net of the related business tax and
cultural development fee. NetEase Beijing may unilaterally adjust such fees. NetEase Beijing will be Guangyitong Advertising’s exclusive provider of
these services. The initial term of this agreement is 10 years from February 3, 2000.

*  Exclusive Advertising Agency Agreement between NetEase and Guangzhou NetEase. Guangzhou NetEase appointed NetEase as its advertising agent
to solicit advertising customers on behalf of Guangzhou NetEase in markets outside of China. NetEase pays Guangzhou NetEase 10% of the total
advertising revenue under this agreement per month.

*  Online Advertising Agreement between Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising, as amended by a Supplemental Agreement entered into in
May 2000. Guangzhou NetEase sells all of the banner space on the NetEase Web sites to Guangyitong Advertising and publishes the advertisements
provided by Guangyitong Advertising on the banner space purchased by Guangyitong Advertising. Guangyitong Advertising pays Guangzhou
NetEase RMB10,000 per year. Guangzhou NetEase may waive this fee in the future. The initial term of this agreement is 10 years from February 3,
2000.
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»  Trademark Transfer Agreement between Guangzhou NetEase and NetEase Beijing. Guangzhou NetEase has agreed to transfer its registered
trademarks to NetEase Beijing.

*  Supplemental Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing may not grant the license to use its domain name,
copyright and trademark to any third party without Guangzhou NetEase’s consent and may not provide technical service to any third party.

*  Operating Agreement among NetEase Beijing, Guangyitong and the ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising. To ensure the successful
performance of the various agreements between the parties, Guangyitong Advertising and its ultimate shareholders have agreed that they will not enter
into any transaction, or fail to take any action, that would substantially affect the assets, liabilities, equity or operations of Guangyitong Advertising
without the prior written consent of NetEase Beijing.

The parties have agreed that upon NetEase Beijing’s determination and at any time when NetEase Beijing is able to obtain approval to invest in and
operate all or any part of Guangyitong Advertising, NetEase Beijing may acquire all or any part of the assets or equity interests of Guangyitong
Advertising, to the extent permitted by Chinese law. The consideration for such acquisitions will be based on the book value of Guangyitong
Advertising at the time of acquisition.

NetEase Beijing has agreed that it will provide performance guarantees and guarantee loans for working capital purposes to the extent required by
Guangyitong Advertising for its operations.

The ultimate shareholders of Guangyitong Advertising have agreed that upon instruction from NetEase Beijing, they will appoint or terminate
Guangyitong Advertising’s board members, General Manager, Chief Financial Officer and other senior officers.

NetEase Beijing has the right to transfer and sell its interests in the Operating Agreement or any other agreements between it and Guangyitong
Advertising. The term of this agreement is 20 years from February 3, 2000.

»  Shareholder Voting Rights Trust Agreement among William Ding, Bo Ding and NetEase Beijing. Bo Ding irrevocably appoints NetEase Beijing to
represent him to exercise all the voting rights to which he is entitled as a shareholder of Guangyitong Advertising and William Ding and Bo Ding
agree to cause Guangzhou NetEase to irrevocably appoint NetEase Beijing to represent Guangzhou NetEase to exercise all the voting rights to which
Guangzhou NetEase is entitled as a shareholder of Guangyitong Advertising. The term of this agreement is ten years from May 12, 2000.

*  Termination Agreements between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase terminated previously existing
contracts related to NetEase Beijing’s rights with respect to the operation of Guangzhou NetEase, the lease of equipment from NetEase Beijing to
Guangzhou NetEase and the sublease of leased lines from NetEase Beijing to Guangzhou NetEase. Under the Termination Agreements, NetEase
Beijing agrees to provide without charge to Guangzhou NetEase equipment related to the operation of Internet information services.
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Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase. NetEase Beijing agrees to pay the operating costs of Guangzhou NetEase.

Letter of Agreement. Each of William Ding and Bo Ding have agreed that any amendments to be made to the Exclusive Consulting and Services
Agreement, the Shareholder Voting Rights Trust Agreement, and the Operating Agreement described above, as well as all other agreements to which
Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and/or William Ding and Bo Ding are parties, shall be subject to the approval by the vote of a majority
of our board, excluding the vote of William Ding. Messrs. Ding have also agreed that, if any amendments to the above mentioned agreements require a
vote of the shareholders of NetEase, Guangzhou NetEase or Guangyitong Advertising, as applicable, both of them will vote in their capacity as direct
or indirect shareholders of these companies to act based upon the instructions of our board. This letter of agreement was supplemented on May 17,
2004 to extend to the Ling Yi agreements described below.

In October 2003, we also established a new affiliated entity in China, Ling Yi, and we entered into a series of agreements with that entity on May 17, 2004,
which are described below. Ling Yi has a license to provide Internet content, and it currently provides a small portion of our wireless value-added services, which
constitutes an insignificant amount of our total revenue from wireless value-added services. We believe that the terms of each agreement with Ling Yi are no less
favorable than the terms that we could obtain from disinterested third parties.

Domain Name License Agreement between NetEase and Ling Yi. Pursuant to this agreement, NetEase agreed to grant a non-exclusive license to Ling
Yi to use the domain names “netease.com,” “163.com,” “126.com,” “yeah.net” and “nease.net” on the NetEase Web sites in China for a license fee of
RMB10,000 per year, without the right to sub-license unless with the written consent of NetEase. This agreement has a term of five years, and will be
automatically renewed for additional one year terms unless NetEase notifies Ling Yi that there will be no extension.

Web Page Layout Copyright License Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Ling Yi. Pursuant to this agreement, NetEase Beijing agreed to grant a
non-exclusive license to Ling Yi to use certain copyrights relating to the Web pages of the NetEase Web sites in China for a license fee of RMB10,000
per year, without the right to sub-license unless with the written consent of NetEase Beijing. This agreement has a term of one year, and will be
automatically renewed for additional one year terms unless NetEase Beijing notifies Ling Yi that there will be no extension.

Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Ling Yi. Pursuant to this agreement, NetEase Beijing agreed to provide
Ling Yi with technical services for the operation of the NetEase Web sites, including:

. server maintenance;
. server application software development;
. Internet application software development;
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. training; and

. e-commerce related services.

Ling Yi has agreed to pay a monthly service fee to NetEase Beijing in accordance with a formula based on minimum average daily page views.
NetEase Beijing may unilaterally adjust such fees following a review of Ling Yi’s operations. NetEase Beijing is Ling Yi’s exclusive provider of these
services. This agreement has a term of ten years, and will be automatically renewed for additional one year terms unless NetEase Beijing notifies Ling
Yi that there will be no extension.

*  Trademark License Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Ling Yi. NetEase Beijing granted Ling Yi a non-exclusive license to use NetEase
Beijing’s registered trademarks on the NetEase Web sites in China for license fees of RMB10,000 per year. NetEase Beijing may waive this fee in the
future. This agreement has a term of one year, and will be automatically renewed for additional one year terms unless NetEase Beijing notifies Ling Yi
that there will be no extension.

«  Agreement between NetEase Beijing and Ling Yi. NetEase Beijing agrees to pay the operating costs of Ling Yi.

Share Transfers to Certain Senior Management Personnel and Key Employees. In 1999, Shining Globe International Limited, which is 100% owned by
William Ding, our founder, Chief Architect, majority shareholder and a director, agreed to transfer an aggregate of 109,694,200 ordinary shares to certain senior
management personnel and key employees. These share transfers were effected in January 2000. The share transfer commitments were made to provide
incentives to senior management personnel and key employees to join our company. The fair market value of these shares as of the date of such agreement
(RMB45.4 million or US$5.5 million) was charged to our earnings in 1999 as share compensation costs in accordance with U.S. GAAP, with a corresponding
increase in additional paid-in capital. Furthermore, in March 2000, January 2001, January 2002 and January 2003, William Ding transferred 1,945,200,
8,757,100, 4,609,000 and 4,609,000 shares, respectively, to certain employees. The total estimated fair value of these shares, valued at US$0.05 per share at the
date of grant, is recognized as deferred compensation, which are amortized over the related vesting periods.

Our major shareholders do not have different voting rights than any of our other shareholders.

Loans and Advances. We have entered into loan agreements with four related parties, the proceeds of which were used to purchase our ADSs, in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately US$777,000. The loans bear an interest rate of five percent and became due one year from the date of disbursement
of the loan proceeds. As of December 31, 2003, approximately US$691,000 of the outstanding principal amount had been repaid. Although we have attempted to
recover the remaining unpaid balance of these loans, we can provide no assurance that we will be able to recover such amount.

Transactions with BEENET. Mr. Ronald Lee, who was appointed to our board of directors on June 5, 2002, is the managing director and co-founder of
BEENET, an Internet consulting and solutions services provider. In 2000, 2001 and 2002, BEENET entered into a series of transactions with our company
whereby BEENET provided Internet consulting services for our main Web site and our corporate Web site and assisted in the design and production of a
television commercial for us, in exchange for an aggregate amount of approximately US$550,000. BEENET also placed advertisements on the NetEase Web sites
in 2001.
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C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.

Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

See Item 18. “Financial Statements” for our audited consolidated financial statements filed as part of this annual report.

A.7 Legal Proceedings
In January 2003, Guangzhou NetEase was named in a copyright infringement lawsuit in China, and the plaintiffs have claimed damages of US$1.0 million.
We intend to vigorously defend our position and believe the ultimate resolution of the matter will not have a material financial impact on our company.

In addition, as previously disclosed by us, the staff of the SEC has been conducting an investigation related to our restatement of our financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2000. We subsequently announced that we received a “Wells notice” from the SEC staff on March 15, 2004, which states that
the staff intends to recommend that the SEC bring a civil injunctive action against our company for alleged violations of the federal securities laws, which action
we believe will be in connection with the circumstances relating to the restatement. We cannot predict at this time whether the SEC will bring charges against our
company or, if it does, the scope of such charges, the likelihood of our successfully defending any such action or the penalties which may be imposed on us.

A.8 Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares, but it is possible that we may declare dividends in the future. We have
historically retained earnings to finance operations and the expansion of our business. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of
the board of directors and will be dependent upon our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements and such other factors as the board of directors
deems relevant.

B. Significant Changes

We have not experienced any significant changes since the date of our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing
Not applicable except for Item 9.A.4. and Item 9.C.

American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each representing 100 of our ordinary shares, have been listed on the Nasdaq National Market since June 30, 2000.
Our ADSs trade under the symbol “NTES.” Trading in our ADSs was suspended by the Nasdaq National Market from September 4, 2001 until January 2, 2002
during Nasdaq’s investigation into the circumstances which necessitated the restatement of our 2000 financial statements.
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The following table provides the high and low prices for our ADSs on the Nasdaq National Market for (1) each year since our initial public offering, (2)
each quarter in the two most recent financial years and the most recent quarter and (3) each of the most recent six months.

Sales Price

High Low
Annual highs and lows
2000 (June 30, 2000 through December 31, 2000) $17.25 $ 2.75
2001 (January 1, 2001 through September 4, 2001) $ 3.28 $ 0.52
2002 $13.74 $ 0.65
2003 $72.00 $10.10
Quarterly highs and lows
First Quarter 2002 $ 1.47 $ 0.65
Second Quarter 2002 $ 1.57 $ 0.67
Third Quarter 2002 $ 3.65 $ 1.40
Fourth Quarter 2002 $13.74 $ 1.80
First Quarter 2003 $17.90 $10.10
Second Quarter 2003 $37.35 $14.34
Third Quarter 2003 $69.20 $33.90
Fourth Quarter 2003 $72.00 $35.26
First Quarter 2004 $58.49 $37.13
Monthly highs and lows
December 2003 $47.88 $35.26
January 2004 $49.74 $37.13
February 2004 $53.72 $39.89
March 2004 $58.49 $44.27
April 2004 $57.17 $40.50
May 2004 $45.22 $35.72

Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.

B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

The following presents a description of the terms and provisions of our restated memorandum and articles of association. Our articles of association were
amended pursuant to a special resolution passed by more than two-thirds of our shareholders on June 5, 2003 to remove the provisions related to the composition,
duties and operations of the audit committee of our board of directors (articles numbered 114 to 117 (inclusive)). Our audit committee is now governed by a
board-approved charter which is not part of our articles of association. Our restated memorandum and articles of association and the above-referenced amendment
are incorporated by reference as noted in Item 19.
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General

We were incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 6, 1999 and operate under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2003 Revision), or the Companies
Law. Our corporate objectives and purpose are unrestricted.

Directors

A director may vote in respect of any contract or transaction in which he is interested provided however that the nature of the interest of any director in any
such contract or transaction shall be disclosed by him at or prior to its consideration and any vote on that matter. A general notice or disclosure to the directors or
otherwise contained in the minutes of a meeting or a written resolution of the directors or any committee thereof that a director is a shareholder of any specified
firm or company and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction with such firm or company shall be sufficient disclosure and after such general notice it
shall not be necessary to give special notice relating to any particular transaction.

The directors may determine remuneration to be paid to the directors. The directors may exercise all the powers of our company to borrow money and to
mortgage or charge its undertaking, property and uncalled capital or any part thereof, to issue debentures, debenture stock and other securities whenever money is
borrowed or as security for any of our debts, liabilities, or obligations or those of any third party.

There are no membership qualifications for directors. Further, there are no age limitations or retirement requirements and no share ownership qualifications
for directors unless so fixed by shareholders in a general meeting.

Rights, Preferences and Restrictions of Ordinary Shares

General. All of our outstanding ordinary shares are fully paid and nonassessable. Certificates representing the ordinary shares are issued in registered form.
Our shareholders who are nonresidents of the Cayman Islands may freely hold and vote their shares.

Dividends. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors.

Voting Rights. Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote on all matters upon which the ordinary shares are entitled to vote, including the election of
directors. Voting at any meeting of shareholders is by show of hands unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded by the Chairman or any other
shareholder present in person or by proxy. A quorum required for a meeting of shareholders consists of at least two shareholders present or by proxy.

Any ordinary resolution to be made by the shareholders requires the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes attaching to the ordinary shares cast
in a general meeting, while a special resolution requires the affirmative vote of no less than two-thirds of the votes cast attaching to the ordinary shares. A special
resolution is required for matters such as a change of name. Holders of the ordinary shares may by ordinary resolution, among other things, elect directors,
appoint auditors, and make changes in the amount of our authorized share capital.

Liquidation. On a return of capital on winding up or otherwise (other than on conversion, redemption or purchase of shares) assets available for distribution
among the holders of ordinary shares shall be distributed among the holders of the ordinary shares pro rata. If the assets available for distribution are insufficient
to repay all of the paid-up capital, the assets will be distributed so that the losses are borne by our shareholders proportionately.
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Calls on Shares and Forfeiture of Shares. Our board of directors may from time to time make calls upon shareholders for any amounts unpaid on their
shares in a notice served to such shareholders at least 14 days prior to the specified time and place of payment. The shares that have been called upon and remain
unpaid are subject to forfeiture.

Redemption of Shares. We may issue shares on the terms that they are, or at our option or at the option of the holders are, subject to redemption on such
terms and in such manner as we may determine by special resolution.

Variations of Rights of Shares

All or any of the special rights attached to any class of shares may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, be varied either with the consent in
writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a general meeting of the holders of the
shares of that class.

General Meetings of Shareholders

The directors may whenever they think fit, and they shall on the requisition of our shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, proceed to convene a general
meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene a general meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a general meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months after the expiration of such 21 days. Advanced notice of at least five days is required
for the convening of the annual general meeting and other shareholders meetings.

Limitations on the Right to Own Shares

There are no limitations on the right to own our shares.

Limitations on Transfer of Shares

There are no provisions in our restated memorandum or articles of association that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control and that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate restructuring.

Disclosure of Shareholder Ownership

There are no provisions in our restated memorandum or articles of association governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must
be disclosed.

Changes in Capital

We may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase the share capital by such sum, to be divided into shares of such amount, as the resolution shall

prescribe. The new shares shall be subject to
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the same provisions with reference to the payment of calls, lien, transfer, transmission, forfeiture and otherwise as the shares in the original share capital. We may
by ordinary resolution:

(@) consolidate and divide all or any of our share capital into shares of larger amount than our existing shares;

(b)  sub-divide our existing shares, or any of them into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by our restated memorandum of association, subject
nevertheless to the provisions of Section 12 of the Companies Law;

(c) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person.
We may by special resolution reduce our share capital and any capital redemption reserve fund in any manner authorized by law.

Differences in Corporate Law

The Companies Law is modeled after that of the United Kingdom but does not follow recent United Kingdom statutory enactments and differs from laws
applicable to United States corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of the significant differences between the provisions of the
Companies Law applicable to NetEase.com and the laws applicable to companies incorporated in the United States and their shareholders.

Mergers and Similar Arrangements. Cayman Islands law does not provide for mergers as that expression is understood under United States corporate law.
However, there are statutory provisions that facilitate the reconstruction and amalgamation of companies, provided that the arrangement in question is approved
by a majority in number of each class of shareholders and creditors with whom the arrangement is to be made, and who must in addition represent three-fourths in
value of each such class of shareholders or creditors, as the case may be, that are present and voting either in person or by proxy at a meeting, or meetings
convened for that purpose. The convening of the meetings and subsequently the arrangement must be sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands.
While a dissenting shareholder would have the right to express to the court the view that the transaction ought not to be approved, the court can be expected to
approve the arrangement if it satisfies itself that:

+ the statutory provisions as to majority vote have been complied with;

»  the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question;

+  the arrangement is such as a businessman would reasonably approve; and

+  the arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of the Companies Law.

When a take-over offer is made and accepted by holders of 90% of the shares within four months, the offeror may, within a two month period, require the

holders of the remaining shares to transfer such shares on the terms of the offer. An objection can be made to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands but this is
unlikely to succeed unless there is evidence of fraud, bad faith or collusion.
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If the arrangement and reconstruction is thus approved, the dissenting shareholder would have no rights comparable to appraisal rights, which would
otherwise ordinarily be available to dissenting shareholders of United States corporations, providing rights to receive payment in cash for the judicially
determined value of the shares.

Shareholders’ Suits. Our Cayman Islands counsel is not aware of any reported class action or derivative action having been brought in a Cayman Islands
court. In principle, we will normally be the proper plaintiff and a derivative action may not be brought by a minority shareholder. However, based on English
authorities, which would in all likelihood be of persuasive authority in the Cayman Islands, exceptions to the foregoing principle apply in circumstances in which:

e acompany is acting or proposing to act illegally or ultra vires;

»  the act complained of, although not ultra vires, could be effected only if authorized by more than a simple majority vote;

+  the individual rights of the plaintiff shareholder have been infringed or are about to be infringed; or

+  those who control the company are perpetrating a “fraud on the minority.”

Indemnification. Cayman Islands law does not (other than as set forth hereafter) limit the extent to which a company’s organizational documents may
provide for indemnification of officers and directors, except to the extent any such provision may be held by the Cayman Islands courts to be contrary to public

policy, such as to provide indemnification against civil fraud or the consequences of committing a crime. Our Articles of Association provide for indemnification
of officers and directors for losses, damages, costs and expenses incurred in their capacities as such, except through their own willful neglect or default.

Insofar as indemnification or liability arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is therefore unenforceable.

C. Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in Item 4. “Information on the
Company” or elsewhere in this Form 20-F.
D. Exchange Controls

China’s government imposes control over the convertibility of Renminbi into foreign currencies. Under the current unified floating exchange rate system,
the People’s Bank of China publishes a daily exchange rate for Renminbi, or the PBOC Exchange Rate, based on the previous day’s dealings in the inter-bank
foreign exchange market. Financial institutions authorized to deal in foreign currency may enter into foreign exchange transactions at exchange rates within an
authorized range above or below the PBOC Exchange Rate according to market conditions.

Pursuant to the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations issued by the State Council on January 29, 1996 and effective as of April 1, 1996 (and amended on
January 14, 1997) and the Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations which came into effect on July 1, 1996
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regarding foreign exchange control, or the Regulations, conversion of Renminbi into foreign exchange by foreign investment enterprises for current account
items, including the distribution of dividends and profits to foreign investors of joint ventures, is permissible. Foreign investment enterprises are permitted to
remit foreign exchange from their foreign exchange bank account in China on the basis of, inter alia, the terms of the relevant joint venture contracts and the
board resolutions declaring the distribution of the dividend and payment of profits. Conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies and remittance of foreign
currencies for capital account items, including direct investment, loans, security investment, is still subject to the approval of the State Administration of Foreign
Exchange, or SAFE, in each such transaction. On January 14, 1997, the State Council amended the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations to provide, among
other things, that the State shall not impose restrictions on recurring international payments and transfers.

Under the Regulations, foreign investment enterprises are required to open and maintain separate foreign exchange accounts for capital account items (but
not for other items). In addition, foreign investment enterprises may only buy, sell and/or remit foreign currencies at those banks authorized to conduct foreign
exchange business upon the production of valid commercial documents and, in the case of capital account item transactions, document approval from SAFE.

Currently, foreign investment enterprises are required to apply to SAFE for “foreign exchange registration certificates for foreign investment enterprises.”
With such foreign exchange registration certificates (which are granted to foreign investment enterprises upon fulfilling specified conditions and which are
subject to review and renewal by SAFE on an annual basis) or with the foreign exchange sales notices from the SAFE (which are obtained on a transaction-by-
transaction basis), foreign-invested enterprises may enter into foreign exchange transactions at banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business to obtain
foreign exchange for their needs.

E. Taxation

The following summary of the material Cayman Islands and United States federal income tax consequences relevant to the purchase, ownership or sale of
our ADSs is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date of this annual report, all of which are subject to change. To the extent that
the discussion relates to matters of Cayman Islands tax law, it represents the opinion of Maples and Calder Asia, special Cayman Islands counsel to us. To the
extent the discussion relates to matters of United States law or legal conclusions and subject to the qualifications herein, it represents the opinion of Morrison &
Foerster LLP, our special U.S. counsel.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation and there is no taxation in
the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes likely to be material to us levied by the Government of the Cayman Islands except for stamp
duties which may be applicable on instruments executed in, or after execution brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands is not
party to any double tax treaties. There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

United States Federal Income Taxation

The following discussion is a summary of the material United States federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to the purchase, ownership or
sale of our shares or ADSs (collectively referred to in this section as the “shares”). This discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or
the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations (including proposed regulations and temporary
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regulations) promulgated under the Code and published administrative rulings and pronouncements and judicial decisions, all as of the date hereof. This
discussion does not provide a complete analysis of all potential tax consequences. We cannot assure you that future legislation, administrative rulings or court
decisions will not modify the conclusions set forth in this summary, possibly with retroactive effect. In addition, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service might interpret
the existing authorities differently.

This description is general in nature and does not discuss all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular investor in light of
the investor’s particular circumstances, or to certain types of investors subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws (such as banks or financial
institutions, life insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, traders in securities that elect to apply a mark-to-
market method of accounting, persons holding shares as part of a position in a “straddle” or as part of a “hedging,” “conversion” or “integrated” transaction for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, persons subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code, and persons that have a “functional currency” other than
the U.S. dollar). This description applies to purchasers who hold our shares as capital assets. This description does not consider the effect of any foreign, state,
local or other tax laws that may be applicable to particular investors.

Beneficial owners of shares should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to their particular
situations and the consequences of U.S. federal estate or gift tax laws, foreign, state, or local laws, and tax treaties.

U.S. Holders

As used in this annual report, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of shares that is (i) a citizen or resident of the U.S. or someone treated as a
U.S. citizen or resident for U.S. federal income tax purposes; (ii) a corporation or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes
organized in or under the laws of the U.S. or any political subdivision thereof; (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation
regardless of its source; or (iv) a trust, if such trust validly elects to be treated as a U.S. person for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or if (a) a court within the
U.S. can exercise primary supervision over its administration and (b) one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all of the substantial decisions of
such trust.

If a partnership (including for this purpose any entity treated as a partnership for U.S. tax purposes) is a beneficial owner of shares, the U.S. tax treatment
of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A holder of the shares that is a partnership
and partners in such partnership should consult their individual tax advisors about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of our
shares.

If you are not a U.S. Holder, this subsection does not apply to you and you should refer to “Non-U.S. Holders” below.
The Cayman Islands, where we are incorporated, is not a party to any double tax treaty with the United States.

Taxation of Dividends and Other Distributions on the Shares

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, all distributions to a U.S. Holder with respect to the shares, other than certain pro
rata distributions of our shares, will be includible in a U.S. Holder’s gross income as ordinary dividend income when received, but only to the extent that the
distribution is paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits. For this purpose, earnings and profits will be computed under U.S. federal income tax
principles. The dividends will not be
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eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to corporations. To the extent that the amount of the distribution exceeds our current and accumulated
earnings and profits, it will be treated first as a tax-free return of your tax basis in the shares, and to the extent the amount of the distribution exceeds the U.S.
Holder’s tax basis, the excess will be taxed as capital gain.

Dividends paid in Renminbi will be included in your income as a U.S. dollar amount based on the exchange rate in effect on the date that the U.S. Holder
receives the dividend, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars. If the U.S. Holder does not receive U.S. dollars on the date the
dividend is distributed, the U.S. Holder will be required to include either gain or loss in income when the U.S. Holder later exchanges the Renminbi for U.S.
dollars. The gain or loss will be equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the amount that the U.S. Holder includes in income when the dividend is
received and the amount that the U.S. Holder receives on the exchange of the Renminbi for U.S. dollars. The gain or loss generally will be ordinary income or
loss from United States sources. If we distribute as a dividend non-cash property, the U.S. Holder will include in income an amount equal to the U.S. dollar
equivalent of the fair market value of the property on the date that it is distributed.

Dividends will constitute foreign source income for foreign tax credit limitation purposes. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for credit is calculated
separately with respect to specific classes of income. For this purpose, dividends distributed by us with respect to the shares will be “passive income” or, in the
case of certain U.S. Holders, “financial services income.” In particular circumstances, a U.S. Holder that (i) has held the shares for less than a specified minimum
period during which it is not protected from risk of loss, (ii) is obligated to make payments related to the dividends, or (iii) holds the shares in arrangements in
which the U.S. Holder’s expected economic profit, after non-U.S. taxes, is insubstantial will not be allowed a foreign tax credit for foreign taxes imposed on
dividends paid on the shares.

Distributions to a U.S. Holder of shares or rights to subscribe for shares that are received as part of a pro rata distribution to all our shareholders should not
be subject to U.S. federal income tax. The basis of the new shares or rights so received will be determined by allocating the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the shares
between the shares and the new shares or rights received, based on their relative fair market values on the date of distribution. However, the basis of the new
shares or rights will be zero if (i) the fair market value of the new shares or rights is less than 15% of the fair market value of the old shares at the time of
distribution and (ii) the U.S. Holder does not make an election to determine the basis of the new shares by allocation as described above. The U.S. Holder’s
holding period in the new shares or rights will include the holding period of the old shares on which the distribution was made.

Taxation of Disposition of Shares

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, a U.S. Holder will recognize taxable gain or loss on any sale or exchange of our
shares equal to the difference between the amount realized (in U.S. dollars) for the shares and the U.S. Holder’s tax basis (in U.S. dollars) in the shares. The gain
or loss will be capital gain or loss. Any gain or loss that you recognize will generally be treated as United States source income or loss, except that losses will be
treated as foreign source losses to the extent you received dividends that were includible in the financial services income basket during the 24-month period prior
to the sale.

Passive Foreign Investment Company

We believe we were a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes for the taxable years ended on December 31, 2000, 2001
and 2002, and we cannot be certain whether we will be treated as a passive foreign investment company for the taxable year ending on December 31, 2003.
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If we are a passive foreign investment company in 2003, or in any subsequent year in which a U.S. Holder holds the shares, the U.S. Holder will be subject to
increased U.S. tax liabilities and reporting requirements on receipt of certain dividends or on a disposition at a gain of shares, although a shareholder election to
terminate such deemed passive foreign investment company status may be made in certain circumstances. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors
regarding our status as a passive foreign investment company, the consequences of an investment in a passive foreign investment company, and the consequences
of making a shareholder election to terminate deemed passive foreign investment company status if we no longer meet the income or asset test for passive foreign
investment company status in a subsequent taxable year.

A company is considered a passive foreign investment company for any taxable year if either
» atleast 75% of its gross income is passive income, or

« atleast 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets during a taxable year) is attributable to assets that
produce or are held for the production of passive income.

We will be treated as owning our proportionate share of the assets and earning our proportionate share of the income of any other corporation in which we
own, directly or indirectly, more than 25% (by value) of the stock of such corporation.

The determination that we were a passive foreign investment company for the 2000, 2001 and 2002 taxable years was based on our valuations of our assets,
including goodwill. In calculating goodwill, we have valued our total assets based on our total market value determined using the average of the quarterly selling
prices of the shares for the relevant year and have made a number of assumptions regarding the amount of this value allocable to goodwill. We believe our
valuation approach is reasonable. However, it is possible that the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, will challenge the valuation of our goodwill, which may result
in it becoming even more likely that we would be classified as a passive foreign investment company for the 2003 taxable year as well as for subsequent years. In
addition, if our actual acquisitions and capital expenditures do not match our projections, the likelihood that we are or will be classified as a passive foreign
investment company may also increase. Valuation of our assets at fair market value is permitted by the Code so long as we are not a “controlled foreign
corporation” under the Code. As approximately 50% of our ordinary shares is owned, indirectly, by William Ding, our ability to value our assets at fair market
value could be adversely affected if William Ding were a U.S. citizen or resident. William Ding has advised us that he is not a U.S. citizen or resident and that he
has no present intention of becoming a U.S. citizen or resident.

A separate determination must be made each year as to whether we are a passive foreign investment company. As a result, our passive foreign investment
company status may change.

If we are a passive foreign investment company for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder holds shares, the U.S. Holder will be subject to special tax
rules with respect to (i) any “excess distribution” that the U.S. Holder receives on shares and (ii) any gain the U.S. Holder realizes from a sale or other disposition
(including a pledge) of the shares, unless the U.S. Holder makes a “mark-to-market” election as discussed below. Distributions the U.S. Holder receives in a
taxable year that are greater than 125% of the average annual distributions the U.S. Holder received during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or the
U.S. Holder’s holding period for the shares will be treated as an excess distribution. Under these special tax rules:

+  the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the shares,
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+  the amount allocated to the current taxable year, and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in which we were a passive foreign investment
company, will be treated as ordinary income, and

»  the amount allocated to each other year will be subject to tax at the highest tax rate in effect for that year and the interest charge generally applicable to
underpayments of tax will be imposed on the resulting tax attributable to each such year.

The tax liability for amounts allocated to years prior to the year of disposition or “excess distribution” cannot be offset by any net operating losses, and
gains (but not losses) realized on the sale of the shares cannot be treated as capital, even if the U.S. Holder holds the shares as capital assets.

A U.S. shareholder of a passive foreign investment company may avoid taxation under the excess distribution rules discussed above by making a “qualified
electing fund” election to include the U.S. Holder’s share of our income on a current basis. However, a U.S. Holder may make a qualified electing fund election
only if the passive foreign investment company agrees to furnish the shareholder annually with certain tax information, and we do not presently intend to prepare
or provide such information.

Alternatively, a U.S. Holder of “marketable stock” in a passive foreign investment company may make a mark-to-market election for stock of a passive
foreign investment company to elect out of the excess distribution rules discussed above. If a U.S. Holder makes a mark-to-market election for the shares, the
U.S. Holder will include in income each year an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares as of the close of its taxable year over
the U.S. Holder’s adjusted basis in such shares. A U.S. Holder is allowed a deduction for the excess, if any, of the adjusted basis of the shares over their fair
market value as of the close of the taxable year only to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains on the shares included in the U.S. Holder’s income for prior
taxable years. Amounts included in a U.S. Holder’s income under a mark-to-market election, as well as gain on the actual sale or other disposition of the shares,
are treated as ordinary income. Ordinary loss treatment also applies to the deductible portion of any mark-to-market loss on the shares, as well as to any loss
realized on the actual sale or disposition of the shares, to the extent that the amount of such loss does not exceed the net mark-to-market gains previously included
for such shares. A U.S. Holder’s basis in the shares will be adjusted to reflect any such income or loss amounts. The tax rules that apply to distributions by
corporations which are not passive foreign investment companies would apply to distributions by us.

The mark-to-market election is available only for stock which is regularly traded on a national securities exchange that is registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or on Nasdaqg, or an exchange or market that the U.S. Secretary of the Treasury determines has rules sufficient to ensure that the market
price represents a legitimate and sound fair market value. The mark-to-market election would be available to a U.S. Holder unless our shares are delisted from
The Nasdaq National Market and do not subsequently become regularly traded on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market or other qualified exchange or market.

A U.S. Holder who holds shares in any year in which we are a passive foreign investment company would be required to file IRS Form 8621 regarding
distributions received on the shares and any gain realized on the disposition of the shares.
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Non-U.S. Holders

A Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on dividends paid by us unless the income is effectively connected with the Non-U.S.
Holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

A Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on any gain attributable to a sale or other disposition of the shares unless such gain is
effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business within the United States or the Non-U.S. Holder is a natural person who is
present in the United States for 183 days or more and certain other conditions exist. Dividends and gains that are effectively connected with a Non-U.S. Holder’s
conduct of a trade or business in the United States will be subject to tax in the same manner as they would be if the Non-U.S. Holder were a U.S. Holder, except
that the passive foreign investment company rules will not apply. Effectively connected dividends and gains received by a corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also be
subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or a lower tax treaty rate.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to dividends in respect of the shares or the proceeds received on the sale, exchange or redemption
of shares paid within the United States (and, in certain cases, outside the United States) to U.S. Holders other than certain exempt recipients, such as corporations,
and backup withholding tax may apply to such amounts if the U.S. Holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or to report interest and
dividends required to be shown on its U.S. federal income tax returns. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as
credit against the U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided that the appropriate returns are filed.

A Non-U.S. Holder generally may eliminate the requirement for information reporting and backup withholding by providing certification of its foreign
status to the payor, under penalties of perjury, on IRS Form W-8BEN.
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Enforcement of Civil Liabilities
We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands because of the following benefits found there:
+  political and economic stability;
+ an effective judicial system;
* afavorable tax system;
+  the absence of exchange control or currency restrictions; and

»  the availability of professional and support services.

However, certain disadvantages accompany incorporation in the Cayman Islands. These disadvantages include:

(1) the Cayman Islands has a less developed body of securities laws as compared to the United States and provides significantly less protection to
investors; and

(2) Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to sue before the federal courts of the United States.

Our constituent documents do not contain provisions requiring that disputes, including those arising under the securities laws of the United States, between
us, our officers, directors and shareholders be arbitrated.

A substantial portion of our current operations is conducted in China through our wholly-owned subsidiaries which are incorporated in China or the British
Virgin Islands. All or most of our assets are located in China. We have appointed CT Corporation System, 111 Eighth Avenue, New York, NY 10011, as our agent
upon whom process may be served in any action brought against us under the securities laws of the United States. A majority of our directors and officers are
nationals or residents of jurisdictions other than the United States and a substantial portion of their assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may
be difficult for a shareholder to effect service of process within the United States upon these persons, or to enforce against us or them judgments obtained in
United States courts, including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state in the United States.

Maples and Calder Asia, our counsel as to Cayman Islands law, and Commerce & Finance Law Office, our counsel as to Chinese law, have advised us that
there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of the Cayman Islands or China would:

(1) recognize or enforce judgments of United States courts obtained against us or our directors or officers predicated upon the civil liability
provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state in the United States; or

(2) entertain original actions brought in the Cayman Islands or China against us or our directors or officers predicated upon the securities laws of the
United States or any state in the United States.

Maples and Calder Asia has further advised us that a final and conclusive judgment in the federal or state courts of the United States under which a sum of
money is payable, other than a sum payable in respect of taxes, fines, penalties or similar charges, may be subject to enforcement proceedings as a debt in the
courts of the Cayman Islands under the common law doctrine of obligation.
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Commerce & Finance Law Office has advised us further that the recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments are provided for under Chinese Civil
Procedures Law. Chinese courts may recognize and enforce foreign judgments in accordance with the requirements of Chinese Civil Procedures Law based either
on treaties between China and the country where the judgment is made or on reciprocity between jurisdictions.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We have previously filed with the Commission our registration statement on Form F-1 and prospectus under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, with
respect to our ADSs.

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act.
Under the Exchange Act, we are required to file reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Specifically, we are required to file
annually a Form 20-F no later than six months after the close of each fiscal year, which is December 31. Copies of reports and other information, when so filed,
may be inspected without charge and may be obtained at prescribed rates at the public reference facilities maintained by the Securities and Exchange Commission
at Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of these documents upon payment of a duplicating fee,
by writing to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference rooms. The SEC also maintains a
Web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the
SEC using its EDGAR system. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of
quarterly reports and proxy statements, and officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions
contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We will furnish our shareholders with annual reports, which will include a review of operations and annual audited consolidated financial statements
prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

I. Subsidiary Information

Not applicable.
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Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Please refer to Item 5. “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
Not Applicable.

PART II

Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies
Not Applicable.

Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds
Use of Proceeds

The following “Use of Proceeds” information relates to the registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-11724) (the “Registration Statement”) for our
initial public offering of 4,500,000 American Depositary Shares, each representing 100 of our ordinary shares, for an aggregate offering price of US$69.75
million. Our Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC on June 29, 2000.

We received net proceeds of approximately US$64.9 million from our initial public offering (taking into account underwriting discounts of US$4.88
million, but not taking into account transaction expenses of approximately US$2.7 million). None of the transaction expenses included payments to directors or
officers of our company or their associates, persons owning 10% or more of our equity securities or our affiliates.

From the effective date of the Registration Statement to July 6, 2000, we did not use any of the proceeds from our initial public offering. Net proceeds from
the offering have been invested in highly liquid money market instruments, short-term time deposits and similar instruments. Since July 6, 2000, we have used the
net proceeds from our initial public offering to satisfy past indebtedness and reduce our accounts payable and to fund expenses primarily for marketing, employee
compensation, and capital expenditures. None of the net proceeds from the initial public offering were paid, directly or indirectly, to any of our directors or
officers of our company or their associates, persons owning 10% or more of our equity securities or our affiliates.

Merrill Lynch Far East Limited, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Chase Securities Inc., Salomon Smith
Barney Inc., and UBS Warburg LLC were the underwriters for our initial public offering.

Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Michael Tong, our Executive Director, and Denny Lee, our Chief Financial Officer, have
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performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as that term is defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), within 90 days of the date of this report and each has concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time period specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and regulations. Our Acting Chief Executive Officer, Ted Sun, is
currently on temporary medical leave of absence.

Changes in Internal Controls

No significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of the evaluation,
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses, were made as a result of the evaluation.
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Joseph Tong qualifies as an Audit Committee Financial Expert as defined by the applicable rules of the
SEC.
Item 16B. Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct which applies to our employees, officers and non-employee directors, including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and persons performing similar functions. This code is intended to qualify as a “code
of ethics” within the meaning of the applicable rules of the SEC, and is attached to this annual report as an exhibit.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Disclosure of Fees Charged by Independent Accountants

The following table summarizes the fees charged by Arthur Andersen - Hua Qiang (our independent accountants until June 2002) and
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Limited Company (our independent accountants from June 2002 until the present time) for certain services rendered to our
company during 2002 and 2003.

For the year ended
December 31,

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

2002(1) 2003(1)
Audit fees (2) $ 368 $ 280
Audit-related fees (3) — 290
Tax fees (4) 37 66
Total $ 405 $ 636

(1) The fees disclosed are exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses and taxes on the amounts paid, which totaled US$24,000 in 2002 and US$42,000 in 2003.
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(2) “Audit fees” means the aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years listed for professional services rendered by our principal auditors for the audit of our
annual financial statements.

(3) “Audit-related fees” means the aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years listed for assurance and related services rendered by our principal auditors
for the verification of our financial information in relation to one of our fee-based services and the issuance of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated
Notes, due July 15, 2023, in 2003.

(4) “Tax fees” means the aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years listed for professional services rendered by our principal auditors for tax compliance
and tax advice.

Audit Committee Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee has adopted procedures which set forth the manner in which the committee will review and approve all audit and non-audit services to
be provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Limited Company before that firm is retained for such services. The pre-approval procedures are as follows:

*  Any audit or non-audit service to be provided to us by the independent accountant must be submitted to the audit committee for review and approval,
with a description of the services to be performed and the fees to be charged.

*  The audit committee in its sole discretion then approves or disapproves the proposed services and documents such approval, if given, through the
execution of an engagement letter for the services by a member of the committee.

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

We have not been granted an exemption from the applicable listing standards for the audit committee of our board of directors.

Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.
PART III

Item 17. Financial Statements

The Company has elected to provide financial statements pursuant to Item 18.

Item 18. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements for NetEase.com, Inc. and its subsidiaries are included at the end of this annual report.
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Item 19. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

Document

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.1

2.2

3.1

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association of NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from Amendment No. 1 to
the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Amended and Restated Articles of Association of NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 from Amendment No. 1 to the
company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Association of NetEase.com, Inc. dated as of June 5, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 from the company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 27, 2003)

Specimen American Depositary Receipt of NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Specimen Stock Certificate of NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration
Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Shareholder Voting Rights Trust Agreement dated May 12, 2000 among William Lei Ding, Bo Ding and NetEase Information Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1
(file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

1999 Stock Incentive Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from the company’s Registration
Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement (including standard and non-standard form)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from the company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2001)

Employment Agreement dated August 13, 1999 between NetEase.com, Inc. and William Lei Ding (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27,
2000)

Addendum to Employment Agreement between NetEase.com, Inc. and William Ding dated May 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4
from the company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 27, 2003)

Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between NetEase.com, Inc. and Denny Lee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 from the
company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 27,
2003)
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4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

Employment Agreement dated September 11, 2001 between NetEase.com, Inc. and Ted Sun (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 from the
company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2001 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2002)

Employment Agreement dated June 25, 2003 between NetEase.com, Inc. and Michael Tong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 from the
company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 27, 2003)

Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 1, 1999 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and NetEase Information Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Supplemental Agreement to Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of September 24, 1999 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form
F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Domain Name License Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between NetEase.com, Inc. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Copyright License Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Trademark License Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Supplemental Agreement (to Copyright License Agreement, Domain Name License Agreement and Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement)
dated April 27, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Exclusive Technical Services Master Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou
NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no.
333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Notice of Renewal dated April 2, 2001 relating to the Copyright License Agreement, the Trademark License Agreement and the Exclusive Technical
Services Master Agreement, each dated February 3, 2000 and made between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing)
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4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 from the company’s Annual Report on Form
20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2001)

Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Beijing
Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-
11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Notice of Renewal dated April 2, 2001 relating to the Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement dated February 3, 2000 and made between
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 from
the company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31,
2001)

Exclusive Advertising Agency Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and NetEase.com, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Notice of Renewal dated April 2, 2001 relating to the Exclusive Advertising Agency Agreement dated February 3, 2000 between Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd. and NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 from the company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for
the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2001)

Trademark Transfer Agreement dated March 29, 2000 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and NetEase Information Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no.
333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Online Advertising Agreement dated February 15, 2000 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and Beijing Guangyitong
Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2000)

Notice of Renewal dated April 2, 2001 relating to the Online Advertising Agreement dated February 15, 2000 and made between Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd. and Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.21 from the company’s Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2001)

Tenancy Agreement dated October 31, 2002 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Beijing Oriental Plaza Co., Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.24 from the company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 27, 2003)

Supplemental Agreement dated May 10, 2000 (amending the Domain Name License Agreement) between NetEase.com, Inc. and Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1
(file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

113



Table of Contents

4.25

4.26

4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

4.31

4.32

4.33

Agreement dated May 11, 2000 between NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Operating Agreement dated May 10, 2000 among NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd.,
Bo Ding and William Lei Ding (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form
F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Supplemental Agreement dated May 12, 2000 (supplementing the Online Advertising Agreement dated February 15, 2000) between Guangzhou
NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 from Amendment No.
1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Supplemental Agreement dated May 15, 2000 (supplementing the Domain Name License Agreement dated February 3, 2000) between NetEase.com,
Inc. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 from Amendment No. 1 to the company’s
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2000)

Letter of Agreement, dated June 6, 2000, among William Lei Ding, Bo Ding and NetEase.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 from
Amendment No. 2 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 15, 2000)

Supplemental Agreement dated June 15, 2000 (supplementing the Online Advertising Agreement dated February 15, 2000), between Beijing
Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 from Amendment
No. 2 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15,
2000)

Supplemental Agreement dated June 15, 2000 (supplementing the Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement dated February 3, 2000), between
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Beijing Guangyitong Advertising Co., Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 from
Amendment No. 2 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-11724) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 15, 2000)

Trademark Assignment Agreement dated August 17, 2001 between Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. and NetEase Information
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd and its Supplemental Agreement dated August 27, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.53 from the company’s
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2001)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2003, between NetEase.com, Inc. and Credit Suisse First Boston LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-3 (file no. 333-109628) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 10, 2003)
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4.34

4.35

8.1
10.1
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10.3

10.4
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12.1
12.2
13.1
13.2
15.1
23.1
23.2
23.3

Indenture, dated as of July 14, 2003, by and between NetEase.com, Inc. and The Bank of New York (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 from the
company’s Registration Statement on Form F-3 (file no. 333-109628) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 10, 2003)

Lease Contract dated November 25, 2003 between Beijing Qingyun International Research and Development Center (with supplemental agreement
dated November 25, 2003)

Subsidiaries of NetEase.com, Inc.

Translation of Monternet SMS Cooperation Agreement effective as of May 1, 2003 between Beijing China Mobile Communications Company
Limited and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.

Translation of Cooperation Agreement dated April 22, 2003 between China Unicom Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.

Translation of Supplemental Agreement on Mobile Data Service dated as of July 29, 2003 between China Unicom Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou NetEase
Computer System Co., Ltd.

Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2003, between NetEase.com, Inc. and Credit Suisse First Boston LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 from the company’s Registration Statement on Form F-3 (file no. 333-109628) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October
10, 2003)

Code of Business Conduct

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
Charter of Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Registrant

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Limited Company, Independent Public Accountants

Consent of Maples and Calder Asia

Consent of Commerce & Finance Law Office
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to
sign this annual report on its behalf.

NETEASE.COM, INC.

By: /s/ Denny Lee

Denny Lee
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: June 28, 2004
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Reports of Independent Public Accountants
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of NetEase.com, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, of shareholders’
equity and of cash flows expressed in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of NetEase.com, Inc. as of
December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of NetEase.com, Inc.’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), which require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. The financial statements of NetEase.com, Inc.
for the year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other independent accountants who have ceased operations. Those independent accountants expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated April 2, 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Limited Company

Beijing, People’s Republic of China
June 2, 2004
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The following report is a copy of a report previously issued by Arthur Andersen * Hua Qiang and has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen * Hua
Qiang
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of NetEase.com, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NetEase.com, Inc. (a Cayman Islands corporation) as of December 31, 2000 and 2001* and the
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000* and
2001 expressed in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). These financial statements are the responsibility of NetEase.com, Inc.’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of NetEase.com, Inc. as of
December 31, 2000 and 2001* and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000* and 2001 in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Company and certain of its current
and former officers and directors are defendants of four substantially identical purported class action complaints alleging violations of the federal securities laws
and committing securities fraud in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. At the present time, the Company cannot estimate what
damages, if any, may be payable in connection with this litigation. The ultimate resolution of this matter may have a material adverse impact on the results of
operations in the period in which it is resolved.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN « HUA QIANG
Beijing, People’s Republic of China
April 2, 2002

* The Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’
equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000 are not included in this report as they are not required.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Note

Assets

Current assets:
Cash
Restricted cash 4
Held-to-maturity investments 5
Prepayments and other current assets 6
Due from related parties, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

RMB8,703,307 and RMB10,157,789 (US$1,227,275) at December 31,
2002 and 2003, respectively 7,8
Deferred tax assets 11
Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Rental deposit
Property, equipment and software, net 9
Deferred tax assets 11
Deferred assets 2(0)

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities & Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Salary and welfare payable 10
Taxes payable 12
Deferred revenue
Accrued liabilities 13
Due to a related party, net 7

Total current liabilities

Long-term payable:
Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes due July 15, 2023 14
Other long-term payable

Total long-term payable
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies 19
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares, US$0.0001 par value: 1,000,300,000,000 shares
authorized, 3,100,162,537 shares issued and outstanding as of December
31, 2002, and 3,128,958,189 shares issued and outstanding as of

December 31, 2003 16
Additional paid-in capital 16
Less: Subscriptions receivable 15
Statutory reserves 2(n)
Deferred compensation 17

Translation adjustments
Accumulated deficit

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2002

December 31,
2003

December 31,
2003

RMB RMB Us$
560,069,711 1,356,069,544 163,841,814
1,208,305 — —
— 332,093,546 40,123,908
6,110,689 19,749,369 2,386,140
22,448,509 15,182,589 1,834,377
— 9,669,543 1,168,284
589,837,214 1,732,764,591 209,354,523
1,065,912 1,430,544 172,840
26,379,182 40,410,264 4,882,413
2,395,888 — —
— 12,086,693 1,460,328
29,840,982 53,927,501 6,515,581
619,678,196 1,786,692,092 215,870,104
3,814,614 10,738,090 1,297,388
16,023,380 17,405,624 2,102,967
8,252,950 15,976,342 1,930,279
165,115 — —
10,398,385 11,698,761 1,413,457
— 21,947,411 2,651,710
38,654,444 77,766,228 9,395,801
— 827,670,000 100,000,000
_ 231,449 27,964
— 827,901,449 100,027,964
38,654,444 905,667,677 109,423,765
2,566,543 2,589,756 312,897
1,049,651,354 993,254,740 120,006,130
(33,113,848) — —
— 33,699,834 4,071,651
(474,739) (69,175) (8,358)
228,910 210,838 25,474
(437,834,468) (148,661,578) (17,961,455)
581,023,752 881,024,415 106,446,339
619,678,196 1,786,692,092 215,870,104
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the year ended December 31,

Note 2001 2002 2003 2003
RMB RMB RMB US$
Revenues:
Online game services — 37,053,414 203,246,114 24,556,419
Wireless value-added and other fee-based
premium services 20 14,136,369 161,305,678 279,659,170 33,788,729
Advertising services 14,163,952 34,209,376 86,183,733 10,412,813
28,300,321 232,568,468 569,089,017 68,757,961
Business tax 11(b) (2,274,784) (11,627,216) (26,954,502) (3,256,673)
Net revenues 20 26,025,537 220,941,252 542,134,515 65,501,288
Cost of revenues 20 (60,058,488) (71,677,574) (85,462,717) (10,325,699)
Gross profit (Loss on revenues) (34,032,951) 149,263,678 456,671,798 55,175,589
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses (181,765,047) (94,307,613) (110,770,403) (13,383,402)
Research and development expenses (13,322,789) (14,184,724) (19,120,827) (2,310,199)
Asset impairment loss (2,766,543) (746,857) — —
Class action settlement 19(c) — (36,005,385) — —
Total operating expenses (197,854,379) (145,244,579) (129,891,230) (15,693,601)
Operating profit (loss) (231,887,330) 4,019,099 326,780,568 39,481,988
Other income (expenses):
Investments impairment loss 2(h) (8,924,381) — — —
Investment income — — 538,278 65,035
Interest income 17,571,187 7,562,322 11,273,685 1,362,099
Interest expenses (9,882,874) (1,401,041) — —
Other, net (40,516) 3,725,370 5,410,171 653,663
Profit (Loss) before tax (233,163,914) 13,905,750 344,002,702 41,562,785
Income tax benefit (expense) 11 — 2,395,888 (21,129,978) (2,552,947)
Net profit (loss) (233,163,914) 16,301,638 322,872,724 39,009,838
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Currency translation adjustments 565,913 11,583 (18,072) (2,183)
Comprehensive income (loss) (232,598,001) 16,313,221 322,854,652 39,007,655
Net earnings (loss) per share, basic 18 (0.08) 0.01 0.10 0.01
Net earnings (loss) per ADS, basic (7.74) 0.53 10.34 1.25
Net earnings (loss) per share, diluted 18 (0.08) 0.01 0.10 0.01
Net earnings (loss) per ADS, diluted (7.74) 0.52 9.78 1.18

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding, basic 18 3,013,419,400 3,051,395,100 3,122,257,952 3,122,257,952
Weighted average number of ADS outstanding, basic 30,134,194 30,513,951 31,222,580 31,222,580
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding, diluted 18 3,013,419,400 3,127,837,900 3,301,311,499 3,301,311,499
Weighted average number of ADS outstanding, diluted 30,134,194 31,278,379 33,013,115 33,013,115
Share compensation cost included in:
Cost of revenues 16,17 — (1,908,125) — —
Selling, general and administrative expenses (204,423) (1,522,369) (151,166) (18,264)
Research and development expenses (2,153,335) (376,364) (88,236) (10,661)
(2,357,758) (3,806,858) (239,402) (28,925)



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Balance as of December
31, 2000

Collection of
subscriptions
receivable for Series
B preference shares
issued in 2000

Ordinary shares issued to
a senior officer of the
Company as
compensation (see
Note 16)

Ordinary shares issued
for services to be
provided by certain
employees (see Note
16)

Share compensation cost

Provision for
uncollectible
subscriptions
receivable

Net loss

Translation adjustments

Balance as of December
31, 2001

Collection of
subscriptions
receivable for Series
B preference shares
issued in 2000

Ordinary shares issued to
a senior officer of the
Company as
compensation (see
Note 16)

Ordinary shares issued
for services to be
provided by certain
employees (see Note
16)

Ordinary shares issued
upon exercise of
employee stock
options

Share compensation cost

Net profit

Translation adjustments

Balance as of December
31, 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Ordinary shares

Total
Additional Subscriptions Deferred Statutory Accumulated Translation shareholders’
Share Amount paid-in capital receivable compensation reserves deficit adjustments equity
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
3,010,555,600 2,492,350 1,076,505,358 (47,829,909) (37,306,585) — (220,972,192) (348,586) 772,540,436
— — — 6,289,940 — — — — 6,289,940
11,250,000 9,315 1,334,529 — (739,265) — — — 604,579
2,369,592 1,961 799,160 — (555,914) — — — 245,207
— — (33,749,218) — 35,257,190 — — — 1,507,972
— — — 6,439,401 — — — — 6,439,401
— — — — — — (233,163,914) — (233,163,914)
— — — — — — — 565,913 565,913
3,024,175,192 2,503,626 1,044,889,829 (35,100,568) (3,344,574) — (454,136,106) 217,327 555,029,534
— — — 1,986,720 — — — — 1,986,720
11,250,000 9,315 (9,315) — 604,729 — — — 604,729
15,959,245 13,214 625,056 — 467,631 — — — 1,105,901
48,778,100 40,388 3,847,031 — — — — — 3,887,419
— — 298,753 — 1,797,475 — — — 2,096,228
— — — — — — 16,301,638 — 16,301,638
— — — — — — — 11,583 11,583
3,100,162,537 2,566,543 1,049,651,354 (33,113,848) (474,739) — (437,834,468) 228,910 581,023,752
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Cont’d.)

Repurchase of 27,142,000
ordinary shares and
collection of outstanding
subscriptions receivable
(Note 16)

Ordinary shares issued to a
senior officer of the
Company as compensation
(see Note 16)

Ordinary shares issued for
services to be provided by
certain employees (see Note
16)

Share compensation cost

Reversal of deferred
compensation arising from
options due to employee
resignation

Appropriation to statutory
reserves

Ordinary shares issued upon
exercise of employee stock
options

Net profit

Translation adjustments

Balance as of December 31,
2003

Ordinary shares

Additional Total
paid-in Subscriptions Deferred Statutory Accumulated Translation shareholders’
Share Amount capital receivable compensation reserves deficit adjustments equity
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
(27,142,000) (22,891) (71,248,494) 33,113,848 — — — — (38,157,537)
2,500,000 2,070 (2,070) — 134,060 — — — 134,060
853,952 707 (707) — 88,236 — — — 88,236
— — — — 111,856 — — — 111,856
— — (166,162) — 71,412 — — — (94,750)
— — — — — 33,699,834 (33,699,834) — —
52,583,700 43,327 15,020,819 — — — — — 15,064,146
— — — — — — 322,872,724 — 322,872,724
— — — — — — — (18,072) (18,072)
3,128,958,189 2,589,756 993,254,740 — (69,175) 33,699,834 (148,661,578) 210,838 881,024,415

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net profit (loss)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Share compensation cost
Provision for doubtful debts
Amortization of issuance cost of convertible bonds
Write down of investment in convertible note
Write down of investment in convertible preference shares
Write down of property, equipment and software
Provision for uncollectible subscriptions receivable
Decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in prepayments and other current assets
(Increase) decrease in due from/to related parties
(Increase) decrease in deferred assets
Increase in deferred tax assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in salary and welfare payable
Increase in taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Increase in held-to-maturity investments

(Increase) decrease in temporary cash investments
Purchase of property, equipment and software

Increase in investment in convertible note

Proceeds from disposal of convertible preference shares
(Increase) decrease in non-current rental deposit

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003 2003
RMB RMB RMB Us$
(233,163,914) 16,301,638 322,872,724 39,009,838
17,334,794 21,797,267 17,429,212 2,105,817
2,357,758 3,806,858 239,402 28,925
7,105,038 3,254,783 3,551,682 429,118
— — 3,511,275 424,234
2,069,475 — — —
6,854,906 — — —
2,766,543 746,857 — —
6,439,401 — — —
684,888 — — —
5,689,171 3,025,673 (5,798,662) (700,601)
(4,839,276) (23,413,088) 25,661,649 3,100,469
(109,945) 783,352 — —
— (2,395,888) (7,273,655) (878,811)
5,553,994 (9,301,828) 3,288,082 397,269
3,204,174 6,087,169 1,382,244 167,004
765,827 6,480,019 7,723,392 933,149
(558,739) 165,115 (165,115) (19,949)
(7,843,607) (539,565) 1,300,376 157,113
(185,689,512) 26,798,362 373,722,606 45,153,575
— — (332,093,546) (40,123,908)
(45,521,300) 45,521,300 — —

(21,095,334) (12,567,218) (27,824,900) (3,361,835)
(1,241,665) _ _ _
— 9,701,293 — —

595,223 21,575 (364,632) (44,055)

(67,263,076) 42,676,950 (360,283,078) (43,529,798)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Cont’d.)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from short-term bank loans

Repayment of short-term bank loans

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of
employee stock options

Collection of subscriptions receivable for Series B preference
shares issued in 2000 and collection of outstanding
subscriptions receivable

Re-purchase of ordinary shares

Proceeds from issuance of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated
Notes

Increase in other long-term payable

Payment for issuance cost of convertible notes

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Decrease in restricted cash

Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for income taxes

Cash paid during the year for interest

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing
activities:

Compensation costs, arising from transfer of ordinary shares
and issuance of stock options in the Company to
employees and certain consultants of the Company (see
Notes 16 and 17)

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003 2003
RMB RMB RMB US$
123,800,000 — — —
(152,400,000) (84,000,000) — —
— 3,887,419 15,064,146 1,820,067
6,289,940 1,986,720 — —
— — (38,157,537) (4,610,236)
— — 827,670,000 100,000,000
_ — 231,449 27,964
— — (23,437,986) (2,831,803)
(22,310,060) (78,125,861) 781,370,072 94,405,992
565,913 11,583 (18,072) (2,183)
(274,696,735) (8,638,966) 794,791,528 96,027,586
45,744,257 89,100,143 1,208,305 145,989
708,561,012 479,608,534 560,069,711 67,668,239
479,608,534 560,069,711 1,356,069,544 163,841,814
— — 20,793,510 2,512,295
8,726,640 1,057,225 — —
2,357,758 3,806,858 239,402 28,925

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Amounts expressed in renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise stated)

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

(a) The Group

NetEase.com, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 6, 1999. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had six wholly owned
subsidiaries, NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., NetEase (U.S.) Inc., NetEase

Interactive Entertainment Ltd., Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd. and Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology Ltd. The Company
and these controlled entities are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

Details of the controlled entities are described below:

Name Place and date of incorporation
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“NetEase Beijing”) Beijing, China
August 30, 1999,
NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“NetEase Shanghai”) Shanghai, China
May 14, 2000
NetEase (U.S.) Inc. (“NetEase US”) Delaware, United States of America

September 10, 1999

NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd. (“NetEase Interactive™) British Virgin Islands
April 12, 2002

Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd. (“Guangzhou Interactive”) Guangzhou, China
October 15, 2002

Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology Ltd. Guangzhou, China
December 8, 2003

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities. The Company has been listed on
the Nasdaq National Market in the United States since July 2000.

The Group is principally engaged in developing and providing a range of Internet-related services including online games, wireless value-added and other fee-
based premium services and advertising services in China. The Group’s businesses were previously conducted by Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou NetEase™), a limited liability company established in China and legally owned by the principal shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to a
reorganization under common control transaction which took place in September 1999 and related agreements, NetEase Beijing took over the business previously
owned by Guangzhou NetEase. The details of the business is described in note 1(b) and (c) below.
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(b) Nature of operations

The industry in which the Group operates is subject to a number of industry-specific risk factors, including, but not limited to, rapidly changing technologies;
stringent rules imposed by the mobile operators; significant numbers of new entrants; dependence on key individuals; competition from similar services from
larger companies; customer preferences; and the need for the continued successful development, marketing, and selling of its services.

The Group is currently targeting the Chinese market. The Chinese government regulates Internet access, telecommunications services, the distribution of news
and other information and the provision of commerce through strict business licensing requirements and other governmental regulations, which include, among
others, those restricting foreign ownership in Chinese companies providing Internet advertising and other Internet or telecommunications value-added services.
To comply with the existing Chinese laws and regulations, the Group conducts substantially all of its operations through Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong
Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Guangyitong Advertising”) and Guangzhou Ling Yi Electronics Technology Limited (“Ling Yi”). Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong
Advertising are legally owned by two citizens of China, one of whom is the principal shareholder of the Company and the other is his brother, whereas Ling Yi is
legally owned by two citizens of China, one of whom is the principal shareholder of the Company and the other is a former employee of the Group. Management
is of the opinion that the Group’s businesses comply with existing Chinese laws and regulations. However, the interpretation and application of current or
proposed requirements and regulations may have an adverse effect on the Group’s businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group has a limited operating history and as a result, the Group is subject to risks associated with early stage companies in new and rapidly evolving
markets. As of December 31, 2003, the Group had an accumulated deficit of approximately RMB148.7 million.

(c) Arrangements with Guangzhou NetEase, Guangyitong Advertising and Ling Yi

The Company and NetEase Beijing entered into a series of agreements with Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising with effect from year 2000. The
Group also entered into a series of agreements with Ling Yi in May 2004 (see Note 21 for details). The major clauses of the significant agreements with
Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising are described below.

Agreements with Guangzhou NetEase

The Group entered into a series of agreements with Guangzhou NetEase effective from year 2000. Under these agreements, the Group provides its Internet portal,
wireless value-added and e-commerce technologies and advertising services to Guangzhou NetEase, and Guangzhou NetEase operates the NetEase Web Sites.
These services include:

*  Use of domain names;

»  Use of copyrighted Web page layout;

»  Use of registered trademarks; and

*  Provision of technical and consulting services.
Under these agreements, substantially all of the income received by Guangzhou NetEase is paid to NetEase Beijing. In addition, NetEase Beijing has agreed to
bear the operating costs of Guangzhou NetEase. The Group’s businesses are dependent upon Guangzhou NetEase which operates portion of the NetEase Web

sites. Under the agreements with Guangzhou NetEase, the Group receives payments from Guangzhou NetEase for the technologies and services it provides. The
effect of the accounting is that revenues that the Group records
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related to transactions with Guangzhou NetEase will not exceed the revenues that Guangzhou NetEase derives from unrelated parties. Transactions with
Guangzhou NetEase are disclosed as related party transactions.

Agreements with Guangyitong Advertising
NetEase Beijing also entered into a series of agreements with Guangyitong Advertising and the ultimate legal owners of Guangyitong Advertising effective from
year 2000. These agreements include:
+ A ten-year irrevocable proxy given by the ultimate legal owners of Guangyitong Advertising which allows NetEase Beijing to exercise all of the
shareholder voting rights of Guangyitong Advertising;
*  An operating agreement providing for the following:
. Guangyitong Advertising will appoint only those individuals nominated by NetEase Beijing as its senior management personnel;

. The major decisions of Guangyitong Advertising have to be approved by NetEase Beijing, including those relating to financing, transfer
of ownership interests, significant acquisitions, disposals or pledges of assets, and amendment and assignment of contracts;

. NetEase Beijing has a right to purchase the assets and business of Guangyitong Advertising at its net book value once it obtains the
approval from the Chinese government to do so under Chinese laws; and

. NetEase Beijing will issue guarantees for the benefit of Guangyitong Advertising when considered necessary for Guangyitong
Advertising’s operations;

+ A ten-year exclusive consulting and services agreement providing for the following:

. NetEase Beijing is the exclusive provider of technical consulting and related services to Guangyitong Advertising for all the
advertisements which Guangyitong Advertising will receive and publish on the NetEase Web sites; and

. NetEase Beijing is entitled to charge Guangyitong Advertising a monthly fee for the above services. The service fee may be unilaterally
adjusted by NetEase Beijing such that NetEase Beijing may receive all of the profits and cash flows of Guangyitong Advertising;

*  An undertaking by the principal shareholder of the Company and the ultimate legal owners of Guangyitong Advertising that they will not vote in any
shareholders’ or directors’ meetings of the Company on any amendments or supplements to the agreements with Guangyitong Advertising except as
directed by the Company’s board of directors.

Under these agreements, Guangyitong Advertising is fully dependent on the technical consulting and other services provided by NetEase Beijing to operate its
online advertising business. Substantially all of the net profit earned by Guangyitong Advertising is paid to NetEase Beijing. Guangyitong Advertising is a related
party because it is also 80% owned by the principal shareholder of the Company. The financial statements of Guangyitong Advertising are not consolidated with
those of the Group because of the majority equity interest that the principal shareholder of the Company has in both the Company and Guangyitong Advertising.
Transactions with Guangyitong Advertising are disclosed as related party transactions.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities. All significant transactions and balances among
the Company and its controlled entities have been eliminated upon consolidation.

(b) Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America (“US GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements are prepared based on the historical cost convention. This basis of accounting differs from that
used in the statutory accounts of those entities within the Group established in China (“PRC Statutory Accounts”), which are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles and the relevant financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in China (“PRC GAAP”).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. Actual results might differ from those estimates.

The principal differences between US GAAP and PRC GAAP applicable to the Group include the following:

*  Recognition of compensation costs arising from transfer of ordinary shares in the Company by the principal shareholder to certain members of senior
management;

*  Recognition of compensation costs arising from grants of stock options and shares to the Company’s employees, directors, consultants and advisory board
members;

+  Basis for revenue recognition; and

+  Tax effects related to the above adjustments and recognition of deferred tax assets.

(c) Revenue recognition

The Group has adopted the provisions of the Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, “Revenue Recognition”, in its accounting policy on revenue recognition.

Revenues presented in consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) represent online game services, wireless value-added and other
fee-based premium services and advertising services revenue recognized by Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising net of sales discount.

Online game services and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services

The Group currently provides its online game services and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services through Guangzhou NetEase, a related
company (see Note 7). The Company derives online game services and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services revenues from technical
services provided to Guangzhou NetEase which operates the NetEase Web sites for transactions conducted through the Internet. The agreements entered into
between NetEase Beijing and Guangzhou NetEase (see Note 1 (c)) allow NetEase Beijing to unilaterally adjust the amount of fees NetEase Beijing is entitled to
from the technical services provided to Guangzhou NetEase such that all of online game services and wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
revenues recognized by Guangzhou NetEase based on the recognition policy described below will fully accrue to NetEase Beijing.
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(i) Online game services

The Group sells prepaid point cards through Guangzhou NetEase to the end customers who may use the points on such cards for online game services provided
by the Group. The Group recognizes the related revenue when the registered points are consumed for the Group’s online game services. The Group effectively
charges players according to their playtime of the Group’s online game services.

(ii) Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services

A substantial portion of the transactions conducted by Guangzhou NetEase for which the Group provides technical services to Guangzhou NetEase represents
wireless value-added services which are currently predominantly derived from activities related to short messaging services (“SMS”). Guangzhou NetEase
derives SMS revenues principally from providing value-added services such as friends matching, news and information services, ring-tone and logo downloads
and various other related products to mobile phone users under co-operative arrangements with mobile phone operators. SMS revenues recognized by Guangzhou
Netease represent its share of the revenues under these co-operative arrangements net of the amounts retained by the mobile phone operators for their services
performed. The Group recognizes revenue under these co-operative arrangements in the month in which the services are performed based on the monthly
confirmation from the mobile phone operators for the service period when the message/content is delivered. Where a confirmation has not been received from a
mobile phone operator, the Group estimates the revenue, as well as the amounts of billing and transmission failures, applicable to the services provided through
that operator and recognizes the estimated revenue net of estimated billing and transmission failures.

Other fee-based premium services revenues are derived principally from providing premium e-mail, friends matching and dating services, personal homepage
hosting, online shopping mall and premium electronic greeting card services, which are all operated on a monthly subscription basis. These services are provided
by Guangzhou NetEase, to which the Group provides technical services. Prepaid subscription fees are deferred and revenues from such services are recognized by
Guangzhou NetEase on a straight-line basis over the period in which the services are provided. The corresponding technical service revenues are also recognized
by the Group on a straight-line basis over the period in which the services are provided.

Advertising services

The Group derives its advertising services revenues principally from the fees earned from services provided to Guangyitong Advertising, a related party (see Note
7).

The agreements entered into between NetEase Beijing and Guangyitong Advertising (see Note 1 (c)) allow NetEase Beijing to unilaterally adjust the amount of
fees NetEase Beijing is entitled to from the technical consulting and related services provided to Guangyitong Advertising such that all of the advertising
revenues recognized by Guangyitong Advertising based on the recognition policy described below, less all of the accrued expenses incurred by Guangyitong
Advertising, will fully accrue to NetEase Beijing. Therefore, the Group recognizes advertising services revenues from Guangyitong Advertising as the service
revenues are earned based on the related service agreement (see Note 1 (c)) at the same time as Guangyitong Advertising recognizes its advertising revenues.

Guangyitong Advertising derives its advertising fees principally from short-term advertising contracts. Revenues from advertising contracts are generally
recognized ratably over the
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period in which the advertisement is displayed and only if collection of the resulting receivables is probable. Guangyitong Advertising’s obligations may also
include guarantees of a minimum number of impressions or times that an advertisement appears in pages viewed by users. To the extent that minimum guaranteed
impressions are not met within the contractual time period, Guangyitong Advertising defers recognition of the corresponding revenues until the remaining
guaranteed impression levels are achieved.

Revenues from barter transactions primarily relate to advertising services provided in the year ended December 31, 2001. Effective from January 20, 2000,
Guangyitong Advertising has adopted the consensus reached in Emerging Issue Task Force (“EITF”) 99-17 to account for barter transactions. According to EITF
99-17, revenue and expense should be recognized at fair value from a barter transaction involving advertising services provided by Guangyitong Advertising only
if the fair value of the advertising services surrendered in the transaction is determinable based on the entity’s own historical practice of receiving cash,
marketable securities, or other consideration that is readily convertible to a known amount of cash for similar advertising from buyers unrelated to the
counterparty in the barter transaction. During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the recognized revenues and expenses derived from barter
transactions were approximately RMBO0.7 million, RMBnil and RMBhnil, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, Guangyitong
Advertising also engaged in certain advertising barter transactions for which the fair value is not determinable within the limits of EITF 99-17 and therefore no
revenues or expenses derived from these barter transactions were recognized. These transactions primarily involved exchanges of advertising services rendered by
Guangyitong Advertising for advertising, promotional benefits, information content, consulting services, and software provided by the counterparties.

(d) Cost of revenues

Costs of online game services, wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services and advertising services consist primarily of staff costs of those
departments directly involved in providing online game services, wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services and advertising services,
depreciation and amortization of computers and software, server custody fees, bandwidth and other direct costs of providing these services. These costs are
charged to the statement of operations as incurred.

Material direct costs incurred in the development of platforms for providing these services consist primarily of computer software developed or acquired. They
are capitalized and amortized in accordance with AICPA SOP 98-1 and costs incurred prior to the application development stage are expensed as incurred.
(e) Cash

Cash represents cash on hand and demand deposits placed with banks or other financial institutions. Included in the cash balance as of December 31, 2002 and
2003 are amounts denominated in United States dollars totaling US$50.7 million and US$103.3 million, respectively (equivalent to approximately RMB419.9
million and RMB854.7 million, respectively).

(f) Financial instruments

Financial instruments of the Group primarily consist of temporary cash investments, held-to-maturity investments, balances with related parties, investment in
convertible preference shares, accounts payable and convertible notes payable. As of the balance sheet dates, their estimated fair value approximated their
carrying values.
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(g) Property, equipment and software

Property, equipment and software are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives, taking into account any estimated residual value:

Computers 3 years

Furniture and office equipment 5 years

Software 2-3 years

Vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements lesser of the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the assets

Costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use are accounted for in accordance with AICPA SOP 98-1, under which direct costs incurred to
develop the software during the application development stage and to obtain computer software from third parties that can provide future benefits are capitalized.

(h) Impairment of long-lived assets

Prior to January 1, 2002, the Group evaluated the recoverability of long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No.121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”. As of January 1, 2002, the Group has adopted
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” which addresses the financial accounting and reporting for the recognition
and measurement of impairment losses for long-lived assets. In accordance with these standards, the Group recognizes impairment of long-lived assets in the
event the net book value of such assets exceeds the future undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets.

Investment in convertible note totalling RMB2.1 million, representing an advance made to a private company operating as a provider of women focused content
on the Internet, was fully written off to the statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2001 as a result of the closure of the private company in
2001.

In addition, investment in convertible preference shares as of December 31, 2001 represented an investment in 705,816 preference shares in a private Internet-
based auction company at US$2.8336 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately RMB16.6 million. The private auction company repurchased
from the Company all of the 705,816 convertible preference shares the Company acquired at a consideration of approximately US$1.2 million which is equivalent
to approximately RMB9.7 million. Thus, the carrying value of the investment was written down by RMB6.9 million to its net realizable value as of December 31,
2001.

(i) Advertising expenses

The Group recognizes advertising expenses in accordance with AICPA SOP 93-7 “Reporting on Advertising Costs”. As such, the Group expenses the costs of
producing advertisements at the time production occurs, and expenses the cost of communicating advertising in the period in which the advertising space or
airtime is used. Advertising expenses totaled approximately RMB14.7 million, RMB2.4 million and RMB3.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003, respectively.
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(j) Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Group is RMB. Transactions denominated in currencies other than RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates quoted by
the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into RMB using the applicable exchange rates quoted by the PBOC at the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are included in the
determination of income.

The financial records of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are maintained in US dollars, which is their functional currency. For consolidation purposes, the
assets and liabilities of such subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rates at the balance sheet dates, equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates
and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are translated using the average exchange rate for the year. Translation adjustments are reported as cumulative
translation adjustments and are shown as a separate component in the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity.

Translations of amounts from RMB into United States dollars for the convenience of the reader were calculated at the noon buying rate of US$1.00 = RMB8.2767
on December 31, 2003 in The City of New York for cable transfers of RMB as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. No
representation is made that the RMB amounts could have been, or could be, converted into United States dollars at such rate.

(k) Stock-based compensation

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”, the Group has selected the
disclosure only provisions related to employee stock options and share purchases and follows the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25
(“APB 25”) in accounting for stock options and shares issued to employees. Under APB 25, compensation expense, if any, is recognized as the difference
between the exercise price and the estimated fair value of the ordinary shares on the measurement date, which is typically the date of grant, and is expensed
ratably over the service period, which is typically the vesting period.

Stock-based employee compensation cost of RMB2.4 million, RMB3.8 million and RMBO0.2 million in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, has been expensed.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Group had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to stock-based employee compensation.

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
RMB RMB RMB
Net profit (loss):
As reported (233,163,914) 16,301,638 322,872,724
Less: Additional stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards. (8,057,740) (223,046) (20,281,210)
Pro forma (241,221,654) 16,078,592 302,591,514
Basic net earnings (loss) per ordinary share:
As reported (0.08) 0.01 0.10
Pro forma (0.08) 0.01 0.10
Diluted net earnings (loss) per ordinary share:
As reported (0.08) 0.01 0.10
Pro forma (0.08) 0.01 0.09
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(1) Income taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided using the balance sheet liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of
significant temporary differences by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes. The effect
on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the
amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that some portion of, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

(m) Net earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) and per American Depositary Share (“ADS”)

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Computation of Earnings Per Share,” basic EPS is computed by dividing net profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net profit (loss) by the weighted average
number of ordinary and dilutive ordinary equivalent shares outstanding during the year. Ordinary equivalent shares consist of the ordinary shares issuable upon
conversion of the Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes (using the if-converted method) and ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
stock options (using the treasury stock method). Stock options for a total of 66,845,749, 24,972,000 and 1,400,000 ordinary shares in 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, and a total of 51,921,080 ordinary shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares issuable upon conversion of the Zero Coupon
Convertible Subordinated Notes in 2003, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because (i) the exercise prices of the options
were greater than the average market price of the ordinary shares, or (ii) the inclusion of the options would have been anti-dilutive because the Company
experienced a net loss during the year, or (iii) the conversion price of the notes was greater than the average market price of the ordinary shares in certain periods
of 2003.

Net earnings (loss) per ADS has been computed by multiplying the net earnings (loss) per share by 100, which is the number of shares represented by each ADS.

(n) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Regulations on Enterprises with Foreign Investment of China and their articles of association, NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai and
Guangzhou Interactive, being foreign invested enterprises established in China, are required to provide for certain statutory reserves, namely general reserve,
enterprise expansion fund and staff welfare and bonus fund which are appropriated from net profit as reported in their PRC Statutory Accounts. NetEase Beijing,
NetEase Shanghai and Guangzhou Interactive, being wholly foreign owned enterprises, are required to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit to the general
reserve
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until such reserve has reached 50% of their respective registered capital. Appropriations to the enterprise expansion fund and staff welfare and bonus fund are at
the discretion of the board of directors of NetEase Beijing, NetEase Shanghai and Guangzhou Interactive, respectively. These reserves can only be used for
specific purposes and are not distributable as cash dividends. Appropriations to the staff welfare and bonus fund are charged to selling, general and administrative
expenses.

NetEase Shanghai and Guangzhou Interactive have been in an accumulated loss position according to their PRC Statutory Accounts and no appropriations to
statutory reserves have been made.

The year ended December 31, 2003 was the first year in which NetEase Beijing had cumulative retained earnings according to its PRC Statutory Accounts.
Accordingly, an amount of approximately RMB33.7 million, representing 10% of the net profit, after recouping all losses carried forward, according to its PRC
Statutory Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2003 was appropriated to the general reserve.

(o) Deferred assets

Deferred assets mainly include the offering costs of the Company’s Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes. The Company amortizes the offering costs
over a period of 35 to 36 months from the date of issuance of the notes by the Company to the first date when the Company may be required to repurchase all or
any portion of the principal amount of the notes.

(p) Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.

(q) Comprehensive (loss)/income

Comprehensive (loss)/income is defined as the change in equity of the Group during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances excluding
transactions resulting from investments by shareholders and distributions to shareholders.

(r) Segment reporting

SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments
on a basis consistent with the Group’s internal organization structure as well as information about geographical areas, business segments and major customers in
financial statements (see Note 20 for details on the Group’s business segments).

(s) Recent accounting pronouncements

In November 2002, EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance
on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF
Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. The Group believes that the adoption of this
standard will have no material impact on its financial statements.
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In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting (SFAS) No.149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities. This statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments and hedging activities under FASB Statement
No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, by requiring contracts with similar characteristics to be accounted for comparably. This
statement is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The Group believes that the adoption of SFAS No.149 will not have a material
impact on its financial statements.

3. Concentrations

(a) Dependence on mobile phone operators

Wireless value-added services revenues, which represent a significant portion of the Group’s total revenue, are derived from co-operative arrangements with the
two mobile phone operators in China. If the various contracts with either mobile phone operator are terminated or scaled-back, or if the mobile phone operators
alter the fee sharing percentages, it will be difficult, if not impossible, to find appropriate replacement partners with the requisite licenses and permits,
infrastructure and customer base to offer these services, which would adversely affect the Group’s businesses.

(b) Bandwidth and server custody service provider

The Group relies on two telecommunications service providers and their affiliates for bandwidth and server custody service.

(c) Dependence on Guangzhou NetEase

The Group relies exclusively on Guangzhou NetEase, which has the approval to operate as an Internet content provider, for the operation of the NetEase Web
sites.

(d) Dependence on Guangyitong Advertising

All of the Group’s advertising services revenues are derived from Guangyitong Advertising which has the approval to operate online advertising.

(e) Credit risk

The Group is principally developing and providing a range of Internet-related services including online game services, wireless value-added and other related
services and advertising services in China. The Group generally does not require collateral for its accounts receivable.

4. Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2003, there was no restricted cash balance. The restricted cash balance as of December 31, 2002 represents USD denominated deposits in the

amounts of US$0.1 million pledged as security money for renting office space.
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5. Held-to-Maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments represent investments in US government agency debt securities and Federal Home Loan debt securities with maturity dates in 2004.

6. Prepayments and Other Current Assets

December 31, December 31,

2002 2003

RMB RMB
Deferred issuance costs of convertible notes — 7,840,018
Prepayments 2,608,169 5,215,394
Interest receivable 352,826 1,931,777
Employee advances 375,069 1,291,741
Low-value consumables 884,400 1,463,523
Rental deposits 1,657,212 435,789
Other 233,013 1,571,127
6,110,689 19,749,369

7. Related Party Transactions and Variable Interest Entities
(a) Related Party Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Group derived approximately RMB0.3 million, RMB nil and RMB nil, respectively, of
advertising fees from shareholders of the Company.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Group derived approximately RMB14.2 million, RMB34.2 million and RMB86.2 million,
respectively, of advertising services revenues from Guangyitong Advertising, a related company which is controlled by the principal shareholder of the Company,
for advertising-related technical consulting services performed.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Group derived approximately RMB14.1 million, RMB197.4 million and RMB482.7 million,
respectively, of online game and wireless valued-added and other fee-based premium services revenues from Guangzhou NetEase, a related company which is
controlled by the principal shareholder of the Company.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Group reimbursed Guangzhou NetEase a total of approximately RMB2.7 million, RMB29.6
million and RMB54.6 million, respectively, for the costs of revenue and operating expenses associated with the NetEase Web sites.

Due from related parties mainly represents amounts receivable from Guangyitong Advertising and/or Guangzhou NetEase for services performed and temporary
advances to officers of the Group in the normal course of business. Due to a related party mainly represents amount received in advance from Guangzhou
NetEase for services to be performed, primarily in relation to online game services. The balances with these two entities were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

In addition, in January 2001, the Group advanced RMB1.9 million to Mr. William Ding, the principal shareholder of the Company. The advance bore an annual
interest rate of 6% compounded annually and was repayable by monthly instalments with the entire amount repayable by November 2006. The advance was
repaid in full in 2003.
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Moreover, in June 2000, the Group advanced RMB2.0 million to an employee who is a relative of the principal shareholder. The advance bore an annual interest
rate of 5% and was repayable one year from the date of advance. The advance was in default in June 2001, thus a full provision was made during the year ended
December 31, 2001. However, the amount was subsequently repaid in 2003. As such, the provision has been reversed during the year ended December 31, 2002

As of December 31, 2002 and 2003, the amounts due from related parties included amounts denominated in US dollars of US$0.2 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1.3 million) and US$ nil, respectively. All other related party balances are denominated in RMB.

(b) Variable Interest Entities

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51” (“FIN 46”) which
was further revised in December 2003. FIN 46 provides guidance on the identification of and financial reporting for entities over which control is achieved
through means other than voting rights. This Interpretation requires existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary
beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risks among the parties involved. The Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created
after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period
ending after March 15, 2004 to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before February 1, 2003.

According to the requirements of FIN 46 and the revised version of FIN 46 (“FIN 46-R”), the Group has evaluated its relationship with two unconsolidated
related companies, namely Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising. Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising are concluded as variable
interest entities (“VIE”) of the Company. The Company has concluded it is the primary beneficiary of these two VIEs. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company
has prospectively consolidated these two VIEs in accordance with the transitional provisions of FIN 46 and FIN 46-R in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. Since substantially all of the income received by the VIEs are paid to NetEase Beijing, management has concluded that the adoption of FIN 46 and
FIN 46-R will not significantly affect the net assets or net income of the Group.

The following table provides information about the VIEs (in thousands):

Total revenue for Net income/(loss)

Total assets at the year ended for the year ended
Name of VIE December 31, 2003 December 31, 2003 December 31, 2003
RMB RMB RMB
Guangzhou NetEase 79,630 504,770 —
Guangyitong Advertising 12,500 94,200 —

8. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Movements of the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 were as follows:

Write-off of
receivable balances

Balance at Charged to cost and and corresponding Balance at
January 1 expenses provisions December 31
RMB RMB RMB RMB
2002 7,447,775 3,254,783 1,999,251 8,703,307
2003 8,703,307 3,551,682 2,097,200 10,157,789
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9. Property, Equipment and Software

December 31, December 31,
2002 2003

Computers 50,163,071 73,926,310
Furniture and office equipment 2,167,062 2,892,207
Software 16,200,568 20,398,009
Vehicles 358,705 358,705
Leasehold improvements 5,813,941 8,588,410

74,703,347 106,163,641
Less: Accumulated depreciation (48,324,165) (65,753,377)
Net book value 26,379,182 40,410,264

10. Employee Benefits

The full-time employees of those entities within the Group which are established in China are entitled to staff welfare benefits including medical care, welfare
subsidies and unemployment insurance, etc. These entities are required to accrue for these benefits based on certain percentages of the employees’ salaries in
accordance with the relevant regulations. The total provision for such employee benefits amounted to RMB7.9 million, RMB6.4 million and RMB2.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. These entities are also required to make contributions to the state-sponsored pension and
medical plans out of the amounts accrued for medical and pension benefits. These contributions for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted
to approximately RMB1.7 million, RMB3.4 million and RMBS5.0 million, respectively. The Chinese government is responsible for the medical benefits and
ultimate pension liability to these employees.

11. Taxation

(a) Income taxes

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gain. Additionally, upon payments of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed.

British Virgin Islands (“BVI”)

NetEase Interactive is exempted from income tax on its foreign-derived income in the BVI. There are no withholding taxes in the BVI.
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China

In accordance with “Income Tax Law of China for Enterprises with Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprises”, foreign invested enterprises are generally
subject to enterprise income tax (“EIT”) at the rate of 30% plus a local income tax of 3%. NetEase Beijing, being a foreign invested enterprise and located in the
New Technology Industrial Development Experimental Zone in Beijing, has been recognized as a “New and High Technology Enterprise”. According to an
approval granted by the Haidian State Tax Bureau in November 2000, NetEase Beijing is entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% commencing from the year 2000.
In addition, the approval also granted NetEase Beijing with a full exemption from EIT from 2001 to 2002, a 50% reduction in EIT from 2003 to 2005, and a full
exemption from the local income tax from 2000 onwards. Consequently, NetEase Beijing is exempted from EIT and local income tax for each of the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2002, and enjoyed a 50% reduction in EIT for the year ended December 31, 2003.

The combined effects of EIT exemption and reduction available to NetEase Beijing during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
RMB RMB RMB
Aggregate amount — — 96,572,356
Earnings per share effect, basic — — 0.03

The preferential EIT treatments that NetEase Beijing obtained may be subject to review by higher authorities. If these preferential tax treatments were not
available to NetEase Beijing, NetEase Beijing would be subject to EIT at 30% plus a local tax of 3% and the exemption and reduction described above would not

apply.

Guangzhou Interactive has also been recognized as a “New and High Technology Enterprise”. According to an approval granted by the Guangzhou State Tax
Bureau, Guangzhou Interactive is entitled to a full exemption from EIT from 2003 to 2004. After that, Guangzhou Interactive is subject to EIT at the rate of 30%
plus a local tax of 3%.

NetEase Shanghai, Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising are all subject to EIT at the rate of 30% plus a local tax of 3%.

F-24



Table of Contents

A reconciliation of the differences between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for EIT is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
EIT statutory rate (33.0)% 33.0% 33.0%
Permanent differences (primarily the expenses incurred by the Company which are not deductible for EIT)

—  Professional fees 8.5% 42.0% 1.0%

—  Salaries of the Company’s senior officers 3.1% 40.8% 1.3%

— Class action settlement — 87.7% —

—  Depreciation — 32.7% 0.9%

— Revenue sharing expenses — — 0.5%

— Issuance cost of convertible notes — — 0.3%

—  Advertising — 9.8% —

—  Technical services — 13.0% —

— Travelling expenses — — 0.1%

—  Share compensation costs 0.3% 9.0% —

—  Other 6.7% 14.7% 2.0%
Effect of lower tax rate applicable to hi-tech enterprises 6.2% (168.9)% (19.8)%
Effect of tax holidays applicable to hi-tech enterprises — (140.8)% (8.3)%
Additional (reversal of) valuation allowance on tax loss carryforwards 8.2% 9.8% (4.9)%
Effective EIT rate — (17.2)% 6.1%

As of December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the tax impact of significant temporary differences between the tax and financial statement bases of assets and
liabilities that gave rise to deferred tax assets were principally related to the following:

December 31, December 31,
2002 2003
RMB RMB
Loss carryforwards 19,132,653 9,669,543
Valuation allowance (16,736,765) —
Net deferred tax assets
— current — 9,669,543
—  non-current 2,395,888 —

Subject to the approval of the relevant tax authorities, the Group had loss carryforwards of approximately RMB29.3 million as of December 31, 2003 for EIT
purposes. Approximately RMB17.2 million and RMB12.1 million of these loss carryforwards will expire in 2006 and 2007, respectively. No valuation allowance
has been provided on the loss carryforwards as the Group expects it will be able to utilize the loss carryforwards before their expiration.

Income tax benefit shown in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 resulted from the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from tax loss carryforwards for which less than full valuation allowance was made as of December 31, 2002 because of the expected utilization of certain
of these tax carryfowards in the foreseeable future from that date.

(b) Business tax (“BT”) and cultural development fee

The Group is subject to BT on the provision of taxable services in China, transfer of intangible assets and the sale of immovable properties in China. The tax rates
range from 3% to 20% of the gross receipts, depending on the nature of the revenues. The applicable BT rate for the Group’s revenues is generally 5%. In
addition, Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising are also subject to BT at 3.3% or 5.5% on their revenues and Guangyitong Advertising is also subject
to a cultural development fee of 3% on its Internet advertising fees, which effectively reduce the revenues the Group derives from Guangzhou NetEase and
Guangyitong Advertising. The business tax presented in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) represents the BT charged on
the Group’s revenue generated from services provided to Guangzhou NetEase and Guangyitong Advertising.
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12. Taxes Payable

BT

Individual income taxes for employees
Enterprise income taxes

Other

13. Accrued Liabilities

Advertising expenses
Content fees
Professional fees
Server custody fees
Other

14. Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes

December 31,

December 31,

2002 2003

RMB RMB
4,337,428 4,440,053
3,848,253 2,490,511
— 7,610,123
67,269 1,435,655
8,252,950 15,976,342

December 31,

December 31,

2002 2003

RMB RMB
808,420 669,935
1,276,551 610,889
3,428,678 5,748,950
737,131 715,131
4,147,605 3,953,856
10,398,385 11,698,761

The Company issued and sold US$75 million and US$25 million aggregate principal amounts of Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Notes due July 15, 2023
on July 14, 2003 and on July 31, 2003, respectively, in private offerings. The notes are general unsecured obligations of the Company and are subordinated to any
existing or future senior indebtedness of the Company. The notes do not pay any interest except in limited circumstances, have a zero yield to maturity and are
convertible into the Company’s ordinary shares at a conversion price of US$0.4815 per ordinary share, subject to adjustments and upon the occurrence of certain
other events. Holders of notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their notes for cash on July 15, 2006, July 15, 2007, July 15, 2008, July
15, 2013 and July 15, 2018, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, subject to certain
conditions. On or after July 15, 2008, the Company may redeem for cash all or part of the notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, to together with

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, subject to certain conditions.

15. Subscriptions Receivable

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company made an allowance for doubtful subscriptions receivable amounting to approximately RMB6.4 million.
Such subscriptions receivable arose from advances to certain shareholders for subscription for the Company’s shares in 2000. The amount was fully settled in
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Subscriptions receivable as of December 31, 2002 represents the amount receivable from a shareholder for subscription for the Company’s series B preference
shares (see Note 16).

16. Capital Structure
(a) Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares in the Company are entitled to one vote per share and to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of
directors of the Company. In the event of liquidation, the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities.
The ordinary shares have no preemptive, conversion, or other subscription rights.

On March 23, 2001, the Company entered into an agreement whereby the Company acquired certain software for online games, computers and the related
intellectual property rights for cash consideration of US$0.2 million from a private technology company. In addition, the Company agreed to issue 7,742,168
ordinary shares in the Company to the founders of the private technology company by installments on a quarterly basis starting from June 23, 2001 through
March 23, 2003 for the service to be provided by such individuals as employees of the Company over such period. The total estimated fair value of these shares
of approximately RMBO0.8 million, valued at US$0.0125 per share at the date of agreement, was recognized as deferred compensation, which was to be amortized
over the related vesting period. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, the Company issued 3,636,377 shares and 853,952 shares, respectively, to
the founders of the private technology company for their service as employees as described above.

According to an agreement dated September 11, 2001 between the Company and a senior officer of the Company, the Company provided the officer with
25,000,000 ordinary shares by quarterly installments over a period of 18 months. As a result, deferred compensation cost of approximately RMB1.3 million was
recorded in 2001 and the amount was amortized over the related vesting period of 18 months.

According to a board resolution dated January 23, 2002, the Company agreed to provide two newly hired members of senior management of the Company with
12,322,868 ordinary shares in the Company over a period of 7 months. The total estimated fair value of those shares of RMBO0.7 million (valued at US$0.006492
per share) at the date of the agreement was recognized as deferred compensation and was amortized over the related vesting periods.

(b) Convertible preference shares

Series B preference shares

On March 23, 2000, the Company entered into a Series B Preference Shares Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Company issued 2,560,556 Series B
preference shares of US$0.01 each at an issuance price of US$15.60 per share for a total consideration of approximately US$40.0 million, of which US$35.0
million was paid up in cash and US$5.0 million was paid up by advertising to be provided by the shareholder of the Series B preference shares and its affiliated
companies on their television channels over a period of three years.

The Series B preference shares were convertible on a basis of 100 ordinary shares for one preference share. These preference shares had an aggregate liquidation
preference equal to the total consideration for which they were issued. They carried certain preferences on
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dividend payment and return of capital in case of a winding up of the Company. These preference shares were automatically converted upon closing of the initial
public offering of the ordinary shares in the Company in 2000.

In March 2000, the Company also entered into a strategic co-operation agreement with the shareholder of its Series B preference shares which provided for,
among other things, advertising spending of US$5.0 million on NetEase Web sites from the shareholder over the next three years, cross licensing of Internet tools
and technologies, licensing of content information, and other co-operative marketing and promotional events on commercial terms to be agreed between the two
parties. Subsequently, in March 2003, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement with the shareholder such that the shareholder was obligated to spend
the then remaining advertising spending of US$4.0 million on NetEase Web sites by March 28, 2004. All other aspects of the strategic co-operation agreement
were terminated in March 2003.

The effect of the issuance of Series B preference shares together with the strategic co-operation agreement with the same shareholder is similar to an issuance of
shares to the shareholder for cash consideration of US$40.0 million (with US$35.0 million receivable immediately and US$5.0 million receivable over a period of
three years from March 2000) and having a barter transaction for advertising between the Company and the shareholder. The accounting for these two
transactions in the consolidated financial statements reflects this effect.

On July 4, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with the shareholder to repurchase 27,142,000 ordinary shares in the Company held by the shareholder.
Under the agreement the Group paid the shareholder a net aggregate amount of approximately US$4.6 million and the obligation of the shareholder to make
advertising spending on the NetEase Web sites described above was waived. As a result of such transaction, the subscriptions receivable from the shareholder
were effectively collected and the respective additional paid-in capital was reduced. Moreover, in accordance with the agreement, the Group is entitled to use
approximately US$2.0 million worth of advertising on certain media properties of the shareholder at no additional cost until March 28, 2004 or such other date as
the parties shall agree. On July 28, 2003, the parties agreed to extend the date from March 28, 2004 to June 30, 2004. The Company did not recognize the amount
as an asset.

17. Stock Options

(a)  Stock option plans

In December 1999, the Company adopted an incentive and non-statutory stock option plan for the Company’s directors, senior management, employees and
consultants (the “1999 Stock Option Plan”). The Company had reserved 345,675,000 ordinary shares for issuance under the plan.

According to a resolution of the board of directors of the Company in 2000, the 1999 Stock Option Plan was replaced by the 2000 Stock Option Plan.

According to a resolution of the board of directors and the shareholders of the Company in 2001, the 2000 stock option plan was amended and restated. Under the
amended plan, the number of ordinary shares available for issuance was increased from 223,715,000 under the prior plan to 323,715,000. The amended plan also
included a mechanism for the automatic increase in the number of ordinary shares available for future issuance. This mechanism, which is known as “Evergreen
Provision”, provided for a periodic increase so that the number of ordinary shares available under the plan would automatically increase by 3% each year up to a
maximum at any given time of 17.5% of the Company’s total outstanding ordinary shares,
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on a fully-diluted basis. These increases would occur on June 1 of 2001 and January 1 of each year thereafter. The “Evergreen Provision” has been suspended
pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors dated March 25, 2002.
(b) Deferred compensation costs

In 2003, approximately RMBO.2 million (2001: RMB1.5 million; 2002: RMB2.1 million) of the deferred compensation costs were amortized and charged to
expense and approximately RMBO.1 million (2001: RMB33.6 million; 2002: RMBO.1 million) of the deferred compensation costs were reversed against the
additional paid in capital as a result of the resignation of employees, senior management, consultants and advisory board members.

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s stock options outstanding at and stock option activities during the years ended December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003.
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Number of ordinary shares
issuable upon exercise of stock
options

Outstanding at January 1, 2001
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Cancelled during the year

Outstanding at December 31, 2001

Outstanding at January 1, 2002
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Cancelled during the year

Outstanding at December 31, 2002
Outstanding at January 1, 2003
Granted during the year

Exercised during the year

Cancelled during the year

Outstanding at December 31, 2003

Senior
Employees Management
45,960,000 198,191,100
24,059,000 92,225,000
(28,276,000) (198,629,100)
41,743,000 91,787,000
41,743,000 91,787,000
51,510,000 59,000,000
(6,241,200) (42,536,900)

(11,635,000)

(59,250,100)

75,376,800 49,000,000
75,376,800 49,000,000
62,750,000 47,200,000

(32,783,700) (19,200,000)
(7,924,800) (7,000,000)
97,418,300 70,000,000
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Weighted
Director and Advisory average exercise
consultants Board Total price
Uss
1,900,000 2,850,000 248,901,100 0.091
— — 116,284,000 0.017
— (1,850,000) (228,755,100) 0.064
1,900,000 1,000,000 136,430,000 0.074
1,900,000 1,000,000 136,430,000 0.074
— — 110,510,000 0.008
= = (48,778,100) 0.010
— (1,000,000) (71,885,100) 0.096
1,900,000 — 126,276,800 0.028
1,900,000 — 126,276,800 0.028
1,450,000 — 111,400,000 0.128
(600,000) — (52,583,700) 0.035
_ — (14,924,800) 0.026
2,750,000 — 170,168,300 0.092
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As of December 31, 2003, options to purchase 17,732,000 ordinary shares were exercisable. Under the stock option plans, options to purchase 234,471,824
ordinary shares were available for future grant. The fair value of ordinary shares on the dates of stock option grants was determined by management based on the
recent issuance of preference shares, the market price of the Company’s shares on the Nasdaq National Market, consideration of significant milestones achieved
by the Group and other market considerations. Options outstanding and exercisable by price range as of December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Options Outstanding at Options Exercisable at
December 31, 2003 December 31, 2003
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Price Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
Years US$ US$
US$0.007 — US$0.009 38,296,500 2.64 0.007 11,036,000 0.007
US$0.012 — US$0.015 2,856,000 3.50 0.015 — —
US$0.021 1,750,000 3.39 0.021 — —
US$0.022 7,174,800 3.08 0.022 666,000 0.022
US$0.070 — US$0.075 2,105,000 2.57 0.075 1,605,000 0.075
US$0.100 6,951,000 2.16 0.100 4,077,000 0.100
US$0.102 10,000 4.17 0.102 — —
US$0.110 97,835,000 4.17 0.110 — —
US$0.122 10,000 4.21 0.122 — —
US$0.135 490,000 4.21 0.135 — —
US$0.155 — US$0.156 1,290,000 2.34 0.156 348,000 0.156
US$0.254 10,000,000 4.38 0.254 — —
US$0.406 1,000,000 4.88 0.406 — —
US$0.679 400,000 4.75 0.679 — —
170,168,300 3.66 0.092 17,732,000 0.038
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For the purposes of SFAS No.123 pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of each senior management or employee option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing method with the following assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
Expected life (in years)
Expected dividend yield
Volatility

Weighted average estimated fair value of the underlying shares on the date of option grants

(US$)

18. Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2003
2.97% -3.30% 2.79%
5-10 5
0% 0%

122% -155%

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003:

Numerator:
Net profit (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders

Denominator:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding, basic

Dilutive effect of employee stock options and
convertible notes

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding, diluted

Anti-dilutive effect of stock options
Anti-dilutive effect of convertible notes
Net earnings (loss) per share, basic

Net earnings (loss) per share, diluted

0.085 0.128
For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(233,163,914) 16,301,638 322,872,724
3,013,419,400 3,051,395,100 3,122,257,952
— 76,442,800 179,053,547
3,013,419,400 3,127,837,900 3,301,311,499
66,845,749 24,972,000 1,400,000
— — 51,921,080
RMB (0.08) RMB 0.01 RMB 0.10
RMB (0.08) RMB 0.01 RMB 0.10
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19. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Commitments

As of December 31, 2003, future minimum lease and capital commitments were as follows:

Office rental Server custody Capital
commitments fee commitments commitments Total
2004 7,144,306 11,854,600 2,385,827 21,384,733
2005 5,182,717 92,500 — 5,275,217
2006 2,266,879 — — 2,266,879
Beyond 2006 575,658 — — 575,658
15,169,560 11,947,100 2,385,827 29,502,487

In the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company incurred rental expenses in the amounts of approximately RMB8.8 million, RMB7.4 million
and RMB6.7 million, respectively. Capital commitments as at December 31, 2003 represented capital commitments contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements.

(b) Insurance coverage

As of December 31, 2003, the Group had insurance coverage of approximately RMB44.5 million on its property, equipment and software.

(c) Litigation
Class Actions

Beginning in October 2001, four substantially identical purported class action complaints alleging violations of the federal securities laws were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York naming the Company, certain of its current and former officers and directors, and the underwriters of
the Company’s initial public offering as defendants. These complaints were subsequently consolidated into a single action. In general, the complaints alleged,
among other things, that (i) the Company’s initial public offering violated the securities laws because the financial statements accompanying the offering’s
registration statement misstated the Company’s revenue; and (ii) the Company committed securities fraud by materially misstating the Company’s revenue in its
2000 financial statements.

The court preliminarily approved the settlement of this class action litigation on February 25, 2003, and all persons who purchased the Company’s ADSs during
the period from July 3, 2000 to August 31, 2001 were certified as a single class. The aggregate settlement amount for all claims in this litigation was US$4.35
million, which amount was paid by the Company in 2002 into an escrow account pending final court approval and charged to the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.

On May 16, 2003, the plaintiffs in the class action entered into a stipulation and agreement of settlement with the defendants. The definitive settlement of the
class action litigation has been approved and declared final by the District Court.
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Copyright Infringement Lawsuit

In January 2003, Guangzhou NetEase was named in a copyright infringement lawsuit in China and the plaintiffs claimed damages of US$1.0 million. The Group
intends to vigorously defend its position. Based on the legal advice it has obtained, the Group believes the ultimate resolution of this matter will not have a
material financial impact on the Group.

Wells Notice

As previously disclosed by the Company, the staff of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has been conducting an investigation related to the
Company’s restatement of its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company subsequently announced that it received a “Wells notice”
from the SEC staff on March 15, 2004, which states that the staff intends to recommend that the SEC bring a civil injunctive action against the Company for
alleged violations of the federal securities laws, which action the Company believes will be in connection with the circumstances relating to the restatement. The
Company cannot predict at this time whether the SEC will bring charges against it or, if it does, the scope of such charges, the likelihood of its successfully
defending any such action or the penalties which may be imposed on the Company.

20. Segment Information

In the third quarter of 2003, the Group changed the manner of reporting internal departmental information. As such, the Group has restated its 2002 segment
disclosures to conform with the change in segments that occurred in the third quarter of 2003. The following are the breakdowns of revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003. No comparative information of the breakdown of cost
of revenue was presented for the year ended December 31, 2001 as the information is not readily available and it is impracticable to obtain. The Group does not
allocate any operating costs or assets to its business segments as management does not use this information to measure the performance of the operating
segments.
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Total revenues:

Online game services

Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

Total revenues

Business tax:

Online game services

Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

Total Sales taxes

Net revenues:

Online game services

Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

Total net revenues

Cost of revenues:

Online game services

Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit (loss on revenues):

Online game services

Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

Total gross profit (loss on revenues)

Share compensation cost included in cost of revenue by segments:

Online game services
Wireless value-added and other fee-based premium services
Advertising services

For the year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
RMB RMB RMB
— 37,053,414 203,246,114
14,136,369 161,305,678 279,659,170
14,163,952 34,209,376 86,183,733
28,300,321 232,568,468 569,089,017
— (1,852,671) (10,162,395)
(767,351) (8,064,076) (13,982,869)
(1,507,433) (1,710,469) (2,809,238)
(2,274,784) (11,627,216) (26,954,502)
— 35,200,743 193,083,719
13,369,018 153,241,602 265,676,301
12,656,519 32,498,907 83,374,495
26,025,537 220,941,252 542,134,515
(15,530,501) (20,873,502)
(29,524,647) (36,965,777)
(26,622,426) (27,623,438)
(60,058,488) (71,677,574) (85,462,717)

19,670,242 172,210,217

123,716,955 228,710,524

5,876,481 55,751,057

(34,032,951) 149,263,678 456,671,798
— 1,908,125 —
— 1,908,125 —
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21. Subsequent event

The Group entered into a series of agreements with Ling Yi in May 2004. Under these agreements, the Group provides technology services to Ling Yi for the
operation of portion of the NetEase Web sites. These services include:

*  Use of domain names;

*  Use of copyrighted Web page layout;

*  Use of registered trademarks; and

*  Provision of technical and consulting services.
Under these agreements, substantially all of the income received by Ling Yi is paid to NetEase Beijing. In addition, NetEase Beijing has agreed to bear the
operating costs of Ling Yi. Under the agreements with Ling Yi, the Group receives payments from Ling Yi for the technologies and services it provides. The
effect of the accounting is that revenues that the Group records related to transactions with Ling Yi will not exceed the revenues that Ling Yi derives from
unrelated parties. Based on these contractual arrangements, the Company has the right to enjoy all residual benefits and effectively bear the risk of operating

losses of Ling Yi. As a result, the Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary, as defined in FIN46, of Ling Yi and, accordingly, will consolidate
the financial statements of Ling Yi from the date of the agreements.
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Exhibit 4.35

LEASE CONTRACT

Lessor : Beijing Qingyun International Research and

Development Center (Party A)
(Chinese Name of Lessor)

Address : No. 43, North 3/rd/ Ring Road, Haidian District,
Beijing

Legal Representative : Deng Zhong Authorized Representative:

Postal Code : 100086

Lessee : NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(Party B)

Address : No. 5, Xiyuancaochang, Haidian District, Beijing

Legal Representative : Ted Sun Authorized Representative:

Postal Code : 100080

In order to define the respective rights and obligations of Party A and

Party B, the Parties, after consultation, unanimously agreed to enter into this
Lease Contract on November 25, 2003 in relation to the lease of the floor area
of Beijing Qingyun International Research and Development Center (See Attachment
1 -Layout Plan of the premises) in accordance with the Contract Law of the PRC
and relevant requirements.

1.

2.

Name, Area, Rental and Property Management Fee of the Premises
Party B has agreed to lease from Party A the office building as follows:

Room , Second Floor, Block B , Beijing Qingyun International Research

and Development Center Area of the premises (in GFA): 556 square meters

Monthly rental per square meter: 2.3 day/m/2/ (in GFA and including the

property management fee of RMB0.4/m/2/)
Total annual rental of the premises: RMB468,040.8/year (including property

management fee)

The premises shall be used by Party B for office purposes. Unless with

written consent of Party A, Party B shall not change the use of the premises.



II. Term of the Lease

1. The term of the Lease shall be for two years, commencing from December 25,

2003 to December 24, 2005.

The rent-free period shall be for one month, commencing from December 25,
2003 to January 19, 2004. During the rent-free period, the rent will be excluded
except for the property management fee totaling RMB6,783.2, which shall be paid
after the official execution of the Lease Contract.

III. Security Deposit

1. After the execution of the Lease Contract, Party B shall pay to Party A a
security deposit equivalent to three month's rents of RMB117,010.2 and property

management fee, as well as the property management fee and rent, amounting to a
sum of RMB234,020.4.

2. Subject to the full performance by Party B of all the terms and conditions

hereof, Party A shall refund the security deposit to Party B without interest

upon expiry of the Lease Contract and after the surrender of the premise by

Party B with no damages being found in the inspection and acceptance thereof.
IV. Other Fees

1. Party B shall pay other fees as required, including:

i. Party B shall pay the related fees such as fees for water and
electricity supply, heating, telephone and internet on schedule and in
accordance with the requirements of Party A.

ii. Any other fees to be borne by Party B (See Attachments).

2. In the event of any change on fees by the State, Party A may make an
adjustment to the rates pursuant to the national policies.

V. Method of Payment
1. Rent and Property Management Fee

Party B shall for the first time pay to Party A an amount equivalent to
three months' rents, and the property management fee, totaling RMBOne Hundred

of the lease term. The second rental payment, including the rent for next
quarter and the property management fee, shall be made within three days of the
expiration of the 3-month period.

2. Other fees



Party B shall, within three days of the receipt of the "Demand Note for Fee
Payment" from the Lessor, settle in full all other fees incurred in the previous
month.

3. Party B shall pay the rent, property management fee, security deposit and
other fees in United States Dollars or Renminbi. Such payment shall be
calculated at an exchange rate as published by the People's Bank of China on the
date when conversion takes place if it is made in United States Dollars.

4, During the term of the Lease Contract, Party B shall credit to the account
designated by Party A the rent and other fees, the payment of which will be
deemed as valid, unless otherwise received any written notice from Party A.

VI. Extension and Renewal of the Lease Contract

1. The Parties shall renew the Lease Contract within sixty days prior to
expiry of the lease term as stipulated herein if they wish to extend the lease
term. Party B shall be granted the priority right to rent the premises on the
same conditions offered provided that the terms hereof are guaranteed to be
strictly performed with no violation.

VII. Rights and Obligations of Party A and Party B
1. Rights and obligations of Party A

i. Party A shall hand over the premises to Party B on schedule and in
accordance with the requirement of the Lease Contract.

ii. Party A shall guarantee to provide Party B with the copies of
certification in connection with the premises subject to the laws of the PRC and
the relevant requirements of Beijing Municipality.

iii. Party A shall guarantee that the building is in good condition. Party
A shall be under an obligation to carry out inspection, repair and maintenance
regularly. In the event of any interruption in the supply of utilities of the
building due to major incidents or any factors beyond human control, Party A
shall work with relevant departments to carry out the repair and maintenance as
soon as possible, and Party B shall by no means refuse to pay, or delay in
payment of, the rent and other fees under the pretext of such interruption.

iv. Party A shall be responsible for the hygiene of public area.

V. Party A shall have the rights and obligations to assist Party B in
dealing with matters relating to property management.

vi. Party A may use the public utilities of the building, such as access
to the supply of water, electricity and gas, as well as communication. Party A
shall have the



right to send personnel to the premises leased by Party B to perform any
inspection, repair and maintenance work, provided that a prior notice is given
to Party B. However, this provision is not applicable in emergency situation.

vii. Party A shall have the right to bring along with it other potential
tenants to the premises leased by Party B for inspection within three months
prior to expiry hereof, provided that a written notice is served to Party B one
(1) day prior to the inspection.

2. Rights and Obligations of Party B

i. Party B shall pay the rent, management fee, expenses for power
supply and communication of the premises, and all other professional service
fees paid on its behalf in a timely manner.

ii. Party B shall keep the premises clean and tidy, including but not
limited to surface ground, whitewash, walls, floor slabs, ceilings and all the
fixtures and fittings such as doors and windows, electricity wires, electric
appliances and equipment. In the event that damages are done to the premises and
the public areas thereof are damaged by the employees or clients of the Lessee,
the expenses in connection with the repair work of Party A shall be fully borne
by Party B.

iii. Party B shall guarantee that no insurance for the building will
become invalid nor the insurance premium will be increased due to any pretext or
misconduct of any party. If Party A has to take out a new insurance as a result
of the breach by Party B of this clause, the additional premium paid by Party A
and other expenses in relation thereto shall be reimbursed by Party B to Party
A.

iv. Party B shall not transfer, sublease or otherwise assign or occupy
jointly with others any part of the premises.

V. In addition to the insurance of the building maintained by Party A,
Party B may take out by itself any insurance for its own safety.

vi. Party B shall fully observe and perform the Client's Handbook,
Guidelines and Rules for Renovation, and all applicable rules and regulations.
Party B shall conduct its business activities in the premises in compliance with
the laws, regulations and all the policies of the PRC and Beijing Municipality.
Party B shall be liable for compensation for any accidental loss suffered by
Party A due to its fault.

vii. Party B shall promptly inform Party A or the management company of
the building of any loss or incidents in relation to the premises leased by it.
Party B shall also be required to take preventive measures that are necessary
for precluding the premises from natural disasters or human-related destruction.
In the event of any damages to the premises resulting from the negligence or
default of Party B, Party B shall, within one month of the receipt of the
written notice from Party A or the management company of the building, restore
the premises to its original condition. If Party B fail to



restore the premises on time, Party A and the management company shall have the
right to perform the restoration work with all cost arising therefrom borne by
Party B.

viii. Unless with the written consent of Party A, Party B shall not have
the words Beijing International Qingyun Research and Development Center or
similar wordings or symbols or logos included in its business name.

VIII. Redevelopment of the Premises

Without the prior written consent of Party A, Party B shall not carry
out any redevelopment or renovation plan for or make an addition to the
premises.

IX. Loss and Damage

1. Party B shall be liable for any of its properties, and shall be solely
liable for any physical injury or loss of property caused by fire, explosion,
steam, water and power supply, any leakage of water, gas and electricity, and
moisture found on the roof of the building, surface ground, underground, various
pipelines and facilities of the building and any other places due to Party B's
fault, or any accident due to any other reasons in the case that its property is
taken care of by the personnel of Party A as authorized by Party B or other
parties on its behalf.

2. If a fire or other incident occurs in the building or the premises leased
by Party B or any defect does exist in the premises leased by Party B and any
fixtures and fittings or equipment attached thereto, Party B shall notify Party
A at once to deal with it promptly.

3. Party B shall compensate or indemnify Party A in full for any loss, penalty
or other economic loss suffered by and imposed on Party A due to the
non-performance or breach by Party B of any terms and conditions hereof within
five day after invoices are issued by Party A.

X. Breach of Contract and Liabilities

1. Party A shall be deemed as breach of contract if it fails to hand over to
Party B the premises and related equipment on time after the execution of the
Lease Contract by the Parties and the full settlement by Party B of all the
security deposit and first payment of rent. Party B shall have the right to
demand Party A to refund the rent in respect of the period for such delay.

2. Party B shall be deemed as breach of contract if it fails to pay the rent,
security deposit and other costs in a timely manner pursuant to the Lease
Contract and its supplemental clauses and payment list. A liquidate damage will
be charged at a rate of 0.3% for each day of delay.



3. In the event of the failure on the part of Party B to pay rent or
disbursement for more than 15 days, Party A shall be entitled to rescind the
Lease Contract and hold Party B liable for the breach of contract with all
losses solely borne by Party B.

4. If Party B fails to pay various expenses of the month when they incurred on
time for more than a week, Party A shall have the right to suspend the services
of communication, power and water supply provided to Party B.

5. Upon receipt from Party A of a demand note requesting Party B to pay the
telephone fee of the month when it incurred, Party A shall provide Party B with
a breakdown of the telephone fees issued by the telephone bureau in question and
any expenses relating to the enquiry thereof shall be borne by Party B.

6. When Party B is materially in violation of the terms of the Lease Contract
and its attachments or the supplemental agreement signed by it, Party A shall be
entitled to terminate the Lease Contract and lease out the premises to others.
Party A shall also have the right to deduct all or part of the security deposit
given by Party B as the compensation for any loss arising from such breach. If
the amount of the security deposit is not sufficient to cover the compensation,
Party A shall have the right to demand any shortfall of such compensation from
Party B.

7. Party B shall be deemed as breach of contract if it terminates the lease by
surrendering the premises to Party A prior to expiry of the Lease Contract due
to its own cause, Party A shall have the right to withhold the security deposit
equivalent to three months' rents paid by Party B as default penalty.

8. Party A shall be entitled to make claims against Party B for any breach of
contract resulting from the non-performance or violation by Party B of its
obligations stipulated in the other terms of the Lease Contract and the internal
management rules and regulations of the building until the termination hereof.

XI. Termination of Contract

1. If the premises is seriously destroyed by fire or otherwise, which makes it
impossible to be restored or causes Party A to decide to demolish the building,
Party A may promptly notify Party B in writing of such incident after it takes
place and the Lease Contract shall immediately be terminated upon receipt of
such notice. None of the Parties shall accordingly be liable for the liabilities
for breach of contract. No rent will be charged in respect of the premises from
the date on which it is destroyed.

2. In the event that the building has to be demolished because it cannot be
used anymore due to force majeure or is requisitioned by the State, Party A
shall refund the security deposit (excluding interest) to Party B and the Lease
Contract will be terminated automatically. Either Party hereto shall not hold
the other Party liable for such termination nor make compensation in respect
thereof.



XII. Waiver

Acceptance by Party A of any rent from Party B who is in default shall not
be constituted as a waiver of its right to such breach. No waiver of its rights
stipulated by the provisions hereof shall be made except by a written agreement
signed by Party A. Failure on the part of Party B to pay the rent or other
expenses in full shall not be constituted as Party A's acceptance of such amount
from the Lessee and this shall not affect Party A's right to demand for the
payment of any rent or expense in arrear from Party B and to take any other
measures as required by the Lease Contract or laws.

XIII. Notice

All notices shall be made in writing. All notes, declarations or lease
notices shall be given to the Lessee of the building or sent to its last known
address in Beijing and shall be deemed to have been duly served if they are sent
by registered mail. Any bills, payment slips or receipts may also be given or
received by the financial personnel designated by the finance department of the
Parties.

XIV. Dispute Resolution

This Lease Contract shall be prepared and construed by the laws of the
People's Republic of China. In the case of any disputes between Party A and
Party B in connection herewith that cannot be resolved by mutual consultation,
either Party may institute a legal action in respect thereof in any competent
People's court with jurisdiction.

XV. Business License

Party B must possess a business license signed by the PRC government upon
the execution of this Lease Contract and shall sent a copy thereof to Party A
for recordation. If Party B authorizes its representative to execute this Lease
Contract, Party B shall sign a letter of authorization in respect thereof and
send a copy thereof to Party A as an attachment to this Lease Contract.

XVI. Disposal of Security Deposit

1. The security deposit shall be refunded without interest within ten days
after the expiration hereof. If, upon expiry of the Lease Contract, Party B does
cause damages to the property of Party A or other expenses have not been fully
settled, Party A shall be entitled to deduct any amount from the security
deposit and returned the remainder to Party B.

2. If Party B delays in the payment of any rent for more than one month
during the term of the lease, Party A shall have the right to set off part of
the security deposit against the one-month rent and shall notify Party B in this
manner to pay the full amount of rent as soon as possible. In the case of
default payment of rent for two months,



Party A shall be entitled to terminate this Lease Contract and to demand Party B
to make compensation for any loss suffered by it.

XVII. Confidentiality of Contract

Party A and Party B shall be under an obligation to keep all the terms
hereof in confidence. Without the written consent of Party A and Party B, none
of them shall divulge the details of this Lease Contract to any third party. Any
loss caused by the disclosure of any information herein to a third party due to
the fault of a Party shall be fully borne by the defaulting party and the Party
suffering from losses thereby may reserve the right to demand for compensation
from the defaulting party.

Attachment to this Lease Contract: (attached hereto)

Any matter which is not covered hereby shall be negotiated separately by the
Parties, and a supplemental agreement shall be signed in respect thereof. The
supplemental agreement and this Lease Contract shall have the same legal effect.

XVIII. Effectiveness of the Contract

1. This Lease Contract shall become effective after it is signed by the
legal representative or attorney of the Parties.

2. No amendment and modification of this Lease Contract shall become
effective except by a written confirmation signed by the Parties.

3. This Lease Contract is executed in two counterparts. Party A and Party B
shall each keep a copy, all of which shall have the same legal effect.

Party A (Seal): Party B (Seal):

Legal Representative (Signature): Legal Representative (Signature):
(Signed)

Authorized Representative (Signature): Authorized Representative (Signature):

(Signed)

Dated November 25, 2003 Dated November 25, 2003



[LAYOUT PLAN]



Attachment 2

Supplemental Agreement
Party A:
Party B:

1. Party A shall be liable for breach of contract if the premise is not
in good condition due to its fault.

2. Due to the needs of the business operation of Party B, the term of
the Lease Contract will be extended for six months, commencing from December 24,
2005 to May 31, 2006. During the extension period, all leasing terms and
conditions shall be implemented in compliance with the Lease Contract.

Party A (Seal): Party B (Seal):

Legal Representative (Signature): Legal Representative (Signature):
(Signed)

Authorized Representative (Signature): Authorized Representative (Signature):

(Signed)

Dated November 25, 2003 Dated November 25, 2003



Qingyun International Research and Development Center

List of Charges of
Beijing Qingyun International Research and Development Center

Rent RMB3/day/m/2/ Payment shall include
the security deposit
equivalent to 3-month's
rents, and 3-months'
rents payable on

Fees payable quarterly basis
for the
Premises Management Fee RMBO.4/day/m/2/ Payment shall include

the security deposit
equivalent to 3-month's
rents, and 3-months'
rents payable on
guarterly basis

1. Deposit for Renovation RMB15/m/2/ Refundable (upon
presentation of receipt
and without interest)

2. Fee for Approval of Renovation RMB2/m/2/
Drawing Plan

4. Management Fee During Renovation RMB20/m/2/(GFA)
Period

period

6. Rubbish Disposal Cost in relation RMB5/m/2/(GFA)
to Renovation

7. Worker Permit Deposit: Refundable (upon
Fees payable RMB35/person presentation of receipt
during and without interest)
Renovation Cost:
RMB15/person
8. Lorry Parking Permit Deposit: Refundable (upon
RMB125/permit presentation of receipt
and without interest)
Cost:
RMB25/permit
9. Water Supply on Temporary RMB4.58/m/3/ Payable after the
Basis completion of
construction
10. Power Supply on Temporary RMB1.2/unit Payable after the
Basis completion of
construction
11. Installation Cost for
Air-conditioners and Pipelines
12. Water Discharge Expenses of RMB1, 500 Payable in a lump sum

Air-conditioners



13. Water Discharge Expense for RMB500 Payable in a lump sum
Fire Prevention

14. Relocation of Smoke Detectors RMB200/unit
'15. Additional Smoke Detectors RMB1,500/unit
16. Additional sprinklers RMB200/Unit
S 1. Leasing of Telephone Lines Deposit: Refundable upon expiry
RMB1,000/1ine

Maintenance Cost
of Telephone Line:

Fees for RMB50@/month/line
Telephone 2. Purchase of Telephone Lines Only leasing is
Facilities available
3. Relocation of Machines Line Cost: Cost for relocation of
RMB500/1ine (in machine shall be
a lump sum) charged in accordance
with the requirement
of telecommunication
department
1. Fee for Power Supply RMBO.88/unit To be measured by meter
for each household
2. Fee for Water Supply RMB4.58/m/3/ Included in the
property management fee
3. Fee for Gas Supply = meem e meeemon oo

Other Fees available in summer only) RMB2,100/month Fee for air-
conditioning in summer
shall be shared on the
basis of the fee for
power supply of each
floor

5. Fee for Heating To be charged in accordance with the
Basis of Business Charges of Beijing
Municipal Government Department

Parking Space on Surface Ground RMB350/parking space
Rented for Fixed Period

Parking Fee Parking Space on Surface Ground RMB1/hour (To be RMB3/hour (Two hours
for Outsiders confirmed) or more) (To be

confirmed)

Address: No. 43, North 3/rd/ Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC
Telephone No.: 8610-8213 4044 Fax: 8610-8213 4276
Postal Code: 100086



EXHIBIT 8.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF NETEASE.COM, INC

Jurisdiction of

Subsidiary Organization Ownership
NetEase Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. People's 100%
Republic of
China
NetEase Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. People's 100%
Republic of
China
NetEase Interactive Entertainment Ltd. British Vvirgin 100%
Islands
NetEase (U.S.) Inc. United States 100%
Guangzhou Boguan Telecommunication Technology People's 100%
Limited Republic of
China
Guangzhou NetEase Interactive Entertainment Limited People's 100%/1/
Republic of
China

Ltd.



Exhibit 10.1
Monternet SMS Cooperation Agreement
Party A: Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited
Legal Representative: Sha Yuejia
Communication address: No. 58, Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing
Post code: 100027
Telephone: 65546699
Fax: 65541330
Opening Bank:
Account No:
and
Party B: Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.
Legal Representative: Ding Lei
Communication address: Room 1901, Block East 3, Oriental Plaza, No. 1 Changan Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing
Post code: 100738
Telephone: 01085180163
Fax: 01085183617
Opening Bank: Guangzhou Haoshijie Branch Office, Agricultural Bank of China
Account No: 037601040000947

Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Party A”) is a mobile communications operator and mobile data service
provider to provide open communications channels services to the application providers with a fee.

1



Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as the “Party B”) is a company engaged in value-added communications services
approved by telecommunication authorities to provide SMS value-added services to subscribers of Party A.

For the purposes of giving better application services to subscribers, the parties have reached the following agreement with respect to Monternet SMS cooperation
in accordance with the principles of equal benefit, advantage sharing, and mutual development.

Article 1 Overview of Cooperation

1. Basic conditions for cooperation

(1) Party B shall be in full compliance with the requirements provided under the Edict of State Council of the People’s Republic of China (No. 292), Internet
Contents/Application Services Administration Measures, having the qualifications to operate internet information services, capable to provide integrated after-
sale services, and having legal and reliable information sources.

(2) If Party B is a partner of local category of Party A, Party B shall use Party A’s SMS channel to provide Monternet SMS services only to subscribers of China
Mobile in the Beijing area.

(3) Party B shall provide to Party A detailed business description and marketing plan in writing in a timely manner.

(4) Party A shall conduct regular review on Party B according to administration measures of Monternet and, if Party B fails pursuant to review criteria, Party A
may terminate cooperation with Party B.

Article 2 Rights and Obligations
1. Party A’s Rights and Obligations

(1) Party A shall permit Party B to use Party A’s SMS gateway to provide value-added SMS services to subscribers. Party A has the right to adjust SMS service
volume according to the capacity of its SMS center and, if such adjustment may affect Party B’s business, Party A shall inform Party B of such adjustment in
timely manner.

(2) Party A shall provide complete GSM communications system and ensure its stability and smoothness. Party B shall inform Party A of any breakdown found
with the system and Party A shall resolve such problem promptly to prevent disruption of Party B’s operation.
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(3) Party A shall make accessible to Party B relevant technology agreement standards and interface standards relating to SMS gateway platform and technical
files required for communications between the parties so as to solve relevant problems encountered by Party B on communications.

(4) Party A shall contribute the hardware and software system required for SMS platform and bear operation expenses relating thereto.
(5) Party A shall reform its billing system, including a fee collection system with banks and relevant hardware and software.

(6) Party A shall bill and collect fees on behalf of Party B. Party A shall have the right to examine the businesses of Party B to ensure accuracy of billing
information. Party A shall provide to subscribers clear invoice for any billing and billing statement if required by subscribers.

(7) Party A shall, if conditions permit, provide to Party B information relating to invalid subscribers of Monternet (the subscribers whose number has been
cancelled, or whose mobile phone service has been suspended, or who has defaulted in fee payment) to enable Party B to undertake corresponding treatment for
such subscribers.

(8) Both parties shall jointly undertake marketing and promotion work.

2. Party B’s Rights and Obligations:

(1) Party B shall be responsible for the construction and maintenance of its own hardware and software, including without limitation all hardware equipment,
system commissioning, connecting, maintenance, daily service management, market promotion and expenses.

(2) Party B shall provide to subscribers of China Mobile contents and application services within the agreed scope. Party B shall ensure its information source
legal, timely and reliable. Party B shall ensure its contents in compliance with state regulations, policies and orders, and shall bear all consequences arising from
any violation thereof.

(3) Party B shall provide a website at http://www.163.com as the customized interface for subscribers to understand Party’s contents and services. Such interface
shall include at least such basic functions of certification, addition, cancellation, modification and inquiry. Inquiry for an information tariff shall also be provided
at the webpage. Party B shall provide to subscribers a clear tariff which shall be stable, no shorter than six months. Party B shall keep business records of all
subscribers for at least three months and keep for perpetuity the ordering record of subscribers, and also provide Party A with the connection point for business
inquiry.




(4) Party B shall take necessary measures to control invalid subscribers of Monternet and, to promote normal development of Monternet business, shall not
knowingly send any information to such subscribers

(5) If Party B’s system fails and such failure affect Party A’s communications system, Party B shall subject to Party A’s adjustment which is aimed to restore
stability of SMS services. Any dispute with subscribers arising therefrom shall be settled and any consequences resulting from such dispute shall be borne by
Party B.

(6) Party B shall not publish such irrelevant information as advertisement on the communications channel provided by Party B. Party B shall reinforce
examination of SMS contents and restrict the number of group SMS (no more than two pieces each time) and number of SMS within a certain time (no more than
100 pieces within an hour); Party B shall take effective technology measures to prevent hacker attack, stealth of secrets, illegal use of webpage and other illegal
activities that may jeopardize information security of Monternet.

(7) During the term of this Agreement, Party B shall provide Party A with reports on the subscriber development, subscriber category, subscriber habit, business
forecast and subscriber information necessary for the administration of Party B’s services no later than the 5th of each month. Details of a monthly report is
described in Attachment 1. Party A owes confidential obligation to such information pursuant to Article 8.

(8) Both parties shall jointly undertake marketing and promotion work.

Article 3 Allocation of Rights and Obligations

1. Party B shall be responsible for subscriber complaints arising from the content of information, service, or bad communication between Party A and Party B.
Party A shall be responsible for subscriber complaints concerning SMS gateway and SMS center. For detailed maintenance responsibilities, please see the
following diagram:

[Diagram]

2. The content or applications provided by Party B shall exceed the service scope agreed upon by the parties, otherwise Party A shall have the right to terminate
this agreement, and Party B shall be liable for breach hereof. Party A has the right to supervise the operation of Party B’s service, and Party B shall cooperate with
Party A in this respect, so to avoid any damages to Party A’s normal operation arising from Party B’s service. In the event that Party B violates the provisions of
this agreement in its service and causes any negative impact upon Party A’s normal operation, Party A shall have the right to terminate this agreement, and Party
B shall be liable for such breach.

3. If Party B needs to increase or reduce certain service relating to the cooperation hereunder, or change the price of a certain service, it shall submit a written
suggestion to Party A in advance. If Party A agrees with Party B in changing the price of a certain
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service, Party A shall notify Party B in writing to implement such change; if Party A agrees in writing that Party B can add a certain service, Party B shall conduct
testing on the newly added service, and submit to Party A a testing report on a periodic basis. The proposed new service shall be introduced to the market only
upon Party A’s examination and approval. For detailed provisions in this respect, please see Exhibit 2.

Article 4 Profit Distribution

1. Party A shall charge at 0.10 yuan per message to the communication fees arising from Party A’s cell phone subscriber using the SMS service provided in this
agreement. In principle, Party B shall decide the information service fees arising from subscriber’s use of the services hereunder, and submit to China Mobile for
approval. Party A propose a price cap (price cap for entry payment shall be 2 yuan per message, and price cap for monthly payment shall be 30 yuan per month).
Party B shall submit the specific price that is standard to the authority in charge of pricing, and timely notify Party A of the relevant charging standard.

2. Party A shall provide Party B with the service of billing and collection of information service fees. In each billing month, all the information service fees of
subscribers in Beijing shall be the receivable information service fees of Beijing area. Party A shall pay Party B at 85% of the information service fee receivable
in the Beijing area, and shall assume the risk of defaulting of subscribers in this area. If Party B is a network cooperative partner of Party A (Party B provides
Monternet SMS value-added service to the nationwide subscribers of China Mobile), the information service fees of other provinces and municipalities shall be
information service fees receivable by mobile telecom companies of such provinces and municipalities. Mobile telecom companies of other provinces and
municipalities shall collect such information service fees, and allocate to Party A according to the settlement ratio provided herein (that is, 85% of the information
service fees receivable of the local mobile telecom company), and Party A shall transfer to Party B all the information service fees received from mobile telecom
companies of other provinces and municipalities.

3. With respect to the unbalanced communication fees of each month arising from the difference between the number of messages that Party B sends to
nationwide subscribers (downlinking SMS) and messages that subscribers send to Party B (uplinking SMS), Party A shall charge to Party B at 0.05-0.10 yuan per
message. For details, please see the following table:

piece/month Yuan/piece X= (MT-MO)piece/month

Below 100k 0.08 X*0.08, minimum 2000 Yuan

100k-300k 0.07 (X-100k)*0.07+100k*0.08

300k-1mm 0.06 (X-300k)*0.06+200k*0.07+100k*0.08

Above 1mm 0.05 (X-1mm)*0.05+700k*0.06+200k*0.07+100k*0.08
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Article 5 Method of Settlement

1. Settlement point: to be set up according to Party A’s requirement.

2. Method of settlement:

(1) Party B shall connect with Party A’s SMS center via Party A’s SMS gateway, billing data shall be based on the statistics of Party A’s SMS gateway. Settlement
shall be conducted monthly between the 15th and 20th of the current month regarding the fess accrued from the first day to the last day of the previous month.
Upon conclusion of the normal billing accounting period, Party A shall sum up the information service fees receivable by Party B for the current month, and the
unbalanced communication fees payable to Party A, according to which the parties shall conduct settlement of service fees.

(2) The parties shall conduct settlement on the information service fees receivable in the current month that is indicated by Party A’s billing system. The amount
for settlement shall be calculated at 85% of the information service fees less the unbalanced communication fees collected from Party B. If the net amount is a
positive number, Party A shall pay the net amount to Party B, and receive a service invoice from Party B; if the net amount is a negative number, Party B shall
pay the net amount to Party A, and receive a service invoice from Party A. The party receiving the payment shall issue and deliver an invoice to the paying party
within three days after receipt of such payment (to be testified by the post mark of the local post office).

(3) The parties shall conduct the settlement and payment in strict compliance with the provisions concerning settlement method and settlement cycle. If any party
fails to pay the settlement fees beyond the date of payment (20th of each month), such party shall pay the receiving party liquidated damages at 1% each day. If
the defaulting party fails to pay the amount in arrears after two months upon notification, the receiving party shall have the right to file a lawsuit against the
defaulting party, and the defaulting party shall be liable for the legal consequences arising therefrom.

Article 6 Promotion

1. Party A and Party B jointly carry out service promotions in the principle of mutual benefit and cooperation.

2. Party A shall in principle exclusively promote the “Monternet” service and its major applications, and shall not separately promote such Monternet services
under the cooperation between the parties.

3. Party B shall be solely responsible for the promotion of its own brand and relevant Monternet services, and shall concurrently promote the “Monternet” brand.
Party B shall strictly observe the specifications of the brand in the use of the “Monternet” logo, and shall not make any unauthorized change to the form or color
thereof, and shall file with Party A for the records prior to the formal launch of the logo.
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4. Party B shall not use the “Monternet” brand outside the scope of marketing of Monternet service, otherwise Party A shall have the right to require Party B
cease the use of the brand and be liable for any consequences therefrom, and, if the case is serious, be prosecuted for criminal liabilities.

5. Party B shall indicate the customer service phone number or website, complaint E-mail on a significant place at the promotion materials and relevant media
advertisement for Monternet the service. Party B shall not use the product of China Unicom’s competitors as the reward for Monternet service promotion.
Article 7 Customer Service

1. The Monternet SMS that subscribers receive shall be such information that subscribers have ordered or customized. Party B shall guarantee the healthiness and
legality of the content of SMS in its provision of the SMS service. Party A has the right to examine the content of Party B’s SMS, and strengthen control on the
content provided by Party B; for detailed method of management, please see Exhibit 3.

2. Party B shall guarantee that subscribers have fully understood the basic elements of Monternet service prior to the use thereof, which shall include price,
frequency for SMS sending, method of use, and major content.

3. Party A shall be responsible for customer inquiry and complaint arising from the problem in the communication network.

4. With respect to the Monternet service, Party A’s customer service center 1860 and each major business hall shall be responsible for dealing with customer
inquiry and complaint, among which, issues regarding to information content and service shall be diverted by Party A to the customer service center of Party B
for a specific solution.

5. Party B shall establish a 24-hour service hotline, and shall notify its customers of the hotline on the website or promotional materials.
6. Party B shall appoint a person taking charge of customer complaint, and ensure that the complaint be responded to within one day of the complaint.

7. For the purpose of helping the subscribers understand the service provided by Party B, Party B shall process free of charge such downlinking SMS regarding
service recommendation, customer service instruction and customer password acquisition, and shall not charge the customers for the information service fee in
delivering service notice messages (such as price, customization confirmation, customer service hotline, and un-subscribing of service.

8. With respect to SMS service that charged the information service fee on a monthly basis, if the period for customers using the service is longer than half a
month



but less than one month, Party B may charge customers with the information service fee for the whole month; if the period for customers using the service is less
than half a month, Party B shall not charge customers with the information service fee for the current month.

9. With respect to customers customizing service via the Internet, Party B shall display the basic element information about the service at a significant place on
the web page prior to the customization by customers. Upon successful customization, Party B shall deliver an informative message which shall include
“Acknowledgment to Customer,” “Confirmation of Successful Customization,” “Rate for Information Service Fee,” “Frequency of Message Delivery,” “Method
of Service Un-subscription,” and “Customer Service Phone Number/Website.”

10. With respect to subscribers that customize service through cell phones, Party B shall send back informative messages to subscribers (including paid
subscribers and third party subscribers), the content of which shall include “Acknowledgment to Customer,” “Confirmation of Successful Customization,” “Rate
for Information Service Fee,” “Frequency of Message Delivery,” “Method of Service Un-subscription,” and “Customer Service Phone Number,” and “Website”
(optional).

11. With respect to initial ordering obtained through ground marketing promotion (such as filling forms), Party B shall finally confirm the real ordering
relationship only after sending a repeat confirmation message (basic element information about the service) and being confirmed by customers through a
password.

Article 8 Termination of Cooperation

1. Party B shall not send any message to invalid subscribers of Monternet. If Party B knowingly sends any message to invalid subscribers of Monternet, Party A
shall have the right to require Party B compensate the economic loss arising from subscribers’ defaulting in payment, and to terminate this Agreement and
cooperation with Party B.

2. Party B shall be responsible to ensure that the content of SMS is not in violation of the “PRC Telecommunication Regulations,” “Administrative Measures on
Internet Information Service,” and other relevant laws and regulations, and shall not distribute any information damaging the security and interest of the State or
SMS containing reactionary or pornographic content; Party B shall ensure that the information provided shall not damage the corporate image of China Mobile;
without Party A’s prior consent in writing, Party B shall not use the SMS port provided by Party A to send advertisement or other irrelevant information to mobile
service subscribers. Upon an identified violation, Party B shall compensate Party A for economic loss, and Party A shall have the right to terminate this
Agreement and the cooperation with Party B.

3. If Party A receives a customer complaint indicating that Party B has sent an unsolicited message, Party A shall notify Party B of such complaint, and Party B
shall verify the reason thereof; Party A shall not charge a service fee to such customer, if any
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fee has been charged, it should be refunded to the customer. Party A has the right to terminate this Agreement and the cooperation with Party B according to the
seriousness of the customer complaint of the current month.

4. For the purpose of guaranteeing the normal operation of Monternet service, Party B shall not directly or indirectly provide cross-operator SMS service,
including domestic cross-operator and cross-border SMS service, and shall not provide services solely in the nature of a fee collection agent through Party A’s
SMS system. Upon an identified violation, Party B shall compensate Party A for economic loss, and Party A shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and
the cooperation with Party B.

5. If Party A receives a relevant customer complaint and delivers it to Party B for treatment, Party B shall be responsible for giving an initial reply to Party A’s
customer service department within two hours thereafter, and verify the reason within one working day and resolve customer complaint in a satisfactory way.
Party A has the right to deduct from distribution of the current at 500 yuan per customer complaint as the liquidated damages, and to terminate this Agreement
and cooperation with Party B according to the seriousness thereof.

Article 9 Confidentiality

(1) “Proprietary Information” means such information received by one party from the other party (the “Disclosing Party”) that is developed, created, discovered
or learned by the Disclosing Party, or transferred to the Disclosing Party, and is of commercial value to the business of the Disclosing Party, including but not
limited to relevant commercial secret, intellectual property rights and technical know-how.

(2) The parties shall keep confidential any and all Proprietary Information, and without prior written consent of the Disclosing Party, shall not use or disclose such
Proprietary Information such as technical secrets and commercial secrets to any third parties.

(3) Both parties shall be responsible to keep confidential this cooperation and the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Without prior written consent of the
other Party, neither Party shall disclose to any third party details of the cooperation between the parties and the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Article 10 Liability for Breach

The non-performance of any provision hereunder shall be deemed as breach of this Agreement. Upon the receipt by any party of a written notice specifying
such breach, if such party confirms the existence of the breach, it shall rectify such breach within 20 days and notify the other party in writing; if such party
believes that there is no breach, it shall submit to the other party an objection or notice in writing within 20 days, under which circumstance, the parties may
negotiate on such issue, and, failing an agreement



through negotiation, the breaching party shall bear economic loss to the non-breaching party arising from such breach.

Article 11 Force Majeure

Any party hereto shall not be held responsible for the other party’s economic losses or the failure or delay to perform all or any part of this Agreement due
to force majeure events that could not be predicted and the result of which cannot be controlled or prevented. However, the party affected by such force majeure
events shall promptly provide the other party with written notice of such occurrence and, within 15 days thereafter, send a valid certificate issued by the relevant
authority explaining the details of such events and the reason for its failure or delay to perform all or any part of this Agreement. Upon elimination of such force
majeure impact, either party or both parties shall continue the performance of this Agreement.

Article 12 Dispute Resolution

Disputes arising from or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled through negotiation between the parties, and failing such a negotiation, either
party can submit the dispute to Beijing Arbitration Committee for arbitration according to the rules of arbitration. The award of such arbitration shall be final and
biding upon both parties.

Article 12 Effectiveness, Modification and Renewal

(1) This Agreement shall become effective as of May 1, 2003, until October 31, 2003. If the parties have no objection to this Agreement during the term hereof,
this Agreement shall renewed for another half year. If any party hereto arises any objection, it shall notify the other party in writing within 30 days prior to the
expiration of this Agreement.

(2) This Agreement is 13 pages (Chinese version) in length, with 6 original duplicates, being executed and affixed with the official chop of both parties; each
party holds 3 duplicates, each of which having the same legal effect.

(3) The exhibits of this Agreement constitute an integral part of this Agreement, with the same legal effect.

(4) During the term of this Agreement, the parties any modify relevant terms of this Agreement or terminate this Agreement through amicable negotiations. If any
party hereto intends to modify or terminate this Agreement, it shall provide written notice to the other party at least 30 days in advance. The party unitarily
terminates this Agreement shall be fully liable to compensate the other party for loss arising therefrom.
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Party A: (official chop of Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited)
Representative of Party A: (signature)

Party B: (official chop of Guangzhou Netease Co., Ltd.)

Representative of Party B: (signature)

List of Exhibits:
Exhibit 1: Table of Monthly Statistic on Monternet Business

Exhibit 2: Workflow Regarding Addition of New Business
Exhibit 3: Procedures on the Administration of the SMS Contents of Monternet Business
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Exhibit 1: Table of Monthly Statistic on Monternet Business

Table 1: SMS service of Entire Network

Enterprise Newly Number of Number of Paid
Code of Registered Subscribers This Subscribers Number of Incoming

No SP Name of SP Subscribers Month This Month and Outgoing SMS

Table 2: Regional SMS service

Newly Number of Number of Paid
Enterprise Registered Subscribers This Subscribers This Number of Incoming

No Code of SP Name of SP Subscribers Month Month and Outgoing SMS

Notes for Form Filling:

1. Number of newly registered subscribers: the number of newly registered subscribers logged in and registered at the server of a particular SP through various
channels.

2. Number of subscribers this month: the number of subscribers who use the SMS service of SP at least once this month.

3. Number of paid subscribers this month: the number of registered subscribers who use fee-based service of SP this month.

4. Number of incoming and outgoing SMS: all SMS sent out from the server of SP and received by the gateway of our company this month.

5. Table 1 to be completed by a SP who applies for SMS service of entire network; Table 2 to be completed by a SP who applies for regional SMS service.
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Exhibit 2: Workflow Regarding Addition of New Business

1. Party B shall make an application for new business in a standard form five days prior to the end of the preceding month. Any new business submitted after the
deadline will be automatically carried forward to the next cycle.

2. Party A shall, within three working days from the receipt of the application with regard to new business from Party B, give a definite reply as to whether a test
on business is allowed.

3. The testing period of Party B shall start from the date which is 25 days prior to the end of the preceding month. Party B shall send a testing report to Party A on
a timely basis. Party A will do verification according to the testing report and shall send its feedbacks regarding the verification to Party B. Party A will not
accept any testing report which has been submitted after the deadline;

4. If, the Parties confirm that the test is passed following its completion, Party A will, within five days thereafter, give a definite reply to Party B regarding the
timing of the official operation of the business. In the case of failure, the test shall be terminated or a new test shall be conducted in the next cycle.

Remarks: If China Mobile Communications Corp. releases any related business administration procedures, these procedures shall prevail.
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Exhibit 3: Procedures on the Administration of the SMS Contents of Monternet Business
CHAPTER 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1 In order to ensure the healthy development of the projects of Monternet, safeguard the long-term interest of operators as well as cooperation parties, and
to protect the legitimate interests of customers, Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited [FOREIGN LANGUAGE APPEARS HERE] hereby
formulates these Procedures on the Administration of the SMS Contents of Monternet Services in accordance with the Procedures on Internet Information
Services of the PRC and the Procedures on Examination and Administration of SMS Contents of Monternet Business of China Mobile Communications Corp.

Article 2 Based on the principles of equality and fairness, these Procedures shall deal with the supervision and administration of all the SMS contents provided by
the services providers of Monternet in an open and transparent manner.

Article 3 These Procedures shall be supplemented and amended from time to time according to the changes of market and the latest version hereof shall prevail.
CHAPTER 2 REQUIREMENTS OF SMS CONTENTS

Article 4 SMS with text in any languages shall not be used for personal attack against the mobile phone subscribers of the company in an impolite and unhealthy
manner.

Article 5 SMS with text in any languages shall not be used for inflicting damage to the image of China Mobile.

Article 6 SMS with text in any languages shall not be used for transmitting unhealthy ideas such as obscene or filthy messages.

Article 7 SMS with text in any languages shall not be used for misleading customers into deception, which, as a result, causes losses to them.
CHAPTER 3 INSPECTION METHOD

Article 8 Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited will carry out random checks on the SMS contents of Monternet’s services providers on an
irregular basis.

Article 9 Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited will regularly conduct surveys to enable customers to show the degree of their satisfaction on
the healthiness of the SMS contents of services providers.

Article 10 The customer service center 1860 operated by Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited shall be responsible for dealing with any
complaints over SMS contents from customers.
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CHAPTER 4 HANDLING METHOD

Article 11 After identifying and confirming unhealthy SMS contents from any channels, Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited will serve the
services provider concerned with the first written warning and demand that it amend the contents in question within three days after the receipt thereof.

Article 12 If the service provider fails to make any amendment within the given time, Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited will serve it the
second serious written warning and demand that it check and amend the contents on its SMS websites within three days after the receipt thereof.

Article 13 In the event that the service provider fails to amend its SMS contents after the second warning is given, Beijing China Mobile Communications
Company Limited will, having regards to the seriousness of the case, impose punishments by terminating its contract with the services provider and requiring the
amendment to be made within a particular time.

Article 14 If any services providers are found to have problems in various random checks, and customers have complained about them several times and the
service providers committed the same mistakes repeatedly after remedies, Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited will, having regards to the
seriousness of the case, impose punishments by terminating its contract with the services provider and requiring the amendment to be made within particular time.

CHAPTER 5 BYE-LAWS
Article 16 These Procedures shall be solely interpreted by the Marketing Department of Beijing China Mobile Communications Company Limited.
Article 17 These Procedures shall be implemented from the date of promulgation on May 2001.
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This AGREEMENT is made in Beijing, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) on April 22, 2003 by and between:

[China Unicom Co., Ltd.] (“Party A”), a company established and validly existing under the laws of the PRC with its address at [No. A133, Xidan Street North,
Xicheng District, Beijing City, the PRC] and [ Yang Xianzu] as its legal representative;

[Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Company Limited (“Party B”), a company established and validly existing under the laws of the PRC with its address at
[203 of West Side, No. 25 Jianhua Road and Keyun Road, Zhongshan Main Street, Tianhe District, Guangzhou City] and [William Ding] as its legal
representative.

CHAPTER 1 PURPOSE

WHEREAS:

1. Party A is a telecommunications company approved by the competent department of the Ministry of Information Industry under the State Council and engaging
in the provision of basic and value-added telecommunication services to the general public throughout the PRC, and has its own telecommunication infrastructure
network, a data service platform, a system of sales of services and an exclusive client base. Party A has the full authority to execute and perform this Agreement.

2. Party B is a content provider (“CP”)/services provider (“SP”) legally engaging in the provision of contents/services in connection with the mobile data
business, possesses appropriate qualifications for the operation of the cooperation business herein contained and has obtained the following qualification
certification:

a Business License of Enterprise Legal Person No. 4401012006635;

b. Business Operation Permit for Telecommunication and Information Services;

c. Business Operation Permit for Telecommunication Value-added Services No. ; and

d. Qualification certification in relation to qualification conditions and/or the passing of a test on the business recognized by Party A.

Party B has the full authority to execute and perform this Agreement, and intends to provide the content services of a mobile data business by making full
use of the mobile communication network and the data service platform owned by Party A.



Based on the principles of mutual benefits and advantage sharing, and for the purpose of achieving a win-win situation resulting from the development and
improvement of China Unicom’s mobile data business, the Parties have therefore signed this Cooperation Agreement.

CHAPTER 2 DEFINITIONS

This Agreement has the following defined terms. Other related terms not expressly defined herein shall be construed in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations or the laws of the PRC or the requirements of governmental authority. In the case of no clear interpretation of such terms available in any law,
industry practice can be taken as reference.

2.1 CP/SP
CP is the abbreviation of, and shall mean, Content Provider. For the purposes of this Agreement, CP shall mean a provider who delivers information

contents that are solely used in the service.

SP is the abbreviation of, and shall mean, Services Provider. For the purposes of this Agreement, SP is a professional service body engaging in the
provision of communication and information services. SP may be a network operator or a provider who offers comprehensive services to its clients by grouping
together the businesses of any other network providers.

The term “CP/SP” used herein shall mean all the professional bodies which are willing to cooperate with Party A, and provide various mobile data services
to the subscribers of Party A’s mobile communication network through its mobile communication network and data service platform.

2.2 Subscribers

Subscribers shall mean natural persons, legal persons or other organizations gaining access to the mobile communication network and data service platform
of Party A via mobile terminals or other telecommunication terminals recognized by Party A, and giving their acceptance of the mobile data services of Party A
and Party B on a voluntary basis.

2.3 Mobile Data Service

Mobile Data Service shall mean any data service provided through the mobile communication network of Party A and its related application.

2.4 Mobile Communication Network and Data Service Platform



In this Agreement, Mobile Communication Network shall mean the infrastructure facilities in connection with the mobile communication service provided
by Party A. Data Service Platform shall mean the service platform that is newly added and specifically designed for certain or several data services that is built on
top of the Mobile Communication Network, including, but without limitation, features such as the provision of ports to the Subscribers and CP/SP, service
management and fee calculation.

2.5 Services Supporting System

Services Supporting System shall mean the system in relation to the administration of the Subscribers and certification, billing and settlement, as well as
business accounts that are necessary for the normal operation of the services.
2.6 Communication Channels

Communication Channels shall mean the physical and logical connection provided for communication between the Subscribers in the mobile
communication system.
2.7 Connectors

Connectors shall mean the connecting devices used during the communication connection between the Data Service Platform and the Mobile
Communication Network, and the Data Service Platform and the application servers provided by CP/SP, including URL addresses and other parameters.

2.8 Data Flow

Data Flow shall mean the inflow or outflow of communications traffic through the Data Service Platform.

2.9 Tests

Tests shall mean the tests on any business provided by CP/SP with the application of certain instruments and methods. These may include the tests on
network connection, conformity of ports and function tests, etc. so as to ensure that the services are in compliance with the official requirements of operations.

2.10 Grace Period for Withdrawal of Services

In the case of the termination of any services provided by CP/SP, CP/SP shall notify the Subscribers promptly of its termination of services within a certain
period of time prior to the termination so as to mitigate any loss that may be suffered by the Subscribers as a result of the termination. During such period, Party B
shall continue to provide services to the Subscribers pursuant to its subscriber agreements with them, and the period for provision of continuous services shall be
referred to as the Grace Period for Withdrawal of Services.



2.11 Connection Points of Equipment

Connection Points of Equipment shall mean the place where connection between two physical and logical equipments is available.

2.12 Interface Maintenance

A service system required for provision of services to the Subscribers is made of several parts and the maintenance thereof is carried out by different
responsible parties. Interface Maintenance shall refer to the surface where division of maintenance obligations between responsible parties takes place.
2.13 System Maintenance

System Maintenance shall mean the day-to-day maintenance and breakdown maintenance that are necessary for the normal operation of the service system.

2.14 Gateway

Gateway shall mean the equipment which allows the exchange of agreements and system connections.

2.15 Subscribers’ Customization

Subscribers’ Customization shall mean the confirmation by the Subscribers of the conditions subject to which the acceptance of service is given and their
acceptance of service on a voluntary basis.
2.16 7 X 24 hours

7 X 24 hours shall mean 7 days a week and 24 hours a day without any break during public holidays and festivals.

2.17 Communication Fees

Communication Fees shall mean the cost arising from the use by the Subscribers or CP/SP of the network resources of Party A. The Communication Fees
will be charged to the Subscribers or CP/SP by Party A, and shall inure to the benefit of Party A.



2.18 Information Services Charges

Information Services Charges shall mean the charges other than the Communication Fees incurred from the use by the Subscribers of any content
information or application services provided by CP/SP. Given that Party A provides connection service, client service and fees calculation and collection services,
the Information Services Charges shall be shared by Party A and Party B on a pro rata basis.

2.19 Enterprise Code

Enterprise Code shall mean the abbreviation of the “CP/SP Enterprise Code of the Mobile Data Service of China Unicom,” which is the enterprise logo of
Party B solely recognized by Party A.

CHAPTER 3 SCOPE OF BUSINESS COOPERATION AND INTERFACE

3.1 Party A shall provide Party B with the Communication Channels and resources on network subscribers with consideration. By making use of its client service,
its billing system and the Services Supporting System, Party A shall also provide Party B with connection service, client service, fee calculation and collection
services (see Exhibit 1 for the basis and method of billing and settlement) with consideration.

3.2 The Enterprise Code assigned by Party A to Party B shall be 60004.

3.3 Party A warrants that the Enterprise Code assigned to Party B shall be exclusive and non-changeable. The Parties acknowledge that the system of Party A
shall include but not be limited to the billing and settlement system, the data service platform system and the client services system. The Enterprise Code assigned
by Party A to Party B and the enterprise name of Party B as a legal-person entity shall have the same binding effect.

3.4 Party B shall provide its client with the Mobile Data Services described in Exhibit 2 by making use of the Mobile Communication Network and data service
platform operated by Party A.

3.5 Upon the commencement of the Mobile Data Service (including any changes therein), Party B shall have obtained a written document certifying the passing
of tests imposed by Party A. Party A shall, at the request of Party B, have an obligation to issue the written document after the test of Party B’s service and
confirmation of its ability to develop the Mobile Data Service.

3.6 Prior to the provision of the Mobile Data Service to the Subscribers of Party A by any means, Party B shall notify such Subscribers in detail of all the material
information such as the content, form and charges of the service. No notification thereof must contain information that is less than that set forth in Exhibit 3. Party
B may start providing the service to the Subscribers subject to the completion of the aforesaid notification and the confirmation and/or acknowledgment by the
Subscribers of their acceptance of the mobile data value-added service. Without prior written approval of Party A, Party B shall not



require the Subscribers to customize their services and then charge them with any related cost in a compulsory manner such as by saying “An acceptance is
inferred by the acquiesce of the Subscribers”, or “An acceptance of services shall be deemed if service is not cancelled by phone or SMS”, or impose any
additional burdens that are unnecessary on the Subscriber therefrom.

3.7 During the term of this Agreement, each of Party A and Party B shall be responsible for maintenance of their respective interfaces with the Connection Points
of Equipment as the drawing line. Please refer to Exhibit 4 for details.

3.8 During the term of this Agreement, Party B shall provide Party A with any reports on data including the development, classification, and habits of the
Subscribers and the projection of business development as required by Party A, and shall deliver to Party A on a timely basis any information of the Subscribers
that is necessary for the management of the service, as well as ensure that the subscriber database of Party A is updated on a real-time basis.

3.9 In the development of the Mobile Data Service, Party B shall agree to strictly observe the procedures on the administration of the Mobile Data Service, the
standards of service quality and client service, and other requirements of any applicable documents prepared and to be prepared from time to time by Party A.

3.10 During the cooperation between the Parties, Party B who adds any new services to the Mobile Data Service or changes its business scope and pricing, etc.,
shall be subject to the billing test of Party A and approved by Party A in writing.

3.11 Party A and Party B may individually or collectively market the Mobile Data Service by whatever means pursuant to their needs.

3.12 Party A shall have the right to negotiate with Party B in respect of the marketing of the Mobile Data Service with relevant materials marked with the brand
name of China Unicom and having been examined by Party A.

3.13 Unless requested by Party A and with its written consent, Party B may individually use the name and logo of Party A and any other information relating to it
in the marketing activities of the Mobile Data Service.

3.14 All liabilities arising from the provision by any third party of the Mobile Data Service of any kind through the Interface Maintenance to the Subscribers shall
be borne by Party B. Party A shall have no responsibility for the Subscribers and the third party thereby.



CHAPTER 4 INTERFACE FOR ADMINISTRATION OF CLIENT SERVICE
4.1 The Parties shall establish a 7 X 24 hours telephone hotline service center.

4.2 The client complaint center or consultation center of Party A shall refer to Party B any questions that are not related to Party A. Party B shall, within one (1)
hour following receipt thereof, give Party A a preliminary reply or response to the Subscriber directly, and shall ultimately provide answers or solutions to the
questions concerned.

4.3 Party B shall not instruct the Subscribers to directly contact Party A on their own on the ground that the inquiries or complaints received by Party B are
regarded as questions for Party A. If Party B believes that such inquiries or complaints received are in fact questions for Party A, the customer service personnel
or client service system of Party B shall offer assistance to Party A in analyzing and handling such questions and, within one (1) hour following receipt thereof,
shall contact Party A and refer the questions to it after its confirmation.

4.4 In the event that either party fails to determine who shall take the responsibility for the inquiries or complaints received by it, such party shall, within one (1)
hour following receipt thereof, contact the other party and shall check clearly the situation and help the clients solve their problems. No responsibility shall be
shifted between them.

CHAPTER 5 SECURITY OF MOBILE DATA SERVICE

5.1 During the operation of the service, Party A shall have the right to conduct necessary tests and gather data statistics at all times on the services provided by
Party B pursuant to its needs, and, based on the test results, request Party B to modify its services in compliance with the administration requirements of Party A
with regard to the Mobile Data Service.

5.2 Party A shall have the right to exercise control over, and make adjustment to, the Data Flow and the Connectors of the Interface Maintenance operated by
Party A, and shall notify Party B of the result of any adjustments it has made.

5.3 Party B warrants that the services provided by it do not pose any material and potential risks that may cause harm to the Mobile Communication Network, the
Data Service Platform or the benefits of other Subscribers of Party A due to its own service or its service being taking advantage of by individual subscribers.

5.4 Party B shall abide by applicable PRC regulations, orders and policies with regard to telecommunication and Internet information. Party B warrants that the
contents of the information service provided by it will not be in violation of relevant PRC laws, regulations and policies, and it will not distribute the nine types of
unlawful information set forth in the “Information Source Networking Information Safety and Security Liability Statement” (see Exhibit 5) through Party A’s
system.



5.5 Party B shall resolve all disputes arising from and in connection with the security and legality of the information provided by it.

5.6 Party B shall indemnify Party A for any economic losses suffered by the business operations of Party A as a result of the breach of Paragraph 5.4 on the part
of Party B. If such breach has an adverse impact on Party A in the eyes of the general public, Party B shall declare its liability in this matter and shall make an
apology publicly to Party A.

5.7 While transmitting various data or information to the communication platform of Party A, Party B shall warrant that the Data Flow will not cause harm to the
safe capacity of the network. Party A shall have the right to impose limits on the transmission of data or information that exceeds the capacity allowed by Party A
and may affect the safe operation of Party A’s network.

CHAPTER 6 BILLING AND SETTLEMENT

6.1 The Communication Fees and the Information Service Charges shall be charged by Party A on a uniform basis, and no fees will be charged by Party B. Please
refer to Exhibit 1 for the details of billing and settlement in respect of the Mobile Data Service.

6.2 All communication fees arising from the use by the Subscribers or Party B of the Mobile Communication Network of Party A shall inure to the benefit of
Party A.

6.3 Revenues from the Information Service Charges generated by the Mobile Data Service of Party B shall be shared by Party A and Party B in a certain
proportion. The entitlement of Party A to the revenues is the result of its provision of the following services: the provision of resources on network subscribers of
the Mobile Communication Network, related service platform, tests on business and quality control service, unified client service and marketing of service,
information fee collection service and/or fee calculation service, etc.

6.4 If any Subscribers refuse to pay the Information Service Charges due to the quality of Party B’s service, Party B shall pay not only the exact amount of the
Communication Fees arising from the use of the Mobile Communication Network of Party A, but also the share receivable by Party A from the Information
Service Charges in accordance with the percentage specified in Exhibit 1 hereof.

6.5 Party B shall provide Party A with the basis of service charges in the form of data as provided by Party A. The final basis of service charges shall be
confirmed and passed by Party A. Any change in the price of the services of Party B shall be officially put into practice subject to the approval of Party A.

6.6 Party B shall provide Party A with official invoices upon and after the settlement of the Information Service Charges with Party A.



6.7 Party A shall, within the given period, pay Party B in full the post-settlement Information Service Charges in a manner mutually agreed by the parties.
CHAPTER 7 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHT AND CONFIDENTIALITY CLAUSE

7.1 Any questions in connection with copyright, trademark right, patent and other intellectual property rights occurring during the cooperation between the Parties
shall be dealt with in accordance with relevant PRC laws. Party B shall execute authorization/licence agreements that are necessary with the owners of intellectual
property right/rights owners and/or their representatives pursuant to the PRC applicable rules so as to ensure that the Data Service provided by Party B will not
infringe the lawful interests of the owners of intellectual property right/rights owners, and shall produce the authorization/licence agreements required by Party A.
Party A shall not be liable for any disputes involving intellectual property right between Party B and a third party.

7.2 Party B shall resolve all the disputes arising from the security and legality of the information service provided by it. Party B undertakes and warrants that its
information service will not infringe the intellectual property right or other civil rights of any third parties. Party B further undertakes that it will indemnify
against all litigations, claims, administrative punishments, losses and damages suffered from any breach of the above undertakings and warranties.

7.3 Party A and Party B shall keep confidential the obligations and details of this Agreement. Without prior written consent of any party, the other party shall not
disclose to any third parties the details of the Cooperation Agreement and its related issues.

7.4 During the term of this Agreement and 2 years after the termination hereof, neither party shall disclose, divulge to or provide any third parties with any trade
secrets (including financial secrets), technological secrets, business know-how and/or other confidential information and materials obtained from the other party
(whether in writing or orally or in any other manner).

7.5 During the term of this Agreement and 2 years after the termination hereof, the Parties shall keep in confidence any trade secrets (including financial secrets),
technological secrets, business know-how and/or other confidential information and materials (whether in writing or orally or in any other manner) jointly
developed by them in connection with the performance of this Agreement. Without the consent of the other party, any party shall not disclose, divulge or provide
the same to any third parties.

CHAPTER 8 LIABILITY FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

8.1 The Parties shall strictly observe the provisions of this Agreement. A breach of contract shall occur if either party fails to perform its own obligations,
undertakings or warranties, or violates its representations hereunder, thereby causing any damage to the interest of the other party or making the cooperation
business impossible to continue.



8.2 If either party breaches its obligations under this Agreement and incurs bad social impact or economic losses to the other party, the non-defaulting party shall
have the right to hold the defaulting party responsible for such breach, to require the defaulting party to reverse such impact and make corresponding
compensations, and to terminate this Agreement.

8.3 The Parties shall resolve in good faith and in the spirit of mutual cooperation any disputes or conflicts in connection with this Agreement through
consultation.

8.4 The Parties agree to refer any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement to the Beijing Arbitration Commission and finally resolve it by
arbitration under the rules of the Commission then in effect if such dispute cannot be resolved through consultation.

8.5 The conclusion, execution and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China.
CHAPTER 9 FORCE MAJEURE

9.1 “Force Majeure” shall mean any event beyond the control of the Parties and which is unforeseen, or which is foreseeable but will inevitably affect the full or
partial performance of this Agreement by either party. These events shall only include natural disasters such as earthquake, landslide, flood, typhoon and unusual
weather changes, as well as fire, explosion, incidents, act of war, rebellion, uprising, mutiny, social unrest or revolt, terrorist attack or destructive activities or any
contingent events of a similar or different nature.

9.2 In the case of the failure of a party to perform its obligations due to Force Majeure, such party shall not be liable for the losses of the other party incurred
thereby.

9.3 The party affected by the above events of Force Majeure shall notify the other party in writing of such occurrence, and shall, within 15 days thereafter, send a
valid certificate issued by the relevant authority explaining the details of such events and the reason for its failure to perform or delay in performing all or any part
of this Agreement. The Parties shall negotiate the performance or termination of this Agreement according to the degree of impact on the performance hereof
caused by such events.

CHAPTER 10 MODIFICATION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

10.1 During the cooperation between Party A and Party B, the administration regulations with respect to the Mobile Data Service or other related administration
regulations on client services of Party A shall, if formulated, be taken as a supplement hereto. In the



case of any conflicts between the above administration regulations and this Agreement, the administration regulations shall prevail. Party A and Party B may
negotiate the conflicting provisions and execute a supplemental agreement for amendment.

10.2 In the event of any modification or amendment of this Agreement by a party, such party shall give 15-day prior written notice to the other party. The Parties
hereto shall modify or amend this Agreement in writing through negotiation.

10.3 If a party fails to perform its liabilities and obligations hereunder, or seriously violates the requirements of this Agreement, thereby resulting in the failure of
the other party to carry out or continue its cooperation on the mobile data value-added service under this Agreement, it shall be deemed as the termination of this
Agreement unilaterally by the defaulting party. The non-defaulting party shall be entitled to make claims against the defaulting party for any economic losses
arising from its breach and rescind this Agreement.

10.4 In the case of the termination of its service for any reason, Party B shall have an obligation to notify Party A in writing at least 1 month prior thereto, and
provide the Grace Period for Withdrawal of Service for 1 to 3 months, during which Party B shall continue to provide the services to the Subscribers and post an
announcement in respect of the termination of service on its website (Web/WAP) or other channels.

CHAPTER 11 EFFECTIVENESS AND OTHERS

11.1 This Agreement shall become effective after it is signed by the authorized representatives of Party A and Party B and affixed with the official seal of the
Parties. The term hereof shall be 1 year, which is renewable upon agreement by both Party A and Party B through consultation.

11.2 This Agreement and its exhibits are executed in 4 counterparts. Party A and Party B shall each keep 2 copies. Each of them shall have equal legal effect.
11.3 All exhibits hereto are an integral part of this Agreement and shall have equal legal effect.

11.4 Since this Agreement becomes effective, the SMS Cooperation Agreement of China Unicom entered into between Party B and China Unicom, Hainan
Branch (Branch of Party A in charge of connection service) shall be terminated simultaneously.

11.5 Contact persons of Party A and Party B shall be:

Party A: Name: Li Hong
Telephone No.: 010-66504032
Fax: 010-66504005

E-mail: lih@chinaunicom.com.cn



Party B:

Name: Li Yangi
Telephone No.:
Fax:

E-mail:

13311007655
010-85180163
lli@corp.netease.com



Party A: China Unicom Co., Ltd.
Representative: (Signed and seal affixed)
Date: April 20, 2003

Party B:

Representative: (Signed and seal affixed)

Date: April 14, 2003

SIGNATURE PAGE



Exhibit 1 Billing and Settlement
1. Party B shall indicate the collection of information fee in each message delivered in accordance with Party A’s format requirements.

2. Billing rate for SMS
A. Communication fee:
(a) communication fee shall be determined and collected by China Unicom;
(b) with respect to information ordering an enquiry sent by subscribers through mobile phones, upon subscribers’ successful receipt of messages, the

uplinking communication fee shall be charged at RMB 0.05 yuan per message, and the downlinking communication fee shall be collected according to the
amount of messages actually received by subscribers, at the rate of RMB 0.05 yuan per message;

(c) with respect to information ordered by subscribers via the Internet, a communication fee shall be charged according to the amount of downlinking
messages at RMB 0.05 yuan per message;

(d) with respect to the “peer to peer” mode (SMS between mobile phones): upon subscriber’s successful sending of messages, the calling party shall be
collected RMB 0.10 yuan per message;

(e) with respect to system feedback in the use of mobile data services, the subscribers shall not be charged any fees.

For example, system information indicating subscriber’s successful operation, system failure or feedback to subscriber in the event of subscriber’s
unsuccessful operation, both the uplinking and downlinking communication shall be free of charge.

B. Information service fee:

(a) in principle, information service fee shall be determined by Party B, and implemented upon Party A’s verification and approval;
(b) information service fee shall be charged to the sending party upon subscriber’s successful receipt of information;

(c) fee cap shall be applied to Party B’s information service fee
Fee cap for charge per message: RMB2 yuan per message;
Fee cap for monthly fee: RMB30/month (50% if the service period is less than 15 days for one month).

For details of the service fees (information service fee), please see Exhibit 2.
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3. Special charges for PUSH services

(a) “PUSH services” means services provided by CP/SP without subscribers’ voluntary application, and which are received by subscribers through mobile
terminals;

(b) subscribers shall not be charged any fees for the receipt of PUSH services;
(c) Party B shall pay Party A downlinking communication fees at the rate of RMB 0.05 yuan per message for PUSH services;

(d) Party B shall only publish information relating to services; Party B shall not send any unsolicited advertisement or other commercial information to
subscribers.

4. Revenue sharing between Party A and Party B

Party A shall take communication fees, and information service fees shall be shared between Party A and Party B in a certain percentage after deduction of
4% business tax and 8% non-performing debt reserve:

(a) Revenue sharing basis: information service fees receivable (after deduction of 4% business tax and 8% non-performing debt reserve).

(b) During the first three-month period after the formal launch of services, Party A shall take 20%, and Party B shall take 80%, of information service fees.
If at a certain point during the first three months Party B’s service volume exceeds 10 million messages per month (including 10 million messages), then Party A
shall take 10% and Party B take 90% of the information service fees generated in that month.

(c) From the first day of the month after the three-month period of the launch of Party B’s services, the following revenue sharing percentage shall apply
according to the monthly volume in the following grades:

Unit: 10 thousand messages per month

Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4
Volume 31000 3500 3100 <100
Party A’s share 10% 20% 30% 40%
Party B’s share 90% 80% 70% 60%

Note: The service volume above shall be calculated according to the amount of actual messages (including information ordering and monthly fee), not including
PUSH services initiated by Party B.



5. Settlement

A. The settlement shall be conducted once in each month.

B. The parties shall, between the 10th and 20th of each month, verify the data of the previous month’s information service fees, and settle the previous month’s
information fees between the 25th and 28th of each month. That is, information service fees accrued in a given month shall be verified in the following month,
and be settled in the month after.

C. The schedule of information service fees collected by Party A for the account of Party B shall be based on the report of successful call sessions that Party A
provides to Party B.

D. If the discrepancy between the billing data from Party A and Party B is lower than 5%, the billing shall be based on Party A’s data; otherwise both parties shall
verify the reasons for such discrepancy and timely find out reasonable solutions thereto.

6. Others

A. Party B must notify subscribers of the amount of messages upon delivery of message service.

B. If a subscriber selects group calling via Internet, the calling party shall be charged according to the amount of call numbers and the corresponding rate of
communication fees and information fees, the amount of call numbers for each group calling shall not be more than 2 numbers.

7. Bank info
Party A’s bank:

Party A’s bank account:
Party B’s bank: Guangzhou Haoshijie Branch Office, Agricultural Bank of China

Party B’s bank account: 037601040000947



Exhibit 2 Mobile Data Service and Rate

1.

ook LN

Service: n Short Message [] Mobile Internet (1 Downlinking [J Location
Connection mode: n Internet (1 PL [ LAN

Connection location: Beijing

Time for launch: Party A’s formal issuance of launching document

Party B’s customer service number: 020-83568090

Person in charge of customer service: Zhang Yun

URL of Party B’s mobile data service: http://sms.163.com

Service description and billing rate: please see Exhibit 2 “SMS Description List.”
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Exhibit 2 SMS Description List

Name of the Company Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Company Enterprise 60004 Website http://www.163.com
Limited Code
Nature of Business On-demand,_customized or free services Service Code
1. News
Transmission
Required Frequency (Several
Name of Form (Method times a day/Several Calculation
Service Service Code of Use) pieces each time) Rate Method Description
News 8980040027 To transmit 8-10 pieces/day RMB MT The latest information,
Headlines from XWDZ 0.15 each the hottest current
1001 to time affairs, the No. 1 news
9163 and the major
international and PRC
news
PRC News 8980040028 To transmit 3-5 pieces/day RMB MT To be transmitted
from XWDZ 0.05 each daily and updated on
1002 to time real-time basis; to
9163 capture the major PRC
news to enable you to
grasp the hot topics in
China
International 8980040029 To transmit 3-5 pieces/day RMB MT To know ups and
News from XWDZ 0.05 each downs of the world by
1003 to time being informed of
9163 world developments,
political anecdotes,
and internationally
famous people
Social News 8980040030 To transmit 3-5 pieces/day RMB MT To keep abreast of the
from XWDZ 0.05 each times and fashionable
1004 to time trends; to describe
9163 every corner of

society with rich and
extensive social
information



Technology
News

Financial
News

Sport News

Entertainment
News

Financial
Special
Report

Special
Report

NetEase
News —
Customized
VIP Set A

8980040031

8980040032

8980040033

8980040034

8980040080

8980040079

8980040081

To transmit
from XWDZ
1005 to 9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1006 to 9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1007 to 9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1008 to 9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

3-5 pieces/day

3-5 pieces/day

3-5 pieces/day

3-5 pieces/day

6-8 pieces/day

8-10 pieces/day

1 piece a day

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time
RMB

0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.15 each
time
RMB

0.15 each
time

RMB
10/month

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

Monthly

To be at the forefront
of the trends; to
report the latest
technology
information and IT
development in or
outside China and
you can get new
rewards every day

To grasp the first-
hand financial news

So many matches in
green courts and
sports competitions
for reporting;
countless famous
people in the sport
industry and all
international and
domestic news can
be found here

You can relax after
meals by reading lots
of news regarding
entertainment
industry, acts of
paparazzi which
make you either
laugh or cry, as well
as comprehensive
entertainment news

Special reports on
financial news

Special news and
current affairs and
the latest news in
special reports

The latest
information, the
hottest current
affairs, the No. 1
news and the major
international and
PRC news (on a
monthly basis)



NetEase 8980040082 Customized 2 pieces a day RMB Monthly The latest information,
News — by the 15/month the hottest current
Customized website affairs, the No. 1 news
VIP Set B and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)
NetEase 8980040083 Customized 3 pieces a day RMB Monthly The latest information,
News — by the 30/month the hottest current
Customized website affairs, the No. 1 news
VIP Set C and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)
News 8980040140 Customized 2-3 pieces/day RMB Monthly The latest information,
Headlines by the 30/month the hottest current
website affairs, the No. 2 news
and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)
2. Stocks
Transmission
Required Frequency (Several
Form times a day/
(Method of Several pieces each Calculation
Name of Service Service Code Use) time) Rate Method Description
Information On 8980040009 GP “Stock Customized RMB MT To deliver real-time
Demand Code” by 0.05 each stock information
Subscribers time on a timely basis or
on demand
Daily Analysis 8980040010 Customized Customized RMB MT Expert analysis on
on Particular by the by 0.15 each the share price of
Stocks website Subscribers time particular stocks
every day
Interim Report 8980040072 Customized Customized RMB MT Interim result report
of Particular by the by 0.15 each of particular stocks
Stocks website Subscribers time
Stock Alert 8980040011 Customized Customized RMB MT To set share price
by the by 0.45 each and send out an
website Subscribers time SMS when the

requirement of
share price is met



Market Report

Enquiry on Stock
Code

News on Stock
Market

Ranking of
Shares in Terms of
Increase

New Issue of
Shares

8980040012

8980040013

8980040014

8980040016

8980040017

Customized by
the website
GPCX
“Short Form of
Stock Name in
Pinyin”
Customized by
the website

Customized by
the website

Customized by
the website

3 pieces a day

Customized by Subscribers

1-3 pieces a day

1 piece of news
for each of Shanghai Stock
Exchange and Shenzhen
Stock Exchange for each
trading day

1 piece of news for a new
share

RMB 0.05 each time

RMB 0.05 each time

RMB 0.05 each time

RMB 0.05 each time

RMB 0.05 each time

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

To prepare information relating
to the stock market every day
To check stock code

To deliver first-hand
information in connection with
stock market

After the closing of stock
market in the afternoon,
NetEase will send information
relating to the top 3 A shares
listed in Shanghai Stock
Exchange and Shenzhen Stock
Exchange with the greatest
increase to those subscribers
who have customized this
service

In the case of new issue,
NetEase will send to those
subscribers who have
customized the New Issue of
Shares service relevant
information, such as the name
of new share, the code and time
for application, the share capital
in issue, the issue price and the
cap on application for account



Ranking

of Shares

in Terms
of Decrease

New
Shares
Listing

Portfolio
Analysis

8980040018

8980040019

8980040020

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

1 piece of news RMB
for each of 0.05 each
Shanghai Stock time

Exchange and
Shenzhen Stock
Exchange for
each trading

day
1 piece of news RMB
for a new share 0.05 each
time
Customized by RMB
Subscribers 0.45 each
time

10

MT

MT

MT

After the closing of stock
market in the afternoon,
NetEase will send
information relating to
the top 3 A shares listed
in Shanghai Stock
Exchange and Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with the
greatest decrease to
those subscribers who
have customized this
service

In the case of new shares
listing, NetEase will
send to those subscribers
who have customized the
New Shares Listing
service relevant
information, such as the
name of new share, the
stock code, the number
of shares to be listed, the
issue price and the
forecast of share price
after listing

Portfolio analysis is a
value-added service
provided to the
subscribers with
investment portfolio.
After the closing of share
market in the afternoon,
we will report to those
subscribers who have
customized the portfolio
analysis service on the
market value of their
investment portfolio
(excluding the handling
fees in connection with
the sales of investments)



Announcements 8980040021 Customized Customized RMB MT If you always forget
of Particular by the by Subscribers 0.45 each the placing of
Stocks website time shares and result in
losses, or puzzle
about what’s going
on with my shares,
NetEase will
provide you with
personalized
services and inform
you of the latest
news of the shares
with which you are
concerned
3. Sports
Transmission
Required Frequency (Several
Form times a day/
(Method of Several pieces each Calculation
Name of Service Service Code Use) time) Rate Method Description
News of China 8980040035 Customized At any time RMB MT The China team joins
Team in World by the 0.05 each the World Cup again
Cup website time and what will be the
result? Let’s pay
attention to it and
watch together
Other provisional 8980040036 Customized At any time RMB MT News coverage on
matches (for by the 0.05 each provisional matches
example, World website time
Youth Cup)
News on Jia A 8980040037 To transmit 2 pieces of RMB MT The Chinese League
League from news for 0.05 each has a new
XWDZ each match time development and the
1203 to (First half and teams of Jia A
9163 second half) League compete
with each other.
Who will then be the
winner? Please see
News on Jia A
League
News on Jia B 8980040038 To transmit 2 pieces of RMB MT Another match for
League from news for 0.05 each the Chinese League
XWDZ each match time other than Jia A
1206 to (First half and League and the
9163 second half) match will start very

1

soon



Scores of
Jia A
League

Scores of
Jia B
League

News on
Italy
League
Series A

News on
Germany
League
Series A

News on
England
Premier
League

FI Grand
Prix Race

Other
quarterly
competition
(for
example,
NBA)
Guessing
Competition

8980040039

8980040040

8980040041

8980040042

8980040043

8980040044

8980040045

8980040103

To transmit
from XWDZ
1204 to
9163
To transmit
from XWDZ
1205 to
9163
To transmit
from XWDZ
1207 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1208 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1209 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1210 to
9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Once for each
round

Once for each
round

1 piece of news
for each match
(Second half)

1 piece of news
for each match
(Second half)

1 piece of news
for each match
(Second half)

1 -2 pieces of
news for each
station, and
once for every
two weeks
Usually 4
pieces of news
a week

1 piece of news
each time
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RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.05 each
time

RMB
0.15 each
time

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

Ranking of the soccer
teams after each round of
matches can be clearly
shown

To record the gain and
loss of various teams in
the matches of Jia B
League for the past year
The first league in
European continent —
Full coverage on the
exciting game of Italy
League Series A

Don’t miss every round
of Germany League
Series A if you like
steady playing style and
the enthusiastic
participation of German
team

To provide you
immediately with the
news on the exciting,
wonderful and closely
fought matches of
England Premier League
Motor racing competition
and its results

News on quarterly
provisional competitions

Guessing competition in
connection with the
results and development
of major matches during
the World Cup



Monopoly of
World Cup

Soccer Game

Election of
the World
Cup Stars

Development
of European
Champions

Cup

8980040104

8980040110

8980040111

8980040145

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from ZC
1303 to
9163

1- 2 pieces of RMB MT
news each time 0.15 each
time
1 game each time RMB MT
0.15 each
time
1 piece of news RMB MT
each time 0.25/time
1 piece/match RMB MT
0.15 each
time
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Questions and answers regarding
the knowledge of the World
Cup. 1 — 2 questions will be sent
out regularly. If you want to
have some more questions, you
may request to do so

This is a game for 2 players.
Subscribers may send out SMS
to invite others to play games or
accept invitation in respect
thereof. Whether they win or
lose, it depends on the goals
they score and how they keep
the balls out in the SMS of both
parties

To elect the star of the day, the
World Cup star and the star of
the Chinese team during the
World Cup

To deliver news coverage on
European soccer matches, any
information relating to both
parties prior to matches, the
status of team players on a
timely basis; to help subscribers
understand the latest
development of soccer teams
prior to matches and to provide
subscribers with first-hand
analysis on betting



Real-time

Result of

European
Champions Cup

Development
of England
Premier League

8980040146

8980040147

To transmit
from ZC
1304 to 9163

To transmit
from ZC
1307 to 9163

2 pieces/match RMB MT
0.25/piece

1 piece/match RMB MT
0.15/piece
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To deliver news coverage
on European soccer
matches, any information
relating to both parties
prior to matches, the
status of team players on
timely basis; to help
subscribers understand
the latest development of
soccer teams prior to
matches and to provide
subscribers with first-
hand analysis on betting

To deliver news coverage
on England Premier
League, any information
relating to both parties
prior to matches, the
status of team players on
timely basis; to help
subscribers understand
the latest development of
soccer teams prior to
matches and to provide
subscribers with first-
hand analysis on betting



Real-time

Result of

England
Premier League

Development of
Germany
League Series
A

8980040148 To transmit 2 pieces/match
from ZC
1312 to

9163

8980040149 To transmit
from ZC
1306 to

9163

1 piece/match

15

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

MT

MT

To deliver news
coverage on England
Premier League, any
information relating to
both parties prior to
matches, the status of
team players on a
timely basis; to help
subscribers understand
the latest development
of soccer teams prior to
matches and to provide
subscribers with first-
hand analysis on
betting

To deliver news
coverage on Germany
League Series A, any
information relating to
both parties prior to
matches, the status of
team players on a
timely basis; to help
subscribers understand
the latest development
of soccer teams prior to
matches and to provide
subscribers with first-
hand analysis on
betting



Real-time

Result of

Germany
League Series

Development
of Italy
League Series
A

Real-time
Result of
Italy League
Series A

News on Jia
A League

Development
of Jia A
League

Real-time
Result of Jia
A League

News on
France
League Series
A

Development
of France
League Series
A

8980040150

8980040151

8980040152

8980040153

8980040154

8980040155

8980040156

8980040157

To transmit
from ZC
1313 to
9163

To transmit
from ZC
1305 to
9163

To transmit
from ZC
1310 to
9163

7C; to
transmit
from 1301
to 9163

To transmit
from ZC
1308 to
9163

To transmit
from ZC
1313 to
9163

To transmit
from ZC
1302 to
9163

To transmit
from ZC
1309 to
9163

2 pieces/match

1 piece/match

2 pieces/match

3 -5 pieces/day

1 piece/match

2 pieces/match

3 -5 pieces/day

1 piece/match
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RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

To deliver news
coverage on Germany
League Series A, any
information

relating to both parties
prior to matches, the
status of team players
on a timely basis; to
help subscribers
understand the latest
development of
soccer teams prior to
matches and to
provide subscribers
with first-hand
analysis on betting

The development of
Italy League Series A

The real-time result of
Italy League Series A

News on Jia A
League

The development of
Jia A League

The real-time result of
Jia A League

News on France
League Series A

The development of
France League Series
A



Real-time
Result of
France
League Series
A

Entertainment
News (on a
monthly basis)

Colour Photos
(for promotion)

Colour Photos

Photos for
Panasonic
GD75

Newsletter of
Yao Ming

National
Soccer

8980040158

8980040159

8980040160

898040161

8980040162

8980040164

8980040165

To transmit
from ZC
1314 to
9163

To transmit
ET to 9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from XWDZ
1217 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1218 to
9163

2 pieces/
match

2 pieces/day

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

3 pieces/day

5 pieces/day
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RMB
0.25/
piece

RMB
15/month

RMB
1.95/
piece

RMB
3.95/
piece

RMB
1.95/
piece

RMB
0.15/
piece

RMB
0.15/
piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

The real-time result
of France League
Series A

The latest and hottest
entertainment news
of NetEase and its
news headlines will
be sent to you
immediately

There are wonderful
colour photos
provided by NetEase
for you to download
and you may change
your mobile
wallpapers

There are wonderful
colour photos
provided by NetEase
for you to download
and you may change
your mobile
wallpapers

There are wonderful
colour photos
provided by NetEase
for you to download
and you may change
your mobile
wallpapers

The newsletter of
Yao Ming enables
you to understand
his latest
development in the
NBA

The China team
joins the World Cup
again and what will
be the result? Let’s
pay attention to it
and watch together



4. Entertainment and Leisure

Transmission
Required Frequency
Form (Several times a
(Method of day/Several Calculation
Name of Service Service Code Use) pieces each time) Rate Method Description
Greetings 8980040001 To transmit Customized by RMB 0.05/ MT To send greetings
CcQ Subscribers piece directly in SMS to
“Greeting any mobile phones or
Code” to websites
9163
Ringtones 8980040006 To transmit Customized by RMB 0.95/ MT To customize or send
LS to 9163 Subscribers piece personalized
receiving ringtones
Hi-Fi 8980040073 To transmit Customized by RMB 1.95/ MT An exclusive surround
Ringtones - LSA Subscribers piece ringtones for Alcatel mobile
Alcatel “Ringtone phones
Code” to
9163
Hi-Fi 8980040099 To transmit Customized by RMB 1.95/ MT An exclusive surround
Ringtones - LSS Subscribers piece ringtones for Siemen mobile
Siemen “Ringtone phones
Code” to
9163
Hi-Fi 8980040100 To transmit Customized by RMB 1.95/ MT An exclusive surround
Ringtones — LSE Subscribers piece ringtones for Sony Ecrisson
Sony Ecrisson “Ringtone mobile phones
Code” to
9163
Hi-Fi 8980040101 To transmit Customized by RMB 1.95/ MT An exclusive surround
Ringtones — LSM Subscribers piece ringtones for Motorola mobile
Motorola “Ringtone phones
Code” to
9163
Greeting Logo 8980040007 To transmit Customized by RMB 0.45/ MT To customize or send
TP “Picture Subscribers piece personalized ringtones for
Code” to receiving logos
9163
Gift Logo 8980040064 To transmit Customized by RMB 0.95/ MT The newly selective logos
TP “Picture Subscribers piece with special features which

Code” to
9163

18

fully show your personality



Logo of
Alcatel

Logo of
Sony
Ecrisson

Logo of
Motorola

Logo of
Siemen

Logo of
Motorola
388

Ringtones
of
Motorola
388

Horoscope

8980040102

8980040084

8980040085

8980040074

8980040125

8980040138

8980040025

To transmit
TPA
“Picture
Code” to
9163

To transmit
TPE
“Picture
Code” to
9163

To transmit
TPM
“Picture
Code” to
9163

To transmit
TPS
“Picture
Code” to
9163

To transmit
TP “Picture
Code” to
9163

To transmit
LSM
“Ringtone
Code” to
9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized by
Subscribers

Customized by
Subscribers

Customized by
Subscribers

Customized by
Subscribers

6 pieces

Not fixed

1 piece a day
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RMB 1.95/
piece

RMB 1.95/
piece

RMB 1.95/
piece

RMB 1.95/
piece

RMB
1.95/unit

RMB
1.95/unit

RMB
6/month

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

Monthly

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for
Alcatel mobile
phone with EMS
function

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for Sony
Ecrisson mobile
phone with EMS
function

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for
Motorola mobile
phone with EMS
function

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for
Siemen mobile
phone with EMS
function

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for
Motorola 388
mobile phone with
EMS function

To download
pictures
exclusively
available for
Motorola 388

To provide you
with personalized
horoscope every
day and send it in
SMS to your
mobile phone,
which enable you
to grasp ample
opportunities and
create a rosy future



1Q Test

Greeting Cards
Notification
Service

Happy
Expression

Daily Almanac

Daily Almanac
(on a monthly
basis)

Question
Games

NetEase
Psychological
Test

8980040023

8980040168

8980040046

8980040047

8980040169

8980040048

8980040089

To transmit
1QDZ
“Receiving
Time” to
9163

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from 1801
to 9163

XWDZ; to
transmit
from 1604
to 9163

To transmit
from 35 to
9163

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from XLDZ
to 9163

1 piece a day

A notice for each

greeting card

1 piece/day

1 piece/day

1 piece

Customized by
Subscribers

1 time/day
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RMB 0.15/
piece

Free of

charge at the

moment

RMB 0.15/
piece

RMB 0.15/
piece

RMB
6/month

RMB 0.05/
question

RMB 0.45/
question

MT

MT

MT

MT

Monthly

MT

MT

To give you an IQ
question a day to
enable you to train
your mind. There
are many questions
available. Let’s see
how great your IQ
is?

To send an e-card
and the notice in
connection thereof
will be given in
SMS promptly

“You will be
younger for 10
years if you smile.”
Many selected
happy expressions
can make you feel
young at any time,
hahaha! Let’s
laugh happily
every day

Reminder from
Almanac every day

Once you read the
Daily Almanac,
you don’t need to
wait for
instructions from
gods

To answer the
questions in SMS
Question Games
called “NetEase
SMS Monopoly”
and you may get
the price of
RMB1,000/day.
Continuing to get
the price every
week or every
month!

To test your love
and life and to
predict your future



Unrequitted
Love Game

NetEase
Making
Friends (Male)

NetEase
Making
Friends

(Female)

21-Points SMS
Game

Fee-based
Greeting Card
Service

Greeting Card
Service (on a
monthly basis)

Sexual
Education

8980040086

8980040075

8980040077

8980040088

8980040169

89800401070

8980040171

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
21 “Betting”
to 9183

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

2 questions

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

2-3 jokes/day
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RMB
0.95/question

RMB
5/month

RMB
3/month

RMB
0.15/game

RMB
0.95/card

RMB 10/
month

RMB
0.45/jokes

MT

Monthly

Monthly

MT

MT

Monthly

MT

To enable the one
you love to feel
your existence.
Please send the
game for
unrequited love to
him (her) to guess
who you are

To make friends by
means of SMS
through mobile
phone with
interaction. This
game is specially
designed for the
subscribers in
Guangdong,
Jiangsu and
Beijing

To make friends by
means of SMS
through mobile
phone and with
interaction. This
game is specially
designed for the
subscribers in
Guangdong,
Jiangsu and
Beijing

To conduct the
game of 21 points
through mobile
phones and
NetEase SMS
center

To send wonderful
FLASH greeting
cards

To let you know
immediately the
notification of
greeting cards

There are
wonderful jokes
that you can’t help
from laughing



Jokes for
Men and
Women

Jokes for
Men and
Women
(on a monthly
basis)

Special Jokes

Jokes on
Demand

Hand-Free
Information

Greeting
(Hand-Free)

Flash SMS

Flash SMS
(Hand-Free)

8980040172

8980040173

8980040139

8980040174

8980040175

8980040098

8980040095

8980040097

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from 1802
to 9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

1 -2 jokes/
day

1 -2 jokes/
day

2-3 jokes/day

2-3 jokes/day

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed
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RMB
0.45/jokes

RMB
30/month

RMB
30/month

RMB
0.45/jokes

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

MT

Monthly

Monthly

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

There are
wonderful jokes
that you can’t help
from laughing

There are
wonderful jokes
that you can’t help
from laughing

There are
wonderful jokes
that you can’t help
from laughing

There are
wonderful jokes
that you can’t help
from laughing

To add a hand-free
function on top of
the ordinary
greeting feature.
The greeting can
be displayed on the
screen even though
she does not press
any buttons

To add a flash
function on top of
the ordinary
greeting feature.
The greeting can
be displayed on
screen even though
she does not press
any buttons

To add a flash
function on top of
the ordinary
greeting feature.
The greeting can
be displayed on the
screen even though
she does not press
any buttons



Dynamics SMS

Lotteries
Information

Development
of Soccer
Betting

Analysis on
Soccer Betting

8980040096

8980040048

8980040091

8980040092

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

7C; to
transmit
from 1101
to 9163

ZC; to
transmit
from 1102
to 9163

Not fixed

According to the
category
subscribed; 1
piece/category

Monday falling on
one week before
the match

Every Friday and
Saturday

23

RMB
0.95/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

A new concept that
is different from an
ordinary SMS with
text is employed.
Each SMS consists
of 2 — 3 different
pictures with
words, and
emotion can be
expressed
profoundly. This

is regarded as one
of the
technological
breakthroughs

Lotteries
information all
over the world

To send
information of
soccer teams and
the place of
matches to
subscribers in
advance to enable
the subscribers to
have time to check
the soccer
information
relating to Italy
League or England
Premier League,
etc.

We provide
professional
analysis on the
result of each
match and the
forecast of coming
matches to give
subscribers more
information for
reference.



News on
Soccer Betting

Result of
Soccer Betting

Guessing
Competition
of Soccer
Betting

NetEase SMS
Menu Settings

Network
Monopoly

8980040008

8980040090

8980040176

8980040177

8980040178

ZC; to
transmit
from 1104
to 9163

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from ZC to
9163

To transmit
from JJ to
9183

3-5 piece/day

2 pieces of news
for each match
(on a real-time

basis)

1 piece each time

2-3 pieces each
time
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RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/pieces

MT

MT

MT

MT

To deliver on time
news coverage on
Italy League and
England Premier
League, the
information of the
parties before
matches, and the
status of team
players taking part
in matches to help
subscribers
understand the
latest situation of
soccer teams prior
to matches and to
provide them with
first-hand
information on
betting

After the end of
the first half of a
match, we will
send to the
subscribers the
result of the first
half of such match
immediately. After
the end of the
whole match, we
will immediately
send them the
result of the second
half of the match

Guessing
competition with
prize given

To answer
questions through
simple operation,
and to score marks
to obtain lucky
draw number in
order to get huge
cash prize



Movie
Information

Television
Information

Music
Information

Billboard for
US Top
Movies

8980040050

8980040051

8980040052

8980040053

To transmit
XWDZ
1401 to

9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1402 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1403 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1404 to
9163

1-2 pieces/day RMB
0.05/piece

1-2 pieces/day RMB
0.05/piece

1-2 pieces/day RMB
0.05/piece

1 time/week RMB
0.05/piece
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MT

MT

MT

MT

Movies are just
like the lives of
human beings,
which are full of
joys and sorrow,
partings and
reunions; the
anecdotes of the
film industry are
also filled with
happiness, anger,
sorrow and joys; to
provide you with
updated
information
relating to the
production and
release of movies
in the PRC and all
over the world, as
well as their
awards
immediately

To provide you
with updated
information
relating to the
production and
release of
television
programs in the
PRC and all over
the world, as well
as their awards
immediately

To provide you
with the updated
information
relating to the
development of
various kinds of
music and
musicians
immediately

Don’t miss movies
with perfect acting,
high-quality
production and
attractive story —
Weekly Billboard
US Top Movies



Billboard for
HK Top Songs

Billboard for
Top 20
Chinese Songs

Shows
Information
(Beijing)

Shows
Information
(Shanghai)

Shows
Information
(Guangzhou)

8980040054

8980040055

8980040056

8980040057

8980040058

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1451 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1406 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1407 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1408 to
9163

To transmit
from
XWDZ
1409 to
9163

1 time/ RMB
week 0.05/piece

1 time/ RMB
week 0.05/piece

At any time RMB
0.05/piece

At any time RMB
0.05/piece

At any time RMB
0.05/piece
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MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

The newest and
most hit songs can
be found in the
Billboard for HK
Top Songs

Whether they are
the best singers or
the most beautiful
Chinese songs in
your heart? Are all
the singers and
songs that you love
in the billboard?

To send out
immediately the
showing time
relating to the
concerts, dramas,
dancing shows,
operas and
acrobatics in
Beijing and to
prepare to serve
you at all times

To send out
immediately the
showing time
relating to the
concerts, dramas,
dancing shows,
operas and
acrobatics in
Shanghai. Please
think of me when
you need help

To send out
immediately the
showing time
relating to the
concerts, dramas,
dancing shows,
operas and
acrobatics in
Guangzhou. I will
be with you when
you need help



SMS Tips 8980040124 Customized Not fixed RMB 0.15/piece
by the
website
Love from 8980040129 To transmit Not fixed RMB 6/month
Pets from BB to
9163
Trendy SMS 8980040163 Customized 3 pieces each time RMB 0.95/piece
Guessing by the
Competition website
Sassy Female 8980040166 Customized Not fixed RMB 10/month
Students by the
website
Enhanced 8980040167 To transmit Not fixed RMB 10/month
Version for from MM
Special Men to 9163
and Women
6. Daily Life Education
Transmission
Required Frequency (Several
Form times a day/
(Method of Several pieces each
Name of Service Service Code Use) time) Rate
E-C Translation 8980040022 To transmit Customized by RMB 0.05/piece
from YH Subscribers
“English
Vocabulary
or Term” to
9163
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MT

Monthly

MT

Monthly

Monthly

Calculation
Method

Don’t you have
capacity in your
mobile phone?
Please open
NetEase Tips at
once and we will
help you solve the
problem

Lovely pets can
shorten the
distance between
you and them

Trendy SMS
guessing
competition with
prizes given

Sassy female
students, female
students becoming
the main characters
of this decade

The enhanced
version for special
men and women
provides much
more extensive
information
relating to making
friends and
entertainment

Description

MT

To check online E-
C dictionaries by
using SMS in
mobile phones



Television
Programs

Weather Forecast

Weather Forecast
(on monthly basis)

IDD Area Code

Postal Code

TOEFL
Vocabulary

GRE Vocabulary

US Oral Test
of New Oriental

Two Genders
Humour of New
Oriental

English News of
New Oriental

89800400005

8980040004

8980040179

8980040024

8980040026

8980040087

8980040076

8980040180

8980040181

8980040182

To transmit from
TV “Code of
Television Station”
to 9163

To transmit from
TQDZ “City IDD
Area Code” to 9163

To transmit from
TQDZ to 9163

To transmit from
QH “Name of
City in Chinese” to
9163
To transmit from

YB “Name of City
in Chinese” to 9163

To transmit from
ENT to 9163

To transmit from
ENT to 9163

To transmit from
ENT 1501 to 9163

To transmit from
ENT 1502 to 9163

To transmit from
ENT 1503 to 9163
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Customized by
Subscribers

Customized by

Subscribers

1 piece/day

Customized by
Subscribers

Customized by

Subscribers

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 3/month

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 0.05/piece

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.25/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

RMB 0.15/piece

MT

MT

Monthly

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

Preview of the TV
programs of
major television
stations in China

Weather forecast
of major areas in
China

Weather forecast
of major areas in
China

To check IDD
area code/name of
city by mobile
phones

To check postal
code/name of city
by mobile phones

Examination
about vocabulary,
a real useful tool

Examination
about vocabulary,
a real useful tool

US Oral Test of
New Oriental

Two Genders
Humour of New
Oriental

English News of
New Oriental



IELTS
Vocabulary
of
New
Oriental

IELTS
Sentence
Structure

of
New
Oriental

IELTS
Oral
Test of
New
Oriental

IELTS
Listening
Test
of New
Oriental

A
Vocabulary
A Day
(English)

Health
Reminder

Advice
from
Child

Experts

Daily
Virus
Reminder

8980040183

8980040184

8980040185

8980040186

8980040059

8980040060

8980040061

8980040187

To transmit
from ENT
1504 to
9163

To transmit
from ENT
1505 to
9163

To transmit
from ENT
1506 to
9163

To transmit
from ENT
1506 to
9163

To transmit
from ENT
1601 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1603 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1602 to
9163

To transmit
from XWDZ
1605 to
9163

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

Not fixed

1 time/day

1-2 pieces/day

1-2 pieces/day

1 piece/day
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RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

IELTS Vocabulary
of New Oriental

IELTS Sentence
Structure of New
Oriental

IELTS Oral Test
of New Oriental

[ELTS Listening
Test of New
Oriental

Many a little
makes a mickle.
Learning English
is really not that
difficult if you
learn a vocabulary
a day

Good health is an
asset. Please learn
how to take care
of yourself — If
you want to have a
healthy life, please
use “Health
Reminder”

Don’t let your
children lose at the
very beginning
and use scientific
methods to raise
them from today
onward. Let’s hold
children with our
hands, make them
healthy and smart,
and have a rosy
future

Daily computer
virus reminder
enables your
computer to be
much more
healthy



Lotteries Regarding

Chinese Sports

Fengcai Welfare Lotteries

of Beijing
Star Story A

Star Story B

Star Story C

Soul Detector

Idiom

8980040062

8980040063

8980040141

8980040142

8980040143

8980040188

8980040189

Customized by the
website

Customized by the
website

Customized by the
website

Customized by the
website

Customized by the
website

Customized by the
website

To transmit
from YXXH
1804 to 9163

1 time/week

1 time/week

1 piece

1 piece

1 piece

2 pieces

1 piece/day
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RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.95/piece

RMB
1.95/piece

RMB
0.95/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

Lotteries information

Lotteries information

A. If subscribers request the service
online, related analysis of personal
file will come out

B. If subscribers request the service
online, related analysis of personal
file will come out

C. If subscribers request the service
online, related analysis of personal
file will come out

Subscribers choose a question from
a psychological test and the
NetEase system will help send it
out to the other party. After
choosing the answer by the other
party, a result of such test will come
out so as to analyse the personality
of both party

Subscribers send out an order to
customize service YXXH 1804. If
the order needs to be cancelled
please send YXXH 1804. A SMS
prepared based on Devil Dictionary
will be given



Devil
Dictionary

King of
Working Class

OL Corner

Notification of
New Mail

Calculation of
Female Safety
Period

Recruitment
Information

Newsletter on
Advanced
Level
Examination

8980040190

8980040191

8980040192

8980040193

8980040144

8980040127

8980040128

To transmit
from YXXH
1803 to
9163

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

1 piece/
day

1 piece/
day

1 piece/
day

Not fixed

1 piece

2-3 pieces/day

2-3 pieces/day
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RMB
0.15/piece

RMB
0.25/piece

RMB
0.25/piece

RMB
3/month

RMB
1.95/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

MT

MT

MT

Monthly

MT

MT

MT

Subscribers send out an
order “YXMC 1803” to
customize service. If the
customized service
needs to be cancelled,
please send “YXMC
1803”

To provide the white
collars of different ages
with information relating
to job vacancy, working
skills and tips for daily
life

To provide the white
collars of different ages
with information relating
to job vacancy, working
skills and tips for daily
life

To be informed of the
arrival of mails
immediately. The
service includes 20 mail
notices

By entering relevant
information online,
subscribers can get the
result regarding
calculation of female
safety period

To give up newspapers
for job vacancy, throw
away rubbish
information and use the
most popular way to get
ajob

To deliver to you at any
time the information
regarding Advanced
Level Examination



Newsletter on
Foreign Studies

Different
Languages

Love Winner

Business
Establishment

7. SMS Bidding

Name of
Service

SMS Bidding

Notice of
Successful Bid

8980040130

8980040131

8980040132

8980040133

Service Code

8980040116

8980040117

Customized 1-3 pieces/day
by the
website
Customized 1 piece/day
by the
website
Customized 2 pieces/day
by the
website
Customized 1 piece/day
by the
website
Transmission
Required Frequency
Form (Several times a
(Method of day/Several pieces
Use) each time)
Customized 1 piece
by the each time
website for
successful
bids
Customized 1 piece
by the each time
website for
successful
deals
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RMB MT
0.15/piece

RMB MT
0.15/piece

RMB MT
0.15/piece

RMB MT
0.15/piece

Calculation
Rate Method

RMB MT
0.95/piece

RMB MT
1.95/piece

To provide
subscribers with
information relating
to overseas students
and school
information

To enable peoples
from different
places to overcome
language and
communication
barriers

To provide
handsome boys and
beautiful girls with
several methods to
steal hearts and get
loves

To sum up the
successful
experiences of
famous people and
individual famous
remarks in the past
history and these
will be beneficial to
your business
establishment

Description

To successfully
bid the
communication
between the
parties

To send a
notice to the
seller after a
buyer
successfully
purchases
products



Tender
Reminder

Reminder
for
Completion
of
Tender

Newsletter
of
Bidding

Bidding
Information
Aona
Monthly
Basis

Bidding
Information
Bona
Monthly
Basis

Bidding
Information
Cona
Monthly
Basis

8980040118

8980040119

8980040120

8980040121

8980040122

8980040123

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

1 piece
each time
for tenders

which
exceed the
prices set

1 piece
each time
for the
completion
of tender

1-2 popular
products/
day

1-3 piece
of bidding
information/day

4-8 piece
of bidding
information/day

9-12 piece
of bidding
information/day
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RMB
0.95/piece

RMB
0.45/piece

RMB
0.15/piece

RMB10/piece

RMB15/piece

RMB30/piece

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

MT

A reminder in
SMS will be
sent if the
tender price
exceeds the
price you have
given

Information
relating to
tender will be
sent to those
who have
customized
this service
after the
completion of
tender

A reminder in
SMS
regarding the
popular
products for
bidding every
day

To provide
bidders with
comprehensive
information in
SMS on a
monthly basis

To provide
bidders with
comprehensive
information in
SMS on a
monthly basis

To provide
bidders with
comprehensive
information in
SMS on a
monthly basis



8. Shopping SMS

Name of
Service

Shopping
SMS

Notice of
Successful
Purchase

Online
Notice
(ona
Monthly
Basis)

Lesson
A

Lesson
B

Lesson

Transmission

Frequency
(Several
Required times a day/
Form Several
(Method of pieces each Calculation
Service Code Use) time) Rate Method Description
8980040194 Customized 1 piece RMB MT NetEase Shopping
by the 0.55/piece Center enables
website you to grasp
ample
opportunities
8980040195 Customized 1 piece RMB MT Notice of
by the 0.75/piece successful
website purchase from
NetEase Shopping
Center
8980040196 Customized 1 piece/day RMB3/month Monthly NetEase Alumna
by the provide you with
website an online notice
to make your
classmates and
you more close
8980040197 Customized Not RMB8/month Monthly To provide
by the fixed subscribers
website named in NetEase
Alumna with an
enhanced SMS
service
8980040198 Customized Not RMB12/month Monthly To provide
by the fixed subscribers
website named in NetEase
Alumna with an
enhanced SMS
service
8980040199 Customized Not RMB16/month Monthly To provide
by the fixed subscribers
website named in NetEase
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Alumna with an
enhanced SMS
service



9. Other Services

Transmission

Required Frequency
Form (Several times a
(Method of day/Several pieces Calculation
Name of Service Service Code Use) each time) Rate Method Description
Free 8980040000 Not fixed This service is
Service used in sending
out registration
and verification
information and
free-of-charge
system
information
External 8980040099 Customized 1-2 pieces RMB MT To provide you
Domain by the 0.45/piece with expired and
Names website cancelled
domain names,
which enables
you to obtain
valuable domain
names easily
Mail 898004002 Customized 1 reminder for RMB MT You will
Remainder by the each new mails 0.15/reminder immediately
website receive a notice
for any new
incoming mail
E-Mail Any 8980040126 Customized Not fixed RMB Monthly To send e-mail
Time by the 6/month by mobile
website phones at any
time
Mobile Phone 8980040134 Customized To be charged for RMB MT Mobile Phone
Chat by the each piece of 0.05/piece Chat Room is a
Room website information game in
connection with
making friends,
which makes the
distance between
people closer
Mobile Phone 8980040135 Customized Monthly RMB Monthly Mobile Phone
Chat Room by the 4/month Chat Room is a
(Private) website game in
connection with
making friends,
which makes the
distance between
people closer
NetEase SMS 8980040200 1 piece Free of
Menu Charge
Setting
SMS 8980040003 Customized Customized by RMB Monthly It’s convenient
Delivery by the Subscribers 0.05/piece and easy to send
on SMS website SMS on main
Main page
Page
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Special Price
A

Special Price
B

Special Price
C

Special Price
D

Monthly On-
Demand
Package A

Monthly On-
Demand
Package B

Monthly On-
Demand
Package C

Monthly
Club Service

8980040201

8980040202

8980040203

8980040204

8980040205

8980040206

8980040206

8980040208

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

Customized
by the
website

To transmit
from TCA
to 9163

To transmit
from TCB
to 9163

To transmit
from TCC
to 9163

Customized
by the
website

2
pieces
a day

4
pieces
a day

8
pieces
a day

8
pieces
a day

Not
fixed

Not
fixed

Not
fixed

Not
fixed
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RMB 5/month

RMB
10/month

RMB
20/month

RMB
25/month

RMB5/month

RMB10/month

RMB15/month

RMB10/month

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

The latest information,
the hottest current
affairs, the No. 4 news
and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)

The latest information,
the hottest current
affairs, the No. 5 news
and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)

The latest information,
the hottest current
affairs, the No. 6 news
and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)

The latest information,
the hottest current
affairs, the No. 7 news
and the major
international and PRC
news (on a monthly
basis)

Limited payment but
with unlimited content
service

Limited payment but
with unlimited content
service

Limited payment but
with unlimited content
service

To make you more
convenient



Media 8980040209 Customized
Alliance by the
SMS website
Men’s Health 898004210 To transmit
from 1613
to 9163
Motor 8980040211 To transmit
Newsletter from 1611
to 9163
10. Cancellation of All Customized Services
Required
Form
Name of Service (Method of
Service Code Use)
Cancellation To transmit
of All to “0000”
Customized
Services

Notes for Form Filling:

Not fixed RMB15/month
2-3 pieces/day RMB15/month
2-3 pieces/day RMB15/month

Transmission
Frequency
(Several times a
day/Several pieces
each time) Rate
1 piece each time Nil

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Calculation
Method

Free of
Charge

To obtain media
information at any
time

Knowledge about
men’s health and
health care
information

This is the news
coverage in SMS
specially designed
for those who love
motors, which
includes the latest
information,
analysis and market
information
relating to motors

Description

To cancel all the

customized
services

1. Please write down the name of services after sequence number and make any additions as you think fit pursuant to the actual needs.

2. The name of services is the combination of various service items, for example, the service called “Weather Forecast” includes the items of “Weather Enquiry,

Weather Report and Cancellation of Weather Report.”

3. Service Code is composed of letters or numbers with 10 digits

4. Unit of the rate is “RMB each time” or “RMB/month.”

5. Calculation method shall be classified as follows: (1) MT; (2) MO; (3) MT and MO; (4) monthly-based fee; and (5) free of charge.

6. “Cancellation of All Customized Service” is a necessary item. All SP shall fill in the form in accordance with the above requirements.
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Exhibit 3 Service Provided by Party B to Subscribers
How to order NetEase SMS via cell phone

Ordering stock information via cell phone

Check for help regarding stock information ordering

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “HELP GP,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Quotation of specified stocks (3 stocks at one time)

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “GP 0001 0002 0003,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Timed customization of stock quotations

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “GPDZ 0001 0002 0003,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Cancel customization of stock quotations
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “GPDZ 0001 0002 0003,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit
4. Wait for the confirmation of cancellation

Order the list of value percentage gainers on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (real-time delivery)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPZH,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered
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Order the list of value percentage gainers on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (real-time delivery)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPZS,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Order the list of value percentage losers on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (real-time delivery)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPDH,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Order the list of value percentage losers on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (real-time delivery)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPDS,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered
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Customize the list of value percentage gainers on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (closing quotations)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPZH,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Cancel the customization of the list of value percentage gainers on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (closing quotations)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPZX”, click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the confirmation of cancellation

Customize the list of value percentage gainers on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (closing quotations)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPDF,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

Cancel the customization of the list of value percentage losers on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (closing quotations)
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “GPDX,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the confirmation of cancellation
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Inquiry by stock code

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “GPCX abbreviation of stock name,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the arrival of information ordered

IQ puzzle

Order 1Q puzzle:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “IQ 13XXXXXXXX,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive the IQ puzzle, receive answer after 5 minutes

Customize IQ puzzle:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “IQDZ 0900,” click “Submit” (“0900” represents 9 a.m., if the time is in default, it will be deemed as the current time)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive IQ puzzle at 9 a.m. every day

Cancel the customization of IQ puzzle:
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “IQQX,” click “Submit”
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3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the confirmation of cancellation

Play millionaire game via SMS

Order the game:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJ,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the game

Answer question in the game:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJA” or “JJ A,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the answer, check if your answer is correct

Points inquiry:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJE,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the accumulated points

Ranking inquiry:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJP,” click “Submit”
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3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the ranking

Inquiry about “JJ” instruction and help:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJH,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive help information about “JJ”

Customize SMS millionaire game:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJDZ 0900,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive the game at 9 a.m. each day

Cancel the customization of SMS millionaire game:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “JJQX,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the confirmation of cancellation

Inquiry about area code of a city

Inquiry about area code, given city name

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “QH city name in Chinese,” click “Submit” (e.g., QH [FOREIGN LANGUAGE APPEARS HERE])
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the area code of the city
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Inquiry about city name, given area code

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “QH area code,” click “Submit” (e.g., QH 0871)

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the name of the city

Order pictures to your friends or yourself:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “TP picture code cell phone number,” click “Submit”

If order to Nokia cell phone: “TP 31001 13XXXXXXXX” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone);
If order to Alcatel cell phone: “TPA 31001 13XXXXXXXX?” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone);
If order to Siemens cell phone: “TPS 31001 13XXXXXXXX” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone)

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the picture ordered

Order ring bell to your friends or yourself:
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “LG ring bell code cell phone number,” click “Submit”
If order to Nokia cell phone: “LS 31001 13XXXXXXXX” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone);

If order to Alcatel cell phone: “LSA 31001 13XXXXXXXX” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone);
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If order to Siemens cell phone: “LSS 31001 13XXXXXXXX” (If you don’t enter the cell phone, the picture will be sent to your cell phone)

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the ring bell ordered

Order and inquiry about weather forecast

Inquiry about weather forecast

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “TQ area code cell phone number,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TQ 020)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive the weather forecast of the city

Customize weather forecast

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “TQDZ area code time for receiving the SMS,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TQ 020 0900)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive the weather forecast at 9 a.m. each day

Cancel customization of weather forecast

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “TQQX area coder,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TQQX 020)

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for confirmation of cancellation
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Receive TV program parade via SMS

Order TV programs:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “TV code of the TV station,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TV CCTV1”)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive TV program parade of CCTV1

Customize receiving TV program parade:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “TV code of the TV station time for receiving the SMS,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TVDZ CCTV1 0900”)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive TV program parade of CCTV1 at 9 am each day

What follows is the list of TV station codes:

CCTV 1 (cctvl) CCTV 2 (cctv2) CCTV 3 (cctv3)

CCTV 4 (cctvd) CCTV 5 (cctv5) CCTV 6 (cctv6)

CCTV7 (cctv7) CCTV 8 (cctv8) Zhejiang Star TV (zjws)
Anhui Star TV (anhws) Shanghai Star TV (shws) Shanghai 1 (sh1)

Shanghai 2 (sh2) Shanghai Oriental 1(shdf1) Shanghai Oriental 2 (shdf2)
Phoenix TV Chinese (fhzw) Phoenix TV Movie (fhdy) Shandong Star TV (sdws)
Fujian Star TV (fjws) Hainan Star TV (hainws) Heilongjiang Star TV (hljws)
Shenzhen 1 (sz1) Shenzhen 2 (sz 2) Guangdong Star TV (gdws)
Guangdong Pearl (gdzj) Hunan Star TV (hunws) Asia TV Hong Kong (ysbg)
Asia TV Intl. (ysgj) Chongging Star TV (cqws)

Cancel the customization of TV program parade:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
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2. Enter “TVQX code of the TV station,” click “Submit” (e.g., “TVQX CCTV1”)
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait to receive “cancellation confirmed”

Order news

Order real-time news:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “XW,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive news update

For example, customize ordering of various news:
1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “XWDZ 1009,” click “Submit”
“1009” represents the most concerned news report, such as “Iraq War”, for details, please see Attachment 1
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Receive news update every day

Cancel the customization of news update:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “XWQX 1001,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Cancel news headlines previously ordered
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For the operation of other news items, please see Attachment 1:

1001 Headlines

1005 Technology News
1008 Entertainment News
1204 League A Rankings
1207 Italian Serie A

1210 F1 Grand Prix

1402 TV Info

1405 Hong Kong Pop Music
1408 Performance (Shanghai)
1602 Baby Care Instruction
1605 Daily Virus

Order post code

Find out city name through post code:

1002 Domestic News

1006 Financial News

1201 World Cup News
1205 League B Rankings
1208 German Serie A
1211 Chinese Soccer Team
1403 Music Info

1406 Chinese TOP 20
1409 Performance (Guangzhou)
1603 Health Care

1801 Jokes

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “YB 510000, click “Submit”
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the name of the city represented by the post code sent to your cell phone

Find out post codes of any place:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”

2. Enter “YB [FOREIGN LANGUAGE APPEARS HERE],” click “Submit”
3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait for the post code of the city sent to your cell phone
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1003 Intl. News

1007 Sports News

1203 League A Report

1206 League B Report

1209 English Premier League
1401 Movie Info

1404 American Movie

1407 Performance (Beijing)
1601 Daily English Vocabulary
1604 Daily Fortune



Order English-Chinese translation:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “YH HELLO,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. Wait the Chinese translation of “HELLO” sent to your cell phone
Order help information:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “HELP,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. All the information about the codes used in ordering will be sent to your cell phone, helping you order the services

Order help information regarding chat room:

1. Select the information menu on cell phone, then select “Compose”
2. Enter “HELP CQ,” click “Submit”

3. Enter receiving code “9163,” confirm submit

4. All the information about the chat room will be sent to your cell phone.

How to cancel the registration of your cell phone number?

You may log into the NetEase SMS center by clicking on “Personal Info” at the upper left of the web page, where you can find the selection of “cancel cell phone
registration.” Upon receipt of the password for registration cancellation, you may type in the password to complete the cancellation of your registration at the
NetEease SMS center.
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Exhibit 4: Maintenance Sections and Responsibilities of Both Parties

A. Diagram of the Maintenance Sections
[Omitted]

B. Party A’s Rights and Obligations

(1) Party A shall contribute software and hardware required by its SMS service platform.
(2) Party A shall connect Party B’s server to its SMS service platform.
(3) Party A shall provide Party B with the SMS service specifications and interface technical specifications.

(4) Party A shall maintain the normal operation of the network communication that is indicated to be responsible by Party A, and assume responsibility for
network problems not caused by Party B. Party A has the right to restrict the transmission of any excessive data or information that damages the safety of Party
A’s network operation.

(5) Party A shall provide statistics for the information transmission volume through Party A’s telecommunications channel, and ensure the reliability and
timeliness of such statistics data, and assume responsibilities for any damages arising therefrom.

(6) Party A shall notify Party B in advance for any transmission interruption resulting from testing, maintenance or other foreseeable reasons, including the
reason, time and period for such transmission interruption.

(7) Party A shall immediately notify Party B of any transmission interruption caused by unforeseeable reasons such as problems with network switch or other
network problems.

C. Party B’s Rights and Obligations

(1) Party B shall be responsible for the construction and maintenance of its own system for information services, including all hardware equipment, system
testing, connecting, maintenance, daily service management, market promotion and expenses relating to this service.

(2) Party B shall be responsible for the connection between Party B’s system and Party A’s gateways and servers, and the expenses for the application, lease and
maintenance of relevant telecommunication lines.

(3) Party B shall be responsible for the editing, review and production of the information that it provides, and ensure the timeliness, truthfulness, reliability and
legality of such information, and assume related liabilities thereto.
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(4) Party B shall ensure the testing and connecting of its system would not affect the normal operation of Party A’s network and assume related liabilities for any
damages to Party A’s network system arising therefrom.

(5) Party B shall make prior notice to Party A in writing for the commissioning, activation and modification of its system, and notify subscribers of the same
through effective means such as e-mail, advertisement or short messages upon Party A’s confirmation thereof, and shall reduce the impact on subscribers to the
minimum degree.

(6) Party B shall observe Party A’s emergence adjustment to the volume of short messages to ensure the normal operation of SMS services.
(7) Party B shall not create overload transmission volume that would harm the network safety when transmitting messages to Party A’s SMS service platform.
(8) Party B shall provide 7 days a week and 24 hours a day system maintenance.
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Exhibit 5: Information Source Networking Information Safety and Security Liability Statement

The information source unit (CP/SP in the Agreement) that connects with the mobile communication network, UNINET or relevant service platform of China
Unicom (including but not limited to SMS gateway, WAP gateway, JAVA/BREW download server, GPRS server) shall comply with the following regulations:

L The information source unit shall comply with applicable state laws, regulations and directives, and to strictly implement regulations on information
security management.

II.  The information source unit shall not use mobile communication network, UNINET or relevant service platform of China Unicom to conduct
criminal activities which may jeopardize national safety or cause disclosure of national secrets; not to use mobile communication network, UNINET
or relevant service platform of China Unicom to produce, browse, copy, or transmit the information which breaches the Constitution or the laws,
prevent social security, disrupt national unity or national solidarity, or is erotic or violent, nor to use mobile communication network, UNINET or
relevant service platform of China Unicom to publish any information of the following nature:

. that opposes the basic principles set for in the Constitution;
. that jeopardizes national security, divulges state secrets, subverts the government or undermines national unity;
. that is detrimental to the national image and interests;

. that instigates ethnic hatred or discrimination or that damages interracial unity;

1
2
3
4
5. that undermines state policy on religion, or that advocates cults or feudal superstitions;
6. that spreads rumors, disrupts the social order or undermines social stability;

7. that spreads obscenity or pornography, or that advocates gambling, violence, murder, fear, or that incites criminal activities;
8. that insults or slanders other people, or that infringes upon their lawful rights and interests; or

9

. other contents prohibited by laws or administrative regulations.

Upon discovering the information being transmitted, the information source unit shall take prompt measures to stop such transmission and report to relevant
authorities.

II. The information source unit shall comply with state regulations on intellectual property in respect of provision of information.
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IV.  The information source unit shall guarantee the safety and stability of the service content during the network testing, trial operation and upon
activation of the service, that will not cause any damage to the mobile communication network, UNINET or relevant service platform of China
Unicom.

V. The information source unit shall put in place effective information security controls and technology protection measures and accept administration,
oversight and examination of relevant authorities.

VI. In the event of any breach of such regulations, Party A shall take measures to close the channel accessible to such information source and hold the
responsible unit liable, and terminate cooperation with such unit. The liability statement shall be kept by Party A.

Responsible unit:
Responsible person:
(signature, seal)
Date: April 18, 2003
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Exhibit 10.3

Supplemental Agreement on Mobile Data Service

Party A: China Unicom Co., Ltd.
Address: Jia No.133, North Xidan Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, China
Legal Representative: Wang Jianzhou

Party B: Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd. (hereinafter individually or collectively referred to as the “SP” or “CP/SP”)
Address:
Legal Representative:

Whereas:

1. Party A and Party B have entered into the “China Unicom Mobile Data Cooperation Agreement” (Serial No. CUVAS-A3115/SMS/ap(1)) (hereinafter referred
to as the “Agreement”) as of July 29, 2003, which is being legally performed.

2. According to the Agreement, the services rendered by Party B include “Uni-Info” SMS service (connected via 165 SMS gateway, or Unicom SMS integrated
gateway).

3. According to market research and actual performance of the Agreement, Party A and Party B agree that it is necessary to make certain adjustments to the
methods of billing and settlement provided in the Agreement, and introduce a withdraw mechanism based upon market competition.

4. Unless specifically indicated, the terms used in this supplemental agreement shall have the same meaning with the terms in the Agreement.
Therefore, upon amicable negotiations, Party A and Party B hereby agree as follows:

Chapter I Adjustment to the Billing and Settlement Method for “Unicom-Info”
Article 1 Adjustment to Billing Method

A. Communication Fee
(1) Communication fee under “Uni-Info” shall include: uplinking communication fee, downlinking communication fee, and unbalanced communication fee.

(2) Definition:

a) Uplinking communication fee: means such fee that occurs when an SMS sent by a subscriber’s cell phone has arrived at Party B’s SMS gateway.
b) Downlinking communication fee: means such fee that occurs when an SMS sent by Party B’s SMS gateway has arrived at the subscriber’s cell phone.

¢) Unbalanced communication fee: means such fee arising from unbalanced portion of SMS (that is, entries of downlinking SMS minus entries of
uplinking SMS).

(3) Method for Billing and Collection



Uplinking communication fee and downlinking communication fee shall be collected by Party A from subscribers; unbalanced communication fee shall be
collected by Party A from Party B.
(4) Fee Rate
Uplinking communication fee: RMBO0.05 per entry;
Downlinking communication fee: RMBO0.05 per entry;
Unbalanced communication fee: RMBO0.05 per entry.
B.  Information Service Fee Prior to Settlement

Definition: Information service fee arising prior to the settlement between Party A and Party B.

C.  Adjustment to the Monthly Customized Service Mode
(1) SP shall send SMS to subscribers such service fee list in the form provided by China Unicom explicitly indicating the monthly rate for such service.

(2) The generation of the monthly service list shall be subject to the receipt by gateway of a status reply report indicating successful delivery of such SMS. SP
shall not repeat sending service list via SMS to those subscribers who have already received such list.

(3) SP shall provide a three-day grace period to subscribers who have subscribed to the monthly customized service.

(4) The following rule shall be applied in determining customization relationship with the SP that has observed the rules of China Unicom regarding service
management: if a subscriber takes no action upon receipt of the current month service list, it shall be determined as the establishment of customization
relationship for the following month.

(5) The following rule shall be applied in determining customization relationship with the SP that has violated the rules of China Unicom regarding service
management: upon receipt of the current month service list, the subscriber should send “MO” to confirm the customization relationship for the following month.

(6) Due to the limit of the Uni-Info service management platform, SP shall provide China Unicom with the customization relationship of all the subscribers who
receive such service.
Article 2 Adjustment to Settlement Method
(1) Definition:
Preferential service period: When Party B has passed the qualification examination for network accession, Party A shall grant to Party B certain preferential

treatment regarding profit distribution and service management within the three-month period after Party B’s activation of billing to its service.
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(2)  Settlement of Communication Fee:

Party A shall collect the uplinking communication fee and downlinking communication fee directly from subscribers, and shall not make a settlement with
Party B.
(3) Method for the Settlement of Unbalanced Communication Fee

(a) Formula: Unbalanced communication fee that Party A collects from Party B = (entries of downlinking SMS - entries of uplinking SMS) x RMB 0.05
per entry.

(b) In the formula, downlinking SMS also includes such SMS in PUSH format.

(c) Unbalanced communication fee shall be paid by Party A to Party B, and shall not be distributed between Party A and Party B. During the settlement, it
can be deducted from the information service fee that Party A has paid to Party B after pro rata distribution between Party A and Party B.
(4)  Settlement of Information Service Fee
(a) Formula for settlement of information service fee:
Information service fee that Party A pays to Party B = (information service fee prior to settlement - non-performing account (at 8% of the
information service fee prior to settlement) ) x Party B’s distribution ratio - unbalanced communication fee.
(b) Principle for calculation of distribution ratio between Party A and Party B:
(i) During preferential service period:
Information service fee prior to settlement shall be distributed in the ratio of 2:8 between Party A and Party B after deduction of non-performing
account.
(ii) Beyond preferential service period:

Principle for distribution: Party A shall rank in descending sequence all the CP/SP that are beyond the preferential service period according to the
amount of information the service fee prior to settlement, and will carry out distribution settlement with Party B according to Party B’s ranking and in accordance
with the formula for the settlement of information service fee. If the ranking of any CP/SP is affected by account reconciliation, such ranking shall be calculated
according to Party A’s data prior to the account reconciliation.

Method for calculation of ranking: All the CP/SP that are beyond the preferential service period shall take part in the ranking. Ranking shall be divided into four
categories, including “top 5%,” “5-45%,” “45-85%” and “below 85%.” If any decimal appears when the total number of CP/SP is multiplied with (5%, 45%, or
85%), only the integer will remain, and the decimal will be omitted.

a. When the information service fee of Party B ranks in the top 5%, the current month information service fee shall be distributed between Party A
and Party B in the ratio of 1:9, respectively.



b. When the information service fee of Party B ranks between 5% to 45%, the current month information service fee shall be distributed between
Party A and Party B in the ratio of 2:8, respectively.

c. When the information service fee of Party B ranks between 45% to 85%, the current month information service fee shall be distributed between
Party A and Party B in the ratio of 3:7, respectively.

d. When the information service fee of Party B ranks below 85%, the current month information service fee shall be distributed between Party A and
Party B in the ratio of 4:6, respectively.
(5) Settlement Cycle

(a) The settlement between Party A and Party B shall be carried out once in each month.
(b) Settlement cycle: The settlement cycle for China Unicom’s value-added service shall be one calendar month.

(6)  Settlement Process

(a) Subscribers use wireless data service for the first month;

(b) Party B may consolidate account with Party A within 15 days of the following month; if the discrepancy is above 5%, the parties shall negotiate for a
solution, Party B shall deliver the account reconciliation report and invoice that have been affixed with Party B’s official chop to Party A’s contact person no later
than the 25th of the following month;

(c) Party A shall remit the settlement payment to the bank account designated by Party B no later than the 28th of the third month;

(d) If Party B fails to deliver the account reconciliation report and invoice that have been affixed with Party B’s official chop as Party A has required prior
to the 25th of the month following the service, Party A shall postpone the settlement payment of the current month to the end of the following quarter until Party
A has received Party B’s account reconciliation report and invoice. (This provision does not constitute the breach of deferred payment as provided in the
Agreement.)

Chapter IT “Uni-Info” Service Withdraw Mechanism and Termination by Agreement

Party A and Party B agree to investigate the status of “Uni-Info” service in terms of service testing, service development, and service violation, and shall adopt
appropriate withdraw mechanism according to the result of such investigation. If Party B no longer provides such service as a result of the operation of withdraw
mechanism, the Agreement between Party A and Party B shall be automatically terminated.

1. Basis for the establishment of withdraw mechanism
(1) Service testing

(2) Service development

(3) Service violation



2. Rules for the withdraw mechanism
(1) CP/SP withdraw mechanism based upon service testing:
If Party B fails to pass the testing within three months (from the date that Party A notifies Party B to take the testing) after its application for the
“Uni-Info” service, the “Uni-Info” cooperation agreement between Party A and Party B shall be automatically terminated, and the qualification for “Uni-Info”
accession shall also be automatically revoked.
(2) CP/SP withdraw mechanism based upon service development:
(a) Rules for service withdraw:
(i) Upon conclusion of the preferential service period, if Party B’s information service fee ranks in the last 5% for three consecutive months,
Party B will receive a yellow warning card, and will be dealt with in accordance with the following procedures for service yellow warning card.

(ii) Upon conclusion of the preferential service period, if Party B’s information service fee ranks in the last 5% for six consecutive months,
Party B will receive a red warning card, and will be dealt with in accordance with the following procedures for service red warning card.
(b) Service withdraw procedures:
(i) Service yellow warning card: Party B will be listed on Party A’s website as a CP/SP that has received yellow warning card, and Party A
will also send written form notice to Party B to such effect.

(ii) Service red warning card: Upon receipt of service red warning card, Party B shall automatically terminate its cooperation with Party A in
such service area, and the service accession code will be reclaimed by Party A. Within one year after the termination, Party A will not accept Party B’s application
for such service.

3) CP/SP withdraw mechanism based upon service violation:

Shall be dealt in accordance with “Administrative Measures of “Uni-Info” Concerning Service Violation” (as follows).
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Chapter III “Administrative Measures of “Uni-Info” Concerning Service Violation”

1. Definition of service violations:
No. Service Violation Category
1 SP fails to provide subscribers with a two-day un-subscribe period for the customized monthly service. A

Price of the service has not been indicated in the promotion of the service or in the process of customization by subscribers. A
3 In the process of service registration, SP fails to explicitly notify subscribers that such service is provided on a monthly basis, and

charge subscribers with monthly fees. A
4 SP fails to provide appropriate customer support in accordance with the Agreement and the service administrative measures, or fails to

timely respond to Unicom customer complaint within the period of time committed in the Agreement. A
5 SP’s system downtime is in access of that committed in the Agreement. A
6 Cannot un-subscribe service by sending “0000.” A
7 SP opens account and collect fees from customers without the consent of such customers. B
8 SP sends group SMS to subscribers via its own access number without Party A’s consent. B
9 SP fails to fill the service fee list in a proper way, making it impossible to collect communication fee accurately. B
10 SP provides the service to customers initially on a free trail basis, and upon the conclusion of trail period, SP starts to collect fees

without notifying the customers. B
11 SP starts to provide new service without notifying China Unicom. B
Note: Party A reserves the right to revise the list of service violation according to problems arising from the development of service.
2. Determination of the degree of service violations:
Service violation satisfying any one of the following conditions shall be third
degree violation: SP has conducted any one of the “Category A” service violations.
Service violation satisfying any one of the following conditions shall be 1. SP has concurrently conducted three (or more) “Category A” service
second degree violation: violations.

2. SP has been determined in third degree violation for two consecutive

occasions.
3. SP has conducted any one of the “Category B” service violations.

Service violation satisfying any one of the following conditions shall be first SP has been determined in second degree violation for two consecutive

degree violation: occasions.



3. Sanctions against service violations:

Degree of
Violation

Third Degree
Violation

Second Degree
Violation

First Degree
Violation

Sanctions

1. Third degree violation warning:

2. Suspending accession of new services

1. Second degree violation warning:

2. Suspending accession of new services

Terminating settlement and accession.

Chapter IV Effectiveness and Miscellaneous

Detail

SP that has been determined in the third degree
violation will be listed on the third violation SP list,
and will be notified to such effect.

Party A will suspend the examination and approval of
the SP’s application for new service under the “Uni-
Info” service, and Party A will suspend or terminate
the cooperation with Party B in service promotion.

SP that has been determined in the second degree
violation will be listed on the third violation SP list,
and will be notified to such effect.

SP’s profit distribution ratio will be reduced by 10
points. With respect to SP that has a information
service revenue less than RMB100,000 prior to
settlement, it shall be fined with liquidated damages at
RMB10,000 for each violation that has been
determined by Party A.

Party A will terminate the settlement with SP, and SP
shall rectify its services. If Party B still cannot be
qualified after rectification, Party A will terminate the
cooperation with the SP and reclaim the SMS

accession number of the SP, and will not engage in any

service cooperation with the SP within one year
thereafter.

Time

Three months
after the
notification of
sanctions.

Three months
after the
notification of
sanctions.

1. This supplemental agreement shall be effective as of March 1, 2004, which shall constitute an integral party of the Agreement, having same legal effect.



2. The parties agree that, upon expiration of the Agreement, the parties will execute a renewed cooperation upon mutual consent. Party A will deliver to Party B a
copy of the renewed cooperation agreement for consultation between the parties.

3. With respect to any issue not included in this supplemental agreement, the Agreement shall rule; if there is any discrepancy between this supplemental
agreement and the Agreement, this supplemental agreement shall prevail.

4. This supplemental agreement shall be executed in two original counterparts, with Party A and Party B holding one thereof, which shall have equal effect in law.
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Signature Page
Party A (official chop): China Unicom Co., Ltd.

Legal or authorized representative:
Date: February 28, 2004

Party B (official chop): Guangzhou NetEase Computer System Co., Ltd.

Legal or authorized representative:
Date: February 28, 2004
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NETEASE'S CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT
POLICY STATEMENT

It is the policy of NetEase.com, Inc. (the "Company" or "NetEase") to
conduct its affairs in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations of the countries in which it does business. This Code of Business
Conduct ("Code") applies to the Company's employees, officers and non-employee
directors, including the Company's principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and persons
performing similar functions ("Designated Executives"). This Code 1is the
Company's "code of ethics" as defined in Item 16B of Form 20-F. This Code is
designed to promote:

honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual
or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional
relationships;

full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in the
reports and documents the Company files with, or submits to, the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission and in other public communications
made by the Company;

compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;

the prompt internal reporting to the appropriate person of violations
of this Code; and

accountability for adherence to this Code.

NetEase has established standards for behavior that affects the Company,
and employees, officers and directors should pattern their daily performance in
compliance with those standards. The Company promotes ethical behavior and
encourages employees to talk to supervisors, managers, executive officers or
other appropriate personnel when in doubt about the best course of action in a
particular situation. Non-employee directors are encouraged to talk to the
Company's Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer in such situations.

Additionally, employees should report to appropriate personnel violations
of laws, rules, regulations or the Code, as well as complaints, concerns, and
information regarding Accounting Matters (which should include accounting
practices, internal accounting controls, or other auditing matters), corporate
fraud, or violations of laws committed by the Company or its agents. Employees
reporting such violations in good faith will not be subject to retaliation.
Employees should refer to the guidelines under "Compliance and Reporting" below.

This Code covers a wide range of business practices and procedures. It does
not cover every issue that may arise, but it sets out basic principles to guide
you. Corporate policies and procedures provide details pertinent to many of the
provisions of the Code. You are expected to be aware of, and to act in
accordance with, both the Code and the Company's other policies and
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procedures at all times. Although there can be no better course of action than
to apply common sense and sound judgment, do not hesitate to use the resources
available whenever it is necessary to seek clarification.

APPROVALS AND WAIVERS

Certain provisions of this Code require employees to act, or refrain from
acting, unless prior approval is received from the appropriate person. Employees
requesting approval pursuant to this Code should request such approval in
writing to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer. Approvals
relating to executive officers and directors must be obtained from the Company's
Audit Committee. All other approvals may be granted by the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer. Employees may contact the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer for additional information on obtaining
approvals.

Other provisions of this Code require employees to act, or refrain from
acting, in a particular matter and do not permit exceptions based on obtaining
an approval. Waiver of those provisions may only be granted by the Audit
Committee, and changes in this Code may only be made by the Board of Directors
and must be promptly disclosed to shareholders. Waivers relating to executive
officers and directors must be promptly disclosed to shareholders.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest arises any time an employee's personal interests or
activities influence his or her ability to act in the best interests of the
Company. All employees must discharge their responsibilities solely on the basis
of what is in the best interest of the Company and independent of personal
consideration or relationships. Employees must disclose any potential conflicts
of interest to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or such
officers' designees, who will advise the employee as to whether or not the
Company believes a conflict of interest exists. An employee should also disclose
potential conflicts of interest involving the employee's spouse, siblings,
parents, in-laws, children, life partner and members of the employee's
household. An employee should not make or influence any decision that could
directly or indirectly benefit his or her close relative and, in order to
protect the employee and the Company from the appearance of a conflict of
interest, he or she should make appropriate disclosure of the interest to the
Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or such officers' designee.

CORPORATE OPPORTUNITIES & RESOURCES

You are prohibited from taking for yourself personal opportunities that are
discovered through the use of corporate property, information or position
without approval. Without approval, no employee may use corporate property,
information or position for improper personal gain, and no employee may compete
with the Company directly or indirectly except as permitted by Company policies.

All employees should protect the Company's assets and ensure their
efficient use. Theft, carelessness and waste have a direct impact on the
Company's profitability. All Company assets should be used for legitimate
business purposes.



Company resources may be used for minor personal uses so long as such use
is reasonable, does not interfere with the employee's duties, is not done for
pecuniary gain, does not conflict with or harm the Company's business and does
not violate any Company policy.

BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

NetEase seeks to outperform its competition fairly and honesty. The Company
seeks competitive advantages through superior performance, not unethical or
illegal business practices. Each employee should endeavor to deal fairly with
the Company's customers, suppliers, competitors and employees. No one should
take unfair advantage of anyone through manipulation, concealment, abuse of
privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts, or any
unfair-dealing practice.

FAIR COMPETITION

Fair competition laws, including the U.S. and PRC antitrust rules, limit
what NetEase can do with another company and what NetEase can do on its own.
Generally, the laws are designed to prohibit agreements or actions that reduce
competition and harm consumers. You may not enter into agreements or discussions
with competitors that have the effect of fixing or controlling prices, dividing
and allocating markets or territories, or boycotting suppliers or customers.

GIFTS, GRATUITIES, ENTERTAINMENT AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Use of Company funds or other Company property for illegal, unethical or
otherwise improper purposes is prohibited. The purpose of business entertainment
and gifts in a commercial setting is to create goodwill and a sound working
relationship, not to gain advantage with customers or suppliers.

Loans

Employees may not accept loans from any person or entities having or
seeking business with the Company. Designated Executives and directors may not
receive loans from the Company, nor may the Company arrange for any loan.

Bribes and Kickbacks

The use of Company funds, facilities or property for any illegal or
unethical purpose is strictly prohibited; provided, that certain facilitating
payments discussed in "Observation of Applicable Laws" are permitted.

No NetEase employee or agent is permitted to offer, give or cause
others to give, any payments or anything of value for the purpose of
influencing the recipient's business judgment or conduct other than
facilitating payments;

Employees may not solicit or accept a kickback or bribe, in any form,
for any reason.



OBSERVATION OF APPLICABLE LAWS

NetEase is committed to the highest business conduct standards wherever it
operates. NetEase observes these standards worldwide, even at the risk of losing
business. While no one can anticipate all the situations that may present
challenges to NetEase employees doing business in the worldwide marketplace, the
following guidelines always apply:

Observe all laws and regulations, both PRC and non-PRC, that are
applicable.

Paying bribes to government officials is absolutely prohibited, even
if those bribes are common practice, except for facilitating payments.
NetEase employees may not give, promise to give or authorize the
giving to a foreign official, a foreign political party, or official
thereof or any candidate for foreign political office any money or
offer, gift, promise to give or authorize the giving of anything of
value to influence any act or decision, to induce such official, party
or candidate to do or omit to do any act in violation of the lawful
duty of such official, party or candidate, or to induce such official,
party or candidate to use his or her influence with a foreign
government or agency to affect or influence any act or decision of
such foreign government or agency.

Do not cooperate with illegal boycotts.

Observe all licensing requirements and the requirements of applicable
import and export control laws.

No new NetEase services or products should be offered in any new country
without prior approval, and then only in accordance with the applicable local
country's regulations and requirements.

Facilitating Payments to Low-Level Non-U.S. Governmental Employees and
Officials for Non-Discretionary Action

As noted above, NetEase is committed to complying with the laws of the
countries where it operates. In some countries, a very limited category of small
payments to facilitate or expedite routine nondiscretionary governmental actions
may be permitted as exceptions to anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"). The requirements pertaining to such payments are
complex. NetEase employees must obtain prior approval of the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer before making any such payment.

These "facilitating payments" to governmental officials are distinguished
from payments made to influence a discretionary decision or to cause violation
of, or an act in conflict with, the interests of an individual's employer, which
are strictly prohibited.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND LOBBYING

No political contributions are to be made using NetEase funds or assets, or
the funds or assets of any NetEase subsidiary, to any political party, political
campaign, political candidate or public official in any country, unless the
contribution is lawful and expressly authorized in
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writing. In addition, no NetEase employee may make a political contribution on
behalf of NetEase or its subsidiaries, or with the appearance that such
contribution is being made on behalf of NetEase or its subsidiaries, unless
expressly authorized in writing. A "contribution" is any direct or indirect
payment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money, services or
anything of value in connection with an election or to an organization or group
formed to support or defend a referendum or ballot issue.

ACCURACY OF REPORTS, RECORDS AND ACCOUNTS

You are responsible for the accuracy of your respective records, time
sheets and reports. Accurate information is essential to NetEase's ability to
meet legal and regulatory obligations and to compete effectively. The records
and books of account of NetEase must meet the highest standards and accurately
reflect the true nature of the transactions they record. Destruction of any
records, books of account or other documents except in accordance with the
Company's policies is strictly prohibited.

You must not create false or misleading documents or accounting, financial
or electronic records for any purpose, and no one may direct an employee to do
so. For example, expense reports must accurately document expenses actually
incurred in accordance with NetEase policies. You must not obtain or create
"false" invoices or other misleading documentation or invent or use fictitious
entities, sales, purchases, services, loans or other financial arrangements for
any purpose relating to NetEase. Employees are also responsible for accurately
reporting time worked.

No undisclosed or unrecorded account or fund shall be established for any
purpose. No false or misleading entries shall be made in the Company's books or
records for any reason. No disbursement of corporate funds or other corporate
property shall be made without adequate supporting documentation or for any
purpose other than as described in the documents. All employees shall comply
with generally accepted accounting principles and the Company's internal
controls at all times.

GOVERNMENT INVESTIGATIONS

It is the policy of the Company to cooperate with all government
investigations. You must promptly notify counsel of any government investigation
or inquiries from government agencies concerning NetEase. You may not destroy
any record, books of account, or other documents relating to NetEase except in
accordance with the Company's document retention policy. If you are aware of a
government investigation or inquiry you may not destroy any record, books of
account, or other documents relating to NetEase unless advised by the Chief
Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer that you may continue to follow the
Company's normal document retention policy.

You must not obstruct the collection of information, data or records
relating to NetEase. The Company provides information to the government that it
is entitled to during an inspection, investigation, or request for information.
You must not lie to government investigators or making misleading statements in
any investigation relating to NetEase. You must not attempt to cause any
employee to fail to provide accurate information to government investigators.
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Employees have the right to consult their own legal counsel at their own
expense.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Company operates in a highly regulated environment. The agencies that
regulate its business include the State Council, Ministry of Information
Industry, Ministry of Health, State Drug Administration, State News and
Publication Bureau, State Administration of Industry and Commerce and the
Ministry of Culture, plus many other national, provincial and local agencies.
The Company and its employees must comply with the regulatory requirements of
these agencies. Employees are expected to take an active role by being
knowledgeable about all applicable laws and regulations, attending trainings and
requesting information. Employees are required to immediately report regulatory
violations, suspected regulatory violations, or potentially harmful or dangerous
conditions to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer.

INSIDER TRADING; COMMUNICATIONS WITH THIRD PARTIES

Employees, officers and directors who have access to confidential
information are not permitted to use or share that information for stock trading
purposes or for any other purpose except the conduct of our business. To assist
in complying with this policy, the Company has adopted an Insider Trading Policy
which you should read carefully.

COMPLIANCE AND REPORTING
Compliance

Any employee who violates the provisions of this Code will be subject to
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. Willful disregard of
criminal statutes underlying this Code may require the Company to refer such
violation for criminal prosecution or civil action.

Reporting Procedures and Other Inquiries

Inquiries Regarding this Code and Reports of Actual or Possible Violations
of this Code. Questions regarding the policies in this Code may be directed to
the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer. Managers and supervisors
are expected to take a leadership role in promoting ethical business conduct.
Any employee having knowledge of, or questions or concerns about, an actual or
possible violation of the provisions of this Code is obligated to promptly
report the matter to his or her immediate supervisor or to the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer. Anonymous reports can be sent to the
following email address:

By Email: To the applicable supervisor or to the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer; anonymity is preserved
when an employee uses a personal email account and his or
her identity is not immediately apparent from his or her
email address; or

By Mail: To the applicable supervisor or to the Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer at NetEase's principal
executive offices in Beijing.
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Confidential Complaints of Accounting Matters, Corporate Fraud or Violation
of laws. Employees should also report complaints, concerns, and information
regarding Accounting Matters (which should include accounting practices,
internal accounting controls, or other auditing matters), corporate fraud, or
violations of laws committed by the Company or its agents directly to the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors. All such submissions regarding Accounting
Matters, corporate fraud, or violations of laws may be made on an anonymous
basis and shall be treated as confidential by the Audit Committee. Employees may
forward complaints to the Audit Committee anonymously in one of the following
manners:

By Email: To Joseph Tong at joseph@tlm-apparel.com; anonymity is
preserved when an employee uses a personal email account
and his or her identity is not immediately apparent from
his or her email address; or

By Mail: c/0 Mr. Joseph Tong
Audit Committee of NetEase.com, Inc.
12/F, Harvest Court
216 Argyle Street
Kowloon, Hong Kong

When submitting a complaint, employees are asked to provide the Audit
Committee with as much detailed information as possible. Providing detailed,
rather than general, information will greatly assist the Audit Committee in
effectively investigating complaints. This is particularly important where an
employee submits a complaint on an anonymous basis, as the Audit Committee will
be unable to contact the reporting employee with requests for additional
information or clarification.

The Company is providing these anonymous reporting procedures so that the
Company's employees may disclose genuine concerns without feeling threatened. As
detailed below, the Company prohibits retaliation or retribution against any
person who in good faith submits a report under this policy. Employees who
choose to identify themselves when submitting a report may be contacted by a
member or representative of the Audit Committee in order to gain additional
information. The Audit Committee will keep confidential to the extent
permissible under applicable law all communications with a reporting employee
relating to the employee's complaint.

In addition to providing procedures for employees to submit anonymous
complaints regarding the Company's Accounting Matters, corporate fraud, or
violations of law, it is the Company's policy to adhere to all applicable laws
protecting its employees against unlawful discrimination or retaliation as a
result of their lawfully reporting complaints or participating in investigations
regarding the Company's Accounting Matters, corporate fraud, or other violations
of laws committed by the Company or its agents. In particular, the Company
prohibits any form of unlawful discrimination or retaliation or taking any
adverse action against employees for engaging in the following conduct:

Providing information or otherwise assisting a regulatory or law
enforcement agency or any supervisor in an investigation
regarding any conduct that the employee reasonably believes
violates laws relating to securities fraud, any rule or

7



regulation of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or any
law relating to fraud against shareholders.

Filing, testifying, participating in, or otherwise assisting in
any proceeding relating to an alleged violation of laws relating
to securities fraud, any rule or regulation of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, or any law relating to fraud
against shareholders.

Employees who believe that they have been subjected to any conduct that
violates this policy may file a complaint using the procedures outlined above.
Any employee who unlawfully discriminates or retaliates against any employee as
a result of his or her protected actions as described in this policy may be
subject to corrective action, up to and including immediate termination.

All conversations, calls and reports made in good faith will be taken
seriously. When reporting a violation, employees will be asked to provide the
time, location, names of the people involved, and other details so that the
Company can investigate. As stated above, NetEase prohibits retaliation or
retribution against any person who in good faith reports an ethical concern.
However, anyone who uses the Code or any compliance program to spread
falsehoods, threaten others, or damage another person's reputation will be
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

This document is not an employment contract between NetEase and its
employees, nor does it modify their employment relationship with the Company.

This Code is intended to clarify each employee's existing obligation for
proper conduct. The standards and the supporting policies and procedures may
change from time to time in the Company's discretion. Each employee is
responsible for knowing and complying with the current laws, regulations,
standards, policies and procedures that apply to the Company's work.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I acknowledge that I have received and read a copy of NetEase's Code of
Business Conduct (the "Code"). I understand that I am responsible for knowing
and complying with the policies set forth in the Code during my employment with
the Company.

I also acknowledge my responsibility to report any violation of this Code
or any of NetEase's other policies and practices to my supervisor or to a member
of the Audit Committee of the Directors. I understand that violations of this
Code or of any other NetEase policy or practice may be reported anonymously by
mail to the applicable supervisor or to the Chief Executive Officer or Chief
Financial Officer at NetEase's principal executive offices in Beijing or by
email transmitted through my personal email account. I understand that sender
can remain anonymous only if his or her identity is not immediately apparent
from the sender's email address.

I also acknowledge my responsibility to report complaints, concerns, and
information regarding Accounting Matters (which should include accounting
practices, internal accounting controls, or other auditing matters), corporate
fraud, or violations of laws committed by the Company or its agents. I
understand that such complaints, concerns and information may be submitted
directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on an anonymous basis
by mail to 216 Argyle Street, 12/F., Harvest Court, Kowloon, Hong Kong (c/o Mr.
Joseph Tong) or by email transmitted through my personal email account to
joseph@tlm-apparel.com. I understand that the sender can remain anonymous only
if his or her identity is not immediately apparent from the sender's email
address.

I further understand that the policies contained in the Code are not
intended to create any contractual rights or obligations, express or implied. I
also understand that, consistent with applicable law, the Company has the right
to amend, interpret, modify or withdraw any of the provisions of the Code at any
time in its sole discretion, with or without notice.
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Finally, I understand and agree that the terms of this Acknowledgement, and
my at-will relationship with the Company, may not be modified or superseded
except by a written agreement signed by an executive officer or director of
NetEase; that no other employee or representative of the Company has the
authority to enter into any such agreement; and that any agreement inconsistent
with this Acknowledgement or agreeing to employ me for a specified term will be
unenforceable unless in writing and signed by an executive officer or director
of NetEase.

Employee Name:

Please return this completed form to within one week

from the date of your review of these documents. Thank you!
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Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael Tong, Executive Director of NetEase.com, Inc.,* certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of NetEase.com, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(0 Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 25, 2004

By: /s/ Michael Tong

Michael Tong
Executive Director

* Our Acting Chief Executive Officer, Ted Sun, is currently on temporary medical leave of absence, and our Executive Director has made this certification in his
absence.



Exhibit 12.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Denny Lee, Chief Financial Officer of NetEase.com, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of NetEase.com, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(0 Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 25, 2004

By: /s/ Denny Lee

Denny Lee
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 13.1
906 Certification

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W
washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certificate set forth below is being submitted in connection with the
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003, (the "Report")
for the purpose of complying with the Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Michael Tong, the Executive Director* of NetEase.com, Inc., certifies that,
to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respect, the financial condition and results of operations of
NetEase, Inc.

Date: June 25, 2004

By: /s/ Michael Tong
Name: Michael Tong
Title: Executive Director

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other
document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement
required by Section 906, has been provided to NetEase.com, Inc. and will be
retained by NetEase.com, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

* Our Acting Chief Executive Officer, Ted Sun, is currently on temporary medical
leave of absence, and our Executive Director has made this certification in his
absence.



EXHIBIT 13.2
906 Certification

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W
washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certificate set forth below is being submitted in connection with the
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003, (the "Report")
for the purpose of complying with the Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Denny Lee, the Chief Financial Officer of NetEase.com, Inc., certifies
that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respect, the financial condition and results of operations of
NetEase, Inc.

Date: June 25, 2004

By: /s/ Denny Lee
Name: Denny Lee
Title: Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other
document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement
required by Section 906, has been provided to NetEase.com, Inc. and will be
retained by NetEase.com, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 15.1
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
NETEASE.COM, INC.
AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

The Audit Committee of NetEase.com, Inc. (the "Corporation") is appointed
by the Corporation's Board of Directors (the "Board") to oversee the accounting
and financial reporting processes of the Corporation and audits of the financial
statements of the Corporation. The Audit Committee (the "Committee") shall
undertake those specific duties and responsibilities listed below and such other
duties as the Board shall from time to time prescribe. All powers of the
Committee are subject to the restrictions designated in the Corporation's
Memorandum and Articles of Association and applicable law.

STATEMENT OF POLICY

The Committee shall oversee the accounting and financial reporting
processes of the Corporation and audits of the financial statements of the
Corporation. In so doing, the Committee shall endeavor to maintain free and open
means of communication among the directors, the independent auditors and the
financial management of the Corporation. In addition, the Committee shall review
the policies and procedures adopted by the Corporation to fulfill its
responsibilities regarding the fair and accurate presentation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the National Association of Securities Dealers (the "NASD") applicable to a
Nasdaq listed issuer.

COMMITTEE STRUCTURE AND MEMBERSHIP

The Committee shall be comprised of three or more directors, as determined
by the Board. The Committee members shall be designated by the Board and shall
serve at the discretion of the Board.

Each member of the Committee shall be an independent director. For purposes
hereof, an "independent director" shall be one:

1. who accepts no consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the
Corporation other than in his or her capacity as a member of the
Committee, the Board or any other committee of the Board or is not
otherwise an affiliated person of the Corporation,
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2. who is free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board,
would interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment
in carrying out the responsibilities of a director, and

3. who otherwise satisfies the then current laws applicable to members of
the audit committee of the Corporation and the listing rules of any
securities exchange or securities quotation system on which any of the
Corporation's securities are listed.

The Board shall use its best efforts to ensure that at least one member of
the Committee shall be a "financial expert," as defined by Section 407 of the
Sarbanes-0xley Act of 2002, having an understanding of generally accepted
accounting principles and financial statements, experience in the preparation or
auditing of financial statements of companies generally comparable to the
Corporation, experience in the application of generally accepted accounting
principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and
reserves, experience with internal accounting controls and an understanding of
audit committee functions.

Each member of the Committee shall be able to read and understand
fundamental financial statements in accordance with the rules of the National
Association of Securities Dealers (the "NASD") applicable to Nasdaq listed
issuers. At least one member shall have past employment experience in finance or
accounting, a professional certification in accounting or other comparable
experience or background that results in the individual's possessing the
requisite financial sophistication, including a current or past position as a
chief executive or financial officer or other senior officer with financial
oversight responsibilities.

The quorum necessary for the transaction of business of the Committee shall
be two, and all matters arising at a Committee meeting shall be determined by a
majority of votes of the members present.

POWERS

The Committee shall have the power to conduct or authorize investigations
into any matters within the Committee's scope of responsibilities. The Committee
shall be empowered to engage independent counsel and other advisers, as it
determines necessary to carry out its duties. While the Committee has the
responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the
Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Corporation's
financial statements are complete and accurate and are in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Those tasks are the responsibility of
management and the independent auditor. The audit committee shall meet at least
four times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate.

RESPONSIBILITIES
The Committee's policies and procedures should remain flexible, in order to

best react to changing conditions and to ensure to the Board and the
Corporation's



stockholders that the corporate accounting and reporting practices of the
Corporation are in accordance with all requirements and are of the highest

quality.

In meeting its responsibilities, the Committee is expected to:

1.

2.

Review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually.
wWith respect to the Corporation's independent auditors:

a. Appoint the Corporation's independent auditors, determine its
compensation and oversee its work. The Committee shall preapprove
all auditing services (including the provision of comfort
letters) and non-audit services provided by the independent
auditors to the Corporation and consider whether such services
are permissible under applicable law. The Committee may delegate
to one or more designated Committee members the authority to
grant preapprovals required by the foregoing sentence. The
decisions of any Committee member to whom authority is delegated
hereunder shall be presented to the Committee at each of its
scheduled meetings. The independent auditors shall be ultimately
accountable to the Board and to the Committee as representatives
of the Corporation's stockholders.

b. Review the independence of the independent auditors, including a
review of management consulting services provided by the
independent auditors and related fees. The Committee shall
require the independent auditors at least annually to provide a
formal written statement delineating all relationships between
the independent auditors and the Corporation consistent with the
rules of the NASD applicable to Nasdaq listed issuers and request
information from the independent auditors and management to
determine the presence or absence of a conflict of interest. The
Committee shall actively engage the auditors in a dialogue with
respect to any disclosed relationships or services that may
impact the objectivity and independence of the auditors. The
Committee shall take, or recommend that the full Board take,
appropriate action to oversee the independence of the auditors.

Review with management the scope and responsibilities of an internal
audit department and on the appointment, replacement, reassignment or
dismissal of an internal audit department manager or director and work
with management to reach a consensus on the foregoing.

Review and discuss with management, before release, the audited
financial statements and the Management's Discussion and Analysis
proposed to be included in the Corporation's Annual Report on Form
20-F. Make a recommendation to the Board whether or not the audited
financial



statements should be included in the Corporation's Annual Report on
Form 20-F.

In consultation with management, cooperate with, and to the extent
deemed appropriate by the members of the Committee, oversee, the
members of any internal disclosure control task force or other group
within the Corporation which is charged with gathering information for
the Corporation's public reports and filings, considering the
materiality of such information and determining disclosure
obligations, and consider and respond to any issues and deficiencies
relating to the Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures which
are identified by management or such internal group.

In consultation with the independent auditors, the internal audit
department, if any, and management, consider and review at the
completion of the annual examinations and such other times as the
Committee may deem appropriate:

a. The Corporation's annual financial statements and related notes.

b. The independent auditors' audit of the financial statements and
their report thereon.

C. The independent auditors' reports regarding critical accounting
policies, alternative treatments of financial information and
other material written communications between the independent
auditors and management.

d. Any deficiency in, or suggested improvement to, the procedures or
practices employed by the Corporation as reported by the
independent auditors in their annual management letter.

Periodically and to the extent appropriate under the circumstances, it
may be advisable for the Committee, with the assistance of the
independent auditors, the internal audit department, if any, and/or
management, to consider and review the following:

a. Any significant changes required in the independent auditors'
audit plan or auditing and accounting principles.

b. Any difficulties or disputes with management encountered during
the course of the audit.

c. The adequacy of the Corporation's system of internal financial
controls.



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

d. The effect or potential effect of any regulatory regime,
accounting initiatives or off-balance sheet structures on the
Company's financial statements.

e. Any correspondence with regulators or governmental agencies and
any employee complaints or published reports that raise material
issues regarding the Corporation's financial statements or
accounting policies.

f. Other matters related to the conduct of the audit, which are to
be communicated to the Committee under generally accepted
auditing standards.

Discuss with the independent auditors the matters required to be
discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as modified or
supplemented.

Obtain from the independent auditor assurance that it has complied
with Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Establish procedures for (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of
complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing matters and (b) the confidential,
anonymous submission by the Corporation's employees of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Cooperate with the Corporation in preparing any reports of the
Committee it intends to include in a proxy statement and any other
reports required by applicable securities laws.

Review, with the Corporation's counsel, any legal matter that could
have a significant impact on the Corporation's financial statements.

Report through its chairperson to the directors following meetings of
the Committee.

Maintain minutes or other records of meetings and activities of the
Committee.

Review the rationale for employing audit firms other than the
principal independent auditors; and, where an additional audit firm
has been employed, review the coordination of audit efforts to assure
completeness of coverage, reduction of redundant efforts and the
effective use of audit resources.

Periodically review, before release, the unaudited operating results
in the Corporation's quarterly earnings release and/or discuss the
contents the quarterly earnings release with management.

5



17. Meet periodically with or interview, in separate sessions, the chief
financial officer, the senior internal auditing executive and the
independent audit firm engagement partner.
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Exhibit 23.1
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%k

1%th Floor Beijing Kemry Centre
1 Gusng Hua Lu

Chao Yang District

Beijing 100020

People's Republic of China
Telephone +86 ( 10) 6561 2233
Facsamile +B6 (100 8529 9000

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated June 2, 2004, which appears in NetEase.com, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the
year ended December 31, 2003 in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-100069) of NetEase.com, Inc.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company

Beijing, China
June 29, 2004



Exhibit 23.2
[Letterhead of Maples and Calder]
June 15, 2004
NetEase.com, Inc.
2/F, Tower B,
Keeven International Research & Development Centre,
No.43, West Road North Third Ring Road, Haidian District,
Beijing 100086, People's Republic of China
Dear Sirs,

We consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Enforcement of
Civil Liabilities" and "Taxation" in the annual report on Form 20-F for the year
2003 of NetEase.com, Inc. to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in the month of June 2004.

Yours faithfully,

Maples and Calder

/s/ Maples and Calder Asia



Exhibit 23.3
[Letterhead of Commerce & Finance Law Office]
June 14, 2004
NetEase.com, Inc.
2/F, Tower B
Keeven International Research & Development Centre
No.43, West Road North Third Ring Road, Haidian District
Beijing 100086, People's Republic of China
Dear Sirs,
Re: Consent of People's Republic of China Counsel
We consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Enforcement of
Civil Liabilities" in the annual report on Form 20-F for the year 2003 of
NetEase.com, Inc. to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the
month of June 2004.
Very truly yours,

Commerce & Finance Law Office

/s/ Commerce & Finance Law Office






